The Pennsylvania State University

The Graduate School

EXAMINATIONS OF BWR-CORRODED ZIRCALOY-2 WATER RODS WITH XANES AND XRD TO INVESTIGATE THE ROLE OF NICKEL IN ENHANCING HYDROGEN PICKUP AT HIGH BURNUP

A Dissertation in

Nuclear Engineering

by

Pierre Bouhaddane

© 2024 Pierre Bouhaddane

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

May 2024

The dissertation of Pierre Bouhaddane was reviewed and approved by the following:

Arthur T. Motta Professor and Graduate Program Chair of Nuclear Engineering Dissertation Advisor and Chair of Committee

Marek Flaska Associate Professor of Nuclear Engineering

Xing Wang Assistant Professor of Nuclear Engineering

Hojong Kim Associate Professor of Materials Science and Engineering

Jon Schwantes Acting Department Head of Nuclear Engineering

ABSTRACT

Zirconium-based alloys have been used in nuclear reactors as fuel cladding and structural materials since the development of nuclear energy. Zircaloy-2, a Sn-Fe-Cr-Ni alloy was widely in service for years, and still is today in boiling water reactors (BWR). Among the many challenges the materials face during operation in the nuclear reactor, hydrogen pickup during corrosion of the metal components is of great concern due to the embrittlement properties of the zirconium hydrides. Zircaloy-2 materials show great corrosion resistance in the boiling environment but many in-pile fuel cladding and structural components, such as water rods and channel boxes, revealed accelerated ingress of hydrogen at high burnup when exposed for additional cycles in the reactor, while Zircaloy-4 components did not. The industry is driven toward increasing the fuel burnup in the reactors, as it reduces operation costs, and therefore it is necessary to prevent this effect from happening in modern alloys. Because the main difference between Zircaloy-2 and Zircaloy-4 is the removal of nickel replaced by additional iron in Zircaloy-4 - nickel was linked to increased hydrogen pickup as early as the 1960's - nickel was thought responsible for this acceleration of hydrogen pickup during the additional cycles in the reactors. In a previous study, metallic nickel was measured in the oxide layer near the metal interface of high hydrogen pickup Zry-2 water rods. In this work, additional materials were selected at low and high elevations in the Zircaloy-2 water rods corroded for 3 and 4 cycles in a BWR (Limerick-1) with low and high hydrogen pickup respectively; and were examined by microbeam X-ray absorption near-edge spectroscopy (XANES), microbeam X-ray diffraction (XRD), and scanning electron microscopy (SEM) in an effort to verify and understand further this observation.

Cross-sectional samples were prepared from the two water rods and investigated at the Advance Photon Source (APS) at Argonne National Laboratory (ANL). In each material, the oxidation state of nickel atoms in the thick oxide layers was measured as a function of distance from the metal interface by XANES. The results confirm the presence of metallic nickel in the oxide layer of the high elevation material/high hydrogen pickup material (4 cycles) where 30-35% metallic nickel was seen in the near oxide (up to $10-12 \,\mu m$ from the metal interface), as previously observed in two other high hydrogen pickup materials. At low elevation in the high hydrogen pickup water rod, the correlation was not directly verified (nickel atoms were fully oxidized in the oxide layer past 3-4 μm from the metal/oxide interface) but we argue that the high hydrogen absorbed at higher elevation, driven by the concentration and temperature axial gradients.

A detailed analysis of the XANES signal from the metallic nickel atoms in the oxide layer of the high hydrogen pickup material suggest that these nickel atoms are no longer bonded to zirconium atoms, which shows that the metallic nickel which can affect hydrogen pickup consists of atoms in solid solution or in small clusters in the oxide layer, rather than in second phase precipitates. This is in agreement with recent APT examinations of high burnup Zry-2 materials with high hydrogen pickup in which the nickel atoms were seen uniformly distributed in the oxide layer and only small clusters were observed.

Additionally, metallic nickel in the outer oxide region close to the water interface was observed in most materials, with the highest metallic fraction (up to 75%) in the low hydrogen content samples. Nickel and iron high fluorescence counts near the oxide/water interface confirmed that the nickel atoms at that location corresponded to deposits from the corrosion of other reactor components on the water rod oxide surfaces. However, these metallic nickel atoms near the water interface of the thick oxide layers (> 25 μ m) do not seem to affect the hydrogen uptake in the Zry-2 materials as they were mostly observed in the low hydrogen pickup samples.

Many cracks (lateral and through thickness) were seen in the oxide layers of the materials with SEM imaging of the prepared samples, especially in the high hydrogen pickup water rod at high elevation. In all four materials investigated, the oxide layers were rather uniform, but extensive circumferential oxide thickness variations could be observed between different regions of the water rods.

An increase in oxidation kinetics during the 4th cycle was seen at mid/high elevation, where the irradiation flux is the most intense, by comparing the oxide thicknesses of the 3-cycles to 4-cycles GNF water rods and was correlated to the presence of nickel in the oxide layer. As such, irradiation seems to play an important role in accelerating corrosion (as previously reported) and in stabilizing metallic nickel in the oxide layer (and in turn enhancing hydrogen pickup).

Concurrently to the XANES examinations, X-ray diffraction patterns were collected in the oxide layers of the cross-section samples as a function of distance from the bulk metal in order to investigate the oxide microstructure (phase content, grain size, texture) of in-reactor Zry-2 materials at high burnup with low and high hydrogen pickup fraction. The oxide layers formed on the BWR Zry-2 water rod consisted of small and highly oriented monoclinic oxide grains, with a small fraction of tetragonal grains, maximum near the metal interface (3-6%). Grain growth was observed in all materials as the oxide thickens, especially at high elevation, with grain sizes at 17-20 *nm* near the bulk metal and 33-38 *nm* in the outer region. Additionally, small grains compose the oxide region near the metal/oxide interface of the high elevation/high hydrogen pickup material which is coherent with accelerated corrosion taking place during the 4th cycle.

In all materials, an orientation relationship was apparent between the (111) m- ZrO_2 and the (1010) α -Zr crystal planes, and for a significant fraction of the oxide grains throughout the whole oxide layer, the (200) m- ZrO_2 direction is close to the oxide growth direction. This is coherent with previous XRD examinations of autoclave and in-reactor corroded Zr-alloys.

After a thorough review of the presented results and of the literature available, the author proposed a mechanism for the enhancement of hydrogen uptake in Zry-2 materials in BWR at high burnup. A combination of a thick, porous oxide layer, of high fluence, of high irradiation flux and of low linear power – especially for fuel rods – are thought to be necessary conditions for the stability of metallic nickel in the near oxide layer of Zry-2 materials during additional cycles at high burnup. These metallic nickel atoms then catalyze the hydrogen absorption surface reaction at cracks and pores surfaces near the metal interface, as previously suggested, resulting in increased hydrogen pickup by the material.

In turn, the results presented in this study support that the acceleration of hydrogen pickup observed in Zry-2 materials at high burnup in BWR is not likely to occur in the modern Ni-free Zr alloys.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURI	E S	vii
LIST OF TABLE	S	xvii
ACKNOWLEDG	EMENTS	xix
Chapter 1 Literat	ure review	1
1.1 Introd	uction to Light Water Reactors	1
1.2 Zircon	ium alloys in the nuclear industry	4
1.2.1	History of the development of zirconium alloys	4
1.2.2	Metallurgy of zirconium alloys	7
1.2.3	Alloying elements in Zircaloys	12
1.3 Corros	sion of the Zircaloys in Light Water Reactors	17
1.3.1	Zirconium oxide phases	17
1.3.2	Corrosion process of zirconium alloys in Light Water Reactors	20
1.3.3	Oxide growth and stability	24
1.1.1	Oxidation of alloying elements in Zircaloys	29
1.2 Hydro	gen pickup in Light Water Reactors	32
1.2.1	Ingress of Hydrogen in zirconium alloys during corrosion	32
1.2.2	Hydrogen pickup fraction for Zircaloys	35
1.2.3	Effects of LWRs water chemistry	39
1.2.4	Effects of alloying elements with a focus on nickel	41
1.2.5	Effects of irradiations	45
1.3 Object	tives of the study	48
Chapter 2 Materi	al selection and experiments details	51
2.1 Zircal	ov-2 water rods corroded in Boiling Water Reactors	51
2.2 Cross-	section sample preparation for in-depth XANES and XRD analysis	55
2.3 Ni oxi	dation state analysis via XANES using synchrotron radiation	59
2.3.1	Purpose and layout of the XANES measurements at the APS	59
2.3.2	Principles of X-ray Absorption Near-Edge Spectroscopy	60
2.3.3	Experimental setup for µXANES analysis in fluorescence mode	67
2.3.4	Reference standard	70
2.3.5	Oxidation state analysis using ATHENA	73
2.4 Micros	structure analysis with XRD using synchrotron radiation	75
2.4.1	Purpose and layout of the XRD measurements at the APS	75
2.4.2	Principles of X-Ray diffraction	77
2.4.3	Experimental setup for XRD	81
2.4.4	Diffraction data processing using DIOPTAS and PEAKFIT	82
2.4.5	Phases and grain analysis	85

Chapter 3 Oxidation state of Ni in the oxide of BWR Zry-2 water rods with XANES	88
3.1 XANES spectra of metallic and oxidized nickel standards	89
3.2 SEM imaging of irradiated Zry-2 cross-section samples	103
3.3 XANES spectra shape analysis of in-reactor corroded Zrv-2	113
3.4 Oxidation state of nickel in the oxide of in-reactor corroded Zry-2	121
3.4.1 Metallic fraction via linear combination fit	121
3.4.2 Metallic Ni features in low and high hydrogen pickup samples	130
3 4 3 Oxidation state calculation using edge energy	132
3.5 Conclusions on XANES examinations of in-reactor corroded Zry-2	136
Chapter 4 Microstructure of the oxides of BWR Zry-2 water rods with XRD	139
4.1 Analysis of diffraction patterns from Zry-2 water rods	140
4.1.1 Indexing of X-ray diffraction patterns from metal and oxide regions	140
4.1.2 Background signal from metal and oxide regions	151
4.1.3 General observations	155
4.2 Microstructure of metal and oxide layers of low/high HPUF Zry-2 water rods.	162
4.2.1 Phase content in the metal near interface and across the oxide layer	162
4.2.2 Tetragonal fraction in Zry-2 oxide layers	172
4.2.3 Grain evolution in Zry-2 oxide layers	174
4.3 Examination of preferred orientation	176
4.3.1 Texture in metal and oxide near interface	177
4.3.1 Texture in the oxide layers	180
4.4. Conclusions on XRD examinations of in-reactor corroded 7ry-2	185
4.4 Conclusions on AND examinations of in-reactor corroded Zity-2	105
Chapter 5 Discussions on the acceleration of H pickup at high burnup in Zry-2	187
5.1 <i>Ni</i> valence in relation to corrosion and <i>H</i> pickup of high burnup BWR Zry-2	
water rods	187
5.2 The role of metallic <i>Ni</i> in enhancing corrosion and <i>H</i> pickup of <i>Zr</i> alloys in	
LWRs	194
Chapter 6 Conclusions and Future Work	203
6.1 Conclusions	203
6.2 Future work	208
Appendix A Powder Diffraction Files (ICDD)	210
	220
Appendix B XKD patterns of the oxide layers formed on Mat. 9, Mat. 11 and Mat. 12	220
Bibliography	232

vi

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Illustration of the fuel assembly of a LWR with fuel rods (top left) and of a BWR fuel assembly with fuel rods, water rods and control rods (top right). The fuel rod and water rod corrosions are also illustrated, with an oxide forming on the rod surfaces in contact with the coolant (adapted from [7, 9, 10])
Figure 1-2: Pressure-temperature diagram of <i>Zr</i> for pressures and temperatures up to 1200 <i>K</i> , taken from Zhang et al. [46]
Figure 1-3: Mean intermetallic precipitate sizes as a function of the cumulative annealing parameters for β-quenched Zircaloys. Figured taken from Garzarolli et al.'s work [56].
Figure 1-4: Zr-Sn phase diagram [23]15
Figure 1-5: <i>Zr-O</i> phase diagram [23]15
Figure 1-6: Zr-Cr phase diagram [23]16
Figure 1-7: Zr-Fe phase diagram [23]16
Figure 1-8: Zr-Ni phase diagram [23]17
Figure 1-9: Zr-O phase diagram. Adapted from [79]
Figure 1-10: Crystal structures of <i>ZrO2</i> (monoclinic, tetragonal, and cubic). <i>Zr</i> atoms are shown in blue while <i>O</i> atoms are in red. Illustration taken from [84]
Figure 1-11: Ellingham diagram for common oxides with the Richardson nomographic scales to determine the equilibrium oxygen partial pressure: a) <i>Al</i> , <i>Ca</i> , <i>Cu</i> , <i>Fe</i> , <i>Ir</i> , <i>Mg</i> , <i>Mn</i> , <i>Si</i> , <i>Ti</i> , <i>Zn</i> ; b) <i>Ba</i> , <i>Be</i> , <i>Ce</i> , <i>Co</i> , <i>Cr</i> , <i>La</i> , <i>Mo</i> , <i>Ni</i> , <i>Pb</i> , <i>Pd</i> , <i>Ru</i> , <i>Ta</i> , <i>Zr</i> . Taken from [98]
Figure 1-12: Oxidation process of zirconium alloys in a water environment. Surface reactions 1 to 5 happen in series, but the steps controlling the corrosion rate are the transport of charged species (oxygen, electrons, and hydrogen). Figure and caption taken from [13]
Figure 1-13: SEM micrographs of oxide layers formed in 360° <i>C</i> water: a) uniform corrosion with multiple transitions in Zircaloy-4 after 353 days; b) breakaway behavior in crystal bar <i>Zr</i> after 3 days [120]26
Figure 1-14: Schematic representation of the different corrosion regimes of Zr alloys. After references [13, 131-133]27

Figure 1-15: (a) Nodules formed on Zr alloy oxide corroded in 500°C steam at 10.3 MPa, seen in cross-section in (b) [112]; Zr oxides near (c) and away (d) from a stainless steel control blade, showing the effect of shadow corrosion [134]29
Figure 1-16: <i>Zr-H</i> phase diagram [166]34
Figure 1-17: Hydrogen pickup fraction as a function of weight gain for four Zry-4 with different <i>Ni</i> enrichments exposed to 360° <i>C</i> water in autoclave. The hydrogen pickup fraction was corrected for hydrogen weight gain. Figure and caption taken from Ensor's work [185]
Figure 1-18: Hydrogen pickup fraction as a function of fuel burnup for multiple Zry-2 (red area) and Zry-4 (blue area) structural components. Figure taken from Garzarolli's review [59] who compiled the data from [21, 212, 221-225]
Figure 1-19: Nickel and iron oxidation state as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface (negative values are the metal region, and positive ones the oxide layer) for Zry-2 water rod corroded in BWRs for 3 to 4 cycles. Materials 13 and 21 suffered significant <i>H</i> pickup while archive 1 and materials 10 and 17 did not. Figure adapted from Shivprasad's work [91, 99]
Figure 2-1: Cross-section sample preparation from the in-reactor corroded water rods. The water rod is cut and placed in molybdenum and brass, filled with epoxy to hold the structure, and then sliced into a cross-section sample. Figure adapted from [91, 131]
Figure 2-2: Optical (a) and SEM (b) images (acquired at Penn State) of one of the Zry-2 cross-section samples prepared at PNNL. The inner and outer oxides of the water rod material can be seen in dark grey on both images, with the Zry-2 bulk and Mo rod in light grey
Figure 2-3: Cross-section samples glued (GORILLA superglue) on extruded aluminum plate and encapsulated with DuPont Kapton film (0.5 <i>mil</i> , or 12.7 <i>mm</i> thick)58
Figure 2-4: (a) Schematic of the photoelectric absorption: an incident photon excites an electron of the K shell to energies above the conduction band [240]. (b) Schematic of the decaying of the excited atom by X-ray fluorescence ($K\alpha$ and $K\beta$) or Auger electron emission [240]
Figure 2-5: (a) Cross-section of the photoelectric absorption as a function of the incident photon energy for lead (<i>Pb</i>) [2]. (b) Experimental <i>Mn</i> XAFS spectra at the K-edge of <i>MnO</i> (adapted from [242])
Figure 2-6: (a) Schematic of the X-ray absorption process. The incident X-ray with energy <i>E</i> above the core level <i>E</i> 0 is absorbed by the atom (blue), and a photoelectron is ejected with the wavelength $\lambda \propto (E - E0) - 1/2$. (b) Schematic of the origin of fine structure in the absorption spectrum due to the scattering neighbor atoms. The photoelectron can scatter from a neighbor atom (red) and return to the absorbing atom which modulates the amplitude of the photoelectron wave-function

at the absorbing atom. This in turn modulates the absorption coefficient, causing fine structure in the absorption spectrum. Figures adapted from [240]
Figure 2-7: Experimental <i>Fe</i> XANES spectra for Fe in ZIRLO (collected at the APS on an autoclave ZIRLO sample), bcc <i>Fe</i> , <i>FeO</i> , <i>Fe</i> 304 and <i>Fe</i> 203 (from [246-249]). The inset plot represents the edge energy as a function of the <i>Fe</i> atom valence (oxidation state)
 Figure 2-8: Normalized <i>Fe</i> XANES (K-edge) spectra across the oxide layer of a Zry-4 material corroded at 274°<i>C</i>. As the scan advances in the oxide layer (darker blue curves), the absorption spectrum is modified. The metallic iron features disappear in favor of oxidized <i>Fe</i> features, indicating oxidation of the <i>Fe</i> atoms. Figure taken from [145].
Figure 2-9: Experimental setup for XANES analysis at beamline 34-ID-E
Figure 2-10: Schematic of the experimental geometry for XANES at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS. During the XANES scan across the oxide layer, the sample is moved along the x axis (set perpendicular to the metal/oxide interface) [91]
Figure 2-11: (a) Zr K-edge fluorescence of sample 11-A at the XANES scan location (collected at beamline 34-ID-E, APS). The bulk (metal) is on the left, the 35 μm thick oxide on the right. (b) Zr L-edge fluorescence in a Zry-4 sample corroded in 360°C water for 784 days (collected at beamline 2-ID-D, APS) [125]. The metal part is seen on the right with the 31 μm thick oxide on the left
Figure 2-12: Images of the <i>fcc Ni</i> foil (a) and <i>NiO</i> powder diluted in <i>ZrO2</i> powder and sealed on an aluminum plate with Kapton tape (b)73
Figure 2-13: Illustration of the <i>Ni</i> XANES data processing prior to linear combination fitting with the example of <i>Ni2O3</i> spectrum (from [261]: (a) <i>Ni</i> XANES data and derivative with pre-edge and post edge functions. The edge energy is defined as the maximum of the derivative the absorption coefficient (red line); (b) Resulting normalized and flattened absorption spectra. A linear combination fit was then applied to the flattened data
Figure 2-14: Illustration of Bragg diffraction by the atoms of crystallographic planes [270]77
Figure 2-15: X-ray diffraction pattern for (a) a single crystal [272] and (b) <i>CeO2</i> powder (data collected at the APS at $E = 22 \ keV$)
Figure 2-16: X-ray diffraction pattern (a) and integrated 2θ -plot (b) for <i>CeO2</i> powder (data collected at the APS at $E = 22 \ keV$). The green ring represents the integrated area for the peak intensity corresponding to $2\theta = 17^{\circ}$ (green line)80
Figure 2-17: Schematic of the experimental geometry for XRD at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS [91]. During the XRD scan across the oxide layer, the sample is moved along the <i>x</i> axis

Figure 2-18: XRD pattern of <i>CeO2</i> powder standard collected at $E = 8.5 \text{ keV}$ which was used for calibration, and its integrated 2θ -plot. Less diffraction rings and more background signal are observed compared to Figure 2-16 because of the lower photon energy
Figure 2-19: (a) XRD Image, (b) "cake" χ -2 θ -plot and (c) corresponding integrated 2 θ -plot for sample 9-B (far oxide) using the DIOPTAS [273]. Because the XRD setup was in reflection for the Zry-2 cross section samples, only the upper half-circle of the XRD image was filled. The green lines and circle correspond to $2\theta = 29.75^{\circ}$, where the main peak for the oxide is located
Figure 2-20: (a) Example of background fit function for sample 9-B (far oxide) using the "2 nd Deriv Zero" algorithm with the <i>N</i> -parameter function in PEAKFIT, and (b) the 2θ -plot after removal of the background
Figure 2-21: Review of the peak fit of the XRD data from sample 9-B (far oxide) using PEAKFIT software and Pearson <i>VII</i> area functions
 Figure 3-1: XANES spectra of nickel standards collected in fluorescence at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS (ANL) and compared to spectra from databases collected in transmission. The edge energies of the spectra from databases have been aligned to that of the APS measurements to account for differences in experimental setup. (a) as measured <i>fcc Ni</i> foil (dark blue), corrected for "self-absorption" using ATHENA [255] (light blue), and <i>fcc Ni</i> foil from the XAFS database [281]. (b) <i>Ni</i> in Zry-2, average of 10 XANES spectra collected in the metal region of material 9. (c) <i>NiO</i> from experiment and MDR database [279]. (d) <i>NiFe2O4</i> from experiment and MDR database [280]. (e) <i>Ni2O3</i> from experiment and XAFS database [261]. (e) <i>Ni1I, III</i> in <i>ZrO2</i>, average of 10 XANES spectra collected in the far oxide of material 9.
Figure 3-2: XANES spectra of the 3 nickel standards used for LCF analysis with ATHENA: <i>fcc Ni</i> (dark blue), <i>Ni</i> in Zry-2 (light blue), and <i>NiII</i> , <i>III</i> in <i>ZrO2</i> (red). <i>NiO</i> XANES (dotted spectra, calibrated from MDR database [279]) is added to the plot for discussion of the characteristic features between metallic and oxidized nickel
Figure 3-3: (a) Normalized <i>Cr</i> K-edge XANES profiles, displaced vertically, for chromium metal, chromium oxide and calcium chromate compounds, adapted from [293] (b) Schematics of the post-edge oscillations in XANES and EXAFS due to the interference of outgoing and backscattered photoelectron wave [296]
Figure 3-4: (a) Core electron excitation diagram for 3 <i>d</i> transition metals and oxides [283]. (b) Schematics of the molecular hybrid orbital energy levels for octahedrally coordinated titanium oxide <i>TiO2</i> [295]
 Figure 3-5: (a) NiO XANES spectra at the <i>Ni</i> K-edge calculated with the FEFF8 program considering an increasing number of atomic shells around the nickel atom (taken from [306]). (b) XANES spectra at the <i>Mn</i> K-edge of <i>Mn</i> atoms substituting in <i>ZnO</i> calculated with CONTINUUM [307] multi-scattering program for different <i>Mn-O</i>

bond lengths. The edge is shifted to lower energy (blue arrow) as the bond length increases (from [301])10)0
Figure 3-6: Oxide thickness (in μm) circumferential variations at two locations close to that of the materials selected for each of two Zry-2 water rods (3 and 4 cycles). Data provided by EPRI (GNF water rods))5
Figure 3-7: SEM images (PSU) of the oxides formed on the low hydrogen pickup materials (3 cycles). (a) Mat. 9 outer (b) Mat. 9 inner (c) Mat. 11 outer (d) Mat. 11 inner)6
Figure 3-8: SEM images (PSU) of the oxides formed on the high hydrogen pickup materials (4 cycles). (a) Mat. 12 outer (b) Mat. 12 inner (c) Mat. 14 outer (d) Mat. 14 inner)7
Figure 3-9: SEM imaging of sample 9-A (a) (PNNL) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding <i>Zr</i> K-edge fluorescence (c))8
Figure 3-10: SEM imaging of sample 9-B (a) (PSU) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding <i>Zr</i> K-edge fluorescence (c))8
Figure 3-11: SEM imaging of sample 11-A (a) (PNNL) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding <i>Zr</i> K-edge fluorescence (c))9
Figure 3-12: SEM imaging of sample 11-B (a) (PSU) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding <i>Zr</i> K-edge fluorescence (c))9
Figure 3-13: SEM imaging of sample 14-A (a) (PSU) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding <i>Zr</i> K-edge fluorescence (c)	0
Figure 3-14: SEM imaging of sample 14-B (a) (PSU) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding <i>Zr</i> K-edge fluorescence (c)	0
Figure 3-15: SEM imaging of sample 12-A (a) (PNNL) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan (b1 and b2) shown by the red dotted line (PSU), and the corresponding <i>Zr</i> K-edge fluorescence (c1 and c2)	1
Figure 3-16: Nickel XANES spectra acquired from the standards and the Zry-2 cross- section samples. (a) Ni XANES spectra of the metallic standards and of the Zry-2 materials in the metal 2-5 μm from the interface. (b) Ni XANES spectra of the oxide standards and of the Zry-2 materials in the far oxide about 25 μm from the metal/oxide interface	4

Figure 3-17: Plots of nickel XANES spectra as a function of distance from the oxide/metal interface for the low hydrogen pickup Zry-2 materials (3 cycles): Material 11 (high elevation,) (a) sample 11-A (b) sample 11-B; Material 9 (low elevation) (c) sample 9-A, (d) sample 9-B
Figure 3-18: Plots of nickel XANES spectra as a function of distance from the oxide/metal interface for the high hydrogen pickup Zry-2 materials (3 cycles): Material 14 (high elevation,) (a) sample 14-A (b) sample 14-B; Material 12 (low elevation) (c) 12-A-1, (d) 12-A-2
 Figure 3-19: Nickel XANES linear combination fitting results for several points in material 9-A using the two metallic standards (fcc Ni, Ni in Zry-2) and either the three nickel powder oxides (selection 1, NiO, NiFe2O4, Ni2O3, left side plots) or Ni(II, III) in ZrO2 (selection 2, right side plots). (a) 5.5 µm into the metal, selection 1. (b) 0.25 µm into the oxide, selection 1. (c) 21.5 µm into the oxide, selection 2. (e) 0.25 µm into the oxide, selection 2. (f) 21.5 µm into the oxide, selection 2. (left oxide, selection 2. (f) 21.5 µm into the oxide, selection 2. (f)
Figure 3-20: Metallic fraction error estimation with the example of <i>Ni</i> K-edge XANES spectra in the oxide of sample 9-A ($x = 1.7 \mu m$, <i>fmetallic</i> = 0.225). The linear combination fit (black line) of the XANES data (circle markers) is shown with the linear combination spectra of the standards where 0.05 metallic weight is added (blue dotted line) or subtracted (red dotted line) to the LCF results: (a) whole spectra; (b) region around the rising-edge feature
Figure 3-21: Metallic <i>Ni</i> weight fraction as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface for the first scan in each of the materials (9-A, 11-A, 12-A-1, 14-A): (a) over the whole oxide thickness range; (b) over the ROI $[-5\mu m; 15\mu m]$ near the interface
Figure 3-22: Metallic <i>Ni</i> weight fraction as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface for the second scan in each of the materials (9-B, 11-B, 12-A-2, 14-B): (a) over the whole oxide thickness range; (b) over the ROI $[-5\mu m; 15\mu m]$ near the interface
Figure 3-23: Fluorescence counts of <i>Zr</i> (blue), <i>Fe</i> (red) and <i>Ni</i> (green) as a function of distance from the M/O interface at the location of the XANES measurements for samples (a) 9-A, (b) 11-A, (c) 12-A-1, (d) 14-A
 Figure 3-24: Metallic Ni (markers) and metallic Ni standards (fcc Ni, dashed line; Ni in Zry-2, dotted line) weight fractions in the near oxide region [-5 μm; 15 μm] resulting from the linear combination of the XANES spectra. (a) Sample 11-A; (b) 9-A; (c) 14-A; (d) 14-B.
Figure 3-25: <i>Ni</i> XANES edge energies across the oxide layers of: (a) 9-A, 11-A, 12-A-1 and 14-A; (b) 9-B, 11-B, 12-A-2, 14-B. Boxed regions show the edge position $\pm 0.5 \ eV$ of the standard materials with their corresponding valence (TABLE 3-1)134

Figure 4-1: X-ray diffraction pattern in the metal region of material 11 (10 μm from the metal/oxide interface)
Figure 4-2: X-ray diffraction pattern in the near oxide region of material 11 (2.25 μm from the metal/oxide interface
Figure 4-3: X-ray diffraction pattern in the far oxide region of material 11 (25.75 μm from the metal/oxide interface
Figure 4-4: Integrated X-ray diffraction patterns in the three regions of material 11 presented above: metal region (blue dashed line); near oxide region (orange line); far oxide region (red dotted line). XRD patterns have been processed with DIOPTAS as presented in SECTION 2.4.4
Figure 4-5: Integrated XRD patterns prior to background removal from the three regions of material 11 as presented in the previous SECTION: bulk metal (blue dashed line); near oxide (orange line); far oxide (red dotted line)
Figure 4-6: Integrated XRD patterns prior to background fit and removal (first intensity points at $2\theta = 20^{\circ}$ have been aligned for clarity) from the near oxide region (1.5 μm from the metal/oxide interface) in all four materials
Figure 4-7: Illustration of the blocked beam due to the sample holder for materials 9 and 12 (red arrows and beams) because they were closer to the top of the holder compared to materials 11 and 14 (green arrows and beams)
Figure 4-8: Integrated XRD patterns as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface at the XANES location of the second scan in the low hydrogen pickup materials: (a) Sample 11-B (high elevation, 3 cycles); (b) Sample 9-B (low elevation, 3 cycles)
Figure 4-9: Integrated XRD patterns as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface at the XANES location of the second scan in the high hydrogen pickup materials: (a) sample 14-B (high elevation, 4 cycles); (b) sample 12-A-2 (low elevation, 4 cycles)
Figure 4-10: Flat view of the integrated XRD patterns as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface at the XANES location of the second scan in the low hydrogen pickup materials: (a) sample 11-B (high elevation, 3 cycles); (b) sample 9-B (low elevation, 3 cycles)
Figure 4-11: Flat view of the integrated XRD patterns as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface at the XANES location of the second scan in the high hydrogen pickup materials: (a) sample 14-B (high elevation, 4 cycles); (b) sample 12-A-2 (low elevation, 4 cycles)
Figure 4-12: Normalized integrated area of the maximum intensity XRD peaks for the four phases identified in material 9 (low elevation, low HPUF, 3 cycles): (-111) <i>m</i> -

xiii

ZrO2 (red diamond); (101) <i>t</i> - $ZrO2$ (orange triangle); (10-10) α- Zr (black square); (101) δ- ZrH (grey circles)
Figure 4-13: Normalized integrated area of the maximum intensity XRD peaks for the four phases identified in material 11 (high elevation, low HPUF, 3 cycles): (-111) m -ZrO2 (red diamond); (101) t -ZrO2 (orange triangle); (10-10) α -Zr (black square); (101) δ -ZrH (grey circles)
 Figure 4-14: Normalized integrated area of the maximum intensity XRD peaks for the four phases identified in material 12 (low elevation, high HPUF, 4 cycles): (-111) <i>m-Zr02</i> (red diamond); (101) <i>t-Zr02</i> (orange triangle); (10-10) <i>α-Zr</i> (black square); (101) <i>δ-ZrH</i> (grey circles).
Figure 4-15: Normalized integrated area of the maximum intensity XRD peaks for the four phases identified in material 14 (high elevation, high HPUF, 4 cycles): (-111) m -ZrO2 (red diamond); (101) t -ZrO2 (orange triangle); (10-10) α -Zr (black square); (101) δ -ZrH (grey circles)
Figure 4-16: XRD images and integrated patterns in the near oxide $(4 \ \mu m)$ of: (a)-(b) sample 14-B; (c)-(d) sample 14-B with mask (red rectangle); (e)-(f) sample 9-B. The mask was added in the XRD pattern of material 14 to estimate the correction factor for comparison of the (111) and (-111) peak ratios and tetragonal fraction between all four materials
Figure 4-17: (-111) <i>m-ZrO2</i> peak area (normalized) in the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials
Figure 4-18: (111) <i>m-ZrO2</i> peak area (normalized) in the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials
Figure 4-19: (111)/(-111) <i>m-ZrO2</i> peak area ratio in the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials
Figure 4-20: Tetragonal volume fraction across the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials173
Figure 4-21: Oxide grain size evolution across the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials
Figure 4-22: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near metal region of material 14: (a) $-4 \mu m$; (b) $-1 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows177
Figure 4-23: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 14: (a) $+2 \mu m$; (b) $+5 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows179
Figure 4-24: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the mid oxide region of material 14: (a) +10 μm ; (b) +15 μm . The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows181

Figure 4-25: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the far oxide region of material 14: (a) +20 μm ; (b) +25 μm . The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows182
Figure 4-26: (a) XRD pattern in material 14 (25 μm , far oxide) with the illustration of the X-ray diffracted beam paths for the (200) <i>m-ZrO2</i> family of planes. (b) Schema of the preferred orientation of monoclinic oxide grain with the (200) <i>m-ZrO2</i> family of planes, the M/O interface, and the oxide growth direction. It should be noted that the (200) plane is maintained parallel to the M/O interface while the (020) and (002) have many different orientations (represented by the blue arrow near axis a). Additionally, a cubic lattice is used for illustration of the (200) preferred orientation while the monoclinic lattice is close to cubic but with $\beta = 99.53^{\circ}$ and slightly different lattice parameters (section 1.3.1)
Figure 5-1: Review of the metallic fraction measurements across the oxide layers of the 3 and 4 cycles water rod samples in terms of elevation in the reactor. Results for Mat. 9, Mat. 11, Mat. 13 and Mat. 14 (low/high elevation) were presented in this work while results for Mat. 10 and Mat. 13 (mid elevation, grey title boxes) were reported by A. Shivprasad [99]. Additionally, the fluence, hydrogen content, total oxide thickness are shown on each plot (data presented in Table 2-1). The oxide/water interfaces are represented by the colored lines in each plot (two scans were performed in all materials)
Figure 5-2: (a) Total oxide thickness and (b) hydrogen content as a function of elevation in the 3-cycles (blue squares) and 4 cycles (red circles) water rods. Additional data on the GNF water rods were provided by EPRI. The elevations of the materials examined in this study are shown with the white boxes on the two plots, while the grey boxes refer to data from previous work [99]
Figure 5-3: (a) Inner and (b) outer oxide thickness as a function of elevation in the 3- cycles (blue squares) and 4 cycles (red circles) water rods. Additional data on the GNF water rods were provided by EPRI. The elevations of the materials examined in this study are shown with the white boxes on the two plots, while the grey boxes refer to data from previous work [99]
Figure 5-4: Illustration of the mechanism leading to accelerated hydrogen pickup in the near oxide layer of the Zry-2 water rod during the additional cycle in the Limerick-1 boiling water reactor. The conditions for the mechanism to occur in Zry-2 include high fluence, mid to high elevation in the BWR, accelerated corrosion kinetics and a thick, porous oxide layer
Figure 6-1: Review of the conditions and mechanism leading to increased <i>H</i> pickup of Zry-2 materials during the additional cycle at high burnup in BWR207
Figure B-1: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near metal region of material 9: (a) $-4 \mu m$; (b) $-1 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows220

- Figure B-2: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 9: (a) $+2 \mu m$; (b) $+5 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....221
- Figure B-3: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the mid oxide region of material 9: (a) +10 μm ; (b) +15 μm . The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....222
- Figure B-4: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the far oxide region of material 9: (a) $+20 \ \mu m$; (b) $+25 \ \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....223
- Figure B-5: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near metal region of material 11: (a) $-4 \mu m$; (b) $-1 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....224
- Figure B-6: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 11: (a) $+2 \mu m$; (b) $+5 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....225
- Figure B-7: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the mid oxide region of material 11: (a) $+10 \ \mu m$; (b) $+15 \ \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....226
- Figure B-8: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the far oxide region of material 11: (a) +20 μ m; (b) +25 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....227
- Figure B-9: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near metal region of material 12: (a) $-4 \mu m$; (b) $-1 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....228
- Figure B-10: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 12: (a) $+2 \mu m$; (b) $+5 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....229
- Figure B-11: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the mid oxide region of material 12: (a) $+10 \ \mu m$; (b) $+15 \ \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....230
- Figure B-12: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 12: (a) $+20 \ \mu m$; (b) $+25 \ \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO2 are indicated by the colored arrows.....231

LIST OF TABLES

 Table 1-1: Composition (<i>wt</i>. %) and use of zirconium-based alloys in nuclear reactors. ASTM specifications for Zircaloy-2 and Zircaloy-4 [28-30], nominal composition for Zr-Nb [31], M5 [25] and ZIRLO [24].
Table 2-1: Zircaloy-2 materials selected for XANES/XRD and 3DAP measurements. All materials were cut from 2 water rods used in Limerick-1 (USA) boiling reactor for 3 and 4 cycles. Initial examinations were performed at GE VNC hot cell facility. The total oxide thickness for the water rods corresponds to the sum of the inner oxide (not present in fuel rods) and outer oxide thicknesses
Table 2-2: List of standards used for nickel XANES examinations of in-reactor corroded Zry-2 water rods. 71
Table 3-1: Edge energy (eV) of the standards measured in this present study and compared to previous work [91, 220] and databases data [261, 279-281, 312, 313]. The edge energies were determined with ATHENA software [255] as the maximum of the absorption spectrum derivate.102
Table 3-2: Thickness measurements with SEM images (analysis with ImageJ [314]) of the inner and outer oxides formed on the Zry-2 water rods. Total oxide thicknesses are derived and compared to measurements done at GE VNC hot cell facility104
 Table 4-1: Peak centroids of the Zry-2 metal and oxide phases from the data collected in the low (Mat. 9 - low elevation; Mat. 11 - high elevation) and high (Mat. 12 - low elevation; Mat. 14 - high elevation) hydrogen pickup materials and from the Powder Diffraction Files. XRD beam energy was set at 8.5 <i>keV</i> at beamline 32-ID-E of the APS (ANL). Peak centroids in the materials were averaged over the metal and oxide regions scanned.
Table 4-2: Relative differences in <i>d</i> -spacing of the Zry-2 metal and oxide phases between the data collected in the low (Mat. 9 - low elevation; Mat. 11 - high elevation) and high (Mat. 12 - low elevation; Mat. 14 - high elevation) hydrogen pickup materials and the values from the Powder Diffraction Files. XRD beam energy was set at 8.5 <i>keV</i> at beamline 32-ID-E of the APS (ANL). <i>d</i> -spacings differences in the materials were averaged over the metal and oxide regions scanned
Table A-1: ICDD # 05-1665, hexagonal α -Zr, $a = 3.232$ Å, $c = 5.147$ Å210
Table A-2: ICDD # 34-0657 , cubic β - Z r , $a = 3.5453$ Å
Table A-3: ICDD # 26-1399 , hexagonal ω-Zr, a = 5.039 Å, c = 3.136 Å211
Table A-4: ICDD # 34-0690 , tetragonal <i>γ-ZrH</i> 212

Table A-5: ICDD # 08-2018 , cubic δ-ZrH1 . 5	212
Table A-6: ICDD # 34-0649 , cubic δ- <i>ZrH</i> 1 . 66	212
Table A-7: ICDD # 34-0649 , tetragonal ε-ZrH1 . 95	212
Table A-8: ICDD # 20-1464 , tetragonal <i>ZrH</i>2	212
Table A-9: ICDD # 37-1484 , monoclinic <i>ZrO2</i> , $a = 5.3129$ Å, $b = 5.2125$ Å, $c = 5.1471$ Å, $\beta = 99.218^{\circ}$.	213
Table A-10: ICDD # 42-1164 , tetragonal <i>ZrO</i> 2 , <i>a</i> = 3.64 Å, <i>b</i> = 5.27 Å	215
Table A-11: ICDD # 50-1089 , tetragonal <i>Zr02</i> , <i>a</i> = 3.8984 Å, <i>b</i> = 5.152 Å	216
Table A-12: ICDD # 17-923 , tetragonal <i>Zr02</i> , <i>a</i> = 5.12 Å, <i>b</i> = 5.25 Å	217
Table A-13: ICDD # 51-1149 , cubic <i>Zr0</i> , <i>a</i> = 4.6258 Å	217
Table A-14: ICDD # 22-1025 , hexagonal Zr30 , $a = 5.563$ Å, $b = 31.185$ Å	218
Table A-15: ICDD # 21-1498 , hexagonal $Zr301 - x$, $a = 5.56$ Å, $b = 15.59$ Å	219

xviii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my advisor Pr. Arthur T. Motta for his constant support and guidance throughout this project, for his dedication to sharing his expert knowledge in nuclear materials and for his commitment to his students. I would also like to thank Dr. Aylin Kucuk of EPRI and Danny J. Edwards of PNNL for the insightful discussions during the setup of the experiments and the analysis of the results.

I wish to thank scientists Wenjun Liu and Dina Sheyfer at beamline 34-ID-E of the APS at Argonne National Laboratory (ANL) for their technical input and assistance while conducting the microbeam examinations, and to Julie Anderson, Wes Auker, and Pr. Clark Trevor of the Material Research Institute (MRI) at Penn State for their technical support during the SEM imaging of the samples. I am also thankful to Pr. Marek Flaska, Pr. Xing Wang, and Pr. Hojong Kim of Penn State University (PSU) for reviewing this work.

I am grateful to all the students of the Nuclear Materials group for their helpful collaborations and support throughout my years as a graduate student, with special thanks to Jonathan Balog for accompanying me during my two trips to the APS, and to Dr. Pierre-Clément Simon, Dr. Evrard Lacroix, and Dr. Adrien Couet for the inspiring conversations. I would also like to thank the staff of the Nuclear Department for their commitment to creating a friendly and stimulating research environment, and all my professors with whom I had the chance to explore the fields of nuclear and material engineering.

Last but not least, I am thankful to all my friends from my home country, from the gymnastics club, and from the international community with whom I share many fond memories of my time as a graduate student; to my family, my parents Karim and Cathy and my siblings

Elodie, Thomas and Romain for their unconditional support and love throughout this journey; and to my wife Yana for making it the most wonderful adventure.

Chapter 1

Literature review

This chapter presents a bibliographical review of the knowledge on zirconium alloys used in the nuclear industry, with an emphasis on Zircaloy-2 (Zry-2) and Zircaloy-4 (Zry-4) alloys used in Light Water Reactors (LWRs). LWRs are introduced in the first section, followed by the history of the development of zirconium alloys. Then, the waterside corrosion of these alloys in the reactor is reviewed, succeeded by the hydrogen ingress phenomenon. Lastly, the objective of this study is presented.

1.1 Introduction to Light Water Reactors

Since their development in the late 1950s, commercial nuclear reactors have been built and used all around the globe. While many reactor designs are possible using various coolants, the majority of the existing power plants are Light Water Reactors (LWRs) which use pressurized water as both the coolant and neutron moderator. Out of the 437 operational reactors, and of the 56 under construction today in the world, 364 and 50 respectively are LWRs [1]. Their predominance results from their simplicity and lower costs of construction. Two types of reactors constitute the LWRs: the Pressurized Water Reactor (PWR) and the Boiling Water Reactor (BWR). In a PWR, the water is pressurized to about 15.5 *MPa* (156 *atm*) to prevent boiling as it travels into the reactor core at approximately 290°*C* and exits at the bottom at approximately 320°C [2]. The water then exchanges heat with a secondary water coolant system in a steam generator before returning to the core. The secondary system is under lower pressure so that the water transforms into steam, and the produced steam drives a turbine to produce electricity. Two coolant systems are necessary to maintain the primary coolant in a subcooled liquid state. On the other hand, the water in a BWR is pressurized to 7.2 *MPa* (75 *atm*) and enters the core from the bottom at about $270^{\circ}C$ - $275^{\circ}C$ [3]. As it runs upward in the reactor, the water reaches $285^{\circ}C$ - $290^{\circ}C$ and transforms into steam directly in the core. The steam gets separated from the water to drive the power-generating turbine, while the water is returned to the core. The steam is then condensed and in turn reinjected into the core [2, 4]. Due to the single-coolant system, the main advantages of the BWR relative to a PWR include lower fuel and coolant temperatures, and structural components operating at lower pressure. On the other hand, PWRs are easier to monitor by controlling the flow of the liquid water, and offer no contamination of the secondary loop, power generating and condensing systems.

In both reactors, the fuel is enriched uranium (between 3% to 5% of ^{235}U concentration) in the form of uranium oxide (UO_2) pellets, stacked on top of each other and encased in rods that are about 3.6 m - 4 m high and 9.5 mm - 14 mm in diameter [5]. The UO_2 fuel provides the benefits of a chemically inert crystal structure, which is stable over the whole temperature range of the solid state of the material, with a high melting point and a relative resistance to irradiation [6]. The fuel rods are then gathered using metallic grid spacers to form the fuel assemblies. Each assembly may contain 64 to 289 fuel rods, and a typical 1100 MWe (megawatt electric) nuclear core may contain 150 fuel assemblies. In addition to the fuel rods, control rods are injected into the core to help govern the fission rate or shut down the fission chain reaction by absorbing neutrons. For BWRs, they consist of boron carbide cruciform rods inserted in between fuel assemblies, and for PWRs they are silver-indium-cadmium alloy rods inserted in selected fuel assemblies. Lastly, water rods may be added at the center of the fuel bundles to increase moderation and to flatten the neutron flux - which provides a more even fuel consumption - as water flows inside. Their diameter is slightly larger than that of the fuel rods with an outer diameter about [7]. In LWRs, the nuclear fuel cladding tube into which the UO_2 pellets are inserted, is made of zirconium alloys, as are some of the structural elements of the nuclear core and the water rods. The fuel cladding represents the first barrier for release of fission products. However the cladding may corrode in the aggressive aqueous environment of the reactor. For Zr alloys, an adherent oxide forms on the surface of the cladding which limits further corrosion. Its properties are of major importance for extensive use in the power plant [8]. Figure 1-1 illustrates the fuel assemblies of PWRs and BWRs.



Figure 1-1: Illustration of the fuel assembly of a LWR with fuel rods (top left) and of a BWR fuel assembly with fuel rods, water rods and control rods (top right). The fuel rod and water rod corrosions are also illustrated, with an oxide forming on the rod surfaces in contact with the coolant (adapted from [7, 9, 10]).

In order to improve the economics of nuclear power plants and reduce nuclear waste, there is a drive to increase the fuel utilization – known as burnup – in the reactor. It can be expressed in terms of actual energy released (in gigawatt-days) per mass of initial fuel (in metric tons of uranium or heavy metals in case of mixed fuel) [11]. Increasing the fuel utilization allows a power station to reduce its frequency of refueling, its volume of fresh fuel required and spent fuel waste – which in turn limits the potential for diversion of plutonium for nuclear weapons from those waste. However, it implies longer time in the aggressive reactor environment for the fuel and cladding, and detrimental effects such as the acceleration of corrosion on Zry-4 beyond $30 \ GWd/tU$ have been observed. Thanks to significant efforts in the industry that led to the optimization of existing alloys and the development of modern alloys such as ZIRLO and M5, the burnup of nuclear fuel already improved from $30 - 40 \ GWd/tU$ to $60 - 65 \ GWd/tU$ [11]. With a drive to further increase the burnup, more knowledge on the effects of longer reactor exposure on the fuel cladding materials is necessary, especially the detrimental effects that arise with increased radiation damage and increased concentration of fission products [12, 13]. As such, the focus of this work is to study the effect of *Ni* in accelerating hydrogen ingress at high burnup in Zry-2.

1.2 Zirconium alloys in the nuclear industry

1.2.1 History of the development of zirconium alloys

When the project of nuclear submarine propulsion started in the 1940's, groups of scientists were asked to investigate metals for use in nuclear reactor cores. The material specifications were to resist high temperature corrosion and intense radiation for long periods of time without failure, and without interacting with the neutron flux. Also to be used as cladding, the heat transfer properties are of importance to increase the thermal efficiency of the reactor. Additionally, nuclear naval fleet ambitions required reasonable production cost in large quantities. At that time, few engineering data were available on zirconium and its production was very limited. However, when tested it was found that its corrosion properties were reasonable and when its high transmission of neutrons (low absorption cross section for thermal neutrons) was noted, zirconium was selected among stainless steel, aluminum, and beryllium [8, 14].

Early on, the Kroll process enabled to produce high-purity zirconium with adjustable composition and properties. The new high-purity sponge zirconium proved to have poor corrosion resistance and lower mechanical properties compared to the crystal-bar produced material. In fact, pure zirconium was shown to have the worse corrosion properties, and any small additions of alloying elements was beneficial [15] Therefore, the development of a zirconiumbased alloy started. The first of the Zircaloy series, later called Zircaloy-1 (Zry-1), was a Zr-2.5Nb alloy. Tin was added to counteract the effect of N, involuntarily picked up during material processing. Zry-1 showed improved corrosion resistance relative to the pure metal but still underwent breakaway corrosion i.e. increasing corrosion kinetics with time [15, 16]. When the beneficial effects of iron, nickel, and chromium additions (present in stainless steel) were found [17], a second alloy was proposed: Zircaloy-2 (Zr-Sn-O-Cr-Fe-Ni). Because of its high corrosion resistance in boiling environment, Zry-2 is still currently used in BWRs, with the addition of an inner liner made of a higher purity Zr alloy to prevent pellet-cladding interaction (PCI) failures in the fuel rods [18-21]. Zircaloy-3 - a low tin variant - was soon abandoned after being tested. The observation that nickel additions enhance hydrogen absorption by the metal during corrosion [22] led to the development of Zircaloy-4, a variant of Zircaloy-2 in which the nickel has been replaced by additional iron. This has been the main cladding material of PWRs but can suffer enhanced corrosion past a burnup of $30 \, GW d/tU$. Zry-4 has been replaced in PWRs by improved modern alloys such as ZIRLO (Westinghouse) and M5 (Areva, today Framatome) in the 2000's [13]. In the heavy water moderated CANDU (Canadian deuterium uranium) and the Russian RMBKs (BWR) and WWERs (PWR), Zr-Nb alloys have been used instead of zircaloys [23]. It is worth mentioning that in CANDU, the exposure is much lower because only natural uranium is used which highly reduces energy content in the fuel. Due to the great results of Zry-4 and Zr-2.5Nb in LWRs, ZIRLO (Zr-Sn-Nb-O-Fe) can be considered an intermediate between these two alloys and show better corrosion resistance in the reactor than Zry-4 [24]. M5 is a *Zr-Nb-O* alloy with some iron and sulfur content which also show improved corrosion resistance, particularly at higher burnup, and a lower hydrogen pickup fraction [25, 26]. The addition of *Nb* to Zircaloys also provided better resistance to irradiation swelling, severe at high burnups for zircaloys which limits the lifetime in the reactors [27]. Table 1-1 gathers the main zirconium alloys, their composition, and their use in the nuclear industry.

Table 1-1: Composition (wt.%) and use of zirconium-based alloys in nuclear reactors. ASTM specifications for Zircaloy-2 and Zircaloy-4 [28-30], nominal composition for Zr-Nb [31], M5 [25] and ZIRLO [24].

	Zircaloy-2	Zircaloy-4	Zr-Nb	M5	ZIRLO
Sn	1.2-1.7	1.2-1.7	-	-	1.0
Nb	-	-	1.0-2.8	1.0	1.0
Fe	0.07-0.20	0.18-0.24	-	-	0.1
Cr	0.05-0.15	0.07-0.13	-	-	-
Ni	0.03-0.08	-	-	-	-
0	0.1-0.14	0.1-0.14	-	0.125-0.135	0.125
Use	BWRs	PWRs	CANDUS, RMBKS	PWRs	PWRs
			and WWERS		

A second alternative to increasing fuel burnup is the development of advanced cladding material. After the Fukushima Dai Ichi accident, considerable effort has been made to create accident tolerant fuels that can provide additional coping time in case of loss of coolant accident (LOCA). A non-exhaustive list of candidates are ceramic materials such as silicon-carbide (*SiC*), high entropy alloys such as *FeCrAl* or *CrFeMnNi*, or coated *Zr* alloys [8, 12, 32-39]. When the base material is no longer *Zr*, these materials can provide larger safety margins by improving the corrosion resistance to the high temperature corrosive environment during beyond design basis accident (BDBA). However, these *Zr*-free fuels do carry a neutronic penalty and due to the

lengthy and rigorous process of licensing materials for use in nuclear power plants, as well as the expensive irradiation and corrosion tests on a multitude of different standards, the deployment of advanced Zr-free cladding materials is in the 15-20 year time frame [8, 12, 33]. On the other hand, coated Zr alloys benefit from the abundant literature on Zr alloys corrosion and the protective coating on fuel claddings can significantly improve the oxidation resistance during LOCA with little change to the reactor design [32]. From the many materials tested in the past 10 years, it is worth mentioning chromium coatings [32, 35, 40, 41] and nitride-based coatings (such as *TiN* and *TiAlN*) [34, 42, 43] which have shown good corrosion resistance and great adherence. However, further investigations are required for a comprehensive understanding and optimization of the coatings, especially the long-term effects in the nuclear reactor environment.

1.2.2 Metallurgy of zirconium alloys

Zr is a transition metal of atomic number *Z* = 40 and natural atomic mass *A* = 91.22 amu. Pure zirconium is a soft, ductile, and malleable greyish-white material with two solid phases up to the melting temperature of 2128 *K* (1860°*C*) and a boiling point at 4650 *K* (4377°*C*). At atmospheric pressure and below 1138 *K* (865°*C*), it exhibits a hexagonal compact (hcp, space group *P*6₃/*mmc*) crystal structure (α *Zr*) with lattice parameters *a* = 0.323 *nm* and *c* = 0.515 *nm*, giving a *c*/*a* ratio of 1.593 (slightly lower than the ideal value of 1.633). Starting at 1138 *K* (865°*C*), zirconium undergoes an allotropic transformation to body-centered cubic (bcc, space group *I m*3*m*) phase (β *Zr*), stable until the melting temperature of the metal [23]. Because of this allotropic transformation, zirconium can be strengthened via rapid cooling from the β *Zr* phase (known as β -quenching for zirconium material) [23, 44]. At high pressure, α *Zr* transforms into another hexagonal structure (*P*6/*mmm*), not close-packed, called ω *Zr*. The transition pressure is estimated to be 2.1 *GPa* at 300 *K*. It is metastable in ambient conditions when pressure is dropped and transitions back to αZr at 470 K (197°C). Eventually, as pressure and temperature increase further, ωZr transforms into βZr and the triple point is estimated around 5 *GPa* and 950 K [45, 46]. Due to the high pressure required for ωZr , it is generally not observed in the microstructure of the materials for nuclear use, but Ishii's work [47] measured the presence of ωZr beneath the oxide of Zry-2 when corroded in air at 450°C. It was argued to result from the high compressive stresses in the metal from corrosion of the base metal, as explained in section 1.3.3. The pressure-temperature phase diagram for Zr from Zhang et al.'s work [46] is shown in Figure 1-2.



Figure 1-2: Pressure-temperature diagram of Zr for pressures and temperatures up to 1200 K, taken from Zhang et al. [46].

Zirconium is the ninth most abundant metal in the earth's crust, and normally contains impurities of hafnium (Hf) with a concentration fluctuating between 1 and 3 wt.% [48, 49].

Because hafnium's propensity to thermal neutron capture is 100 times higher than for zirconium [8], zirconium must be purified to very low contents of Hf (less than 100 wt. ppm) prior to use in nuclear reactors – a challenging process due to the chemical similarities between the two. These occur generally as the mineral form zircon $(ZrSiO_4)$, and sometimes as baddeleyite $(ZrO_2 mineral)$. Hf and other impurities are extracted via distillation, calcination, and carbochlorination [48]. The Kroll process, developed in the 1940's for titanium, enables the production of zirconium metal by reduction of the zirconium chloride $ZrCl_4$ by liquid magnesium, and after a vacuum distillation to separate to reduced solution, so-called high purity sponge Zr is available. Zirconium metal can also be obtained via an electrolysis processes that may offer economic benefits, as reviewed by S. Li et al. [50], but the different techniques have yet to replace the traditional Kroll process. Eventually, high purity Zr is obtained by the Van Arkel process which consists of gas transport of Zr reacting with iodine at medium temperature followed by the iodide separation and deposition at high temperature on an electrically heated filament [23].

Once pure Zr sponge is available, the alloying elements are added using the vacuum arc remelting process. This technique consists of melting the pure material (called electrode) in a vacuum by means of an electronic arc while adding the desired alloying elements of interest in powder form. Because this operation is done under high vacuum, it allows for strict control of the concentrations of the beneficial and detrimental impurities [51]. The produced zirconium alloy ingots consist of a solid solution of Zr and some alloying elements, while the other elements separate from the matrix to form secondary phase precipitates (SPPs). The improved corrosion highly depends on the uniformity and overall concentration of the elemental additions [52]. While the overall concentration is controlled during the vacuum arc melting process, homogeneity is achieved via the initial heat treatment of the ingot. Among the alloying elements, Sn and Otypically remain in solid solution (SS) in αZr , while Fe, Cr, Ni form SPPs as inclusions in the matrix because of their very low terminal solubility in αZr . Therefore, the ingot is usually hot rolled (tubes) or forged (plates) at temperatures near above 1273 K (1000°C) to reach the upper αZr , the $(\alpha + \beta)Zr$ or the βZr stability regions, where the alloying elements have higher solubility, followed by a β -quench. Because of higher solid solubilities of the alloying elements in βZr , this heat treatment allows for their dissolution and homogenization in the material [23]. During the rapid cooling, the alloying elements are redistributed locally: *Sn* and *O* remain at the center of the α platelets while *Nb* and the transition metals (*Fe*, *Cr*, *Ni*) are ejected toward the grain interfaces. Plastic deformation strains have been observed as a result of the segregations, requiring further thermomechanical processes to restore ductility [53]. Moreover, as the alloy is worked to produce the desired shape of the materials via hot extrusion or cold rolling, additional intermediate annealing treatments are necessary to lower the hardness.

Annealing heat treatments are usually performed in the range of $[530^{\circ}C-600^{\circ}C]$ to allow for full recrystallization (RX) of the material. The deformed grains of the bulk are fully dissolved to nucleate equiaxed defect-free Zr grains. The temperature of the last annealing process can be reduced to avoid full RX. This process allows for dislocations and other defects to partially remain in the material, improving its mechanical properties, and is applied to Zry-4 alloys – defined as cold worked stress relieved (CWSR or SR) materials - when utilized in PWRs, whereas BWRs use fully RX Zry-2 [23].

It has been found that the SPPs strongly correlate with the oxidation behavior of the material. Typically, larger precipitates ensure lower uniform corrosion in PWRs [54] while smaller precipitates prevent localized corrosion in BWRs [55]. The size and distribution of these precipitates are controlled by manufacturing and thermal treatment of the alloys. The β -quench heat treatment described above sets the initial size distribution of the SPPs. Successive annealing procedures on the alloy increase the size of the precipitates [56] due to grain growth by Ostwald ripening in which the smallest particles dissolve and the bigger ones grow. The process minimizes the free energy of the system by reducing the precipitate/matrix interface area [57].

The cumulative annealing parameter (CAP) was introduced to correlate hardness reduction and precipitate characteristics with all the thermomechanical processes [58]. It is defined as the integral of the thermal treatments:

$$CAP = \sum_{i} t_{i} \exp\left(\frac{-Q}{RT_{i}}\right)$$

(Eq. 1-1)

where t_i the annealing time (*h*) and T_i the annealing temperature for the *i*th heat treatment, *Q* the activation energy, and *R* the molar gas constant. $\frac{Q}{R} = 40\,000\,K$ approximately for Zircaloys [59, 60].

A value for CAP around $10^{-17}h$ corresponds to a mean SPP size of 150 - 200 nm [56], and was seen optimum for uniform corrosion of Zry-4 materials in PWRs [56, 61]. On the other hand, annealing parameters about 10^{-18} correspond to a mean SPP size of about 50 nm, and optimizes corrosion and hydrogen pickup of Zry-2 in BWRs, especially at high burnup [56, 59]. Figure 1-3 illustrates the relationship between the mean particle sizes of the intermetallic precipitates as a function of the CAP for β -quenched Zircaloys from Garzarolli et al.'s work [56]. For better approximation of the particle size, it has been argued that a Q/R value of 32 000 K should be used, and to add the ratio of 0.45/CDR where CDR is the cooling down rate (K/s) in the α -phase during the initial β -quench of the alloy [62].



Figure 1-3: Mean intermetallic precipitate sizes as a function of the cumulative annealing parameters for β *-quenched Zircaloys. Figured taken from Garzarolli et al.'s work [56].*

1.2.3 Alloying elements in Zircaloys

As mentioned before, the distribution of alloying elements in the supersaturated αZr solid solution or in second phase precipitates is determinant of the corrosion performances of Zr alloys in nuclear reactors. In this section, the different alloying elements of zircaloys and their microstructure are further detailed. The ASTM specifications for Zircaloy-2 and Zircaloy-4, found in Table 1-1, refer to five main alloying elements: *Sn*, *Fe*, *Cr*, *Ni*, and *O*. Detrimental impurities such as carbon, nitrogen, sulfur, cadmium, or cobalt, have their concentration strictly controlled during the manufacturing process [23] and are not detailed here. During reactor operations, hydrogen enters the materials during corrosion, a mechanism referred to as "hydrogen

pickup". Hydrogen ingress is of concern because of the embrittlement of the alloy due to the precipitation of brittle zirconium hydrides (ZrH) and is further discussed in section 1.4.

As mentioned above, initially the additions of tin in zircaloys counteracted the N impurities added during the early manufacturing processes [15] but was kept in zircaloys and added to ZIRLO for its beneficial effect on mechanical properties in the power plants, especially in-reactor deformation [63, 64]. The *Sn* concentration range in zircaloys is 1.2 - 1.7 wt. % [28-30]. It was later found that decreasing *Sn* content within the specification range improves corrosion resistance without reducing mechanical properties, and so it was suggested to control the tin concentration near the lower limit of 1.2 wt. % [64]. The phase diagram of the *Zr-Sn* system is plotted in Figure 1-4. It can be seen that *Sn* solid solubility starts increasing significantly past $300^{\circ}C$ and Zr_4Sn precipitates should be present at room temperature. However, Zr_4Sn phase is not observed in zircaloys because of the slow kinetics of the precipitation and *Sn* is rather located in the supersaturated αZr grains, acting as an α -phase stabilizer as the temperature increases [65].

Similarly, oxygen is highly soluble in the αZr phase and acts as an α -phase stabilizer at high temperature, which strengthens the material. Nitrogen is usually preferred to oxygen to improve the mechanical properties of metals, but it has a severe detrimental effect on the corrosion performance of zirconium alloys [23]. The specified oxygen concentration range in zircaloy is 0.1 - 0.14 wt.%, or 1000 - 1400 wt.ppm [31]. When reaching concentrations above 2000 wt.ppm, the ductility of the material is negatively affected [23]. Oxygen atoms can interact with the dislocations at medium temperatures and cause age-strengthening phenomena [66, 67]. The phase diagram of the Zr-O system is shown in Figure 1-5. Zirconium oxide ZrO₂ (forming at O concentrations above approximately 30 wt.%, or 300 000 wt.ppm for all temperatures until melting) is described in the next section focused on corrosion in the LWRs.

On the other hand, the transition metals (Fe, Cr, Ni) have very low solid solubility in αZr , but are soluble in βZr , and are considered β -phase stabilizers. In Zircaloy-2, they are found mostly in two types of Laves phase precipitates [68]: $Zr(Fe, Cr)_2$ – with cubic and hexagonal crystal structures – and $Zr_2(Fe, Ni)$ - with a body centered [69] tetragonal structure [70-73]. Only the $Zr(Fe, Cr)_2$ precipitates are found in Zry-4 due to the absence of Ni. Cr content is specified to be 0.05 - 0.15 wt. % in Zry-2 and 0.07 - 0.13 wt. % in Zry-4. Fe content, slightly higher in Zry-2 and compensating for the absence of Ni in Zry-4, are 0.07 - 0.20 wt. % and 0.18 - 0.010.24 wt. % respectively. Lastly, Ni content in Zry-2 is in the range of 0.03 - 0.08 wt. % [28-30]. These alloying elements strongly improve the corrosion resistance and hydrogen pickup in the reactor, as well as the strength of the materials due to the formation of the secondary phase precipitates in the bulk [23]. Figure 1-6, Figure 1-7, and Figure 1-8 show the phase diagram of the Zr-Cr, Zr-Fe, and Zr-Ni respectively. It can be seen that ZrCr₂, Zr₃Fe, and Zr₂Ni are the stable precipitates at room temperature. The first precipitates to form are the $ZrCr_2$ and the Zr_2Ni types. The Zr_3Fe phase starts precipitating at a lower temperature than the other two, and as a result Fe substitutes in the already present SPPs, forming $Zr(Fe, Cr)_2$ and $Zr_2(Fe, Ni)$ particles, rather than to nucleate [65, 68]. The microstructural and compositional changes in the precipitates due to corrosion and irradiation in the reactor are discussed in later sections.







Figure 1-5: Zr-O phase diagram [23].







Figure 1-7: Zr-Fe phase diagram [23].


Figure 1-8: Zr-Ni phase diagram [23].

1.3 Corrosion of the Zircaloys in Light Water Reactors

1.3.1 Zirconium oxide phases

When used in the highly corrosive environment of a LWR, Zr alloys endure oxidation of the zirconium atoms and of the alloying elements by the oxygen in the coolant water. An oxide layer forms on the surface of the material which controls further corrosion. The properties of this protective layer highly depend on the microstructure and alloying content of the bulk [52]. When oxidized in a water environment, Zr exhibits predominantly the +4 oxidation state (*IV*), in the form of zirconium dioxide (ZrO_2), also known as zirconia. In addition, thin mono-oxide ZrO(oxidation state +2 or II) and an αZr solution saturated in oxygen ($\alpha Zr(O)_{sat}$) are present close to the metal/oxide interface in the oxide layers of zirconium alloys [74-76]. The presence of the thin layer (< $1\mu m$) of suboxide ZrO, with a hexagonal crystal structure, and its morphology is believed to depend on the oxidation temperature [77]. The thickness of this layer varies during the corrosion process, and a thicker sub-oxide layer is seen in Zr-Fe-Cr alloys corroded in supercritical water at 500°C compared to 360°C [78].

 ZrO_2 exhibits three main polymorphs: monoclinic (*m*-*ZrO*₂, tetragonal (*t*-*ZrO*₂), and cubic (*c*-*ZrO*₂). The *Zr*-*O* phase diagram at atmospheric pressure from Abriata et al.'s work [79] is plotted in Figure 1-9 and described further below. Highly compacted orthorhombic phases have also been observed or predicted under extreme pressure, which are orders of magnitude higher than in nuclear reactors conditions [80, 81]. The relative stability of oxide phases further depends on temperature, concentrations of alloying elements, impurities, and defects in the material [82]. Additionally, grain size and stresses have an important impact on the oxide microstructure [83].

At low and moderate temperature, the stable phase is $m-ZrO_2$ (space group is $P2_1/c$ with the lattice parameters a = 5.197 Å, b = 5.280 Å, c = 5.345 Å, and $\beta = 99.53^{\circ}$) [81, 84]. The $t-ZrO_2$ has a more compact structure (space group is $P4_2/nmc$ with the lattice parameters a = 3.629 Å and c = 5.208 Å) [81, 84] and is stabilized at higher temperature ($T > 1170^{\circ}C$) or higher pressure (P > 2.5 GPa) [85], or with small crystallite size [86] or alloying elements [87-89]. In nuclear reactors where the temperature is well below the transition temperature, some t- ZrO_2 has been observed, especially close to the met/ox interface [90-92], due to compressive stresses and small crystallite size in the oxide [86, 93], impurities [94], and oxygen vacancies [95, 96]. Eventually, $c-ZrO_2$ is observed at temperatures above $2370^{\circ}C$ (space group is Fm3m with the lattice parameters a = 5.128 Å) for stochiometric compounds (66.7% at.% of oxygen) [81, 84] and at lower temperature (starting at $1525^{\circ}C$) in sub-stochiometric oxide (with eutectoid point at 63.6 *at*. % of oxygen as seen in *Figure 1-9*) [79]. These three crystal structures are shown in Figure 1-10 [84] with the oxygen atoms in red and the zirconium atoms in blue.



Figure 1-9: Zr-O phase diagram. Adapted from [79]



Figure 1-10: Crystal structures of ZrO_2 (monoclinic, tetragonal, and cubic). Zr atoms are shown in blue while 0 atoms are in red. Illustration taken from [84].

1.3.2 Corrosion process of zirconium alloys in Light Water Reactors

Like most metals, Zr atoms are oxidized by the coolant during operation in nuclear reactors. The driving force for the oxidation to occur is measured by the change in Gibbs free energy ΔG of the system. The Gibbs free energy change at constant temperature is defined by: $\Delta G = \Delta H - T\Delta S$ where ΔH is the change in enthalpy, T the absolute temperature and ΔS the entropy change. Negative values for Gibbs free energy change signify a spontaneous reaction, with the probability of the reaction occurring increasing as ΔG becomes even more negative [97]. The Ellingham diagram – a plot of the free energy of formation of oxides – for common elements in an oxygen environment is presented in Figure 1-11 [98].



Figure 1-11: Ellingham diagram for common oxides with the Richardson nomographic scales to determine the equilibrium oxygen partial pressure: a) Al, Ca, Cu, Fe, Ir, Mg, Mn, Si, Ti, Zn; b) Ba, Be, Ce, Co, Cr, La, Mo, Ni, Pb, Pd, Ru, Ta, Zr. Taken from [98].

The Richardson nomographic scales are also plotted in Figure 1-11 to determine the equilibrium oxygen partial pressure P_{O^2} of the redox reactions at the specified temperatures. To determine P_{O^2} , a line is drawn from the origin of the Ellingham diagram (T = 0, $\Delta G = 0$ i.e. top left corner) to the point on the oxidation line of interest at the specified temperature. The oxygen

equilibrium partial pressure is then the intersection of the drawn line and the P_{O^2}/atm scale. An example is shown with the blue lines drawn on Figure 1-15-(b) for the redox reaction of nickel: $2Ni + O_2 = 2NiO$ at $T \approx 560 \text{ K}$ which yields $P_{O^2}/atm \approx 10^{-34}$. The hydrogen and the carbon monoxide equilibrium partial pressures are obtained in a similar manner with the difference that the first point of the drawn line is at ($\Delta G = \Delta G_H, T = 0$) and ($\Delta G = \Delta G_C, T = 0$) respectively.

As can be seen from the plot in *Figure 1-11*, the free energy during Zr oxidation is more negative and therefore more spontaneous than metals such as *Fe*, *Cr*, *Ni*, *Pd*, *Ti* or *Zn*. As a result, *Zr* oxidation is highly spontaneous, and the alloying element get oxidized later than the *Zr* matrix. The delayed oxidation of alloying elements compared to the host has been observed in zircaloys [99-101] and is discussed in more detail in section 1.1.1.

The overall chemical reaction of water corrosion of Zr is given by:

$$Zr + 2H_2O \rightarrow ZrO_2 + 2H_2$$

This reaction is the result of multiple step reactions and processes occurring at different locations in the material as reviewed by Couet, Motta, and Comstock in [13] and [102], and illustrated in Figure 1-12 [13]. In the case of zirconium alloys, the oxide is stable and adherent to the metal surface and forms a layer through which charged species need to travel for further corrosion to take place. At the oxide/water interface, dissociation of the water occurs, providing O^{2-} anions:

1)
$$H_2 0 \rightarrow 0^{2-} + 2H^+$$

At the metal/oxide interface, oxidation of the zirconium provides Zr^{4+} cations:

3)
$$Zr \rightarrow Zr^{4+} + 4e^{-1}$$

Contrary to what is observed in steels, no metal migration through the layer is observed - Zr^{4+} cations have little mobility in zirconia [103] - and thus oxygen has to travel through the oxide. The transport of oxygen anions is driven by the concentration [104] and electric potential gradients [13]. While the concentration gradient results from the coolant water being the source for oxygen atoms at the oxide/water interface, the electric fields arise from the ambipolar diffusion of electrons and anions [105] and local space charging in the oxide [106]. Oxygen vacancies are present in the oxide (the ZrO_{2-x} oxide is sub-stochiometric [104]) due to the oxide forming at the cheapest oxygen cost it can in the oxygen starved metal/oxide interface. At the water interface, O^{2-} anions are absorbed from the environment to fill the vacancies:

2)
$$O^{2-} + V_{\ddot{O}} \rightarrow O^{2-}_{absorded}$$

The transport of O^{2-} is equal to the transport of O^{2-} vacancies, $V_{\ddot{O}}$, and the vacancy current is preferably used. Once the $O^{2-}_{absorbed}$ reach the metal interface, they react with the cations to form new layers of oxide:

4)
$$Zr^{4+} + 2O^{2-}_{absorded} \rightarrow ZrO_{2,absorbed}$$

If the electrons can move outward to the cathodic sites, they reduce the H^+ to form dihydrogen:

5)
$$2H^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow H_2$$

The location of the cathodic sites of the reaction is unknown and may happen withing the oxide rather than at the water interface as H atoms diffuse toward the metal [107, 108]. Supposing that the electrons cannot migrate easily through the oxide, the alternative way to close the reaction is for H to reach the oxide/metal interface, combine with electrons and be absorbed in the metal – the process of hydrogen pickup. The H atoms which make their way into the material dissolve or form zirconium hydrides ZrH in the metal [109]. The mechanism by which the absorption and transport of hydrogen occurs is not fully understood, as discussed in further detail in 1.4, and is of great concern in Zr alloys due to the brittle properties of zirconium hydrides [107, 110]. The oxide electronic conductivity is therefore of great importance: if the H_2 recombination occurs close to the water, little hydrogen will be picked up during corrosion. This was shown in Couet's work where the hydrogen pickup in Zry-4 and Zr-2.5Nb alloys was seen to increase as the oxide electronic conductivity decreased [111].



Figure 1-12: Oxidation process of zirconium alloys in a water environment. Surface reactions 1 to 5 happen in series, but the steps controlling the corrosion rate are the transport of charged species (oxygen, electrons, and hydrogen). Figure and caption taken from [13].

The decrease in oxidation rate as the oxide thickens in Zr alloys [112] means that the corrosion kinetics are limited by the oxygen or electron transport through the oxide layer. Wagner's oxidation theory of pure metals predicts that this hypothesis leads to parabolic scaling kinetics of the form $\delta = K * t^{1/2}$ (with δ the oxide thickness, K a constant and t the exposure time) under the hypothesis of local chemical potential equilibrium of charged species [113, 114]. However, oxidation of Zr alloys is frequently sub-parabolic exhibiting exponents n lower than 1/2 ($\delta = K * t^n$ with n < 0.5). This is thought to be the result of alterations to the oxygen anions and electrons mobility because of oxide microstructure and the presence of local space charge in the oxide [13]. The coupled current charge compensation (C4) model developed by Couet et al. [102] is based on the theory developed by Fromhold [115] in which the electron current and potential space charge in the oxide clearly affect the corrosion rate. The theory hypothesizes a

global zero net current (oxygen and electron current compensate each other) but allows for local concentration differences which form electric fields across the oxide, in turn affecting the movement of charge species. Importantly, although an overall zero net current is necessary to maintain charge neutrality, a local imbalance can occur, resulting in a space charge. The C4 model was successfully applied to Zr-Nb corrosion where the oxidized niobium ions compensate positive space charges in the oxide by accommodating additional oxygen vacancies [102].

As corrosion kinetics vary from one alloy to the other when corroded in the same environment [116], it has been a challenge to provide a unified model for the sub-parabolic corrosion behavior in Zr alloys. Although the charge effect approach incorporating effects of oxidized alloying elements may resolve this issue [13], the conductivity of specific oxide microstructure and precipitate composites needs to be determined for a quantitative evaluation. The corrosion rate values for Zr alloys are further discussed in the next section, along with the description of oxide microstructure and growth.

1.3.3 Oxide growth and stability

In order for the metal to resist the temperature oxidation environment of nuclear reactors, the oxide formed on zirconium metal must form an adherent oxide barrier. Due to differences in molar density of Zr and ZrO_2 , stresses accumulate as the oxide grows. The Pilling-Bedworth ratio, which measures the volume expansion during the oxidation of metals [117], is defined as:

$$PBR(Zr) = \frac{Volume \ unit \ cell \ (ZrO_2)}{Volume \ unit \ cell \ (Zr)} = \frac{21.7 \ cm^3. \ mol^{-1}}{14.0 \ cm^3. \ mol^{-1}} = 1.55$$
(Eq. 1-2)

Because PBR(Zr) > 1, it is expected that compressive stresses develop in the oxide and tensile stresses in the metal [117-119]. Although the vast majority of this volume difference is

accommodated in the direction of the growing oxide (1 μ m of metal creates about 1.55 μ m of oxide), if this ratio is not perfect, some implanted stresses may develop. For pure Zr, the behavior of the oxide barrier can vary considerably as some samples maintain a black protective oxide while other samples suffered oxide spalling with a non-protective white oxide early on [15, 16, 120]. The high linear corrosion rate in the presence of the white flaky oxide is usually referred to as the *breakaway* regime, and typically characterized by uneven oxide growth [52, 120, 121]. In contrast, the protective black oxide offers reduced corrosion kinetics until a so-called transition manifested by an abrupt increase in oxide growth. The transition is thought to occur because of the stress accumulation and recrystallisation process in the oxide, making the oxide lose its protectivity as cracks and pores provide the water coolant with a direct access to the metal interface [13, 122, 123]. Specifically, compressive stress accumulation in the oxide eventually creates lateral cracks that interconnect existing pores throughout the near oxide. This percolating condition enables the water to reach the metal interface, leading to increased corrosion kinetics [13, 120, 124].

Once transition occurs, either a non-protective oxide layer develops leading to *breakaway* behavior (*Zr*-0.5*X* type alloys), or a protective oxide is built under the cracked porous oxide layer, slowing down further corrosion similar to that of the pre-transition regime (zircaloys, *Zr*-*Nb*, ZIRLO, M5) [13, 120]. In an extensive study of the oxide microstructure of Zircaloy-4, ZIRLO, and *Zr*-2.5%*Nb* alloy tubing specimens corroded in autoclave (water, $360^{\circ}C$) by Yilmazbayhan [125], the transitions were seen respectively at $1.8 \,\mu m$, $2.0 \,\mu m$ and $2.5 \,\mu m$ and the oxide remains adherent and protective as subsequent transitions occurs, leading to an oxide composed of periodic layers. In another study on *Zr* alloys sheets corroded in water at $360^{\circ}C$ by Sakamoto [126], the transition was seen at $2.5 \,\mu m$ for Zircaloy-2 and at about $3 \,\mu m$ for *Zr*-2.5%*Nb*. The transition thickness is seen to be constant for a specific alloy throughout multiple cycles [13, 125].

The long-term exposure in the reactors leads to thick oxides composed of many periodic layers about 2-3 μm . In PWRs, end of life oxides of up to 100 μm on Zircaloy-4 can occur. In contrast, mainly because the corrosion temperature is much lower in BWRs (288°*C*), oxide thickness of Zry-2 is typically around 30 – 60 μm [59, 127]. An illustration of the uniform oxide formed on Zry-4 and the *breakaway* oxide formed on pure *Zr* is shown in Figure 1-13 [120].



Figure 1-13: SEM micrographs of oxide layers formed in 360°C water: a) uniform corrosion with multiple transitions in Zircaloy-4 after 353 days; b) breakaway behavior in crystal bar Zr after 3 days [120].

As mentioned in the previous section, the corrosion kinetics of Zr alloys are subparabolic:

$$\delta = Kt^n$$

(Eq. 1-3)

with δ the oxide thickness, *K* constant, *t* the exposure time and n < 0.5.

These oxide growth rates apply in between transitions, leading to a cyclic sequence of subparabolic oxidations. The value for n varies from 0.2 to 0.5 depending on the alloy composition and microstructure, with values closer to 0.3 - 0.35 (cubic) and lower for Zircaloys [128-130]. As exposure time increases, the cycles eventually disappear, and a linear corrosion rate is established. The different kinetic regimes are schematically represented Figure 1-14, produced from the illustrations in [13, 131-133]. The later linear rate is regarded as the superposition of asynchronized pre-transition growths of various material regions [134]. In the case of long-term corrosion, a second linear regime with increased kinetics has been observed [132].



Exposure Time

Figure 1-14: Schematic representation of the different corrosion regimes of Zr alloys. After references [13, 131-133].

Because there is little oxide dissolution and the vast majority of the oxygen which arrives at the oxide metal interface is used to create new ZrO_2 rather than being dissolved into solid solution, the oxide thickness can be interchanged with the weight gain (*wg*) of the material (Figure 1-14) which is easier to access experimentally, especially for autoclave samples. The relationship between weight gain and oxide thickness (assuming uniform oxide growth) is:

$$wg = \delta \times \rho(ZrO_2) \times \left[1 - \frac{M(Zr)}{M(ZrO_2)}\right]$$

(Eq. 1-4)

with zirconia's density $\rho(ZrO_2) = 5.68 \ g.\ cm^{-3}$, and zirconia and zirconium molar masses $M(ZrO_2) = 123.22 \ g.\ mol^{-1}$, $M(Zr) = 91.22 \ g.\ mol^{-1}$, so that: $wg \ [mg.\ dm^{-2}] \approx 14.7 * \delta[\mu m]$ (Eq. 1-5)

The aggressive environment present in the reactor may cause additional degradation processes to affect the protective oxide layers. These include, non-exhaustively, stress-corrosion cracking (SCC), corrosion fatigue, irradiation creep and thermal stresses (due to the difference in thermal expansion between the oxide and the metal) [82] and may lead to accelerated corrosion rates as burnup and exposure time increase. Also, long-term irradiation enhances corrosion kinetics of Zircaloys [132, 135].

Lastly, while uniform corrosion is typically observed on Zry-4 used in PWRs, nodular and shadow corrosions are observed on Zry-2 materials corroded in BWRs [134, 136]. Nodular corrosion is described as the formation of small circular Zr oxide blisters as illustrated in Figure 1-15-(a) and Figure 1-15-(b) [112]. This nodule-like oxide growth occurs more spontaneously in BWRs because of the water boiling and the more oxidizing coolant (due to differences in water chemistry of the reactors as described further in section 1.4.3) [137]. The mechanism for nodular corrosion is yet to be fully understood but Cox [130] suggested that regions of Zr metal depleted in alloying elements may suffer local increased kinetics due to nearby noble precipitates. Nodular corrosion is also more prevalent during high temperature testing in autoclave ($500^{\circ}C$) [138, 139]. Similarly, shadow corrosion may occur when Zr alloys components are located near other components made of noble metal alloys; it consists of a local galvanic corrosion where the oxide growth mirrors the shape of the noble alloy [134]. For example, a stainless steel control blade too close to a zirconium-based fuel rod may lead to shadow corrosion as seen in Figure 1-15-(c) and Figure 1-15-(d) [134].



Figure 1-15: (a) Nodules formed on Zr alloy oxide corroded in 500°C steam at 10.3 MPa, seen in cross-section in (b) [112]; Zr oxides near (c) and away (d) from a stainless steel control blade, showing the effect of shadow corrosion [134].

1.1.1 Oxidation of alloying elements in Zircaloys

In previous sections, the oxidation of the host atoms in zirconium alloys was reviewed. The alloying elements also can play a significant role in improving Zr alloys corrosion. In fact, any small addition of alloying elements was seen to improve the poor corrosion properties of high purity Zr in water [15]. Ensor [52] found that unstable oxide growth developed in regions of low alloying element contents. The size of the second phase precipitates and the ratios of elements (*Fe/Cr* and *Fe/Ni*) are also known to influence the corrosion rate of zircaloys, especially at high burnup where the content and microstructure of SPPs suffered long-term exposure to irradiation damage [140]. In this section, the oxidation of the alloying elements of zircaloys corroded in LWRs is reviewed.

From the Ellingham diagram of common elements, as illustrated in Figure 1-11 [98], it is predicted that the alloying elements (*Sn*, *Cr*, *Fe*, *Ni*) oxidize later than the *Zr* atoms, i.e. when the oxide front passes, the *Zr* atoms are preferentially oxidized. Some researchers have found that, likely driven by its higher nobility compared to *Zr*, it nucleates into small metallic precipitates in the oxide before quickly oxidizing and substituting again [141]. Tin is fully oxidized (*II*, or +2) within the first $0.5 - 1 \mu m$ of oxide, favoring oxygen vacancy creation (and hence increasing the corrosion rate) because of its lower oxidation state compared to *Zr*(*IV*), and reaches the (*IV*, or +4) oxidation state in further oxide [141-143].

Secondly, the delayed oxidation of the intermetallic precipitates, $Zr(Fe, Cr)_2$ and $Zr_2(Fe, Ni)$, has been verified in many Zr oxides over the last decades, with the degree of delay following the nobility of the elements: Cr < Fe < Ni [13]. Electron microscopy examinations of zirconium oxide layers established that SPPs remain metallic upon incorporation of the alloy [101, 144] and undergo full oxidation as the oxide thickens, as shown by in-depth X-ray diffraction near-edge spectroscopy studies on Zry-2 and Zry-4 [99, 100, 145, 146]. The mechanism by which these precipitates get oxidized past the metal/oxide interface is still unclear. In the precipitates, the Zr atoms oxidize first, followed by the less noble of the two alloying elements in the precipitate while the other segregates to the particle boundary. The oxidized products are believed to comprise amorphous oxide along with cubic, tetragonal, and monoclinic ZrO_2 [101, 147]. For $Zr(Fe, Cr)_2$ type SPPs, Cr atoms oxidize while Fe segregate to boundaries and into the matrix and may nucleate to form a *bcc* iron phase [143, 148, 149]. Partial segregation and precipitation of Cr has also been observed and chromium oxidation is believed to occur mainly before transition of the corrosion regime while iron mainly oxidizes post-transition [148].

As a result, *Cr* is fully oxidized within $1 - 2 \mu m$ [146], and *Fe* within $2 - 5 \mu m$ [99, 131, 145] of the metal/oxide (*M/O*) interface in Zircaloys.

For the $Zr_2(Fe, Ni)$ particles, Fe oxidizes while Ni segregates and dissolves in the matrix [147, 150]. Kuri's work revealed some Ni remaining metallic in the oxide layer of in-reactor corroded Zry-2 fuel cladding (burnup of $45 \ MWd/kg$) in the form of Ni-bearing SPPs whereas all Ni in oxide solid solution is oxidized [151]. Shivprasad's study of in-reactor corroded Zry-2 water rods ($45 - 75 \ MWd/kg$) showed partially metallic nickel up to $10 - 15 \ \mu m$ deep while iron was fully oxidized within $5 \ \mu m$ of the oxide-metal interface [99]. Shivprasad [91] also studied the oxidation state of Ni and Fe in autoclave corroded Zry-2 and observed a high metallic nickel fraction throughout the whole thin layer of oxide ($2 - 4 \ \mu m$) while iron was fully oxidized within $2 - 3 \ \mu m$. This partially metallic nickel in the oxide layer is suspected to be the cause for enhanced hydrogen pickup at high burnups and this relationship is further investigated in the present study, as detailed in section 1.5.

The knowledge of the oxidation state of the transition metal additions in the oxide of zircaloys is partial. Chromium oxidation is suspected to be mostly (*III*, or +3) forming the compound Cr_2O_3 more commonly [146, 152]. However, density functional theory (DFT) calculations by Than [153] suggest oxidation states (*II*, or +2) and (*IV*, or +4) at low and high oxygen pressure in t- ZrO_2 . The *Fe* oxidation state is a mixture of (*II*, or +2) and (*III*, or +3), forming compounds of FeO, Fe_2O_3 and Fe_3O_4 [148, 152-154]. Ni is seen as Ni^{2+} ions (*II*) predominantly forming the compound NiO (substituting with an oxygen vacancy in ZrO_2) [151], though metallic Ni (observed experimentally under certain conditions in Zry-2 [99, 151]) and Ni_2O_3 are predicted to be the most stable defects in t- ZrO_2 at low and high oxygen pressures respectively [153].

Lastly, it should be noted that TEM investigations implied that $Zr_2(Fe, Ni)$ particles oxidized earlier than $Zr(Fe, Cr)_2$ in Zry-2 when corroded in air at 450°C [47] and in ZrSnNbFeCrNi alloys when corroded in 18.6 MPa lithiated water at 360°C [147], though Ni and Fe are more noble than Cr. Because the Gibbs free energy of Zr is so much lower than that of the alloying elements and the Zr/M ratio is widely different for the two precipitates, the energy of Zr_2M type particles may be below that of the ZrM_2 [152]. It was also suggested that the Pilling-Bedworth ratio between the intermetallic particles and their oxidized compounds influences the corrosion of the precipitates, with NiO having a smaller unit volume than Cr_2O_3 [152]. Moreover, the particle diameter influences the oxidation behavior of the SPPs. Small precipitates are fully dissolved faster than larger ones in BWRs due to irradiation damage, participating in enhanced corrosion kinetics [140]. On the other hand, Cox [130] suggested that galvanic corrosion may appear between very large SPPs and the matrix, enhancing the zirconium corrosion rate and delaying the oxidation of the particles.

1.2 Hydrogen pickup in Light Water Reactors

1.2.1 Ingress of Hydrogen in zirconium alloys during corrosion

The absorption of hydrogen by the metal during corrosion in aqueous environments was one of the first observations made during the development of zirconium alloys [130]. This hydrogen absorption is commonly referred to as hydrogen pickup and may limit the lifetime of the materials due to the precipitation of brittle zirconium hydrides that degrade the mechanical properties of the alloys [155] and may alter their corrosion resistance [156, 157]. In the water environment, hydrogen is continuously produced during the corrosion reaction of the base metal: $Zr + 2H_2O \rightarrow ZrO_2 + 2H_2$ (see section 1.3.2); and a portion of this hydrogen enters the material [127]. Upon entering the material, hydrogen is present both in solid solution of the alloy and in the form of zirconium hydrides platelets once the hydrogen solid solubility limit in αZr is exceeded [158, 159]. Using tritium as a tracer, Cox [160] observed that the hydrogen released from the corrosion process was the main source for ingress in the Zr alloys. Similarly, Hillner's work [161] showed that substantial hydrogen additions to the coolant had little impact on the hydrogen absorption of zircaloy-2. For this reason, the hydrogen pickup fraction (HPUF), f_H , has been used to characterize the hydrogen pickup behavior of Zr alloys. It is the ratio of hydrogen ingress over oxygen intake in the materials and as described in detail in the next section.

The hydrogen solubility in αZr is rather low at room temperature (< 1 *wt.ppm*) but increases to about 70 – 120 *wt.ppm* at reactor temperatures [162-164]. When the hydrogen content exceeds the terminal solid solubility (TSS), second phase hydride particles precipitate, which are mostly composed of face-centered cubic δ -hydrides (fcc, space group fm3m) [165, 166]. Other phases such as the face-centered tetragonal γ - or ε -hydrides have also been observed in zircaloys [165-167]. These hydrides are brittle and can severely lower the overall fracture toughness, impact strength and ductility of the alloys [109, 158, 168]. The Zr-H phase diagram from Zuzek's work [166] is shown in Figure 1-16.

Additionally, hydrogen atoms are highly mobile in the solid solution of the Zr alloy but become rather immobile after precipitation [127, 165]. In solid solution, hydrogen responds to the effects of concentration (Fick's law) and temperature (Soret effect) gradients, as well as stresses in the metal [169-171]. The resulting flux is the combination of all three effects:

$$J_{diffusion} = J_{Fick} + J_{Soret} + J_{stress}$$

(Eq. 1-6)



Figure 1-16: Zr-H phase diagram [166].

Fick's law of diffusion provides a driving force into the metal due to the source of hydrogen ingress located at the outer surface of the material. In fuel rods, the higher fuel temperature leads to hydrogen being pushed toward the outer surface of the cladding tube, as H is attracted to cold regions [172]. In water rods (where the coolant flows inside the tube as well), no radial temperature gradient is present. An axial gradient is still present due to the temperature difference between the inlet and outlet water (see section 1.1) but is rather low due to the dimensions of the rods, and lower corrosion temperature tends to reduce the overall hydrogen ingress at the cold elevations. On the other hand, the high radial temperature gradient in tube cladding opposes the hydrogen intake from the outer surface (as verified by higher H content in water rods [173]) but may lead to the formation of circumferential hydride rims [157, 174].

In case of oxide spallation, hydride blisters have been observed at the location of the loss of material by reason of the cold spot generated [175]. Moreover, the hydride rims may undergo radial reorientation under thermomechanical cycling effects which further reduce mechanical properties by reason of facilitated crack propagation as reviewed in [127]. Brittle failure behavior was shown to appear in hydrided Zircaloy-4 cladding tubes as hydride rims thicker than $100 \,\mu m$ strongly reduced the ductility of the alloy [174]. This rim thickness corresponded to hydrogen contents exceeding $600 - 700 \, wt. ppm$, although reorientation and other detrimental effects (such as accelerated corrosion) appear at lower hydrogen content [134, 162, 176]. Enhanced corrosion kinetics have been attributed to hydrides near the metal/oxide interface that would hamper stress accommodation as oxide grows leading to earlier transitions [82, 162]. SEM examinations by Ensor suggested that local advanced oxide growth was correlated with the presence of hydrides in the metal underneath [162]. Similarly, Jublot et al.'s work shows apparent enhanced corrosion when a thin layer of hydrides (8 μm) was precipitated on the surface of Zry-4 prior to oxidation [177].

1.2.2 Hydrogen pickup fraction for Zircaloys

As previously observed, most of the hydrogen picked up by zirconium alloys in the nuclear reactors originates from the corrosion reaction with water liberating H^+ ions [127, 160, 161]. The hydrogen pickup fraction, f_H , is normally used to evaluate and compare H ingress in between materials. It is defined as the ratio of hydrogen absorbed over oxygen intake:

$$f_H = \frac{H_{absorbed}}{H_{generated}}$$

(Eq. 1-7)

The HPUF is calculated from weight gain (oxygen content) and hydrogen content measurements. While the weight gain measurements are straightforward, accurately accessing the hydrogen content is challenging. Destructive techniques such as Vacuum Hot Extraction (VHE) or Inert Gas Fusion (IGF) – mainly used in early research as fast and inexpensive – have inherent uncertainties due to the use of *sister* samples and possible hydrogen local concentrations variations due to the small sample sizes [131, 178, 179]. Cold Neutron Prompt Gamma Activation Analysis (CNPGAA) provide more accurate measurements (less than 5 *wt. ppm* error) without affecting the corrosion kinetics but is slow and requires a neutron source [180]. Once hydrogen content is measured, one can calculate the HPUF [107]:

$$f_{H} = \frac{H_{absorbed}}{H_{generated}} = \frac{10^{-6} (m_{s}^{t} C_{H}^{t} - m_{s}^{i} C_{H}^{i})}{2 \frac{(m_{s}^{t} - m_{s}^{i})}{M_{O}} M_{H}}$$
(Eq. 1-8)

with C_H^i , C_H^t the concentrations of hydrogen in the sample initially and at the time of measurement (in *wt.ppm*), M_H , M_O the atomic masses of the hydrogen and the oxygen atom and m_s^i , m_s^t the masses of the sample initially and at the time of measurements. For the instantaneous HPUF, f_H^i , the measurements are at times t and $t + \Delta t$.

This expression of HPUF requires three assumptions [131]: (1) the oxide did not spall allowing the direct relationship between weight gain and oxide thickness; (2) the weight gain is due to oxygen only and does not consider the *H* uptake; (3) all *H* absorbed comes from the corrosion reaction. As mentioned before, (1) and (3) have been observed experimentally in zirconium alloys corroded in nuclear reactors although it should be noted that some oxide spallation has been seen in Zry-4 and Zry-2 [130, 181, 182]. (2) enables to simplify the calculations but leads to some measurable error in case of high HPUF (the hydrogen pickup represents 11.1% of the weight gain for $f_H = 100\%$) [107]. On the other hand, the hydrogen pickup fraction of a fuel or water rod materials is estimated using the total oxide thickness δ and the thickness of the rod *L* (assuming no oxide spallation as well and low curvature of the rod) with the following equation:

$$f_{H} = \frac{H_{absorbed}}{H_{generated}} = \frac{C_{H}}{\frac{\rho_{ZrO_{2}}}{\rho_{Zr}} \cdot \frac{4M_{H}}{2M_{O} + M_{Zr}} \cdot \frac{\delta}{L - \alpha\delta}}$$
(Eq. 1-9)

with C_H the concentrations of hydrogen in the rod material (in *wt.ppm*), M_H , M_O , M_{Zr} the atomic masses of the hydrogen, oxygen, and zirconium atom, ρ_{ZrO_2} , ρ_{Zr} the density of zirconia and zirconium and $\alpha = \frac{1}{PBR(Zr)}$ with PBR(Zr) from (Eq. 1-2).

The general trends of HPUF in zircaloys in relation to corrosion kinetics are presented below:

- Hydrogen pickup fraction follows the oxidation kinetic periodicity [91, 107, 183].
- During a cycle, *H* uptake sharply increases early, followed by a slow increase or small oscillations as oxide thickens and then increases to a local maximum just before the oxide transition in zircaloys [91, 107, 183, 184].
- Total hydrogen pickup fraction increases with corrosion time up to multiple cycles and then stabilize for long-term corrosion [21, 107, 127, 185]. Deviations from the plateau to enhanced pickup fraction have been observed at high burnup in Zry-2 (section 1.4.5) [59].
- Hydrogen pickup is inversely proportional to the electronic conductivity of the protective oxide layer [102, 111].
- Hydrogen pickup fraction is higher for alloys with slower oxidation kinetics (lower values of corrosion exponent n see section 1.3.3) [13, 107, 186, 187]. But hydrogen content may be less significant overall since slower kinetics reduce the amount of hydrogen available for ingress.

The hydrogen pickup appears to change during the corrosion of the alloys, as affected by the kinetics and structure of the oxide. The transport of hydrogen through the ZrO_2 layers is not well understood and is still the subject of discussions. Observing the diffusion of hydrogen through the oxide layer is challenging due to the experimental difficulty of measuring the Hspatial distributions. Using Secondary Ion Mass Spectroscopy (SIMS), experimenters have suggested that the compressive stress in the inner oxide layer prevents H diffusion [188], while the external layer is highly permeable to hydrogen due to the higher porosity and crack density [189-193]. These observations have been supported by the measurements of tritium spatial distributions with high concentrations close to the outer surface which then sharply decrease with depth [193, 194]. Additionally, SPPs and oxide grain boundaries are thought to be preferred pathways [195-197]. Recent 3D spatial distribution measurement techniques such as highresolution SIMS [198] may provide better insight into the migration of hydrogen but extended experimental data on zircaloy materials is still incomplete. Moreover, computational modelling of the hydrogen uptake in Zry-2 and Zry-4, such as finite elements [199, 200], or thermodynamics and *ab initio* calculations [201] may provide insights to the driving forces for H ingress in Zralloys. However, important aspects such as hydride dissolution and precipitation or enhanced H pickup by Zry-2 compared to Zry-4 are not yet integrated.

In unirradiated autoclave samples corroded at temperatures between 280°*C* and 400°C in steam and water, H pickup was about 20% – 40% for Zry-4 and 40 – 60% in Zry-2 [107, 184, 185]. The hydrogen pickup fraction was lower within the first cycles, with f_H below 10% for Zry-4 and 15% for Zry-2, before increasing to higher values by $100 - 150 mg/dm^2$ [91, 131]. As detailed later in this chapter (see section 1.4.4), the higher hydrogen pickup in zircaloy-2 is attributed to the presence of *Ni* in the alloy [22, 178]. It should be noted that the total hydrogen content in an alloy is fully characterized by the HPUF and the corrosion kinetics. For this reason, the average content is significantly lower in zircaloy-2 compared to zircaloy-4 for up to

 $30 \ MWd/tU$ due to thinner oxides [59, 127]. However, strong accelerations of hydrogen pickup at higher burnup can lead to concentrations as high as $1000 - 1500 \ wt. ppm$ in Zry-2 [59, 99, 173], with detrimental effects to the ductility of the materials. As detailed later, this specific observation is investigated further in this study on Zircaloy-2 alloys with hydrogen content varying from 250 wt. ppm to more than 1700 wt. ppm (see Table 2-1). In the following sections, the effects of water chemistry, alloying elements and irradiation on hydrogen pickup are reviewed.

1.2.3 Effects of LWRs water chemistry

The water chemistry of the coolant has been modified to serve multiples purposes in PWRs and BWRs. In PWRs, the coolant contains dissolved hydrogen, boric acid, lithium hydroxide (*LiOH*), and zinc [137, 161]. Hydrogenated (or hydrogen) water chemistry (HWC) reduces the concentration of oxidizing species (enhanced by radiolysis of the water molecules in the reactor, see section 1.4.5) in the coolant enabling lower corrosion of structural components [134, 161]. Boron, in the form of boric acid, was added to the coolant as a burnable poison to offer reactivity control thanks to its high neutron absorption properties [137]. Lithium hydroxides additions enable the control of the pH, lowered by the additions of boric acid. Additionally, boron is believed to counteract the increase in *Li*-induced increased corrosion kinetics [137, 202]. High pH operations in PWRs with *LiOH* offers the advantages of lower plant radiation levels (reducing shutdown time) [203], lower uniform corrosion of structural materials and limit the deposition of CRUD of fuel rods [161, 204]. CRUD (for *Chalk River Unknown Deposit*) are deposits of *Fe* and *Ni* oxides due to the corrosion and dissolution of steam generator pipes in the primary circuit [82, 137, 205]. They are known to locally accelerate corrosion kinetics and alter heat transfer when deposited on the fuel cladding [137, 206], and may affect neutron balance in reactor via

sequestration of the boron in CRUD pores [82]. Additionally, Zn injections help preventing stress corrosion cracking (SCC) of the primary coolant structural components [207] and reduce radiation field in the power plants [208], especially in hydrogen water chemistry conditions. The formation of a very stable Zn-chromite based inner layer with Zn injections improves protectivity of the oxide and prevents the uptake of activated ⁶⁰Co by the oxide layers of stainless steel structural materials in the rector [209]. Additionally, Hillner observed that at the Zn concentrations suggested for PWRs applications, no significant detrimental effects were observed on corrosion kinetics and hydrogen pickup [161]. However, it may increase CRUD depositions on fuel cladding [206] as incorporation of the Zn atoms may release some Fe and Ni atoms in the coolant.

In BWRs, modified coolant chemistry is not as systematic for all power plants as PWRs water chemistry is and involves mainly: hydrogen water chemistry (HWC), zinc (Zn) and noble metal (NB) additions [137, 210]. Similarly to PWRs, injecting H and noble metals (typically Pt and Rh) into the coolant of BWRs diminishes the probability of intergranular stress corrosion cracking (IGSCC) in stainless steel and other structural components in the cooling system [211, 212], and injecting Zn further reduces the IGSCC as well as radiation dose [137]. Investigations by Shimada *et al.* [212] and Kim *et al.* [210] suggest that the modified water chemistry had little effect on the corrosion and hydrogen pickup in Zircaloy-2 at moderate burnup. However, at higher burnup, water chemistry may have a significant impact on the onset of accelerated hydrogen pickup in Zry-2 as suggested by Shimada *et al.* [212], but accessible data is still scarce. This study is part of the effort to provide additional data for investigating the enhanced hydrogen pickup behavior at high burnup in BWRs.

1.2.4 Effects of alloying elements with a focus on nickel

As described previously in this chapter, the additions of alloying elements to zirconium offered greater corrosion resistance and mechanical properties for nuclear reactor use relative to pure Zr. The effects of those elements (Sn, Cr, Fe, Ni) on hydrogen pickup in zircaloys are now reviewed.

While *Sn* additions improve the mechanical properties of the *Zr* alloys [63, 64], tin influence on hydrogen uptake is not clear. Berry *et al.* [178] found little to no effect of tin additions in Zry-2 when corroded in $(327^{\circ}C, 407^{\circ}C)$ water and $477^{\circ}C$ steam. In a different study of *Zr-Fe*, *Zr-Sn* and *Zr-Sn-Fe* alloys corroded in $400^{\circ}C$ steam and $360^{\circ}C$ water, Kass [179] observed that tin additions slightly increase the hydrogen pickup fraction in the binary alloy but significantly increased the weight gain kinetics. On the other hand, the addition of *Sn* reduced HPUF when added to *Zr-Fe* without worsening the poor corrosion resistance of the alloy. Thus there is not much evidence that tin plays a significant role in the hydrogen pickup mechanism.

The transition metals (*Cr*, *Fe*, *Ni*) are present in the alloy in the form of SPPs and many researcher have studied the hydrogen pickup sensibility to the alloying content and SPPs size [22, 178, 179, 185, 196, 213]. Baur *et al.* [213] studied the hydrogen pickup in Zry-4 samples with various precipitate sizes (from 20 nm to 400 nm) corroded in water at 350°C and found that the HPU was strongly affected by the precipitate size. The hydrogen pickup was strongly increased for the large precipitate samples (> 120 nm) when an electrochemical potential was applied. It should be mentioned that isolating the precipitate size is challenging and the observations may result from other differences between the tested samples. In a different study, Hatano *et al.* [196] observed that Zry-2 and Zry-4 samples with precipitate size of about 200 nm had better hydrogen pickup behavior than the samples with large SPPs (particle diameters ranging from 600 nm to almost 2000 nm) when corroded in 350°C – 450°C steam. It was argued that the hydrogen

pickup was controlled by the oxide electronic resistivity and that the precipitates may act as preferred pathway for H transport in the oxide [196, 213]. Couet [106] studied the electronic conductivity of Zr alloys and confirmed the inverse relationship between HPU and oxide resistivity. It is explained by the fast e^- migration outward when the oxide resistivity is low, so that the cathodic reaction occurs at the outer surface of the oxide. In contrast, when the movement of electrons is hampered by an insulating oxide, the cathodic recombination may happen much closer to the metal/oxide interface, favoring H intake by the bulk [106].

Similarly to Sn, the effect of Fe on hydrogen pickup in Zr alloys is somewhat variable, with beneficial effects near zircaloy concentrations. Kass [179] observed an increase in hydrogen pickup when a significant amount (1.54 *wt*. %) iron was added in binary or ternary alloy, while a 0.29 *wt*. % addition to pure Zr improved corrosion resistance but did not affect the hydrogen pickup fraction. In contrast, Berry *et al.* [178] observed improved hydrogen pickup behavior in *Fe*-enriched Zry-2, as well as for *Cr*-enriched Zry-2. Conversely, *Ni* detrimental effects on hydrogen pickup were witnessed early in *Ni*-enriched Zry-2 by Yeniscavich *et al.* [22], and more recently in *Ni*-enriched Zry-4 by Ensor [185]. The hydrogen pickup fraction as a function of corrosion of the latter work [185] is shown in Figure 1-17. The higher *H* pickup fraction during corrosion of Zry-2 compared to Zry-4 has been attributed to the presence of *Ni* in the alloy.

Different mechanisms have been proposed to explain the influence of transition metals on hydrogen pickup. As mentioned above, Hatano *et al.* [196] suggested that the intermetallic precipitates act as shortcut for *H* diffusion through the oxide. This hypothesis has been challenged by *Ab-initio* thermodynamic calculations [214] that predicted *H* trapping by $Zr_2(Fe,Ni)$ in αZr - restricting *H* diffusion into the metal if near the oxide interface – and unfavorable *H* sites in $Zr(Fe,Cr)_2$ precipitates compared to αZr – which would facilitate *H* ingress. Recent experimental and computational studies by Jones *et al.* [215] suggested that for both precipitates in αZr , the matrix surrounding the particles act as trapping sites for *H*, hampering *H* mobility in the bulk. This observation supports the beneficial input of *Fe* and *Cr* on hydrogen pickup in Zry-2 but does not predict the detrimental effect of *Ni*.

Similarly, Garzarolli *et al.* [59] hinted at metallic Ni bands forming in the oxide matrix, due to dissolution of the precipitates under fluence (see section 1.4.5) and segregation at oxide grain boundaries, that would act as H windows for fast pathway across the oxide [216]. However, due to the high electronic conductivity of the metallic Ni, such bands offer faster highways for the electrons outward so that the cathodic reaction would occur further away in the oxide, in turn reducing H pickup [13].





Figure 1-17: Hydrogen pickup fraction as a function of weight gain for four Zry-4 with different Ni enrichments exposed to 360°C water in autoclave. The hydrogen pickup fraction was corrected for hydrogen weight gain. Figure and caption taken from Ensor's work [185].

The role of *Ni* in enhancing hydrogen pickup may not involve facilitating the transport of *H* but, rather, acting as a catalyst to the hydrogen ingress surface reaction as proposed by Arimescu and Shivprasad in the case of high burnup [91, 173, 217]. *Ni* propensity to increase the surface reaction of hydrogen absorption has been observed on many occasions on different materials and *Ni* is commonly used as a catalyst for *H* ingress reactions [218, 219]. It should be noted that Ni^0 acts as a catalyst, requiring that *Ni* remains metallic near free surfaces, pores, or cracks in the oxides. This hypothesis is supported by recent DFT calculations by Than *et al.* [153]. The authors simulated the defect formation energies associated with *Ni*, *Cr* and *Fe* in tetragonal zirconia to predict the defect clusters and charge concentrations in the material. Their results reveal that *Cr* and *Fe* atoms form clusters with an oxygen vacancy as charged atoms ($Cr^{2,3,4+}$, $Fe^{2,3+}$) for the *O*₂ partial pressures studied, whereas *Ni* atoms form a $Ni^0 - V_{\ddot{O}}$ defect at low oxygen pressure (the conditions close to the metal/oxide). Additionally, subsequent simulations in the same study [153] showed that *H*₂ molecules would dissociate in the vicinity of this cluster, supporting that *Ni* would enhance the surface reaction of hydrogen absorption.

Another mechanism involving oxidized Ni has been suggested by Kuri *et al.* [151, 220] who studied the oxidation and location of the alloying element in the oxide of zircaloys with experimental investigations of in-reactor (BWR) corroded Zry-2 fuel rod and computed DFT calculations in monoclinic zirconia. The authors predicted the substitution of Zr^{4+} by Ni^{2+} in *m*- ZrO_2 and the associated oxygen vacancy V_0 to balance charges. This $Ni^{2+} - V_{\ddot{o}}$ substitution was also predicted by DFT calculations in t- ZrO_2 at moderate oxygen partial pressure, while Ni^{3+} substitution (with no vacancy) is expected at higher pressure [153]. It was suggested that ($Ni^{2+}-V_0$) compounds may offer nucleation sites for trapping hydrogen ions which would then short circuit the dielectric barrier between the anode and cathode. This in turn would cause fast migration of *H* into the metal [151].

The process or processes by which Ni increases hydrogen uptake in zirconium alloys are yet to be verified, although various theoretical explanations have been offered. Clarifying and identifying the processes implied, especially at high burnup, are the objectives of this study as presented in section 1.5. In the next section, the irradiation effects on H pickup are reviewed.

1.2.5 Effects of irradiations

When in service, zirconium alloys are subject to the high neutron flux necessary to nuclear reactor operations. Zirconium was selected because of its low neutron absorption cross section, but the energetic particles still hit the atoms in the material and the coolant. In this process, fast neutrons may knock atoms off of their lattice positions, producing vacancies and interstitials in the metal, or splitting the water molecules (radiolysis) affecting the electrochemical potential for corrosion [134, 137]. Such processes can lead to microstructure and elemental structure changes which in turn impact the corrosion kinetics and the hydrogen pickup, as well as the physical properties of the material. [6, 137]. The neutrons interact elastically with the alloy atoms that may be displaced in the lattice several times during service. As such, irradiation damage is commonly quantified in terms of displacements per atom (dpa) to allow comparison between different neutron spectra and charge particle irradiations. The neutron spectrum is integrated over the fast neutron energy range E > 1 MeV and exposure time and is referred to as neutron fluence (× $10^{21}n/cm^2$). The neutron flux can also ballistically eject atoms from the precipitates, modifying their structure and even dissolving them, and in LWRs coolant, irradiation may dissociate water molecules – a process called radiolysis [31]. Radiolysis of H_2O during operation can lead to high concentrations of oxidizing species near the material surfaces which in

turn enhance the corrosion process; this effect led to the addition of hydrogen in the coolant of LWRs, thus reducing the concentration of oxidizing species [134].

Irradiation-induced defects lead to the formation of dislocation loops in the material. These loops hamper the movement of dislocations resulting in hardening of the alloy. Additionally, loss of ductility, referred to as embrittlement, has been observed in cases of local strain and deformation due to dislocation channeling [137]. However, it should be noted that, in contrast with the embrittlement and hardening due to hydride precipitation, the concentration of these irradiation-induced effects saturates after about one month in the reactor and can be reversed by annealing treatment of the material [112, 137].



Figure 1-18: Hydrogen pickup fraction as a function of fuel burnup for multiple Zry-2 (red area) and Zry-4 (blue area) structural components. Figure taken from Garzarolli's review [59] who compiled the data from [21, 212, 221-225].

On the other hand, irradiation effects on corrosion kinetics in zirconium alloys start appearing for oxide thicknesses larger than $5 - 6 \mu m$ as discussed in [130]. Above this thickness, irradiation-induced acceleration of the corrosion has been observed with kinetics deviating from

autoclave measurements [134, 226]. The second main effect of concern for Zircaloy-2, and which is the subject of this study, is the acceleration of hydrogen uptake at high burnups as reviewed by Garzarolli *et al.* [59]. Compiling hydrogen pickup data as a function of burnup for many zircaloy cladding and structural components that became available in the 2000's [21, 212, 221-225], Garzarolli *et al.* [59] highlighted that Zry-2 materials may reach 70% to 90% of total hydrogen pickup fraction at burnup above 35 GWd/tU, while in Zry-4, HPUF was contained below 15%. The compiled data of hydrogen pickup fraction as a function of burnup is shown in Figure 1-18 [59].

The combination of accelerated corrosion and hydrogen pickup lead to high hydrogen content in the material well above the terminal solubility limit, highly degrading the physical properties of the materials (as described in 1.4.1). The mechanism underlying the acceleration of oxidation is believed to result from the amorphization and dissolution of the SPPs in the material in BWR environment and the accumulation of hydrogen in the material [227, 228]. In these studies, precipitates of small diameters were seen fully dissolved at burnups as low as 30 *MWD*/*kgU* or at fluence of $8.5 \times 10^{21} n/cm^2$. It has been observed that the precipitates first become amorphous or partially amorphous under irradiation while losing most of its *Fe* content, and are almost completely dissolved when the fluence exceeds $12 \times 10^{21} n/cm^2$ [21, 229-231]. In other studies, $Zr(FeCr)_2$ and $Zr_2(FeNi)$ were found partially dissolved but *Fe*-depleted [151, 232]. Hence, at high fluence, the *Fe*, and eventually *Ni* and *Cr* are likely to be forced into the saturated *Zr* matrix. Once in solid solution, reprecipitation of *Fe* and *Cr* into small clusters (1 – 5 *nm*) and segregation of the alloying elements at grain boundaries have been reported [149, 233].

Kuri *et al.* [151] observed the partial oxidation of the *Ni*-containing precipitates in Zry-2 cladding tube corroded in BWRs to an average burnup of about $45 \ MWd/tU$, while the dissolved *Ni* was found fully oxidized. Similarly, Shivprasad *et al.* [91] observed the presence of metallic nickel past multiple oxide transition thicknesses in water rods with enhanced hydrogen pickup at

high burnups, but the authors were not able to differentiate signal from Ni in SPPs from the signal produced by Ni in solid solution. Moreover, Nissen *et al.* [173] suggested that hydrogen pickup in fuel cladding and water rods of Zry-2 was highly enhanced in the case of high/low power. The authors postulated that if the initial high power regime was long enough to ensure a "thick oxide film" [31] of about $11 - 13 \mu m$, then enhanced hydrogen pickup may occur in the low power period, due to lower heat flux in the cladding and lower water flow. This observation is difficult to verify and reproduce due to the paucity of information on reactor power history available in literature. Moreover, as described in the IAEA report [31], the "thick oxide film" effect which consists of enhanced corrosion and hydrogen pickup once a certain thickness of initial oxide is reached, is not well understood nor verified. Still, irradiation and power history appear to play a crucial role in dictating hydrogen uptake at high burnup in Zircaloy-2, but a better understanding of the process and its relationship with nickel is crucial for optimization of modern Zr alloys materials with increased resistance at high burnups. In the next section, the objectives and outline of this study are presented.

1.3 Objectives of the study

In section 1.4.5, it was shown that Zry-2 cladding is subject to high acceleration of the hydrogen pickup during long exposure in the BWR environment (Figure 1-18). Although the mechanism resulting in this increase is not fully understood, nickel is believed to be the cause of this enhancement (section 1.4.4). Verifying and understanding this hypothesis would help rule out that this could occur for *Ni*-free *Zr* alloys such as the modern alloy ZIRLO and M5. The first-of-a-kind observation by Aditya Shivprasad [91, 99] using microbeam XANES analysis of in-reactor corroded Zry-2 water rods, of which this study represents a continuation, is detailed below and shown in Figure 1-19:

- The quantitative metallic nickel fraction (30% 40%) remains in the oxide up to 10-12 µm from the oxide-metal interface in of Zircaloy-2 materials with high *H* pickup fraction, i.e. which were in the reactor for much longer, as compared to Zry-2 with low pickup fraction. The materials were selected so that pairs of low and high *H* pickup fraction materials with same heat treatment and similar corrosion environment (the materials with high pickup fraction stayed for an additional fuel cycle in the reactor). Because the materials were taken from water rods material, the effect of radial heat flux is not considered.
- No similar difference between high and low pickup fraction materials was seen for iron. The iron atoms are fully oxidized within $5 \mu m$ of the oxide metal interface for all the materials studied, with no significant differences between the low and high *H* pickup fraction alloys.

Because of the complexity of the processes involve in the nuclear reactors, the presence of a significant amount of metallic nickel up to multiple oxide transition thicknesses and its apparent correlation to acceleration of hydrogen pickup at high burnup are yet to be explained. Additionally, information on the oxide chemistry and infrastructure as a function of depth - especially the oxidation state of the low-concentration alloying elements - in Zry-2 materials that were used in reactors to high burnups is limited in literature but of great value. In an effort to understand the mechanism underlying this acceleration of hydrogen pickup, materials taken from different locations in the same sister BWR water rods (provided by Global Nuclear Fuel - GNF) studied by Shivprasad [91, 99] are being investigated. The samples were selected so that the effects of elevation, fluence, and water chemistry may be investigated. The water rods materials and the experimental details can be found in chapter 2.



Figure 1-19: Nickel and iron oxidation state as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface (negative values are the metal region, and positive ones the oxide layer) for Zry-2 water rod corroded in BWRs for 3 to 4 cycles. Materials 13 and 21 suffered significant H pickup while archive 1 and materials 10 and 17 did not. Figure adapted from Shivprasad's work [91, 99].

Firstly, in-depth X-ray absorption near-edge spectroscopy (XANES) measurements of the oxidation state of *Ni* on the in-reactor corroded water rods materials were carried out at beamline 34-IDE of the Advance Photon Source (APS) at Argonne National Laboratory (ANL). The results are presented in chapter 3. The in-depth microstructure of the metal and the oxide was investigated via X-ray Diffraction at beamline 34-IDE at the APS as well and the results are presented in chapter 4. Chapter 5 is dedicated to discussions on the experimental results and the role of *Ni* in enhancing hydrogen pickup at high burnup, before concluding in chapter 6.

Chapter 2

Material selection and experiments details

In this chapter, the selection of materials from in-reactor corroded water rods is first presented. This is followed by a description of the cross-sectional sample preparation for in-depth analysis of the oxides. Then, section 2.3 and section 2.4 depict the X-ray absorption near-edge spectroscopy (XANES) and X-ray diffraction (XRD) analysis (respectively) using the synchrotron radiation at beamline 34-ID-E of the Advance Photon Source (APS) at Argonne National Laboratory (ANL).

2.1 Zircaloy-2 water rods corroded in Boiling Water Reactors

Because of Shivprasad's previous work [99] on two sets of Zry-2 water rods corroded in BWRs (Limerick-1 or Dresden-2), a focused set of 4 materials from different axial positions in the Limerick-1 water rods was chosen to investigate further the observation of metallic nickel far in the oxide of high hydrogen pickup materials. Cross-sectional samples were produced at Pacific National Laboratory (PNNL) and examined with synchrotron radiation at the Advance Photon Source (APS) located at Argonne National Laboratory (ANL). Additionally, scanning electron microscopy imaging of the samples was performed at Pennsylvania State University (PSU). The material selection enables to separately investigate the effects of neutron fluence, corrosion temperature and water chemistry on the enhancement of H pickup at high burnup. The effect of radial heat flux is not investigated in this study as the samples are taken from water rods. Initial examination of the water rods was done at the hot cell facility of General Electric (GE) Vallecitos Nuclear Center (VNC) in California, and the resulting characteristics of the selected in-reactor corroded materials are presented in Table 2-1. All materials were composed of Zircaloy-2 with the nominal original composition: Zr-1.9Sn-0.18Fe-0.10Cr-0.07Ni. After a β -quench, these materials have undergone an α -anneal heat treatment consisting of a single vacuum anneal at 577°C, which resulted in the low CAP value of 2.19 * 10⁻¹⁹h. As described in 1.2.2 and *Figure 1-3*, this CAP value corresponds to precipitates sizes of 40 – 100 nm, which is consistent with the post-irradiation TEM measurements on materials from the same water rods available in Shivprasad's study [99]. The chemistry of the coolant in Limerick-1 reactor consisted of hydrogenated water (HWC) with additions of zinc and noble metals - as described in detail in section 1.4.3.

Because the materials are water rods, the total oxide thickness for these materials corresponds to the sum of the inner oxide (not present in fuel rods) and outer oxide thicknesses and was used for the hydrogen pickup calculations. The oxide thicknesses were measured using metallography at GE VNC hot cell facility. Oxide thickness measurements using Zr K-edge fluorescence at the synchrotron and SEM at Penn State were consistent with the metallographic measurements but revealed clear oxide thickness differences between the inner and outer parts of the samples. Although generally uniform, the oxide layers contained some thickness variations, locations which were both thinner and thicker than the measured average were seen as further described in section 3.2. The presence of nodular corrosion is often seen during Zry-2 corrosion in a BWR environment (see section 1.3.3) and was observed in some of the water rod materials studied by Shivprasad [99], along with the asymmetry of inner and outer oxide layers growth.

Hydrogen content of the materials was assessed using the destructive inert gas fusion method in a LECO RH-2 hydrogen analyzer at GE VNC hot cell facility. The samples were melted in a graphite crucible, which allows hydrogen to bond with highly heated ejected carbon atoms. Because hydrogen is located in many hydrides in zirconium, a tin flux was added to the furnace to help reduce the hydride compounds. A high purity nitrogen gas flux (the inert gas carrier) then sweeps the evolved gases of the specimens from the fusion chamber to a thermal
conductivity detector. The change in the ability of the gas to draw heat away from a body is

related to the hydrogen content through a series of calibration standards [234].

Table 2-1: Zircaloy-2 materials selected for XANES/XRD and 3DAP measurements. All materials were cut from 2 water rods used in Limerick-1 (USA) boiling reactor for 3 and 4 cycles. Initial examinations were performed at GE VNC hot cell facility. The total oxide thickness for the water rods corresponds to the sum of the inner oxide (not present in fuel rods) and outer oxide thicknesses.

Sample Preparation	XANES/XRD Cross-section Samples			
ID	Material 9	Material 11	Material 12	Material 14
Composition at fabrication	Zr - 1.9Sn - 0.18Fe - 0.10Cr - 0.07Ni			
Type / Heat treatment	Zry-2 / Alpha annealed			
Cumulative Annealing Parameter (CAP) (<i>hours</i>)	$2.19 imes 10^{-19}$			
Water Chemistry	Hydrogen Water Chemistry (HWC) – Zinc – Noble Metal (NM)			
Fluence: $E > 1 MeV$ (× 10 ²¹ n/cm ²)	7.5	12.6	9.3	15.6
Elevation from bottom (<i>in inches</i> [<i>in m</i>])	20 [0.51]	110 [2.79]	20 [0. 51]	112.5 [2.86]
Total oxide thickness (µm)	40	50	40	82
H content (wt.ppm)	250	329	600	1721
HPUF (%)	12.8	13.4	30.6	42.8
Exposure time (days)	2036	2036	2703	2703
Bundle-average burn-up (GWd/tU)	52.5	58.5	65.6	72.1

Materials 9 and 11 were cut from the same low hydrogen content water rod as material 10 [99], which was taken out of the reactor after 3 cycles of 2 years (2036 days total), at the following elevations from the bottom: 20 *in* (or 0.51 *m*) and 110 *in* (or 2.79 *m*) respectively. The corresponding fluence for fast neutrons (E > 1 MeV) was estimated to be $7.5 \times 10^{21} n/cm^2$

at material 9's position, and $12.6 \times 10^{21} n/cm^2$ at material 11's location. As a result of the elevation differences in the boiling reactor, material 9's corrosion temperature was considered to be $275^{\circ}C$ (the water input temperature) whereas material 11 was corroded at the coolant saturated temperature of $288^{\circ}C$ (exit temperature). The total oxide thickness was $40 \ \mu m$ for material 9 and 50 $\ \mu m$ for material 11. The hydrogen content was low at 250 *wt.ppm* and 329 *wt.ppm*, leading to low pickup fractions of 12.8% and 13.4% respectively. Lastly, the fuel assembly average burn-up was estimated to be 52.5 GWd/tU at 20 *in* (material 9) and 58.5 GWd/tU at 110 *in* (material 11) in the water rod.

The other two materials, 12 and 14, were cut from the same high hydrogen content water rod as material 13 [99], which was removed after an additional cycle of 2 years leading to a total of 4 cycles (2703 days) spent in the reactor. For comparison between the two rods, the elevation of material 12 is identical to that of material 9 (20 in) and the elevation of material 14 is very similar to that of material 11 at 112.5 in. Consequently, the corrosion temperature was estimated at 275°C for material 12 and 288°C for material 14. The total oxide thickness of material 12 was $40 \,\mu m$, corresponding to that measured on material 9. On the other hand, material 14 suffered enhanced corrosion with a total oxide thickness of 82 μm . Hydrogen content in material 12 was about twice that of materials 9 and 11 at 600 wt.ppm, leading to the large hydrogen pickup fraction of 30.6%. In material 14, hydrogen load reached the substantial value of 1721 wt. ppm, with the high pickup fraction of 42.8%. The fuel assembly average burnup was estimated to be 65.6 GWd/tU at 20 in (material 12) and 72.1 GWd/tU at 112.5 in. Such high hydrogen content at high burnup is way above the revised regulation limit by the NRC for LOCA (rule 10 CFR 50.46c) [235] which accounts for the degradation of the material properties with hydrides (see section 1.4.1). This sample selection allows for a direct comparison between the low hydrogen pickup (9 and 11) and high hydrogen pickup materials (12 and 14) due to their symmetric

location in the boiling reactor. Additionally, the four materials (9, 11, 12, and 14) can be confronted to those previously investigated by Shivprasad [99], i.e. materials 10, 13, 17, and 21.

2.2 Cross-section sample preparation for in-depth XANES and XRD analysis

Due to the low but detectable radioactivity present in the water rods, sample preparation was performed by Danny Edwards and Alan Schemer-Kohrn at Pacific North National Laboratory. Although the water rod did not contain fuel, some radioactivity is present in the material because of the activation of isotopes by the neutron flux and the absorption of leaked fission products during service. The main radioactive isotope still present after years of storage is cobalt-60 (^{60}Co) resulting from multiple stages of activation of iron (mostly released from the steel structural components and then deposited on the water rod, see section 1.4.3). Additionally, very small traces of other radioactive nuclides can be detected such as potassium-40 (^{40}K) (naturally occurring nuclide), and the fission products: caesium-134 (^{134}Cs) and caesium-137 (^{137}Cs).

Cross-sectional samples were prepared from the water rod materials presented in *TABLE* 2-1 for examinations at Argonne National Laboratory (ANL). The sample preparation was similar to that of previous in-depth studies of zircaloy oxides [52, 99, 100, 120, 125, 236] and is illustrated in Figure 2-1. Slices about 1 mm wide and a few mm high were cut from the water rod and then placed into a molybdenum rod (2 mm diameter). The assembly was then inserted into a brass tube with an outer diameter of 3 mm, and filled with GATAN G1 epoxy to hold the structure in place. Once the epoxy set, samples about 500 μ m thick were sliced from the filled tube and polished for surface examinations. The polishing procedure consisted of initial polishing with 500 grit *SiC* paper, followed by consecutive polishing using a cloth with decreasing

diamond compound (15, 9, 6, 3, and $0.25 \,\mu m$) and lapping oil (from DP Brown). An image of one of the samples taken with an optical microscope and one with a scanning electron microscope are shown in Figure 2-2-(a) and Figure 2-2-(b) respectively.



Figure 2-1: Cross-section sample preparation from the in-reactor corroded water rods. The water rod is cut and placed in molybdenum and brass, filled with epoxy to hold the structure, and then sliced into a cross-section sample. Figure adapted from [91, 131].

Because of the experimental setup at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS (ANL), the sample holder was an extruded aluminum plate about 20 mm wide and 3 mm high. Up to four samples were glued on one plate using GORILLA superglue. Because of the low but detectable radioactivity from the irradiated samples, a full encapsulation of the sample holders was needed for examination at the APS. A DuPont Kapton Type HN polyimide film (ordered via CS Hyde Company) of thickness 0.5 mil (12.7 μ m) was used for encapsulation of the samples, sealed on the side with a 1.0 mil (25.4 μ m) thin DuPont Kapton tape with silicone adhesive (ordered via CS Hyde Company as well). Figure 2-3 presents the final two encapsulated sample holders used for the XANES and XRD analysis. 8 cross-section samples were prepared (2 from each material) but one of the samples from material 12 failed during initial SEM imaging at PNNL. Therefore sample holder 1 contains 4 specimens (9-A, 11-A, 12-A, and 14-A) and holder 2 contains only 3 samples (9-B, 11-B, and 14-B).



Figure 2-2: Optical (a) and SEM (b) images (acquired at Penn State) of one of the Zry-2 crosssection samples prepared at PNNL. The inner and outer oxides of the water rod material can be seen in dark grey on both images, with the Zry-2 bulk and Mo rod in light grey.

Molybdenum, brass, and aluminum were selected as the materials to be used in the samples because the X-ray fluorescence peaks of the elements that compose these materials (molybdenum, aluminum, copper, zinc) do not overlap with the X-ray fluorescence peaks of the elements of interest (zirconium and nickel). Epoxy was chosen because of its good reliability in service. Although epoxy may slightly attenuate the X-ray fluorescence intensity passing through it [237], this is not a factor in this case because the samples were cut from the middle of the prepared brass tube (Figure 2-1) and polished so that no epoxy is left on the examined surface of the bulk or oxide. Lastly, the DuPont Kapton polyimide film is known to have good resistance to radiation damage [238] and to be mostly transparent to X-rays [239]. Therefore it withstands long exposure time to the high incident photon flux without failure (thus ensuring the sample remains fully encapsulated throughout the experiment) and does not alter the X-ray signal from the

sample. Tests at beamline 34-ID-E prior to irradiated samples examinations by scientist Wenjun Liu confirmed that the Zr and Ni fluorescence signal was not affected by the presence of a thin layer (tests done up to 1 mil – or about $25 \mu m$ - thickness) of Kapton on top of the sample. As was the case during previous examinations at beamline 2-ID-D [91], no degradation was observed on the Kapton film after the XANES scans (up to 20 h around one location) across the oxide layer of the irradiated samples. The cross-section samples prepared at PNNL were then shipped to the APS (ANL) for XANES and XRD analysis.



Figure 2-3: Cross-section samples glued (GORILLA superglue) on extruded aluminum plate and encapsulated with DuPont Kapton film (0.5 mil, or 12.7 mm thick).

2.3 Ni oxidation state analysis via XANES using synchrotron radiation

2.3.1 Purpose and layout of the XANES measurements at the APS

The observation of a correlation between the oxidation state of nickel in the oxide layer of Zircaloy-2 materials and the increase of hydrogen pickup at high burnup in BWR [91, 131] has yet to be verified. Therefore, a set of four additional materials was selected (Table 2-1) for examination at a second beamline (34-ID-E) at the APS (ANL), while the samples were prepared at PNNL. The purpose of the XANES analysis is to characterize the oxidation state of nickel atoms incorporated into the oxide layer as a function of depth into the oxide of additional Zircaloy-2 materials. The purpose of these measurements is to better understand the role of the alloying element in enhancing hydrogen pickup at high burnup in BWRs. We focus especially on the most recent oxide layers formed i.e. the layers close to the oxide/metal interface, where metallic nickel has been observed in high hydrogen ingress water rods [91, 131]. As presented in section 2.1, materials that exhibited different hydrogen pickup fractions and elevation (operational temperature, coolant steam quality and fluence) in the nuclear reactor were selected so that the oxidation state of *Ni* across the oxide can be analyzed in each case.

Because the concentration of nickel in the alloy is so low (less than 0.1 wt. %) and the oxidation state varies across the thin (less than $50 \mu m$) oxides, it is necessary to use synchrotron capabilities to study nickel atoms in the oxide layers. The high flux microbeam at 34-ID-E station at the Advance Photon Source (APS) at Argonne National Laboratory (ANL) allows for *Ni* XANES examinations and was selected after changes were made to 2-ID-D station (used in previous work [91, 131]). The synchrotron offers the combination of high spatial resolution as well as the ability of detecting small amounts of *Ni*, as low as 0.01 wt. %. The spatial resolution results from a high coherent photon flux with the following characteristics:

- Beam size: $\Delta x * \Delta y \sim 0.3 \ \mu m * 0.3 \ \mu m$
- Energy resolution: $\Delta E \sim 0.5 \text{ eV}$ at 8 keV
- *Photon flux:* $\phi \sim 10^9$ to 10^{11} *photons/sec*

The oxide thickness of the materials selected is about 20-40 μm , and a fine scan ($\Delta x = 0.25 \ \mu m$) across 20 μm with an 80 eV energy range at $\Delta E \sim 0.5 \ eV$ takes approximately 14 hours. To optimize beamtime at the APS, we established 3 types of scans to be carried out on each sample (similarly to what has been done in previous work [91]):

- *Fine scan*: 5 μm into the metal and 10 μm into the oxide with $\Delta x = 0.25 \,\mu m$.
- Semi-fine scan: 10 μm to 20 μm into the oxide with $\Delta x = 0.5 \mu m$.
- *Coarse scan*: 20 μm to the outer surface with $\Delta x = 1.0 \,\mu m$

Because the metallic nickel was previously observed mostly in the most recent $10-12 \mu m$ of oxide built, high resolution was maintained for the region near the metal/oxide interface. This allowed us to do 2 scans for each material (1 on samples 9-A, 9-B, 11-A, 11-B, 14-A, and 14-B, and 2 on sample 12-A) during the two 5-day trips to the APS. The principles of XANES, the experimental setup and the data analysis are presented in the following sections while the results are detailed in chapter 3.

2.3.2 Principles of X-ray Absorption Near-Edge Spectroscopy

In this section, we describe the principles of oxidation state measurements via X-ray Absorption Near-Edge Spectroscopy. XANES, along with EXAFS (Extended X-ray Absorption Fine Structure), are the two main subsets of X-Ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS), also known as X-ray absorption fine structure (XAFS) [240]. XAS is based on the excitation of inner electrons to higher energy level by the absorption of incident photons, known as the photoelectric effect (depicted in Figure 2-4-(a) [240]). A minimum energy - corresponding to the binding energy of the particle to the nucleus - is required to bring the electrons from the inner shell to the conduction (or continuum) band, producing absorption edges at incident energies specific to the element and to the inner shell from which the electron left. This minimum energy, called the absorption edge energy, ranges from a few *keV* to a few hundred *keV*, and is highest for heavy nuclei and for the innermost electrons (K shell) as the binding energy is maximized in those cases. Therefore, the photoelectric effect is dominant for high-Z materials and is the reason for their use in gamma-ray shields [241].



Figure 2-4: (a) Schematic of the photoelectric absorption: an incident photon excites an electron of the K shell to energies above the conduction band [240]. (b) Schematic of the decaying of the excited atom by X-ray fluorescence (K_{α} and K_{β}) or Auger electron emission [240].

The photon absorption cross-section of lead (*Pb*) as a function of incident energy is shown in Figure 2-5-(a) [2]. The K-edge and the L-edge can be seen and correspond to the excitation of an electron of the K shell and of the L shell respectively. L_1 , L_2 and L_3 sub-edges correspond to L-edge electron transitions with different spin and orbitals [2]. Additionally, it can be seen that the absorption cross-section of electrons strongly decreases as the incident photon energy increases only to reach local maxima at the edges. This is because the probability for the electron transition to the excited state strongly decreases as the wavelength of the light decreases (i.e. the photon energy increases) compared to the orbital radius. As detailed in section 2.3.5, this continuous sharp decrease is filtered out during analysis using pre-edge and post-edge lines to normalize the data.



Figure 2-5: (a) Cross-section of the photoelectric absorption as a function of the incident photon energy for lead (Pb) [2]. (b) Experimental Mn XAFS spectra at the K-edge of MnO (adapted from [242]).

An example of the pre-normalization absorption spectra around the K-shell absorption edge (K-edge) of *MnO* is shown in Figure 2-5-(b) [242]. The spectrum is separated into two regions corresponding to the two XAS techniques: the near-edge region (XANES) and the Extended X-Ray Absorption Fine Structure (EXAFS) region. While XANES provides information about the local environment, energy bandwidth, and valence state of the atom, EXAFS is mostly used for investigation of the interatomic distances, near neighbor coordination and lattice dynamics [243]. The EXAFS region is marked by oscillations of the absorption coefficient that originate form the modulation of the absorption coefficient due to scattering the photoelectron on the neighboring atoms. As seen in Figure 2-6-(a), when the energy of the incident X-ray (*E*) exceeds the energy of the core electron (E_0), the probability of absorption by the atom sharply increases which leads to the edge jump spectrum (blue curve). The absorption results in the ejection of the core level electron (the photoelectron) with a wavelength proportional to the square root of the excess of energy $E - E_0$: $\lambda \propto \sqrt{E - E_0}$. Because the absorbing atoms are surrounded by other atoms that can interact with the circular photoelectron wave, some photoelectrons may scatter back to the absorbing atoms (Figure 2-6-(b)) and modulate the absorption coefficient. This modulation leads to the fine structure curve (red) and can be described as the modification of the transition rate for the absorption of the X-ray photon due to the presence of the scattering atoms [240]. It is worth mentioning that fine structure oscillations are more defined for crystalline materials [244, 245]. Both XANES and EXAFS can be used to study the structure of a wide variety of crystal and amorphous materials since the rise of synchrotron X-ray sources in the 1970's. In the present work, we investigate only the XANES part (80 *eV* total range around the edge) to characterize the oxidation state of *Ni* in Zry-2 oxide layers.



Figure 2-6: (a) Schematic of the X-ray absorption process. The incident X-ray with energy Eabove the core level E_0 is absorbed by the atom (blue), and a photoelectron is ejected with the wavelength $\lambda \propto (E - E_0)^{-1/2}$. (b) Schematic of the origin of fine structure in the absorption spectrum due to the scattering neighbor atoms. The photoelectron can scatter from a neighbor atom (red) and return to the absorbing atom which modulates the amplitude of the photoelectron wave-function at the absorbing atom. This in turn modulates the absorption coefficient, causing fine structure in the absorption spectrum. Figures adapted from [240].

The sensitivity of the XANES part of the spectrum to the oxidation state of the absorbing element is depicted in Figure 2-7 with the example of *Fe* XANES spectra of *Fe* in *ZIRLO* (acquired at the APS on an autoclave ZIRLO sample), *bcc Fe*, iron (*II*) oxide *FeO*, iron (*II*, *III*) oxide Fe_3O_4 and iron (*III*) oxide Fe_2O_3 (obtained from the XAFS Data Library [246-249]). It can be seen that the edge energy and peak intensity increase as *Fe* atoms are oxidized, while the pre-edge and post-edge features evolve. Those changes arise from two phenomenon [240, 242]:

- As the atom oxidizes, it loses electrons near the atom core, resulting in less shielding of the nucleus. Therefore the energy required to excite an electron from the inner shells to the continuum spectrum increases. This is reflected as a shift in the edge position toward higher energy as the atom oxidation state increases.
- Secondly, the oxidation of the atoms alters the local environment so that hybridization of electron orbitals and multi-scattering of the photoelectrons modify the edge and pre-edge intensities as well as the post-edge oscillations.



Figure 2-7: Experimental Fe XANES spectra for Fe in ZIRLO (collected at the APS on an autoclave ZIRLO sample), bcc Fe, FeO, Fe_3O_4 and Fe_2O_3 (from [246-249]). The inset plot represents the edge energy as a function of the Fe atom valence (oxidation state).

As described in more detail in sections 2.3.4 and 2.3.5, these spectral changes enable the experimenter to study the oxidation state of the element of interest in zircaloy oxides using a linear combination analysis with reference standards. Such spectral changes are seen in Figure 2-8 (from Ensor's work [145]) which contains the Fe XANES spectra (K edge) collected across the oxide layer formed on a Zry-4 sample corroded in 274°C water. As the scan advances in the oxide (darker blue curves), the metallic Fe pre-edge feature is lowered while the edge energy and the white line intensity increase, reflecting the oxidation of the Fe atoms in the oxide layer. Additionally, XANES is sensitive to the coordination environment of the atoms of interest, as can be seen from the differences between the spectra for Fe in ZIRLO and *bcc* Fe in Figure 2-7. Iron atoms in *bcc* Fe have different bonds and coordination compared to the iron atoms in precipitates or in solid solution in ZIRLO. In this case, the pre-edge feature, the edge intensity, and the post-edge oscillation differ while the edge position remains essentially the same.



Figure 2-8: Normalized Fe XANES (K-edge) spectra across the oxide layer of a Zry-4 material corroded at 274°C. As the scan advances in the oxide layer (darker blue curves), the absorption spectrum is modified. The metallic iron features disappear in favor of oxidized Fe features, indicating oxidation of the Fe atoms. Figure taken from [145].

Two modes of measurements are available for XANES: transmission or fluorescence. In transmission mode, the experimenter collects the photon flux before and after it goes through the sample and directly measures the absorption coefficient μ for the material from the logarithm of the ratio of intensities. However, in order to have a meaningful signal, a significant portion of the beam must be absorbed when going through the material and thus the sample must be sufficiently thick or concentrated (large $\mu_{transmission}(E)$) [250]. In fluorescence mode – which was the setup used for our experiment (see section 2.3.3) – the experimenter studies the fluorescence spectra from the excited atoms. As described above, once the electron leaves the inner shell (Figure 2-4-(a), the atom is likely to emit characteristic X-rays - typically with a slightly lower energy than the corresponding absorption edge - to bring an electron from the continuum band (L and M shells mostly) back to the vacancy level in the inner shell (Figure 2-4-(b)). The other process involves the rearrangement of electrons from other shells resulting in the ejection of a second electron (Auger emission). The fluorescence mode is required for Zircaloys because the concentration of diluted alloving elements are too low concentrations to be characterized in transmission. Under the dilute sample assumption (few nickel atoms in the zirconium bulk or oxide), the fluorescence intensity is linearly related to the absorption coefficient (independently of incident energy) [242, 251]:

$$\mu_a \propto \frac{I_f}{I_0}$$

(Eq. 2-1)

For thick concentrated samples, the fluorescence intensity no longer shows a linear dependence to the absorption coefficient and "self-absorption" distortions appear in the spectra [242]. However, correction algorithms can be used to account for this self-absorption phenomenon as described further in section 3.1 with the correction of the distorted fcc Ni standard.

2.3.3 Experimental setup for µXANES analysis in fluorescence mode

In this section we present the experimental setup for the XANES analysis at beamline 34-ID-E at the Advanced Photon Source (APS) at Argonne. The sample holder was modified from that used in previous work [91] to conform to the requirements of beamline 34-ID-E. The basic experimental setup was maintained, as shown in Figure 2-9 and Figure 2-10. The sample is aligned so that the metal/oxide interface is parallel to the incident beam. The synchrotron photon flux then hits the sample at a 14° incident angle. The fluorescence spectrum is collected using an X-ray detector positioned near the surface of the samples. A 90° angle between the incident beam and the detector is usually preferred as it reduces the elastic scattering yield reaching the detector [242]. Additionally, the nickel standard samples were tilted at 45° to the incident beam and to the X-ray detector in order to minimize spectra distortions due to "self-absorption effect" [240].



Figure 2-9: Experimental setup for XANES analysis at beamline 34-ID-E.



Figure 2-10: Schematic of the experimental geometry for XANES at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS. During the XANES scan across the oxide layer, the sample is moved along the x axis (set perpendicular to the metal/oxide interface) [91].

In order to analyze the oxidation state of nickel across the oxide layer, the sample is moved along the *x* axis and the fraction of metallic *Ni* can be determined as a function of depth in the oxide. The precise location of the interface is obtained from zirconium K-edge fluorescence scans, as has been done previously [52, 89, 91, 131]. Indeed, the *Zr* fluorescence counts decrease slightly in the oxide as the density of *Zr* atoms is reduced by the incorporation of *O* atoms. In the epoxy, *Zr* fluorescence count falls to a background level. Because the photon energy can reach 20 *keV* at beamline 34-ID-E while keeping $\Delta x < 0.5 \,\mu m$, it was possible to use the K-edge *Zr* fluorescence (at *E* = 18 *keV*) [252], whereas previous experimenters had to rely on the low intensity low energy L-edge *Zr* fluorescence or on X-ray diffraction at beamline 2-ID-D to ascertain the position of the beam relative to the oxide layer during measurements. An example of the zirconium fluorescence spectrum acquired at beamline 34-ID-E (APS) across an oxide layer formed on material 11 at *E* = 20 *keV* is shown in Figure 2-11-(a). In comparison with previous L-edge Zr fluorescence spectra taken with an X-ray energy near 9 keV (Figure 2-11-(b) [89]), it is clear that in both cases the metal and oxide limits are delineated by the higher Zr absorption in the oxide layer. We note also that the overall counts are much higher at higher energy, which results in a less noisy spectrum, but the difference between metal and oxide counts is smaller. However, it was seen post-experiment with XRD phase analysis and Ni oxidation state determination that the metal/oxide interface was shifted by $1-3 \mu m$ from the Zr K-edge fluorescence value. It is hypothesized to originate from the difference in sampling volume at 20 keV compared to 8.34 keV as described further below and in chapter 3.



Figure 2-11: (a) Zr K-edge fluorescence of sample 11-A at the XANES scan location (collected at beamline 34-ID-E, APS). The bulk (metal) is on the left, the 35 µm thick oxide on the right. (b) Zr L-edge fluorescence in a Zry-4 sample corroded in 360°C water for 784 days (collected at beamline 2-ID-D, APS) [125]. The metal part is seen on the right with the 31 µm thick oxide on the left.

Lastly, the 14° angle between the incident beam and the sample surface was chosen so that the penetration depth was only few μm below the surface. Indeed, the footprint of the $0.3 \ \mu m * 0.3 \ \mu m$ beam on the sample is about $0.3 \ \mu m * 1.2 \ \mu m$ with this low incident angle, and the penetration depth at $E = 8340 \ eV$ is about $3.1 \ \mu m$ in Zr and $4.7 \ \mu m$ in ZrO_2 - compared to 19.5 $\ \mu m$ at normal incidence [253]. The sampling depth (95% of X-ray intensity) is estimated to be three times the penetration depth. Therefore, the sampling volume at the Ni K-edge is at least of $3.5 \ \mu m^3$. Assuming a mean size of about $100 \ nm$ (section 1.2.2) for the $Zr_2(Fe, Ni)$ precipitates, the average particle volume is of the order of $10^{-3} \ \mu m^3$, or three orders of magnitude lower than the sampling volume. Therefore the *Ni* fluorescence signal arises both from nickel atoms in precipitates and in solid solution.

At the Zr K-edge (E = 20 keV), the penetration depth at 14° incident angle is about 5.0 μm in Zr and 7.8 μm in ZrO₂ leading to a larger sampling volume than at the Ni K-edge energy [253]. This difference is thought responsible for the few μm uncertainty around the metal/oxide interface when compared with post-experiment to the XRD and Ni XANES measurements. However, it was fast and reliable to locate the interface in the encapsulated irradiated samples using the Zr K-edge during the experiments (section 3.2).

2.3.4 Reference standard

As described previously, XANES spectra are sensitive to the oxidation state of the absorbing elements and to its crystallographic coordination geometry or nearest neighbors (Figure 2-7) [242]. Therefore, a characteristic XANES spectrum standard is obtained for each element in a given phase with a given electronic state. When the sample consists of a mixture of the absorbing atoms in different oxidation states and sites, the X-ray absorption signal is in principle the weighted average of the absorption signal from these atoms in different locations and in different phases. This is true if the measured data is not nonlinearly distorted, i.e. sample thickness or "self-absorption" effects are not present (more details on the "self-absorption" phenomenon are available in section 3.1) [242]. When self-absorption is present, a correction algorithm such as the one described by Reddy [251] needs to be applied prior to data fit. Because the concentrations of the alloying elements of interests are so low in zirconium alloys, one can expect the fluorescent signal to depend linearly on the elemental concentration - thick dilute

conditions – such that the linear combination fit of the data can be performed in a straightforward manner. Thus standards of the element of interest in the different possible phases are required to obtain the relative contributions of each phase from the spectra. Additionally, the XANES spectrum of a reference sample (such as fcc Ni foil) is used for calibration of the energy to compare spectra collected at multiple beamlines with different X-ray detectors and experimental setup [254]. In the case of nickel, the standards selected consist of two metallic compounds and four oxides: fcc Ni and Ni in Zry-2; NiO, $NiFe_2O_4$, Ni_2O_3 and Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 . These are listed in Table 2-2. Because of the geometry at beamline 34-ID-E, all standard signals were collected in fluorescence mode. The Ni standards are described below while the XANES spectra obtained are presented in section 3.1.

Table 2-2: List of standards used for nickel XANES examinations of in-reactor corroded Zry-2 water rods.

Nickel standards				
Compound	Physical State	Provenance		
fcc Ni	Foil	Sigma-Aldrich		
Ni in Zry-2	Bulk	Zry-2 Water Rod		
Nickel (11) oxide (NiO)	Powder	Sigma-Aldrich		
Nickel ferrite $(NiFe_2O_4)$	Powder	Sigma-Aldrich		
Nickel (III) oxide (Ni_2O_3)	Powder	Sigma-Aldrich		
Ni (<i>II</i> , <i>III</i>) in <i>ZrO</i> ₂	Bulk	Zry-2 Water Rod		

The fcc Ni standard consisted of a metallic foil provided by Sigma-Aldrich. Because this was a pure Ni sample, the XANES fluorescence signal suffered "self-absorption" distortions that were corrected using ATHENA software [255] in which the FLUO correction algorithm has been implemented [256]. Once corrected, the fcc Ni foil standard spectrum corresponded to the

fcc Ni spectra available in literature. However, the "self-absorption" distortions introduce large post-edge noise and so the *fcc Ni* standard spectrum from [249] was used after alignment of the edge energy. The *fcc Ni* foil standard can be seen in Figure 2-12-(a). The second metallic compound was that from *Ni* atoms in Zry-2 which was obtained from averaging the XANES signals from 10 locations in the metal part of material 9. This allowed for the reduction of noise in the standard data as seen in section 3.1. Although *Ni* is metallic in both standards, the XANES signals are dissimilar because of the different near-neighbors of the nickel atoms in both phases as explained in section 3.1. Indeed, the *Ni* atoms in Zircaloy-2 are bonded with *Zr* atoms both in solid solution in the *Zr* matrix or in intermetallic precipitates of the *Zr*₂(*Ni*, *Fe*) type.

The first three nickel oxide standards - *NiO*, *NiFe*₂*O*₄, and *Ni*₂*O*₃ - with respective oxidation state - *Ni*²⁺ or *Ni*(*II*), *Ni*²⁺ or *Ni*(*II*) [257], and *Ni*³⁺ or *Ni*(*III*) - were all in the powder form and provided by Sigma-Aldrich. In order to prevent the effects of "self-absorption" in fluorescence mode, the grain size of the powders was minimized, and the oxides were diluted to 5-10 *wt*. % into zirconia powder. The mixture was then glued with Nail polish glue and sealed on an aluminum plate (20 *mm* × 20 *mm* × 3.175 *mm*) using DuPont Kapton tape (provided by CS Hyde Company). The resulting standard sample is shown for *NiO* in Figure 2-12-(b). Similarly to the metallic standard *Ni* in Zry-2, the fourth oxide standard labeled *Ni*(*II*, *III*) in *ZrO*₂ consisted of the average of 10 XANES spectra collected between 20 and 25 μm from the metalloc fraction and used instead of the 3 powder oxides described above for the final fit of the XANES spectra. The author believes it represents more accurately the XANES signal arising from oxidized nickel atoms in Zry-2 oxide compared to the nickel oxide standards and reduced fitting errors. However, both analyses yielded similar results as further detailed in section 3.1 and 3.4.1.

The standard XANES spectra were then collected during the experiments at the APS and normalized with the ATHENA program [255] for oxidation state analysis of the nickel atoms in the oxide formed on the Zry-2 water rods.



Figure 2-12: Images of the f cc Ni foil (a) and NiO powder diluted in ZrO_2 powder and sealed on an aluminum plate with Kapton tape (b).

2.3.5 Oxidation state analysis using ATHENA

Once the XANES spectra were collected from the Zry-2 cross-section samples or the nickel standards, the data were imported into the ATHENA program for analysis. ATHENA software has been used in many studies and is a useful tool for X-ray absorption analysis [255] and relies on the IFEFFIT algorithm [258]. The pre-fit processing of the XANES spectrum consisted of the determination of the edge energy and of the pre-edge and post-edge (or normalization) functions. This initial processing is described below and illustrated in Figure 2-13 with the example of Ni_2O_3 .

The first step consists in dividing the fluorescence counts by the incident beam intensity because of the small synchrotron pulse variations with time. Then, following previous work [52, 91, 131, 255, 259], the edge position E_0 was defined as the maximum of the derivative of the spectrum with respect to energy. The pre-edge function was linear and fit to the region $15 - 20 \ eV$ before the absorption edge while the normalization function was polynomial and regressed

to the data in the region 15 - 20 eV past the edge (Figure 2-13-(a)). The normalization constant $\mu_0(E_0)$ is calculated by extrapolation of the pre-edge and post-edge functions and defined as the difference between the two curves at the edge position, also called the "edge step". The extrapolated pre-edge function is then subtracted from the whole spectrum, which put the pre-edge portion of the data on the (y = 0) axis. The resulting spectrum is then divided by $\mu_0(E_0)$ to obtain the "normalized" data (Figure 2-13-(b)). Lastly, the difference in slope and quadrature between the pre-edge and post-edge lines was subtracted from the data past the edge position. It puts the oscillatory portion of the spectrum on the (y = 1) axis and the "flattened" data obtained goes from 0 to 1 (Figure 2-13-(b)). The normalization and flattening process allows for direct comparison and improved linear combination fitting of data sets with variations in sample preparation, sample thickness, absorber concentration, detector settings and other aspects of the measurements [240, 254, 260].



Figure 2-13: Illustration of the Ni XANES data processing prior to linear combination fitting with the example of Ni_2O_3 spectrum (from [261]: (a) Ni XANES data and derivative with preedge and post edge functions. The edge energy is defined as the maximum of the derivative the absorption coefficient (red line); (b) Resulting normalized and flattened absorption spectra. A linear combination fit was then applied to the flattened data.

Once pre-processed, *Ni* XANES spectra from the irradiated Zry-2 samples were fit to linear combinations of the *Ni* standards spectra. As mentioned in the previous section, XANES spectra of a mixture of the absorbing atoms are in principle the weighted average of the absorption signal from the different atoms and so the metallic *Ni* weight fraction can be accessed via linear combination fit of the measured data with reference standards [242], as done in previous studies [91, 254, 262, 263]. The metallic fraction of *Ni* across the oxide layer of the material was then calculated by summing the weights of the metallic compounds (*fcc Ni* and *Ni* in Zry-2) resulting from the fit. The linear combination fit analysis is further described in section 3.4.1. Because detectable differences in the metallic *Ni* and *Ni* in Zry-2 weight fractions were investigated as well in this study (section 3.4.2). Finally, the oxidation state of nickel in the oxide layers was analyzed by comparison of the edge energies to that of the XANES spectra (section 3.4.3).

2.4 Microstructure analysis with XRD using synchrotron radiation

2.4.1 Purpose and layout of the XRD measurements at the APS

As described in SECTION 2.1, water rods used in a BWR for 3 to 4 cycles represent a valuable set of materials to study the enhancement of hydrogen pickup at high burnup in Zry-2. In order to better understand the conditions leading up to H pickup accelerations at high burnup, it is relevant to study the spatial differences in microstructure of the oxide between the low and high H pickup fraction materials - especially in terms of fluence, temperature, and water chemistry. Microbeam X-ray diffraction is available at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS, and so XRD patterns of various locations in the oxide layer were collected concurrently with the second round of

XANES scan on the Zry-2 materials. One XRD scan was collected across the oxide at the XANES location on samples 9-B, 11-B, 12-A, and 14-B and each scan consisted of acquiring a diffraction pattern every 0.25 μm (samples 11-B and 14-B) or 0.5 μm (samples 9-B and 12-A). A lower spatial resolution was applied for samples 9-B and 12-A due to time constraints at the end of the experimental beamtime available (a XRD scan at 0.25 μm across the thick oxide typically requires 2 to 3 hours).

As presented in detail in the next sections, X-ray diffraction experiments provide information on the microstructure of the materials, i.e. their crystal structure and grain size [125, 264]. The different phases composing the materials can be investigated at the submicron level with a high photon flux thanks to synchrotron radiation. Previous examinations of oxide layers formed on Zr alloys using microbeam XRD proposed that the mechanism consists in nucleation of small monoclinic (predominant) and tetragonal zirconia particles, followed by grain growth as the oxide advances into the metal [89, 120, 236]. The monoclinic grains elongate in the direction of oxide growth, the tetragonal grains which are properly oriented to minimize stresses undergo a phase transformation to monoclinic particle as the grains grow, while the grains that are not properly oriented do not grow [120, 265-267]. As mentioned in SECTION 1.3.1, t-ZrO2 is not stable at the reactor pressure and temperature (and below) but can be stabilized by alloying elements, by small oxide grains and by high stresses [268]. Hence, tetragonal zirconia grains have been observed mainly near the metal/oxide interface where stresses are high, and oxide particles start to nucleate, such that grains are small. Shivprasad [91] observed a higher concentration of tetragonal zirconia near the metal interface in the low hydrogen pickup water rods as has been observed previously with TEM on various Zr alloys [144]. In this context, a thorough study of the microstructure of the oxide and of the metal part near the metal/oxide interface was done on all four materials selected (Table 2-1) and the results of these examinations are presented in chapter 4.

2.4.2 Principles of X-Ray diffraction

In this section, we present the principles of microstructure analysis using X-ray Diffraction. The XRD technique is based on the specular scattering of electromagnetic waves by the atoms of a crystalline structure when the wavelength of the incident photons, λ , is comparable to the spacing between atomic planes in the crystal structure. For coherent incident light (such as that from microbeam synchrotron radiation), the scattered waves undergo constructive and destructive interferences so that X-ray are reflected at certain angles of incidence only. This phenomenon is known as Bragg diffraction [269], as illustrated in Figure 2-14. If the diffracted X-rays from the atoms in the lattice planes are in phase because the difference in path length is an integral multiple of the photon wavelength, then constructive interferences form at specific reflection angles so that a diffracted beam with significant intensity is produced and can be collected. This diffraction condition for constructive interferences is a special case of the more general Laue equations and is summarized by Bragg law [264]:

$$2d\sin(\theta) = n\lambda$$

(Eq. 2-2)



where d is the interplanar spacing, θ the diffraction angle, and n the order of reflection.

Figure 2-14: Illustration of Bragg diffraction by the atoms of crystallographic planes [270].

The order of reflection n is a positive integer and is equal to the number of wavelengths in the path difference between diffracted X-rays from adjacent planes. The spacing d between the crystallographic planes ($h \ k \ l$) of a lattice can be expressed as a function of the Miller indices h, k, l and of the unit cell parameters. For example, the interplanar spacing of a ($h \ k \ l$) plane in a

cubic lattice with cell parameter *a* is determined by [264]:

$$1 h^2 + k^2 + l^2$$

$$\frac{1}{d^2} = \frac{n + n + t}{a^2}$$
 (Eq. 2-3)

Combining this expression of d with the Bragg law (Eq. 2-2), one can obtain for cubic crystals:

$$\sin^2\theta = \frac{\lambda^2}{4a^2}(h^2 + k^2 + l^2)$$
(Eq. 2-4)

Therefore, the diffraction angle θ can be determined directly from the plane indices and the unit cell parameters. The structure of materials with specific set of planes and unit cells can then be investigated by measuring the diffraction angle θ . Obtaining a diffraction pattern consists of collecting with a large light detector the intensity of the scattered X-rays as a function of the diffraction angle. The 2θ notation is usually preferred so that the incident beam, rather than the sample surface is set as normal to the detector. The intensity of the scattered beam from a set of planes is given by the structure factor *F* determined by the position of the atoms in the unit cell $(u_i v_i w_i)$, their atomic scattering factor f_i and the Miller indices of the planes (h k l) [264]:

$$F_{h \, k \, l} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} f_j e^{2\pi i (h u_j + k v_j + l w_j)}$$

(Eq. 2-5)

where *N* is the total number of atoms in the unit cell.

The structure factor represents both the amplitude and phase of the summation of diffracted waves over all the atoms in the unit cell. The scattering intensity reaching the detector is directly proportional to the squared modulus of F:

$$I_{scattered} \propto |F|^2$$

In a perfect single crystal, the diffraction pattern is composed of points of high intensities, each one of them corresponding to a specific $(h \ k \ l)$ plane. On the other hand, in a multigrain single crystal without texture, diffraction can occur in all directions and luminous rings form on the diffraction pattern, each one of them corresponding to a specific diffraction angle 2θ . Examples of diffraction patterns for a single crystal and a powder CeO_2 standard (multigrain single crystal) are shown in Figure 2-15. If grains have preferred crystallographic directions in the sample – due to material fabrication or preferential growth under stress for example - then azimuthal parts of the rings will be more luminous than others (as can be seen in chapter 4 for zirconium alloys bulk samples). The texture of the material is therefore studied by analysis of the diffraction pattern and the "cake" partial integration which plots the intensity as function of the diffraction angle 2θ and of the azimuthal angle on the detector χ (see section 2.4.4).

For further analysis, the diffraction pattern is integrated over the azimuthal range so that the luminous intensity can be plotted as a function of the 2θ angle only. An example of the resulting 2θ -plot is shown in Figure 2-16 for CeO_2 powder. The intensity peaks resulting from the different rings are then identified using materials databases. The Powder Diffraction File (PDF) database, produced and maintained by the International Center for Diffraction Data (ICDD) [271], was used in this study. The PDF of a material provides information on the crystal structure of the phase, the unit cell parameters, the crystal planes (Miller indices), and the corresponding interplanar spacings and scattering intensities. The PDFs for the zirconium, zirconium oxides, and zirconium hydrides phases used in this study are available in APPENDIX A. The diffraction peak centroids, widths, and intensities of the integrated diffraction pattern are then fitted (section 2.4.4) which yields information on which phases are present and on their volume fraction (section 2.4.5). In the next section, the experimental setup for the X-ray diffraction measurements at beamline 34-ID-E of the APS (ANL) is presented.



Figure 2-15: X-ray diffraction pattern for (a) a single crystal [272] and (b) CeO_2 *powder (data collected at the APS at E = 22 keV).*



Figure 2-16: X-ray diffraction pattern (a) and integrated 2θ -plot (b) for CeO_2 powder (data collected at the APS at E = 22 keV). The green ring represents the integrated area for the peak intensity corresponding to $2\theta = 17^{\circ}$ (green line).

2.4.3 Experimental setup for XRD

The X-ray diffraction measurements on the Zry-2 water rod cross-section samples were conducted concurrently to the XANES experiments at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS (ANL). The cross-section samples were examined in reflection mode because of the low beam energy and the substantial sample thickness. As seen in Figure 2-19 in the next section, only half of the circumference of the diffraction rings can be collected in reflection mode as the light scattered in the other directions is absorbed in the sample. The setup was identical to that previously described in section 2.3.3 (Figure 2-9 and Figure 2-10) but a charge collection device (CCD) surface detector (PI-SCX:4300) was added and placed about 1.1 *m* past the sample holder to collect the diffracted beams. The XRD setup is illustrated in Figure 2-17. In order to examine the similar volume as that of XANES measurements, the sample was tilted to a 14° angle and the beam energy set to the low energy for typical XRD: $E = 8.5 \ keV$. The sampling volume was therefore of the order of 5 μm^3 as well because the X-ray penetration depth and the beam size at $E = 8.5 \ keV$ are identical to those obtained at the nickel K-edge energy $E = 8.34 \ keV$. A photon energy of $E = 8.5 \ keV$ implies the wavelength $\lambda = 0.14586 \ nm$, which was used for calibration and calculation of the 2 θ angles.

The diffraction patterns were acquired at the location of the *Ni* oxidation state scans on the cross-section samples so that the microstructure information for specific *Ni* oxidation states was acquired. The oxide/metal interface was aligned as closely as possible with the beam and Zrfluorescence at the K-edge ($E = 20 \ keV$) enabled to locate the interface on the *x* axis during the experiments. The sample was moved along the *x* axis and a XRD pattern was collected at each point (acquisition time was 20 seconds). As mentioned in section 2.4.1, one XRD scan was acquired on one of the samples from each material (9-B, 11-B, 12-A, 14-B) and the results of this examination are presented in chapter 4.



Figure 2-17: Schematic of the experimental geometry for XRD at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS [91]. During the XRD scan across the oxide layer, the sample is moved along the x axis.

2.4.4 Diffraction data processing using DIOPTAS and PEAKFIT

Once the XRD patterns were collected across the oxide, the images were imported into the DIOPTAS program [273] for analysis of the diffraction intensities in terms of azimuthal and diffraction angles (χ and 2θ). The CeO_2 powder standard shown in Figure 2-18 was used for calibration of the XRD patterns by ensuring that the correct 2θ position is used. Note that the pattern in Figure 2-16 only contains the first few reflections of the more complex XRD pattern of CeO_2 standard shown in Figure 2-15 and Figure 2-16 because of the low beam energy (E =8.5 keV) compared to standard XRD measurements, which means that many of the higher order reflections are not seen. Lowering the incident photon energy increases the wavelength which in turn increases the 2θ values for Bragg reflection. Thus, as the energy decreases, the diffraction rings are pushed out of the surface detector frame. Only the light scattered by the planes with the highest *d*-spacing values (i.e. the lower order reflection) is collected. Additionally, the lower energy allows for more interaction of the photons with matter which reduces the signal-to-noise ratio. However, the CeO_2 pattern at $E = 8.5 \ keV$ still provided the information quality necessary for calibration of the XRD data.



Figure 2-18: XRD pattern of CeO_2 powder standard collected at E = 8.5 keV which was used for calibration, and its integrated 2θ -plot. Less diffraction rings and more background signal are observed compared to Figure 2-16 because of the lower photon energy.



Figure 2-19: (a) XRD Image, (b) "cake" χ -2 θ -plot and (c) corresponding integrated 2 θ -plot for sample 9-B (far oxide) using the DIOPTAS [273]. Because the XRD setup was in reflection for the Zry-2 cross section samples, only the upper half-circle of the XRD image was filled. The green lines and circle correspond to $2\theta = 29.75^{\circ}$, where the main peak for the oxide is located.

The texture of the material is reflected in the variations of intensities along the diffraction rings and is further analyzed with the "cake" or sector-integrated plots. The "cake" integration of the XRD image consists of plotting the intensity of the scattered beam as a function of χ and 2θ .

An example of the XRD pattern and its corresponding χ -2 θ -plot are shown Figure 2-19-(a) and Figure 2-19-(b) (respectively) for sample 9-B. Because the measurements were conducted in reflection mode, the azimuthal range is about half ($\Delta \chi \sim 180^{\circ}$) of the full detector range available in transmission XRD. Although the 2 θ range of the experimental setup was [0°-48°], the region of interest was set between [20°-44°] for better fit of the peaks from the bulk and the oxide (see chapter 4).

In order to further investigate the microstructure of the material, the patterns are integrated over the azimuthal range to produce the 2θ -plots presented in Figure 2-19-(c) for a scan in the oxide of sample 9-B. The integrated data is then imported into the PEAKFIT program for peak identification and fit. It can be seen in Figure 2-19-(c) that a significant background is present in the 2θ -plot of the oxide of material 9 but a lower noise signal was seen in the metal part as discussed further in section 4.1.2. This background was removed prior to peak fitting using the "2nd Deriv Zero" algorithm with an *N*-parameter baseline. The *N*-parameter baseline is composed of successive linear functions converging at specified 2θ regions. It was manually set for each XRD pattern by ensuring that I = 0 between non overlapping peaks. An example of the background fit function for sample 9-B (oxide) is shown in Figure 2-20-(a) and the resulting 2θ -plot is shown in Figure 2-20-(b). The yellow segments correspond to the points of convergence of the linear functions of the background fit (the white line) where the intensity is set to zero.



Figure 2-20: (a) Example of background fit function for sample 9-B (far oxide) using the "2nd Deriv Zero" algorithm with the N-parameter function in PEAKFIT, and (b) the 2 θ -plot after removal of the background.

Once background was removed, the diffraction peaks were fitted using the Pearson *VII* area peak shape. The Pearson *VII* function is a Lorentzian function raised to a power *m* which converges to a Gaussian peak shape as *m* increases [274]. The peaks were manually adjusted for each scan before autofitting the residuals using the "AutoFit Peaks I Residuals" algorithm available in PEAKFIT. An example of the fit review for sample 9-B in the oxide is available in Figure 2-21 with the multiple identified peaks shown in colors. These identified peaks were indexed to their corresponding phases using the Powder Diffraction Files (Appendix A) for zirconium, zirconia, and zirconium hydrides as described in detail in section 4.1.1.



Figure 2-21: Review of the peak fit of the XRD data from sample 9-B (far oxide) using PEAKFIT software and Pearson VII area functions.

2.4.5 Phases and grain analysis

As mentioned in the previous sections, the volume fraction of different crystalline phases in a mixture of materials can be quantitatively assessed from XRD patterns. As described in section 2.4.2, the expected phases of ZrO_2 were the monoclinic and tetragonal phases. From the PDFs of ZrO_2 phases (Appendix A), the most intense peaks are the ($\bar{1}11$) and (111) reflections for monoclinic zirconia and (101) for tetragonal zirconia. Considering the integrated areas of the diffraction peaks, the tetragonal phase fraction can be computed using the Garvie-Nicholson formula [275]:

$$f_T = \frac{I_{(101)}^T}{I_{(111)}^M + I_{(\overline{1}11)}^M + I_{(101)}^T}$$
(Eq. 2-7)

where $I_{(111)}^M$, $I_{(\bar{1}11)}^M$, and $I_{(101)}^T$ are the areal intensities of the $(111)_M$, $(\bar{1}11)_M$, and $(101)_T$ reflections respectively.

Although not entirely justified theoretically, the Garvie-Nicholson formula has been used for quantitative analysis in many XRD studies because of its accuracy in stabilized zirconia systems [275]. The tetragonal phase fraction f_T was therefore calculated with (Eq. 2-7) as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface in the oxide layer of all four materials selected. In previous work [236], a correction was applied to the peak intensities to account for texture in the oxide because only a small azimuthal range was available for the experiments. Since a much wider azimuthal range was possible at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS (as was the case at beamline 2-ID-D [91]), no correction was applied in this study at first. However, sample holder shadows were seen in two of the four materials investigated due to their closeness to the edge of the holder which reduced the detector 2ϑ and azimuthal range and a correction was then introduced for these two samples (as described in chapter 4).

Additionally, the grain size was investigated in the oxide thanks to the increase in peak broadening as crystallite size decreases. Typically, broadening of XRD peaks occurs due to two phenomena: crystal imperfections and instrumental broadening. The latter may be due to beam divergence, sample size, X-ray penetration, monochromatic energy fluctuations, imperfect focusing and others. The former arises from a number of phenomena such as small crystallites or micro strains and defects in the lattice. Broadening of the zirconia intensity peaks has been observed in previous XRD studies of the oxide as the beam gets closer to the metal interface and is believed to arise from the growth of zirconia grains as the metal is further oxidized. For this reason, the Scherrer equation has been used to estimate the broadening of the diffraction peaks from crystallite size changes [276]:

$$B_c(2\theta) = \frac{0.9\,\lambda}{L\,\cos\theta}$$

(Eq. 2-8)

where B_c is the crystallite size broadening, λ is the photon wavelength, and θ is the diffraction angle for the measured reflection, and *L* the crystallite edge size.

The Scherrer equation was developed for cubic systems but has been used for non-cubic system by interpreting the crystallite edge size L as the average crystallite dimension perpendicular to the reflecting plane. Therefore, grain sizes along the different directions in the oxide have been investigated using different sets of planes. It should be noted that the Scherrer equation is valid for particles smaller than 100 nm – which is the case in the oxide layer – because little to no broadening occurs when particles grow beyond this size [277, 278]. Additionally, it was important to account for the instrumental broadening when computing the grain sizes in the oxide. Instrumental broadening was estimated using the beam divergence (both horizontally and vertically, see section 4.2.3) and the crystallite size broadening was then calculated using the instrumental and total broadenings:

$$B_c(2\theta) = \sqrt{B_t^2 - B_i^2}$$

(Eq. 2-9)

where B_t is the total peak broadening (width of a diffraction reflection (peak broadening i.e. the full width half maximum FWHM) and B_i is the instrumental broadening.

Chapter 3

Oxidation state of Ni in the oxide of BWR Zry-2 water rods with XANES

In this chapter, the results of the microbeam X-ray absorption near-edge spectroscopy measurements and analysis of the BWR-corroded water rod samples are presented. The XANES technique using microbeam synchrotron radiation at the APS (ANL) – presented in the previous chapter – allows for the determination of the oxidation state of nickel as a function of depth in the oxide layer (distance from the metal/oxide interface) formed on the Zry-2 water rods. Previous research has found that the metallic nickel present in the last $10 - 15 \,\mu m$ of oxide built on Zry-2 materials that spent an additional fourth cycle in a BWR reactor is correlated with and may be responsible for the high hydrogen pickup observed in these materials [91]. In order to further investigate this hypothesis, four additional materials (9, 11, 12, and 14) were analyzed from low and high elevation cut of the two Zry-2 water rods corroded in Limerick-1 (Pennsylvania, USA) reactor for 3 to 4 cycles (Table 2-1). The first section describes the XANES spectra of the metallic and oxidized nickel standards required for the Linear Combination Fit analysis with ATHENA software. The second section depicts the SEM images of the cross-section samples showing the XANES scan locations and the oxide thickness measurements. In the third section, the plots of the Ni K-edge XANES spectra as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface in the oxide layer formed on irradiated materials are discussed. Then, the oxidation states of nickel across the oxide layers determined by linear combination fit analysis of the XANES spectra using ATHENA and by investigation of the edge energies are detailed before concluding on the XANES examinations of the oxide layers grown on in-reactor corroded Zry-2 water rods.
3.1 XANES spectra of metallic and oxidized nickel standards

As described in section 2.3, reference standards of metallic and oxidized *Ni* are used for the linear combination fit (LCF) analysis of the XANES spectra collected in the cross-section samples. The standards XANES spectra were all acquired in fluorescence at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS (ANL) and normalized with ATHENA [255] following the procedure presented in section 2.3.5 (Figure 2-13). The results are plotted in Figure 3-1 and compared to available spectra collected in transmission and retrieved from the Materials Data Repository (MDR) [279, 280] and the X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (XFAS) data libraries [261, 281].

The oxide powder standard (*NiO*, *Ni*₂*O*₃ and *NiFe*₂*O*₄) were diluted to 5-10% in *ZrO*₂ powder to ensure linearity between the absorption coefficient and the fluorescence yield (section 2.3.4). On the other hand, the XANES spectrum of the metallic *fcc Ni* foil was distorted due to self-absorption effects, which are briefly described further below. The spectrum was corrected using the self-absorption algorithm implemented in ATHENA with inputs of angles in and out of 45° (section 2.3.3). The normalized XANES spectra for the *fcc Ni* foil (as-measured and "self-absorption" – SA – corrected) are compared in figure Figure 3-1-(a) along with a *fcc Ni* foil spectrum from the XAFS database [281]. To account for differences in experimental setup, the *fcc Ni* foil spectrum from database is aligned to that from our measurement (SA corrected) matching the edge energies. The corrected and calibrated, the spectrum from the *fcc Ni* foil is identical in shape to the high quality spectrum from database [281] but contains high levels of noise in the post-edge region due to the self-absorption distortions. For this reason, the calibrated *fcc Ni* standard spectrum from the XAFS database [281] was used for LCF analysis.



Figure 3-1: XANES spectra of nickel standards collected in fluorescence at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS (ANL) and compared to spectra from databases collected in transmission. The edge energies of the spectra from databases have been aligned to that of the APS measurements to account for differences in experimental setup. (a) as measured fcc Ni foil (dark blue), corrected for "self-absorption" using ATHENA [255] (light blue), and fcc Ni foil from the XAFS database [281]. (b) Ni in Zry-2, average of 10 XANES spectra collected in the metal region of material 9. (c) NiO from experiment and MDR database [279]. (d) NiFe₂O₄ from experiment and MDR database [280]. (e) Ni₂O₃ from experiment and XAFS database [261]. (e) Ni(II,III) in ZrO₂, average of 10 XANES spectra collected in the far oxide of material 9.

The XANES spectra obtained from the diluted oxide powders (*NiO*, *NiFe*₂*O*₄, and *Ni*₂*O*₃) are plotted in Figure 3-1-(c), Figure 3-1-(d), and Figure 3-1-(e) respectively and compared with standards spectra collected in transmission from MDR and XAFS database [261, 279, 280]. For all three standards, the measurements from this work agree with XANES signals of transmission standards, confirming that dilution of the oxide powders was successful in limiting self-absorption effects. However, the maximum intensity in the oxide standards (also known as "white line" intensity as described below) is seen lower for *NiO* and higher for *NiFe*₂*O*₄ and *Ni*₂*O*₃ compared to reference standards. White line intensities depend on many factors and may vary between two runs as seen in transmission at the *Pt* L_{III} -edge [282]. Also, the grain size of the powder samples was observed to play a key role in the white line intensity in fluorescence (due to self-absorption effects occurring if the grain size is comparable to the absorption length [240, 283-285]). Therefore, multiple XANES spectra were collected on each diluted powder sample until reasonable absorption steps were obtained which ensured little self-absorption distortions.

The second metallic standard *Ni* in Zry-2 (Figure 3-1-(b)), collected in the metal region of material 9 (average of 10 XANES scans), is similar to the *fcc Ni* XANES with a strong rising edge feature and no white line. The clear differences between oxidized and metallic *Ni* XANES spectra, described in detail further below, allow for the quantitative analysis of the oxidation state of nickel. However, because of the similarity of the XANES spectra from the three nickel oxides considered and the uncertainty of the fit due to differences with the XANES signal arising from oxidized nickel in Zry-2 oxide, it was not possible to clearly distinguish the contributions from each oxide standard during the linear combination fit. Another oxide standard was then considered instead of the three powder standards, *Ni*(*II*,*III*) in *ZrO*₂, which was collected in the far oxide of material 9 as the average of 10 XANES spectra from the [20 μ m-25 μ m] region. Similar in shape to that of reference nickel oxides, the main differences are an edge shift to higher energy and a lower white line intensity. Identical to that collected from the far oxide of other materials (see section 3.3), it yielded improved fit results in the oxide region as shown in section 3.4. Here we briefly present the origin and implications of the "self-absorption" distortions in fluorescence.

"Self-absorption" distortions (also known as "over-absorption" as it better represents the mechanism) arise from the loss of a linear relationship between the fluorescence intensity reaching the detector and the absorption coefficient of the element of interest when the sample is too thick or the element of interest too dense in the material. The fluorescence functional, a well-known equation that describes the ratio of the X-ray fluorescence intensity $I_f(E)$ to the intensity of the incident beam X-ray $I_0(E)$ is given by [251, 286]:

$$\frac{l_f(E)}{l_0(E)} = \left(\frac{\Omega}{4\pi}\right) \epsilon(E) \frac{\mu_e(E)}{\mu_t(E) + \mu_f \frac{\sin(\theta)}{\sin(\phi)}} g(E)$$
(Eq. 3-1)
$$g(E) = 1 - \exp\left(-\left(\mu_e(E) + \mu_b(E) + \mu_f \frac{\sin(\theta)}{\sin(\phi)}\right) \frac{L}{\sin(\theta)}\right)$$
(Eq. 3-2)

where Ω is the solid angle of the fluorescent detector above the sample, θ the incident angle, ϕ the fluorescent yield angle, *L* the sample thickness, $\epsilon(E)$ the fluorescent yield of the atom of interest, $\mu_e(E)$ the absorption coefficient of the element of interest, $\mu_t(E)$ the total absorption coefficient in the sample, $\mu_f = \mu_t(E_f)$ the total absorption coefficient at the fluorescence energy E_F of the target edge, and $\mu_b(E)$ the absorption coefficient from the background so that $\mu_t(E) = \mu_e(E) + \mu_b(E)$.

The fluorescent yield is rather constant around the edge energy i.e. $\epsilon(E) \approx \epsilon_0$ [251], and a linear relationship between the fluorescent intensity and the absorption coefficient $\frac{I_f(E)}{I_0(E)} \propto \mu_e(E)$ can be

obtained by performing a first-order Tayler series approximation of g(E) when the exponential part verifies $\left[\left(\mu_e(E) + \mu_b(E) + \mu_f \frac{\sin(\theta)}{\sin(\phi)}\right) \frac{L}{\sin(\theta)}\right] << 1$, which corresponds physically to very thin samples (small *L* compared to the absorption length) or optically dilute samples (low density of the absorbing element of interest reduces $\mu_t(E)$ and $\mu_t(E_f)$ compared to the oxide thickness *L*) [240, 251, 287]. Under this condition, g(E) is approximated by [251]:

$$g(E) \approx 1 - \left(1 - \left(\mu_e(E) + \mu_b(E) + \mu_f \frac{\sin(\theta)}{\sin(\phi)}\right) \frac{L}{\sin(\theta)}\right)$$
(Eq. 3-3)

$$g(E) \approx \left(\mu_t(E) + \mu_f \frac{\sin(\theta)}{\sin(\phi)}\right) \frac{L}{\sin(\theta)}$$

(Eq. 3-4)

Then incorporating g(E) into (Eq. 3-1) provides:

$$\frac{I_f(E)}{I_0(E)} = \left(\frac{\Omega}{4\pi}\right) \epsilon_0 \frac{L}{\sin(\theta)} \mu_e(E) \quad \propto \mu_e(E)$$
(Eq. 3-5)

Therefore, the fluorescent intensity corresponds to the absorption coefficient in the case of dilute alloys or very thin samples. However, when the element of interest is not diluted in the material and the sample is rather thick compared to the absorption length, the fluorescence intensity is no longer directly proportional to the absorption coefficient μ_e . This is the case for the *fcc Ni* foil standard considering the absorption length of *Ni* is of the order of μm at the K-edge, resulting in higher counts in the pre-edge region and lower post-edge oscillations [288] as observed in the normalized spectra of Figure 3-1-(a). This signal compression generates additional noise in the post-edge range when corrected for self-absorption. As mentioned previously, a high-quality *fcc Ni* standard collected in transmission with synchrotron radiation [281] was used as the

reference standard for the LCF analysis (Figure 3-2) after calibration of the edge energy with the SA corrected measurement of the *fcc Ni* foil (Figure 3-1-(a)).

The main differences between the XANES signal from metallic and oxidized nickel are now discussed in detail. Figure 3-2 gathers the three standards spectra (fcc Ni, Ni in Zry-2 and Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2) used in this study for the final LCF analysis, alongside the XANES spectrum of NiO (calibrated, MDR database [279]) for illustration of the oxidized nickel features.



Figure 3-2: XANES spectra of the 3 nickel standards used for LCF analysis with ATHENA: fcc Ni (dark blue), Ni in Zry-2 (light blue), and Ni(11,111) in ZrO₂ (red). NiO XANES (dotted spectra, calibrated from MDR database [279]) is added to the plot for discussion of the characteristic features between metallic and oxidized nickel.

As mentioned in chapter 2, the X-ray absorption K-edge arise from the excitation of an electron from the 1*s* orbitals of the atoms and the photoelectron transitions to the continuum band (EXAFS region). Near the edge, the photoelectron may transition to empty or partially filled

electron shells. For *Ni* and other 3*d* transition metals (such as *Fe* and *Cr*), the edge represents the dipole allowed 1*s* to 4*p* transition [254, 283, 289]. In centrosymmetric systems such as for most transition metals and oxides, dipole transitions correspond to high probability transitions where the parity is change, i.e. with a change in quantum number for atomic orbital $\Delta l = \pm 1$ [290]. In nickel, these transitions correspond to $1s \rightarrow 4p$ at the K-edge and $2s \rightarrow 4p$ or $2p \rightarrow 3d$ at the L-edge. On the other hand, Laporte selection rule derived from Fermi's golden rule predicts low probability (about 10^{-2} smaller) for quadrupole transition where parity is maintained i.e. $\Delta l = \pm 2$ [254]. At the K-edge, it corresponds to the $1s \rightarrow 3d$ transition and is usually not visible in the pre-edge region.

However, high density of empty state for 3*d* levels, hybridization of the orbitals via atomic bonding, and loss of centrosymmetry in the crystal structure can significantly increase the transition probability [291-295]. It has been observed for many transition metal compounds that a lower coordination of the atoms of interest maximizes quadrupole transition, as shown in Figure 3-3-(a) for *Cr* oxide compounds with different crystal structures where intense pre-edge features are seen for the tetragonal calcium chromates [293]. In contrast, the pre-edge peak is absent in CrO_3 and metallic *Cr* because of the octahedral coordination of the *Cr* atoms, putting *Cr* at the center of an inversion in both structures. For metallic *Cr*, the rising-edge feature is reflective of the conduction band with hybridization of the 3*d* and 4*p* orbitals as shown in Figure 3-4-(a) where band energies of transition metals and of oxygen are illustrated [283]. The edge energy of the spectra is shifted to higher energies as the oxidation state increases due to the lower electronic charge of the oxidized atoms (as seen for *Fe* in Figure 2-7 and *Cr* in Figure 3-3-(a)).

Past the edge energy, the XANES features are determined by the local environment of the atoms of interest i.e. the bonds atoms, length, and coordination [240, 254, 296]. The constructive and destructive interferences of the emitted photoelectron wave with the scattered waves on the nearby atoms modify the absorption intensity in the post-edge region as described in section 2.3.2

(Figure 2-6) and illustrated again in *Figure 3-3-*(b) below [296]. Considering the diverse origin of the XANES features, the spectra from the *Ni* compounds used in this study are now discussed in detail.



Figure 3-3: (a) Normalized Cr K-edge XANES profiles, displaced vertically, for chromium metal, chromium oxide and calcium chromate compounds, adapted from [293] (b) Schematics of the post-edge oscillations in XANES and EXAFS due to the interference of outgoing and backscattered photoelectron wave [296]

In metallic *fcc Ni* (dark blue line in Figure 3-2), the rising-edge feature (*A*) originate from the structure of the conduction band formed by the hybridization of the 3*d* and 4*p* orbitals of the bonded nickel atoms, alike *Fe*, *Cr* and other transition metals [283, 297]. The 4*p* character of the hydride orbitals increases the probability of the quadrupole transition (extinguished due to Laporte selection rule – see above - as *Ni* are located in centrosymmetric sites $m\overline{3}m$ in *fcc Ni* [298]), allowing absorption of X-ray at a lower energy than the high intensity dipole transition. The edge energy (inflation point) was measured at 8332.5 *eV* with our experimental setup. Past the edge, the two dumps (*B* and *C*) and later valley (*E*) arise from scattering of the photoelectrons on the neighboring *Ni* atoms, as described previously [240, 254, 263, 296, 299]. The second metallic nickel standard considered for this study, *Ni* in Zry-2, consists of the average of 10 *Ni* XANES spectra collected in the metal region of material 9 (light blue line in Figure 3-2). It corresponds to the XANES signal of nickel in the *bct* precipitates $Zr_2(Fe, Ni)$ (dominant) and in solid solution in Zircaloy-2 (minor). The rising-edge feature (A) is seen sharper than in *fcc Ni* while the post-edge bumps (B and E) are wider and at different energies. Additionally, the absorption edge is shifted to lower energy with an edge energy (inflation point) at 8332 *eV* (8332.5 *eV* for *fcc Ni*), and the edge first maximum centered around 8347 *eV* (8249 *eV* for *fcc Ni*).



*Figure 3-4: (a) Core electron excitation diagram for 3d transition metals and oxides [283]. (b) Schematics of the molecular hybrid orbital energy levels for octahedrally coordinated titanium oxide TiO*₂ [295].

To understand these differences, it is necessary to investigate the atom sites for the nickel atoms in Zry-2. As mentioned previously, nickel alloying additions form intermetallic precipitates $Zr_2(Fe,Ni)$ in Zry-2, while some remain in solid solution in the α -Zr matrix. $Zr_2(Fe,Ni)$ crystal structure is body centered tetragonal (*bct*) and the sites for *Ni* and *Fe* atoms have a chiral point group 422 [71] which is not an inversion center. For this reason, the $1s \rightarrow 3d$ transition is allowed, resulting in a sharp rising-edge feature. Additionally, hybridization of the orbitals which leads to the conduction band in the intermetallic precipitates contributes to the rising-edge feature, overlapping with the quadrupole transition peak (whereas a clear distinct peak is seen for Cr oxides in Figure 3-3-(a)).

The post-edge bumps result from single and multiple scattering of the photoelectrons on the neighboring Zr and Ni (or Fe) atoms. Because of the similarity between nickel and iron, Kuri *et al.* [220] observed no changes in his modeled XANES signal when substituting Ni atoms with Fe in Zr_2Ni clusters. The Zr atoms are believed to contribute mostly to the XANES features due to their high coordination at the Ni sites (8) compared to that of Ni (2) [245, 259]. Lastly, the edge shift to lower energy was attributed to a charge transfer from the Zr atoms to the Ni atoms [245, 259, 300] and the effective charge for the nickel atoms in $NiZr_2$ was estimated at -1.31(0.65 for the Zr atoms) [300] which lowers the binding energy of the electrons and in turn allows photo absorption to occur at a lower energy. Additionally, the stronger shift seen for the edge first maximum (at 8347 eV for Ni in Zr_2 and at 8349 eV for fcc Ni in Figure 3-2) may result from the increased bond length in the $NiZr_2$ bct structure compared to the fcc Ni crystal structure. This bond length effect is described in the extensive review of XANES and EXAFS analysis of oxides by Kuzmin and Chaboy [301] and is further detailed later in this section with the examination of the Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 standard.

The nickel oxide standard Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 (red line in Figure 3-2) is similar to the nickel oxide phases considered in this study, as illustrated with NiO spectrum (red dotted line in Figure 3-2, calibrated, from MDR database [279]). The bonding of the nickel atoms with the oxygen atoms significantly changes the XANES spectra with a loss of the rising-edge feature (small pre-edge bump only), a small shift to higher energy and a significant edge maximum intensity at 8350 eV (white line, B) followed by a second bump (D) at 8366 eV. The small pre-edge (A), seen as well in NiO and $NiFe_2O_4$ (Figure 3-1-(d)) and absent in Ni_2O_3 (Figure 3-1-(e)),

reflects the extinction of $1s \rightarrow 3d$ transition due to the centrosymmetry of the *Ni* sites in these structures [291, 292, 294, 302-305]. The standard *Ni(11,111)* in *ZrO*₂ correspond to the signal arising from the oxidized nickel atoms in the far oxide formed on Zry-2. The oxidized nickel atoms in the far oxide are either precipitating into nickel oxide phases, or present as defect in the *ZrO*₂ matrix. Based on EXAFS examinations and DFT calculations, Kuri *et al.* [151] suggests that the latter is dominant with *Ni* atoms substituting with *Zr* atoms in the monoclinic oxide layer. For charge balance due to the difference in oxidation state between *Ni* and *Zr*, the nickel atoms are located next to an oxygen vacancy forming $Ni^{2+} - V_0$ defects in the oxide layer. Additionally, Than [153] predicted with DFT calculations the formation of this defect in tetragonal *ZrO*₂ at various partial oxide pressures believed to represent the bulk oxide. Because the *Zr* atoms are at centrosymmetric sites in the monoclinic and tetragonal phases, the XANES signal arising from the substituted nickel atoms follow the electron transition selection rule with minimization of the $1s \rightarrow 3d$ transition. As for *NiO* and *NiFe*₂*O*₄, the small measurable signal is due to the high density of available *d* states and the small hybridization of the 3*d* orbitals with the 2*p* orbitals of the oxygen atoms, as illustrated for *TiO* in Figure 3-4-(b) [295].

The edge energy for Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 is measured at 8346 eV, or 1.5 eV higher than that in NiO (8344.5 eV in our study), and 0.5 eV higher than that of Ni_2O_3 (8345.5 eV in our study). This edge shift to higher energy has been attributed to higher oxidation [99, 220] of the nickel atoms in the oxide layer. However, the oxidized nickel atoms in the oxide layer are suspected to substitute at zirconium site in zirconia as either Ni^{2+} with a nearby oxygen vacancy [151, 153] or as Ni^{3+} at high oxygen partial pressure in tetragonal ZrO_2 [153], rather than precipitate in nickel oxides as mentioned above. In an extensive review of XANES and EXAFS analysis of oxides, Kuzmin [301] argues that the structural modifications induced by the substitution of Mn into ZnO strongly affect the edge energy and shape of the XANES spectrum at the Mn K-edge. By increasing the interatomic distances between the larger dopant and the oxygen atoms compared to the matrix during XANES computations, a significant shift to lower energies and modifications to the white line and post-edge peaks were observed (Figure 3-5-(b)).



Figure 3-5: (a) NiO XANES spectra at the Ni K-edge calculated with the FEFF8 program considering an increasing number of atomic shells around the nickel atom (taken from [306]). (b) XANES spectra at the Mn K-edge of Mn atoms substituting in ZnO calculated with CONTINUUM [307] multi-scattering program for different Mn-O bond lengths. The edge is shifted to lower energy (blue arrow) as the bond length increases (from [301]).

Considering this effect in the case of nickel atoms dopped in zirconia, the interatomic distance between the Ni(II) atoms and the first shell of oxygen atoms is 2.070 Å in powder NiO [308] and 1.97 Å in m- ZrO_2 [151] so that the shorter Ni-O bonds in ZrO_2 may shift the absorption edge to higher energy and alter the absorption peaks. This shift of the XANES spectra to higher energy due to contraction of the interatomic distances was observed at the Ni K-edge by Pandya *et. al* [309] during the investigation of nickel oxide electrodes by X-ray absorption. The higher edge energy in Ni(II,III) in ZrO_2 would then reflect differences in structural configuration rather than in oxidation state. As mentioned before, this effect is coherent with the strong shift to lower energy of the first edge maximum when metallic Ni are located in the $NiZr_2$ structure (Ni in Zry-2 standard in Figure 3-2) rather than in fcc Ni (fcc Ni standard in Figure 3-2). With EXAFS examinations of Zry-2 materials, the Ni-Ni and Ni-Zr first shells bond lengths

were measured at 2.67 Å and 2.75 Å by Kuri *et al.* [259], whereas the *Ni-Ni* bond in *fcc Ni* is estimated at 2.49 Å. The longer interatomic distance in $NiZr_2$ would then shift the edge maximum to lower energy as seen for *Mn* in *ZnO* [301].

The white line intensity and the post-edge oscillations arise from the scattering of the photoelectrons on the neighboring oxygen atoms, as illustrated in Figure 3-3-(b) [296]. Specifically, the edge intense peak (*B*) is mostly due to the first shell of atoms (oxygen) while the post-edge peak (*D*) is attributed to the second (nickel) and third (oxygen) shell of atoms (Figure 3-5-(a)) [306, 310, 311]. Therefore, the dumping of the post-edge oscillations in Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 would originate from the lack of long-range order for the Ni atoms in the oxide layer. Considering the local distortions of the matrix around the substitute Ni atoms, the spread of the first shell interatomic distances in ZrO_2 and the irradiation effects in the oxide of the reactor-corroded water rods [220], the scattered photoelectron waves from the second (Zr) and third (O) shells of atoms may not be in phase so that the constructive and destructive interferences are limited. Additionally, the change in Ni-O bond length when present as a defect in ZrO_2 might alter the white line and post-edge oscillations compared to NiO XANES as mentioned above [301, 309]. The differences in edge energy, in white line intensity and in post-edge oscillations between Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 and NiO are further discussed in section 3.3 and section 3.4 where the XANES spectra and the edge energy across the oxide layers are presented.

Lastly, the edge energies (inflation point of the XANES spectrum) of the nickel standards measured in this study (Figure 3-1) are compared in Table 3-1 to database nickel spectra [261, 279-281, 312, 313] and to previous work on Zry-2 materials [91, 220]. The edge energy for *NiO* from Shivprasad's work [91] differs from that reported (8339.6 *eV*) as it has been calculated again from the analysis of the raw XANES data. The derivative contained two maxima at 8339.6 *eV* and 8344 *eV* and comparison with reference spectra suggest that the peak at 8344 *eV*

corresponds to the edge energy while the peak at 8339.6 eV is artificially amplified due to powder thickness and energy resolution effects [283]. Edge energy variations can be seen between the different experimental and database data with a range of 1 to 4 eV for all compounds. The source of these offsets is diverse (experimental setup, detector energy resolution, sample preparation and others [254]) but calibrating the energy with reference standards allows for investigation of the oxidation state as discussed in section 3.4. The edge energies from the three studies investigating Zry-2 materials are coherent with consistent energy shifts for the different compounds when calibrated with the fcc Ni foil (Ni⁰). A jump of about 12 eV in edge energy is seen for NiO (Ni^{2+}) and of about 13.5 eV for the signal arising from the far oxide of Zry-2 materials. In our study, the second Ni^{2+} oxide $NiFe_2O_4$ had an energy slightly higher than that of NiO at 8345 eV (+12.5 eV) and the Ni^{3+} oxide Ni_2O_3 showed a slightly higher energy at 8345.5 eV (+13 eV). The highest energy observed for Ni(II, III) in ZrO₂ suggest a higher oxidation state and/or a shorter bond length as mentioned above and further discussed later in this chapter. It is worth mentioning that even though the edge energies are plotted in the same column for the XANES databases (MDR and XAFS), each of spectra was collected individually at different beamlines, preventing direct edge shift comparison for those data.

determined with ATHENA software [255] as the maximum of the absorption spectrum derivate.											
Standard Edges	Oxidation	Present	Shivprasad	Kuri	MDR	XAFS					
(eV)	State	Study	[1]	[2]	[3,4,5,6]	[7,8]					
fcc Ni	0	8332.5	8332	8333	8329.6	8331.5					
Ni in Zry-2	0	8332	8332	8333	-	-					
NiO	2	8344.5	8344	8345.2	8341.1	-					
$NiFe_2O_4$	2	8345	-	-	8341.8	-					
Ni_2O_3	3	8345.5	-	-	8343.3	8346					
$Ni(II,III)$ in ZrO_2	≥ 2	8346	8345.5	8346.2	-	-					

Table 3-1: Edge energy (eV) of the standards measured in this present study and compared to previous work [91, 220] and databases data [261, 279-281, 312, 313]. The edge energies were determined with ATHENA software [255] as the maximum of the absorption spectrum derivate.

The XANES signal for the reference standards (metallic and oxidized) used in the XANES analysis of the oxidation state of *Ni* across the oxide layer formed on Zry-2 water rods were presented and coherent with the XANES measurements from previous work and database. The main features of the XANES region at the *Ni* K-edge were described in detail and are essential for the quantitative analysis of the oxidation state as seen later in this chapter. In the next section, we present the SEM images of the cross-section samples analyzed with XANES and XRD at the APS.

3.2 SEM imaging of irradiated Zry-2 cross-section samples

As described in chapter 2, cross-section samples of BWR-corroded Zry-2 water rod materials were prepared at Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL) for XANES examinations at the APS (ANL). In order to locate the bulk and the oxide at the beamline, SEM images of the samples were acquired at PNNL prior to the first round of experiments, and at the Material Characterization Lab (MCL) at Penn State University (PSU) post-experiment. SEM images of the inner and outer oxides at representative locations are shown in Figure 3-7 for materials 9 and 11 and Figure 3-8 for materials 12 and 14 while the whole sample SEM images are presented in Figures 3-9-(a), 3-10-(a), 3-11-(a), 3-12-(a), 3-13-(a), 3-14-(a) and 3-15-(a) for samples 9-A, 9-B, 11-A, 11-B, 14-A, 14-B, and 12-A respectively. As a reminder, materials 9 and 11 correspond to the low hydrogen pickup water rod (3 cycles in BWR) at low and high elevation. The average thickness of the oxides has been measured from the SEM images of the prepared samples using the ImageJ program [314] and the results are presented in Table 3-2 along with the total oxide thickness and hydrogen content measured at GE VNC hot cell facility.

		Hydrogen Content					
Sample	Inner	Outer	Total	Total [GE]	$\Delta \delta$	[GE]	
	(µm)	(µm)	(µm)	(µm)	(µm)	(<i>wt.ppm</i>)	
9-A	13 (±9)	25 (±6)	38 (±11)	40	-2	250	
9-B	15 (±11)	32 (±3)	47 (±11)		+7	230	
11-A	25 (±10)	20 (±5)	45 (±11)	50	-5	329	
11-B	29 (±7)	23 (±5)	52 (±8)		+2		
12-A	15 (±3)	35 (±2)	50 (±4)	40	+10	600	
14-A	39 (±6)	31 (±2)	70 (±6)	82	-12	1721	
14-B	40 (±6)	29 (±2)	69 (±6)		-13		

Table 3-2: Thickness measurements with SEM images (analysis with ImageJ [314]) of the inner and outer oxides formed on the Zry-2 water rods. Total oxide thicknesses are derived and compared to measurements done at GE VNC hot cell facility.

The total oxide thicknesses measured in this study (Table 3-2) are consistent with the measurements at Vallecitos Hot Cell facility with material 14 displaying the thickest oxides (up to 50 μ m in the inner oxide as seen in Figure 3-8-(d)). However, the oxides were seen significantly larger (+10 μ m total) for material 12 and thinner (-13 μ m total) for material 14. This observation suggests that important oxide thickness variations occur between regions along the water rod perimeter, which is coherent with the lower uniformity observed in Zry-2 materials corroded in BWRs as mentioned in section 1.3.3 and attributed to the boiling conditions of the reactors [137]. The outer and inner oxide present on the prepared samples are rather uniform as seen with SEM in Figures 3-7 to 3-15, but significant variations can be observed between regions for all materials, especially in the inner oxide layers. The high standard deviations for the inner oxide measurements in Table 3-2 illustrates these fluctuations in the inner oxide growth, especially in the 3-cycle water rod materials (9 and 11). Additionally, the circumferential variations of oxide thickness at two locations (low/high elevation) in each of the two GNF water rods (data provided by EPRI) are plotted in Figure 3-6 and confirm that both the inner and outer

oxide growths were significantly varying between different regions of the water rods during exposure in the BWR. As mentioned above, the boiling conditions are thought mainly responsible for the lower uniformity of the oxide layer formed in BWR, where local differences in coolant flow and steam quality may affect corrosion kinetics. Additionally, oxide thickness variations may result from local disparity in SPP distributions, especially under irradiation which induces amorphization and dissolution of the second phase particles (section 1.4.5), as the SPPs are essential to the corrosion resistance of Zr alloys.



Figure 3-6: Oxide thickness (in µm) circumferential variations at two locations close to that of the materials selected for each of two Zry-2 water rods (3 and 4 cycles). Data provided by EPRI (GNF water rods).



Figure 3-7: SEM images (PSU) of the oxides formed on the low hydrogen pickup materials (3 cycles). (a) Mat. 9 outer (b) Mat. 9 inner (c) Mat. 11 outer (d) Mat. 11 inner.

Comparing the oxide thickness of material 12 (40 μ m) to material 9 (40 μ m), no acceleration of oxidation can be observed during the last cycle in the reactor at low elevation. At high elevation, the total oxide thickness after 4 cycles (82 μ m, material 14) is much larger than after 3 cycles (50 μ m, material 11) suggesting that accelerated corrosion has occurred during the additional cycle. These observations are further discussed in chapter 5 where oxide thickness measurements provided by EPRI at multiple elevations in the two water rods are presented.

In general, the oxides of the Zry-2 water rods examined in this study are characterized by a significant number of lateral (or circumferential) cracks and some through-thickness (or radial) cracks as seen in Figure 3-7 and Figure 3-8. Lateral and through-thickness cracks are present in the oxide of Zr alloys and may lead to accelerated corrosion and hydrogen pickup when interconnected through the oxide layer [315]. Additionally, large lateral and/or through-thickness

cracks were observed in all materials, but in higher number for the 4-cycle materials (12 and 14). Oxide spallation is seen in the inner oxide of sample 14-B (Figure 3-14-(a)) but likely results from the cutting of the materials near a vast lateral crack during the cross-section sample preparation. Therefore, large lateral cracks may have developed more frequently during the last cycle exposure, especially at high elevation. This observation corroborates the microstructural characterization of a 9-cycle Zry-2 cladding by Baris [316] where the oxide near the metal oxide interface (produced during the last cycles) contained large cracks in higher densities resulting in a high volume fraction of the cracks compared to the outermost layer (produced during the first cycles). When interconnected via through-thickness cracks and porosity, the large cracks may bring the coolant closer to the metal/oxide interface and in turn increase oxidation rate and hydrogen pickup [315]. This hypothesis is further discussed in chapter 5.



Figure 3-8: SEM images (PSU) of the oxides formed on the high hydrogen pickup materials (4 cycles). (a) Mat. 12 outer (b) Mat. 12 inner (c) Mat. 14 outer (d) Mat. 14 inner.



Figure 3-9: SEM imaging of sample 9-A (a) (PNNL) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding Zr K-edge fluorescence (c).



Figure 3-10: SEM imaging of sample 9-B (a) (PSU) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding Zr K-edge fluorescence (c).



Figure 3-11: SEM imaging of sample 11-A (a) (PNNL) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding Zr K-edge fluorescence (c).



Figure 3-12: SEM imaging of sample 11-B (a) (PSU) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding Zr K-edge fluorescence (c).



Figure 3-13: SEM imaging of sample 14-A (a) (PSU) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding Zr K-edge fluorescence (c).



Figure 3-14: SEM imaging of sample 14-B (a) (PSU) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan shown by the red dotted line (b) (PSU), and the corresponding Zr K-edge fluorescence (c).



Figure 3-15: SEM imaging of sample 12-A (a) (PNNL) with a zoom at the location of the XANES scan (b1 and b2) shown by the red dotted line (PSU), and the corresponding Zr K-edge fluorescence (c1 and c2).

For the materials examined post-experiment at the APS (sample holder 1 i.e. 9-A, 11-A, 12-A-1, and 14-A), deposits from the beam interaction were observed at the location of the *Ni* XANES scan (as seen in Figures 3-9, 3-11, 3-13 and 3-15). These deposits are believed to arise from the Kapton encapsulation; in spite of some difficulty they were removed after successive cleaning of the sample with ethanol and acetone. Because time was limited at the electron

microscope and all the deposits were not removed after the 10th cleaning and measurement of sample 14-A (Figure 3-13), it was not possible to completely clean the samples for better SEM images at the XANES locations in those samples.

Last but not least, the location of the Ni XANES scan was selected based on the following criteria for each cross-section sample: (1) thick uniform oxide regions are preferred (more hydrogen available for pickup); (2) no oxide spallation; (3) clear identification of sample features (edge, cracks, oxide, nearby epoxy or molybdenum) and alignment of the metal/oxide interface with the CCD camera available at the beamline (which proved to be difficult because of the 14° angle of the sample rather than the usual 45° for which the camera was set up); (4) good Zr fluorescence signal with an oxide thickness similar to that observed via SEM; (5) adjustment to available beam time (sample drifts, beam shutdown, oxide location search and more). Considering all these criteria, the locations for the Ni XANES scan are represented by the red dashed line in each of the high magnification SEM images ((b) of Figure 3-9 to Figure 3-15) and the corresponding Zr K-edge fluorescence ((c) of Figure 3-9 to Figure 3-15). The metal and water interfaces were determined at first using the Zr K-edge fluorescence features but were later readjusted (0.5 to 3 μm) using the onset of nickel oxidation ($f_m = 0.7$) as the interface location, corroborating the interface determined by X-ray diffraction for samples 9-B, 11-B, and 14-B. The higher energy of the Zr K-edge (beam energy at E = 20 keV) was thought to induce a larger sampling volume error in the determination of the metal/oxide interface (see section 2.3.3) than in previous examinations performed at lower energy which led in some cases to oxidized nickel being located in the metal part. Nonetheless, the Zr fluorescence signal at the K-edge provided the users with a reasonable approximation of the interface location in limited amount of time (a Zr K-edge scan across 50 μm of material only takes a few min) during the experiments at the synchrotron. In the next sections, the Ni XANES scans and the resulting Ni oxidation state measurements are presented.

3.3 XANES spectra shape analysis of in-reactor corroded Zry-2

Prior to the linear combination fit analysis (presented in section 3.4), the XANES spectra collected in the metal (about 5 μm from interface) and oxide (about 25 μm from metal/oxide interface) of the BWR-corroded Zry-2 samples are plotted along with the metallic and oxidized nickel standards (presented in section 3.1) in Figure 3-16-(a) (metal) and Figure 3-16-(b) (oxide) for examination of the effects of corrosion temperature (elevation) and irradiation (neutron fluence) on the local environment and oxidation state of *Ni*. These XANES spectra collected at a specific point in the metal or in the far oxide are representative of the XANES signal tendencies in these regions as seen in the in-depth *Ni* XANES plots further below (Figure 3-17 and Figure 3-18).

Exploring the metal spectra in Figure 3-16-(a), there is no clear difference between the *Ni* XANES spectra collected in the different materials and all sample spectra are quite similar to that of the *Ni* in Zry-2 standard (which is the average of 10 XANES in the metal region of material 9), as was previously observed by Shivprasad with irradiated and unirradiated Zry-2 [91]. This is consistent with the observations by Kuri [259] that the XANES part of the nickel XAS spectrum was not affected by the amorphization of the precipitates in Zry-2 due to irradiation, whereas EXAFS post-edge oscillations were greatly diminished because of the loss of long range order. This agrees with the observation that although the long range order is lost as the material undergoes the crystal to amorphous transformation in intermetallic compounds, the nearest neighbors do not appreciably change [317]. Similarly, the corrosion temperature does not seem to impact the signal from the SPPs in the metal as the spectra collected in materials at low elevation (9 and 12) and high elevation (11 and 14) are essentially interchangeable. Therefore, no irradiation or elevation effects can be deduced from the analysis of the XANES spectra collected in the metal of the BWR-corroded Zry-2 water rods.



Figure 3-16: Nickel XANES spectra acquired from the standards and the Zry-2 cross-section samples. (a) Ni XANES spectra of the metallic standards and of the Zry-2 materials in the metal 2-5 µm from the interface. (b) Ni XANES spectra of the oxide standards and of the Zry-2 materials in the far oxide about 25 µm from the metal/oxide interface.

During XANES examinations combined with fluorescence mapping of thin samples of the Zry-2 water rods prepared with focused ion beam (FIB), Shivprasad [91] isolated the signal from *Ni* in solid solution and from *Ni* in precipitates in the metal. Both spectra were similar but lower post-edge oscillations were seen for *Ni* in solid solution (Figure 4.15 in [91]. This is coherent with the non-centrosymmetric sites for *Ni* in both structures (422 point group in *bct NiZr*₂ [71] and $\overline{6}m2$ for *Ni* in α -*Zr* [318]) which allows $1s \rightarrow 3d$ transitions to occur (risingedge feature). The disappearance of the post-edge oscillations when *Ni* is in solid solution suggests a lower order in the neighboring shells of the Ni atoms. The dopant atoms in solid solution may deform locally the Zr matrix due to the differences in atomic size, resulting in diminished constructive and destructive interferences of the scattered photoelectrons.

In the far oxide of the materials in Figure 3-16-(b), the Ni XANES signal is similar to that obtained from the nickel oxides with hardly detectable pre-edge features, a higher edge energy compared to metallic Ni, a white line peak, and post-edge oscillations. Specifically, the far oxide XANES signal in all Zry-2 materials are identical (within noise error) to the standard Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 (which is the average of 10 XANES from the far oxide of material 9) such that a standard from any of the four Zry-2 materials investigated yielded the same LCF results. As previously discussed in section 3.1, the edge energy is higher than that of the nickel oxides, the white line intensity is lower, and the post-edge oscillation amplitudes are significantly damped. The edge energy is defined by the oxidation state of the element and by the oxygen bond length in the material [240, 254, 301] and the edge shift to higher energy is attributed to the shorter Ni-O bond and/or a higher oxidation state for Ni when Ni atoms substitute for Zr in zirconia. Lower oscillation amplitudes in the post-edge region of the XAFS signal reflect less constructive and destructive interferences of the photoelectron wave scattered on the neighboring atoms (Figure 3-2-(b)). The post-edge oscillations in nickel oxides were identified with the 2nd and 3rd shells of atoms surrounding the Ni atoms while the white line intensity was correlated to the first oxygen shell [306, 311]. This would signify that the local environment of the oxidized Ni atoms in the water rods is significantly disturbed compared to the powder samples. Disorder in the shell of atoms reduces the white line intensity and disorder in the 2nd and 3rd shells damp post-edge oscillations. Additionally, FEFF simulations by Shivprasad (Figure 4.10 in [91]) suggested that the XANES signal for oxidized Ni in m-ZrO₂ is similar to that of NiO with smaller post-edge oscillations. Therefore, it is believed that the oxidized Ni atoms in the far oxide of the BWRcorroded Zry-2 water rods are located as substitution defects in the zirconia matrix of the Zry-2

materials investigated in this study. These observations contrast with the XANES measurements by Kuri [220] in the far oxide of a fuel Zry-2 water (high burnup, high hydrogen content). In his paper, Kuri observed a similar shift to higher energy for the edge (compared to the nickel oxides) but a sharper white line intensity and clear post-edge oscillations when examining the XANES signal taken from a point in the far oxide, about 40 μm away from the metal interface. This suggests that the first 3 shells surrounding the oxidized *Ni* atoms incorporated in zirconia are more ordered than in the water rod materials analyzed in this work. As this difference is present for all water rod materials independently of the elevation, fluence and time in the reactor, it may arise from the presence of radial heat flux in the Zry-2 cladding materials. The higher temperature would allow for improved ordering of the first 3 shells during oxide growth. On the other hand, the shorter oxygen bond still and/or higher *Ni* oxidation state shifts the edge energy of the spectrum compared to *NiO* and *Ni*₂*O*₃. Lastly, as it was the case for the metal part, no clear effect of irradiation or elevation is observed in the *Ni* XANES spectra in the far oxide of these materials.

To investigate the shape of the *Ni* XANES signal across the near oxide, the normalized spectra are plotted as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface in Figure 3-17 and Figure 3-18. For each material, the metal and the oxide regions are represented by the negative and positive (respectively) x values and the oxide/water interface is located at the last plotted x point. As described in section 2.3.3 and section 3.2, the metal/oxide interface was determined at first using the K-edge Zr fluorescence but was then readjusted (0.5 to 2 μ m) to the onset of the nickel oxidation represented by the x value at which the metallic fraction falls below 0.7 (or 70%). It allows for better comparison between the materials and is believed to adequately represent the metal/oxide interface, as corroborated with X-ray diffraction measurements (see chapter 4). The *Ni* XANES spectra across the oxide layer of the low hydrogen pickup materials (samples 9-A, 9-B, 11-A, 11-B) and of the high hydrogen pickup materials (samples 12-A-1, 12-

A-2, 14-A, 14-B) are shown in Figure 3-17 and Figure 3-18 respectively. The two main features representative of the *Ni* oxidation state (strong/weak pre-edge and white line intensity) are marked in each of the plots and discussed below.



Figure 3-17: Plots of nickel XANES spectra as a function of distance from the oxide/metal interface for the low hydrogen pickup Zry-2 materials (3 cycles): Material 11 (high elevation,) (a) sample 11-A (b) sample 11-B; Material 9 (low elevation) (c) sample 9-A, (d) sample 9-B.



Figure 3-18: Plots of nickel XANES spectra as a function of distance from the oxide/metal interface for the **high** *hydrogen pickup Zry-2 materials (3 cycles): Material 14 (high elevation,)* (a) sample 14-A (b) sample 14-B; Material 12 (low elevation) (c) 12-A-1, (d) 12-A-2.

Starting at low elevation in the low HPUF water rod, the two scans from material 9 (Figure 3-17-(c) and Figure 3-17-(d)) are identical: a strong rising-edge with no white line in the metal, followed by an acute decrease of the rising-edge features and increase of the white line

intensity within the first 5 μ m in the oxide. Ultimately, oxidized *Ni* spectra with a weak pre-edge and a clear white line are obtained when scanning the rest of the oxide layer. It is also observed that the absorption edge (the inflection point) is moved to higher energy once the strong risingedge has disappeared in the oxide. It is clear that not all *Ni* atoms are readily oxidized as soon as they are incorporated in the oxide layer, but rather get all oxidized over 5 μ m of oxide. This had previously been observed by Shivprasad [91] and Kuri [151]. This delayed oxidation is explained by the higher noble quality of the alloying elements compared to the *Zr* host and was seen to a lesser extent with *Fe* and *Cr* [13, 99-101, 145, 147, 148, 151] as detailed in section 1.3.4. Then, the 3D XANES plot of material 9 suggest no metallic nickel is observed in the oxide layer past a distance of 5 μ m from the metal/oxide interface. This is further confirmed by the linear combination fit analysis presented in the next section.

Continuing with the high elevation material from the low HPUF water rod, the scan across the oxide layer of sample 11-B (Figure 3-17-(b)) is similar to that obtained from material 9 exhibiting a strong rising-edge and no white line in the metal, as well as an acute decrease of the rising-edge and increase of the white line intensity and of the edge energy within the first 5 μm into the oxide, and oxidized *Ni* spectra showing a weak pre-edge and a clear white line throughout the rest of the layer. On the other hand, scans collected in sample 11-A (Figure 3-17-(a)) differ from the three previous spectra in that these scans reveal a strong rising-edge shoulder feature, about 3-5 μm wide, in the oxide region near the metal/oxide interface. Past the shoulder, the rising-edge decreases further (until about 10 μm into the oxide) and a weak pre-edge remains in the scans taken from the rest of the oxide. Similarly, the white line (edge maximum intensity) slightly until the shoulder ends, then quickly reaches its maximum for the rest of the oxide layer. This observation may suggest the presence of non-oxidized precipitates far in the oxide layer, as the strong rising-edge feature are associated with *Ni* surrounded bonded to metallic *Zr* atoms. Considering the host matrix is now zirconia in the oxide layer, the metallic *Ni* atoms can only be

bonded to metallic Zr within remaining precipitates. However, this observation is unique to all materials and may instead result from the presence of a metal region underneath the oxide as further discussed in section 3.4.

For both scans in the oxide of sample 12-A (Figure 3-17-(c) and Figure 3-17-(d)) which was cut from the high HPUF Zry-2 water rod at low elevation, the *Ni* XANES spectra across the layer follow the trends observed in the low HPUF materials 9-A, 9-B, and 11-B: a strong risingedge and no white line in the metal; also an acute decrease of the rising-edge and increase of the white line intensity and of the edge energy within the first 5 μm of oxide; and oxidized *Ni* spectra with a weak pre-edge and a strong white line for the rest of the layer. The overall shape of the 3D plot is clearly similar to that obtained from the low hydrogen pickup materials and no remaining metallic nickel is apparent past 5 μm into the oxide as confirmed by LCF analysis in the next section. This observation challenges the hypothesis of remaining metallic nickel in the oxide layer increasing hydrogen uptake [99] and is further discussed in CHAPTER 5.

Lastly, material 14 was taken from the high elevation of the high HPUF water and contained the most hydrogen content. The *Ni* XANES are plotted in Figure 3-18-(a) for sample 14-A and Figure 3-18-(b) for sample 14-B. For both scans, the features are similar to those observed in materials 13 and 21 by Shivprasad (Figure 4.3 of [91]): strong rising-edge and no white line in the metal; a sharp decrease of the rising-edge and increase of the white line intensity and of the edge energy to reach a moderate pre-edge feature and white line intensity within 5 μm past the metal/oxide interface; these moderate features remain for about 10 μm further in the oxide until the spectra eventually transition to weak pre-edge and high white line intensity. This plateau has been identified with the presence of metallic nickel in the oxide and is confirmed by the oxidation state analysis in the next section. The presence of metallic *Ni* in the oxide is thought to be responsible for the high hydrogen content of the material and is further discussed in chapter

The shape of the *Ni* K-edge XANES spectra collected across the different materials of this study have been presented. Each individual spectrum was then fitted to a linear combination of the standards spectra to obtain the metallic fraction of nickel as a function of depth in the oxide. The results are presented in the next section.

3.4 Oxidation state of nickel in the oxide of in-reactor corroded Zry-2

3.4.1 Metallic fraction via linear combination fit

The XANES spectra across the oxide layers of the BWR-corroded Zry-2 water rods were presented in the previous section. As mentioned in section 2.3.4 and section 2.3.5, XANES spectra of a mixture of the absorbing atoms are in principle the weighted average of the absorption signal from the different atoms and so the metallic *Ni* weight fraction can be accessed via linear combination fit of the measured data with reference standards [242], as done in previous studies [99, 100, 145, 262, 263]. Each individual spectrum was then fitted to a linear combination of the *Ni* reference standards (section 3-1) and the metallic fraction was computed at each location by summing the LCF weights of the metallic compounds (*fcc Ni* and *Ni* in Zry-2).

Examples of the linear combination fit at 3 different locations (metal, oxide near interface, far oxide) in sample 9-A using the 3 nickel oxide powders (NiO, $NiFe_2O_4$, and Ni_2O_3 , selection 1) are shown in Figure 3-19-(a), -(b) and -(c); and using Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 (selection 2) in Figure 3-19-(d), -(e), and -(f). The oxide standard Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 was used for the final as it more accurately represents the XANES signal arising from oxidized Ni atoms in Zry-2 oxide. As mentioned before, the standard consists of an average of 10 XANES spectra collected in the metal region of material 9. The linear combination fit was significantly improved in the

oxide layer with the use of Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 as illustrated below. The accuracy of the LCF is measured with the *R*-factor which is defined by:

$$R = \frac{\sum (\mu(E) - \mu_{fit}(E))^2}{\sum \mu^2(E)}$$

(Eq. 3-6)



where $\mu(E)$ represent the X-ray absorption data and $\mu_{fit}(E)$ the LCF result.

Figure 3-19: Nickel XANES linear combination fitting results for several points in material 9-A using the two metallic standards (fcc Ni, Ni in Zry-2) and either the three nickel powder oxides (selection 1, NiO, NiFe₂O₄, Ni₂O₃, left side plots) or Ni(II,III) in ZrO₂ (selection 2, right side plots). (a) 5.5 μ m into the metal, selection 1. (b) 0.25 μ m into the oxide, selection 1. (c) 21.5 μ m into the oxide, selection 2. (e) 0.25 μ m into the oxide, selection 2. (f) 21.5 μ m into the oxide, selection 2.

For all LCF plots in Figure 3-19, the XANES normalized data is represented by the black circles, the linear combination fit by the black line, and the weighted contributions from the nickel standards by the colored dotted lines. In the metal region ($x = -4 \mu m$), both selection of standards yielded the same LCF results (Figure 3-19-(a) and Figure 3-19-(d)) the XANES spectrum is better fitted with the standard *Ni* in Zry-2 with a very small input from *fcc Ni*, attributed to fitting error. This provides a metallic fraction of 1.0 at this location with a *R*-factor of 1.5×10^{-3} .

In the oxide near the metal interface ($x = 1.75 \ \mu m$), the XANES spectrum using the first selection of standards (Figure 3-19-(b)) is fitted with primary contributions from Ni in Zry-2 and NiO and secondary contributions from fcc Ni and $NiFe_2O_4$. The resulting metallic fraction is 0.57 and nickel is seen partially oxidized and the associated R-factor is 2.3×10^{-3} . Using the second selection of standards (Figure 3-19-(e)), the XANES spectrum in the oxide near the metal interface is fitted with contributions from all three standards: fcc Ni, Ni in Zry-2, and Ni(II, III) in ZrO_2 . The resulting metallic fraction is 0.61, slightly higher than the fraction obtained with the first selection of standards, but with reduced fitting error as $R = 5.5 \times 10^{-4}$. In the far oxide $(x = 23 \,\mu m)$, the XANES spectrum fit with the first selection (Figure 3-19-(c)) gives contributions from the oxide standards NiO and $NiFe_2O_4$ only, leading to the metallic fraction of 0.0 and so all the nickels atoms are oxidized. However, the accuracy of the fit is lower than in other regions ($R = 1.7 \times 10^{-2}$) as measurable errors are seen at the edge and post-edge energies due to the differences between the XANES signal from the powder samples and from the oxidized Ni in Zry-2 oxide which were discussed in the previous sections. Using the second selection of standards (Figure 3-19-(f)), the accuracy of the fit is significantly improved to R = 4.4×10^{-4} with contribution from Ni(II,III) in ZrO_2 only, resulting in the same metallic fraction $f_{metallic} = 0.0$ as the one determine with the first selection of standards. It is worth

mentioning that the results with the first selection of standards were unchanged when replacing the contribution from $NiFe_2O_4$ with the same contribution from Ni_2O_3 . For these reasons, the final LCF analysis was conducted using the second selection of standards: *fcc Ni*, *Ni* in Zry-2, and *Ni*(*II*, *III*) in ZrO₂.

The presented fitting method allows for quantitative analysis of the oxidation state of *Ni*. Each fit had a *R*-factor of less than 2.0×10^{-3} , expect in the outer region of the oxide where noisy spectra led to higher *R*-factors. The metallic fraction error associated with the LCF analysis was estimated considering two inputs:

$$e_f = \pm (e_0 + kR)$$

(Eq. 3-7)



where e_0 is a fixed value determined by accuracy of the pre-edge fit, and k an arbitrary constant multiplied by the *R*-factor of the fit to account for the edge and post-edge errors.

Figure 3-20: Metallic fraction error estimation with the example of Ni K-edge XANES spectra in the oxide of sample 9-A ($x = 1.7 \mu m$, $f_{metallic} = 0.225$). The linear combination fit (black line) of the XANES data (circle markers) is shown with the linear combination spectra of the standards where 0.05 metallic weight is added (blue dotted line) or subtracted (red dotted line) to the LCF results: (a) whole spectra; (b) region around the rising-edge feature.
A value of 2 for the constant k was determined by the author after analysis the spectra with large R-factors while the e_0 was estimated by varying the metallic fraction around the fit value as illustrated in Figure 3-20-(a) (whole energy range) and in Figure 3-20-(b) (pre-edge range) at a location in the oxide of material 9 near the metal interface. The data points are shown as black circles, the fit result as a black line, the over fit (increased metallic fraction) as a blue dotted line, and the under fit (decreased metallic fraction) as a red dotted line. It can be seen in Figure 3-20-(b) that a value of 0.05 (or 5%) for e_0 allows for all the data points to be in between the over and under fit in the pre-edge region. This observation was valid for all the XANES scan collected in this study, except in the outer region of the oxide where high levels of noise were present in the XANES data. Therefore, the metallic fraction error was estimated in this study by:

$$e_f = \pm (0.05 + 2R)$$
 (Eq. 3-8)

The metallic fractions as a function of distance from the oxide interface in the four materials are presented in Figure 3-21 and Figure 3-22. The metallic fraction obtained from the first round of *Ni* XANES scans (samples 9-A, 11-A, 12-A-1, and 14-A) are plotted across the entire oxide layer in Figure 3-21-(a) and across the near interface region of interest $[-5 \mu m; 15 \mu m]$ (ROI) in Figure 3-21-(b). Similarly, the metallic fraction for the second round of *Ni* XANES scans (samples 9-B, 11-B, 12-A-2, and 14-B) are plotted across the whole oxide layer and across the ROI $[-5 \mu m; 15 \mu m]$ in Figure 3-22-(a) and Figure 3-22-(b). The errors bars are shown on the different plots and were estimated as detailed previously in this section. The different features of the plots are described below.

Firstly, partial oxidation of nickel is observed for at least 3-5 μm in all materials for all scans. This delayed oxidation compared to the Zr host has been observed previously for nickel and iron [13, 99-101, 145, 147, 148, 151] and was attributed to Ni and Fe being more noble than the Zr host as detailed in section 1.3.4. Secondly, metallic nickel has been observed near the

oxide/water interface for some of the samples, though the XANES Ni scans are significantly noisy at these locations. Some metallic Ni is seen in the outmost region of the oxide layer for at least one of the two scans performed in each material (Figure 3-21-(a) and Figure 3-22-(a)), reaching values as high 0.75 in material 11 (high elevation, low high hydrogen pickup) but at most 0.15 in material 14 (high elevation, high hydrogen pickup). Therefore, this metallic nickel at the oxide/water interface does not seem to play a role in accelerating hydrogen pickup at high burnup and is attributed to CRUD deposits of Ni and Fe atoms from the corrosion of other structural materials in the reactor as further discussed later in this section.



Figure 3-21: Metallic Ni weight fraction as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface for the first scan in each of the materials (9-A, 11-A, 12-A-1, 14-A): (a) over the whole oxide thickness range; (b) over the ROI [-5μ m; 15 μ m] near the interface.



Figure 3-22: Metallic Ni weight fraction as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface for the second scan in each of the materials (9-B, 11-B, 12-A-2, 14-B): (a) over the whole oxide thickness range; (b) over the ROI $[-5\mu m; 15\mu m]$ near the interface.

For material 9 (low elevation, low hydrogen pickup, light blue square markers) and material 12 (low elevation, high hydrogen pickup, orange circle markers) as well as for the second scan in material 11 (high elevation, low hydrogen pickup, dark blue square markers), nickel atoms are fully oxidized after a continuous decrease for $3-5 \mu m$ in the oxide past the metal/oxide interface. Then, nickel atoms remain fully oxidized for the rest of the oxide layer. Results from these materials are identical to those obtained by Shivprasad in the low hydrogen pickup Zry-2 water rods (materials 10 and 17 in [91]).

For material 14 (high elevation, high hydrogen pickup, red circle markers), a plateau at about 0.3-0.4 metallic fraction is present in the oxide regions $[2 \ \mu m; 9 \ \mu m]$ and $[3 \ \mu m; 11 \ \mu m]$ past the metal/oxide interface in sample 14-A and 14-B respectively. This remaining metallic fraction was observed for the high hydrogen pickup Zry-2 water rods in the previous study

(materials 13 and 21 in [91]). This remaining metallic fraction was hypothesized to cause the increase of H pickup in these materials. This interpretation is further discussed in chapter 5.

Surprisingly, in the first scan collected in material 11 (high elevation, low hydrogen pickup, dark blue square markers) shown in Figure 3-21-(a) (sample 11-A), a plateau at about 0.6-0.7 metallic fraction is seen in the near oxide region $[0 \ \mu m; 3 \ \mu m]$ just past the metal/oxide interface. This observation is unique to the *Ni* XANES scans collected in the BWR-corroded Zry-2 materials in this study and in Shivprasad's work [91]. This plateau of metallic nickel differs from that of high hydrogen pickup materials by its metallic fraction value (0.6-0.7 compared to 0.3-0.4) and shorter range (about $4 \ \mu m$ compared to 7-10 $\ \mu m$). Because the hydrogen pickup fraction of this materials was low (*HPUF* = 13.4%, Table 2-1), this remaining metallic nickel atoms in the oxide layer of sample 11-A did not influence the hydrogen uptake in this material (*HPUF* = 13.4%, Table 2-1). This observation is further discussed in the next section where the XANES metallic nickel signal arising from the oxide of the different materials is further investigated, and in chapter 5.

Lastly, high *Ni* metallic fractions were observed at the oxide/water interface of some of the Zry-2 samples examined (9-A, 11-A, 12-A in Figure 3-21-(a) and Figure 3-22-(a). As mentioned above, because the observation was seen to a much lesser extent in material 14 (red circles in FIGURE 3-21-(a) and Figure 3-22-(a)) which had the highest content of hydrogen, these metallic *Ni* atoms at the oxide/water interface are not believed to affect the hydrogen pickup of the material. Examinations of the fluorescence signal of *Fe*, *Ni* and *Zr* (at E = 20 keV) revealed higher counts for *Fe* and to a lesser extent for *Ni* at the oxide/water interface as seen in Figure 3-23 at the XANES locations in samples 9-A, 11-A, 12-A-1, and 14-A. The higher counts for *Fe* and *Ni* were identified as resulting from CRUD (Chalk River Unknown Deposits) released in the water by the oxidation of the stainless steel and absorbed at the oxide surfaces of the water rods. CRUD have been seen extensively on cladding layers as seen in [220, 316] where a CRUD layer a few μm thick is distinctively observed at the oxide/water interface of the high burnup Zry-2 cladding materials. Because the deposition rate increases with heat flux in the material [319], thick CRUD layers are seen on Zry-2 cladding whereas on Zry-2 water rod, the deposition results in increased alloying element (*Fe*, *Ni* and others) concentrations at the oxide/water interface after long exposure in the reactor environment. Similarly, increased concentrations of *Fe* were observed near the oxide surface of ZIRLO and *Zr-Nb* alloys corroded in stainless steel autoclave [89].



Figure 3-23: Fluorescence counts of Zr (blue), Fe (red) and Ni (green) as a function of distance from the M/O interface at the location of the XANES measurements for samples (a) 9-A, (b) 11-A, (c) 12-A-1, (d) 14-A.

3.4.2 Metallic Ni features in low and high hydrogen pickup samples

In this section, we investigate the metallic nickel signal observed in the near oxide of samples 11-A, 14-A, and 14-B. In Figure 3-24, the metallic fraction and metallic standards (*fcc Ni* and *Ni* in Zry-2) weight fractions from the LCF analysis are plotted across the region $[-5 \mu m; 15 \mu m]$ of oxide for materials 11-A, 14-A, 14-B, and 9-A. The metallic fractions across the oxide of sample 9-A are representative of the samples where no metallic nickel was observed past 3-5 μm of oxide (the metallic weight fractions in the oxide of samples 9-B, 11-B, and 12-A followed the trends seen across the oxide of sample 9-A in Figure 3-24-(b)).



Figure 3-24: Metallic Ni (markers) and metallic Ni standards (f cc Ni, dashed line; Ni in Zry-2, dotted line) weight fractions in the near oxide region $[-5 \ \mu m; 15 \ \mu m]$ *resulting from the linear combination of the XANES spectra. (a) Sample 11-A; (b) 9-A; (c) 14-A; (d) 14-B.*

For all materials, the metallic fraction in the metal region is fitted with the standard Ni in Zry-2 as detailed in section 3.3 (and seen in Figure 3-19). Once entering the oxide layer, the weight fraction of Ni in Zry-2 sharply decreases. At about 3 μm past the metal/oxide interface in the oxide of sample 9-A, 14-A, and 14-B ((b), (c) and (d) in Figure 3-24), there is no more contributions from the metallic standard Ni in Zry-2. For sample 9-A, some *fcc Ni* contributions are seen in the near oxide layer ([$-1 \mu m$; 3 μm]). Interestingly, in the high hydrogen pickup material (samples 14-A and 14-B in Figure 3-24-(c) and Figure 3-24-(d) respectively), the weight fraction of *fcc Ni* increases strongly past the interface to reach a plateau at about 0.3 which is maintained until full oxide of the Ni atoms is seen at about 14 μm of oxide. As such, the XANES signal attributed to metallic nickel in the oxide layer of material 14 correspond to that of the *fcc Ni* standard, rather the Ni in Zry-2 standard. In contrast, the metallic fraction plateau seen at 0.6-0.7 in the near oxide of sample 11-A (Figure 3-24-(a)) correspond to a plateau of Ni in Zry-2 weight fraction at about 0.5 while the *fcc Ni* contributions are similar to that in the oxide of sample 9-A but extended over a larger oxide region [$-1.5 \mu m$; 9 μm].

These observations can be interpreted in terms of nickel atoms bonded to zirconium atoms. In sample 11-A (low hydrogen pickup), the significant metallic fraction in the near oxide is thought to represent mainly metallic nickel atoms still bonded to metallic zirconium atoms (Ni in Zry-2) whereas in material 14 (high hydrogen pickup), the remaining metallic fraction corresponds to metallic nickel atoms no longer bonded to metallic Zr atoms but rather Ni atoms. Indeed, the rising-edge feature typical of the Ni-Zr bonds is a sharp rising-edge feature as seen in the XANES K-edge spectrum of Ni in Zry-2 (Figure 3-5), distinct from the diffuse rising-edge of fcc Ni. Therefore, the metallic Ni XANES signal in the oxide layer of sample 11-A is not originating from metallic nickel in the oxide, but rather from metallic nickel still bonded to metallic Zr atoms, suggesting the presence of a metal region. This metal region would reflect the

non-uniformity of the oxide and of the metal/oxide interface as described in section 3.2. On the other hand, the metallic signal in the oxide layer of the high hydrogen pickup material – material 14 in Figure 3-24-(c) and Figure 3-24-(d) – corresponds to fcc Ni, indicating that the metallic Ni atoms are no longer bonded to Zr atoms. In a study of the XANES signal of the short-range of Ni nanoparticles embedded in carbonacoues matrix, Nietubyc [310] was able to measure XANES spectra of the dopant (Ni) nanoclusters which were similar to that of fcc Ni foil (Figure 3-5) with lower post-edge oscillations. The remaining metallic fraction in the oxide layer of material 14 would then correspond to nanoclusters of metallic Ni embedded in the zirconia matrix. The metallic nickel atoms in the near oxide layer affecting hydrogen uptake are then located in solid solution or in small clusters in the oxide layer, rather than in second phase precipitates. Though not shown here, the remaining metallic Ni XANES signal in the oxide of materials 13 and 21 studied by Shivprasad [91] also featured the fcc Ni standard, corroborating the observations in the oxide of material 14. These interpretations of the metallic XANES signal in the oxide layer of the Zry-2 water rods and the implications in terms of hydrogen pickup are further discussed in chapter 5. In the next section, the edge energies as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface are investigated.

3.4.3 Oxidation state calculation using edge energy

As illustrated in Figure 2-7 and Figure 3-2-(a) with the examples of iron and chromium, the oxidation state of the element of interest (nickel) may be assessed by the position of the edge energies (inflation point) of the XANES. This approach has been used by researchers in the past [99, 254, 320-322] to determine the oxidation state of the element of interest in different compounds using reference metallic and oxidized standards. As the atom gets more oxidized, it loses electrons in its inner shells resulting in less shielding of the nucleus. The binding energy for

the remaining electrons is slightly increased and in turn the energy needed for the photons to eject the core-electrons is raised (as described in section 2.3.2) [240, 242, 254, 293]. However, it was discussed in section 3.1 that the XANES edge energy may be influenced by the structural configuration around the element of interest, namely the interatomic distances in the crystal structures as illustrated in Kuzmin's work [301] with Mn substituting in ZnO. The edge energy for the Ni(III) oxide considered in this study (Ni_2O_3) was seen only 0.5 eV and 1.0 eV higher than that of the other two Ni(II) oxides (NiO and $NiFe_2O_4$) as seen in Table 3-1. This slight shift in edge energy for Ni as the oxidation state increases from 2 + to 3 + close to the energy resolution (0.5 eV at beamline 34-ID-E) limits the possibility to accurately measure the oxidation state of the Ni atoms in the oxide. Mansour et al. [323] was able to correlate the edge energy (determined as the edge half maximum energy instead of the inflation point) to the oxidation state (from 0 to 4 +) in different nickel oxycompounds. However, this approach did not yield the same correlation with the nickel oxides considered in this study as the half edge maximum for $NiFe_2O_4$ (Ni^{2+}) was seen 1.0 eV higher than that of Ni_2O_3 . Therefore, the inflation point method was maintained for the edge energy analysis. Shifts in edge energy are then attributed to a combined effect of the shielding of the nucleus due to oxidation and of the local environment (namely the bond length and coordination) in the different nickel compounds. Considering both effects, we now investigate the evolution of the edge energy (inflation point) across the oxide layers of the Zry-2 water rods.

The edge energies measured as the maximum of the spectra derivative (the inflection point) and calibrated to the edge energy $E_0 = 8333 \ eV$ for metallic nickel (*fcc Ni* foil in section 3.1) are presented for all BWR Zry-2 water rod samples in Figure 3-25-(a) for the first round of scans and Figure 3-25-(b) for the second round of scans in the materials. The edge energy range of the nickel standards ($\pm 0.5 \ eV$ in Table 3-1) for the different oxidation states considered (0, 2 + and 3 +) are also plotted for comparison.

It can be seen in Figure 3-25 for all samples except 11-A that within $1 \mu m$ in the oxide, the edge energy jumps from the metallic nickel (Ni^0) range (around $E - E_0 = 0 eV$) to the nickel (II, or 2+) and nickel (III, or 3+) range to reach the average value of $E - E_0 = 13.5 eV \pm 1.5 eV$ for the first round of scan (a) and $E - E_0 = 13.5 eV \pm 1 eV$ for the second round of scan.



Figure 3-25:Ni XANES edge energies across the oxide layers of: (a) 9-A, 11-A, 12-A-1 and 14-A; (b) 9-B, 11-B, 12-A-2, 14-B. Boxed regions show the edge position ± 0.5 eV of the standard materials with their corresponding valence (TABLE 3-1).

The lower edge energy variations seen for all samples during the second round of scan (Figure 3-25-(b)) were attributed to improved experimental setup (mainly by bringing the X-ray detector closer to the samples) which slightly reduced noise in the XANES spectra compared to the data collected during the first round of experiment. Shivprasad, who observed similar edge

energy trends on Zry-2 irradiated and unirradiated materials [91], suggested that the oxidation state of nickel increases at first in the few μm of oxide (closer to 2 + right after the jump) and quickly converges to a higher oxidation state (between 2 + and 3 +). Considering the discussions mentioned above and detailed in section 3.1, the author believes that the initial jump is due to the oxidation of *Ni* to a 2 + state in solid solution in zirconia [151], then as oxygen partial pressure increases in the oxide layer, nickel atoms may oxidize further to Ni^{3+} as suggested by DFT calculations [153]. The later shift to higher edge (on average 0.5 *eV* above the Ni_2O_3 edge) is attributed to the shorter interatomic distances (measured with EXAFS by Kuri *et al.* [151]). between the oxidized *Ni* atoms and the *O* atoms in ZrO_2 compared to the bond lengths in the nickel oxides, modifying the XANES shape as seen for *Mn* in *ZnO* by Kuzmin *et al.* [301]. Because of the combined effect of the oxidation state and of the bond length on the edge energy, and the similarities between the XANES spectra of the nickel oxide powder standards considered in this study, it was not possible to quantify the fraction of Ni^{2+} and of Ni^{3+} the oxide but only the fraction of oxidized nickel atoms.

Lastly, it can be seen in Figure 3-25-(a) that the jump only occurs at about 3 μm in the oxide of sample 11-A before it follows the trend of the other materials for the rest of the oxide. This delayed jump is consistent with the high metallic fraction observed in Figure 3-21 and the jump position corroborates the depth at which the fraction of metallic nickel in the oxide decreases below 0.5 ($\pm 0.5 \mu m$), a correlation seen as well in the other materials. The edge jump position is then a good indicator of the depth at which oxidized nickels become dominant in the mixture of nickel atoms. Coherently to this observation, the edge energy is not affected when the metallic is at about 0.3 – 0.4 for samples 14-A and 14-B (Figure 3-21 and 3-22). Therefore, LCF analysis was necessary to detect the lower fraction of metallic nickel remaining in the oxide of material 14.

3.5 Conclusions on XANES examinations of in-reactor corroded Zry-2

In this chapter, we presented the results of the in-depth oxidation state analysis of nickel across the oxide layers of BWR-corroded Zry-2 water rod materials with low and high hydrogen pickup using K-edge XANES with synchrotron radiation. Additionally, SEM images of the cross-section samples were acquired at PNNL and at Penn State. In previous work [91], high hydrogen content in the water rod was correlated to the presence of metallic nickel up to $10-15 \,\mu m$ oxide past the metal/oxide interface and a focused set of high and low hydrogen materials was then selected for characterization at the APS (ANL) to further investigate this relationship. While this hypothesis is discussed in detail in chapter 5, the main observations of the XANES and SEM experiments are gathered below:

- (1) Many cracks were seen in the oxide layers of the Zry-2 water rods selected, with slightly more cracking observed in the high HPUF/high elevation samples. The oxide layers were rather uniform but extensive oxide thickness variations could be observed between different regions for all the materials, especially regions in the inner oxide layers of the samples prepared for this study. Examinations of the GNF water rods by EPRI confirmed circumferential variations of the oxide thickness in both the inner and outer parts of the two rods. These variations may result from the differences in coolant flow, steam quality, irradiation flux and SPP distributions in the water rods, as well as the proximity to other structural materials in the reactor. These observations are coherent with previous examinations of Zry-2 oxide layers formed in BWRs.
- (2) Full oxidation of nickel is reach within the first 3-5 μm and continues throughout the oxide layers of the low HPUF materials (both scans in material 9 low elevation and the second scan in material 11 high elevation) and of the high HPUF and low

elevation material (material 12, both scans). This delayed oxidation compared to the Zr host is attributed to the higher noble property of the Ni atoms compared to the Zr host, as reported in previous work.

- (3) In the oxide of material 14 (high elevation and high HPUF), after initial oxidation of nickel in the first few μm of oxide, a plateau at about 0.3-0.4 metallic fraction is present in the regions [2 μm; 9 μm] and [3 μm; 11 μm] past the metal/oxide interface (samples 14-A and 14-B respectively), followed by full oxidation throughout the rest of the oxide layer; as measured in previous work in the oxide layers of high hydrogen pickup Zry-2 materials.
- (4) The first scan across the oxide of material 11 (low HPUF, high elevation) contained a plateau at about 0.6-0.7 metallic fraction in the region $[0 \ \mu m; 3 \ \mu m]$ past the metal/oxide interface. Oxidation of the nickel atoms ensues until full oxidation is reached at about $8 10 \ \mu m$ and unchanged up to the oxide/water interface. Examining the standard weight fractions resulting from the LCF, the metallic nickel XANES signal in the near oxide region corresponded to that of *Ni* in Zry-2, rather than that of *fcc Ni*. This observation suggests that the nickel atoms are still bonded to the zirconium host while in high percentage metallic, hence the metallic plateau was attributed to an underneath metal region.
- (5) On the other hand, the metallic signal measured in the oxide layers of the high HPUF samples at high elevation (Mat. 14) corresponded to that of *fcc Ni*, indicating that the metallic nickel atoms are no longer bonded to zirconium atoms, i.e. in solid solution or small clusters in the oxide layer, rather than in precipitates.
- (6) Analysis of the edge energies defined as the inflation point of the XANES spectrum across the oxide layer formed on the Zry-2 water rods exposed no clear differences in terms of elevation, hydrogen pickup or time in the reactor. A jump of about 11 eV

is observed at about $0.5 \ \mu m$ ($\pm 0.5 \ \mu m$) in all materials, except for sample 11-A where the jump occurred at $3 \ \mu m$. These jump locations were corroborated to the points at which oxidized nickels become dominant ($f_{metallic} < 0.5$). The edge energies then quickly shift to higher energies at about $13 \ eV$ above the metallic nickel edge energy for the rest of the oxide layer. This edge shift is slightly higher than that observed for the Ni(II) and Ni(III) oxides standard considered in this study but may reflect differences in local environment rather than a higher oxidation state (> 2 +) of the nickel atoms in the oxide layer of Zry-2.

(7) Metallic nickel atoms have been observed in the oxide layer near the oxide/water interface for some of the samples examined. A significant metallic fraction was seen at the oxide/water interface in at least one of the two XANES scans of materials 9, 11 and 12, with the highest metallic fraction (0.75 or 75%) measured in the low HPUF/high elevation material (Mat. 11), but only a small metallic fraction was seen at the oxide/water interface of material 14 (highest hydrogen content material). This observation indicates that metallic nickel atoms at the oxide/water interface do not seem to have played a determinant role in the enhancement of hydrogen uptake in the Zry-2 examined. This metallic nickel is attributed to deposits of *Ni* and *Fe* atoms from the corrosion of other structural materials in the reactor, as observed in previous studies. This hypothesis is confirmed by the increased fluorescence counts of the elements (especially *Fe*) near the outmost region of the oxide.

Chapter 4

Microstructure of the oxides of BWR Zry-2 water rods with XRD

Zircaloy-2 water rods corroded in BWR for 3 to 4 cycles were analyzed using microbeam X-ray diffraction at beamline 34-ID-E at the APS (ANL), as described in section 2.4. The examinations were performed across the oxide layers of samples 9-B, 11-B, 12-A, and 14-B at the location of the XANES scans presented in the previous chapter (Figures 3-9, 3-11, 3-13, 3-14) during the second round of measurements. The Ni metallic fraction as a function of oxide depth corresponding to these locations were presented in Figure 3-21. In turn, the microstructure of the oxide layer and of the metal near interface was investigated for each of the materials in Table 2-1 and compared to the measured Ni metallic fraction. The phase content, texture, and grain sizes in the Zry-2 oxides were examined in terms of hydrogen pickup, fluence, elevation, and Ni oxidation state in the oxide. Previous work by Shivprasad [91] suggested a lower tetragonal fraction in the near oxide of high hydrogen pickup materials. Additionally, the size and the crystallographic orientation of oxide grains that form on zirconium alloys have been observed to affect the diffusion of species through the oxides [93, 144, 324]. All four XRD patterns were collected in reflection as detailed in section 2.4.3 and the results are presented in this chapter. Section 4.1 gathers information on diffraction pattern indexing, on background levels in oxide and metal, and on the general observations of the XRD patterns across the oxide layers of the materials. In section 4.2, we present the results of the PEAKFIT analysis of the integrated XRD patterns as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface, including the peak intensities of crystal planes in the different phases identified in the samples, and the resulting volume fraction of t-ZrO₂ and oxide grain sizes. Section 4.3 contains the analysis of the preferred orientation in the metal and in the oxide layers, and section 4.4 concludes the microstructure observations with XRD in low and high HPUF Zry-2 materials corroded in BWR.

4.1 Analysis of diffraction patterns from Zry-2 water rods

4.1.1 Indexing of X-ray diffraction patterns from metal and oxide regions

The four water rod materials with low (9, 11) and high (12, 14) hydrogen pickup were investigated using microbeam XRD at the location of the XANES scan presented in the previous chapter (samples 9-B, 11-B, 12-A-2 and 14-B with the resulting metallic fraction shown in Figure 3-21 as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface). The X-ray diffraction patterns were obtained across the oxide layer of the cross-section samples (Figures 2-1, 2-2, 2-3) as illustrated in Figure 2-17. The XRD patterns in the metal, in the oxide near interface, and in the far oxide of sample 11-B are shown in Figure 3-1, Figure 3-2 and Figure 3-3 respectively. The reflections at various diffraction angles (θ) were successfully attributed to crystal planes of hexagonal close compact α -Zr (shown with dark blue arrows in Figures 3-1 and 3-2), cubic δ -ZrH_{1.66} (light blue arrows in Figure 3-1), monoclinic ZrO₂ (red arrows in Figures 3-2 and 3-3), and tetragonal ZrO₂ (light red arrow in Figure 3-2) using the powder diffraction files (PDFs) available in Appendix A. These four phases are typical of Zr alloys and oxides and were previously observed in many XRD studies of Zr alloys [52, 91, 125, 325, 326].

No reflections associated with sub-oxide phases or oxygen bearing Zr (i.e. ZrO_x -type or ω -Zr observed in autoclave Zr-alloys [77, 327]) were detected in the in-reactor corroded Zry-2 (3 to 4 cycles) water rods, coherent with previous XRD of irradiated Zry-2 materials [91, 325] where no suboxide was seen using a synchrotron microbeam. APT measurements by Sundell *et al.* [233] revealed only a very thin suboxide layer of about 50 *nm* in a high burnup Zry-2 material which suggests that the oxide layer is too thin in the in-pile materials to be detected with microbeam XRD. Chollet *et al.* suggested that the diffusion of *O* in *Zr* alloys is enhanced by irradiation, supported by traces of suboxide phases in non-irradiated Zry-2 channel material

[325]. However the thickness of this non-stochiometric oxide layer is highly dependent on the Zr alloy composition as suboxides as thick as 3-4 μm were seen near the metal/oxide interface of inreactor corroded Zr-2.5%Nb alloys [328].

While investigating the near oxide layer of material 14 where metallic nickel was seen in the oxide up to $12 \,\mu m$ from the metal/oxide interface (Figure 3-21, sample 14-B), it was not possible to detect *fcc Ni* peaks in the XRD patterns at these locations. The main peak of *fcc Ni*, (111), overlaps with the peaks (211) and ($\overline{2}02$) of m- ZrO_2 , which makes it challenging to detect due to the low concentration of *Ni* in Zry-2. Additionally, APT results [329] indicated no significant clustering of *Ni* in the oxide layer of high HPUF Zry-2 materials, suggesting no formation of *fcc Ni*. The location of the remaining metallic nickel atoms in the oxide layer of material 14 is further discussed in the next chapter.

The experiment setup at beamline 34-ID-E of the APS (ANL) allowed a 2θ range of [15-50°] with an azimuthal range of about 100° at low 2θ , and up to 120° at high 2θ . The energy of the beamline was set at 8.5 *keV* to scan a similar volume at each point across the metal and oxide layers than during the XANES measurements ($E \sim 8.4 \text{ keV}$). At this energy, the 2θ angles corresponding to the high intensity diffraction peaks of the phases of interest (α -Zr, δ -ZrH, m- ZrO_2 , and t- ZrO_2) are located between 25° and 35°. The large azimuthal range allowed for an analysis of the tetragonal fraction without correction, except for materials 9 and 12 who suffered from being too close to the sample holder edge during the experiment. This issue reduced the azimuthal of the XRD pattern when examining these samples, especially at low diffraction angles and a correction factor was estimated to input the tetragonal fraction for these materials as further discussed in the next sections. However, the azimuthal range was wide enough for analysis of the texture and of the grain sizes in all of the samples. Additionally, a rectangular shadow near the vertical azimuthal angle was observed in all the XRD patterns collected from the different materials and is attributed to the XRD experimental setup, without clear identification of its origin. It was observed to slightly lower the intensity in this region for all patterns and therefore was overlooked during the XRD analysis.



Figure 4-1: X-ray diffraction pattern in the metal region of material 11 (10 µm from the metal/oxide interface).

As mentioned above, four phases were identified using the XRD patterns in the metal and oxide of the Zry-2 water rods: α -Zr, δ -ZrH, m-ZrO₂ and t-ZrO₂. Clear differences can be seen in the 2D patterns in Figures 4-1, 4-2, 4-3 between the metallic and oxide regions and these differences highlight the main characteristics of the metallic and oxide grains. Starting with the metallic phase, the main reflections for α -Zr correspond to the (1010) and (1011) crystal planes in the hexagonal crystal structures – also labeled as (100) and (101) reflections in other studies – and are defined by incomplete low intensity arcs and high intensity diffraction spots. The diffraction spots originate from the micrometric grains of the bulk which are larger than the beam size as observed in many studies before [52, 89, 91, 325, 330].



Figure 4-2: X-ray diffraction pattern in the near oxide region of material 11 (2.25 µm from the metal/oxide interface.



Figure 4-3: X-ray diffraction pattern in the far oxide region of material 11 (25.75 µm from the metal/oxide interface.

For the hydride phase (δ -ZrH_{1.66}), the main XRD peak corresponds to the (111) set of planes, and a secondary peak (200) was seen at some locations in the metal regions of the samples (as seen in Figure 4-1). Hydrides in Zry-2 and Zry-4 at concentrations 300-600 wt.ppm are dominantly in the non-stochimetric $fcc \ \delta - ZrH_2$ phase with a typical ratio of 1.66 [331]. For simplicity, δ - $ZrH_{1.66}$ is labeled as δ -ZrH in this study and was observed in the metal region of all materials, with significant spatial variations. The reflections are typically localized, even point like for the (200) signal in Figure 4-1, suggesting micrometric hydrides with preferred orientation in the metal region. The presence of hydride in these materials is coherent with their hydrogen concentration (200 - 1700 wt. ppm), orders of magnitude higher than the terminal solid solubility for precipitation (TSSp) of H in Zr at room temperature (0.13 wt. ppm) [164]. No other hydride phases (γ - or ϵ -ZrH) were detected in the 2D XRD patterns collected in both the low H pickup (250 wt.ppm and 329 wt.ppm) and high H pickup (600 wt.ppm and 1721 wt.ppm) materials, which suggests that at high H content (above 600 wt.ppm to 1800 wt.ppm), hydrides in Zr alloys are still mostly the δ -ZrH types, as predicted by the Zr-H phase diagram (Figure 1-16). Shivprasad [91] had observed traces of ϵ -ZrH in some of the Zry-2 water rod materials but this could not be confirmed in this study. However, local variations in hydride concentrations and the overlap of δ -ZrH and ϵ -ZrH reflections complicate the detection of ϵ -ZrH in these materials.

On the other hand, the oxide layer is composed mainly of fine (nanometric) monoclinic oxide grains identified by the limited circles or arcs at the diffraction angles of the crystal planes (Figure 4-2 and Figure 4-3). Fine oxide grains between 20-50 nm in size have been observed in many TEM and XRD studies of the oxide layers of Zr alloys [52, 89, 91, 325]. The high intensity reflections for m-ZrO₂ are from the ($\overline{1}11$) and (111) crystal planes and reveal preferred orientation of the oxide grains as the arc intensity varies along the azimuthal range of the 2-D

patterns. These two reflections are used for calculation of the tetragonal fraction in the oxide using the Garvie-Nicholson formula (Eq. 2-7). Additionally, preferred orientation is further investigated with the intensities of the main diffraction peaks of the metal and oxide phases, with as special focus on the (200) family of monoclinic crystal planes - (200), (020), and (002) m- ZrO_2 – and is the topic of section 4.3 later in this chapter. Lastly, small fraction of tetragonal ZrO_2 near the metal oxide interface have been identified with the maximum intensity (101) peak in all of the materials (shown in Figure 4-2 for material 11) and was used to compute the tetragonal volume fraction in these locations. The tetragonal fraction has been related to oxidation kinetics and hydrogen pickup [91, 332] and is further investigated in section 4.2.2. (002) reflection for $t-ZrO_2$ has been observed in other studies but it overlaps with the (200) $m-ZrO_2$ reflections. Because the (101) intensity was so low in our materials already, it was not possible to deconvolute (200) t- ZrO_2 peak from the (200) m- ZrO_2 . Preferred orientations of the tetragonal grains are reported in literature [52, 89, 91, 325] but could not be investigated in this study as the signal was too low, and only the tetragonal volume fraction using the (101) t-ZrO₂ reflection was investigated. As mentioned in chapter 1, the tetragonal phase is not expected at the temperatures and pressures of the reactor based on the Zr-0 phase diagram (Figure 1-9) but is stabilized in the oxide layers of Zr alloys by small crystallite sizes, alloying elements, oxygen vacancies and compressive stresses [86-89, 333]. Hence it is mostly located near the metal/oxide interface where the oxide crystallites start nucleating and the compressive stresses are maximized.

The 2D XRD patterns shown in Figures 4-1, 4-2, and 4-3 were then integrated along the azimuthal range with DIOPTAS software and further processed with PEAKFIT program as presented in section 2.4.4. For all four samples, background was fitted and removed, and all peaks were identified and fitted to obtain the centroids, areas, and widths of the crystal planes reflections. The indexed 2θ plots (normalized to the maximum intensity) corresponding to the 2D patterns in the metal, in the near oxide and in the far oxide of material 11 (shown in Figure 4-1, 4-

2 and 4-3 respectively) are compared in Figure 4-4. The diffraction peaks correspond to four phases identified in the oxide - α -*Zr*, δ -*ZrH*, *m*-*ZrO*₂, and *t*-*ZrO*₂ – as described above. The crystal plane indices, the PDFs *d*-spacings and intensities, and the peak centroids from the XRD patterns (average over the full metal and oxide regions) are shown for all materials in Table 4-1, while the 2 θ differences with the PDF values at *E* = 8.5 *keV* are gathered in Table 4-2.



Figure 4-4: Integrated X-ray diffraction patterns in the three regions of material 11 presented above: metal region (blue dashed line); near oxide region (orange line); far oxide region (red dotted line). XRD patterns have been processed with DIOPTAS as presented in SECTION 2.4.4.

In the metal XRD pattern (dashed blue line) in Figure 4-4, it can be seen that the intensity of the (0002) α -Zr crystal plane is much lower than that of (1010), while their PDF intensities are similar: 33% and 32% of (1011) intensity. This discrepancy in intensity reflects the preferred orientations of the metal grains [23, 116] and is further discussed in section 4.3. The main peak for tetragonal zirconia (101) and for the delta hydride (111) can be on each side of the (1010) reflection in the bulk metal pattern. The rest of the reflections are attributed to the monoclinic ZrO_2 grains as labelled. Similar to the metal reflections, the differences in intensity between the XRD peaks in the near oxide (orange line) and in the far oxide (red dotted line) indicate preferred orientation of the nanometric oxide grains. Moreover, it can be seen that the monoclinic reflections in the near oxide are broader than in the far oxide. Broadening of the XRD peaks originates from the grain growth as the oxide thickness increases so that the grains in the far oxide are bigger than the grains near the metal/oxide interface, as further investigated in section 4.2.3. It should be noted that non-uniform stresses in the oxide may increase broadening of the peak as well [89] but it is generally accepted that stresses are in-plane near the oxide/metal interface in the oxide layers of Zr alloys [87]. Additionally, the increase of monoclinic grain sizes in the oxide layers was observed by TEM [89] suggesting that peak narrowing in the far oxide is mainly due to grain growth. Therefore, peak broadening was assumed to result from grain growth and from instrumental broadening only in this study, considering the stresses to be uniform in the regions investigated.

The integrated 1D 2θ plots were then fitted with the identified peaks and the resulting centroid (averaged over the whole oxide thickness) are compared to the PDF diffraction angles in Table 4-1, while the *d*-spacing differences ($\Delta d/d$) are gathered in Table 4-2. The crystal planes for which no centroid was used during the fit are identified with *NA* in the tables. As such, the first two low intensity monoclinic peaks – (110) and (011) – were not seen in the diffraction patterns of materials 9 and 12. As mentioned before and further detailed in the next section, the sample holder edge was closer for these two materials so that the 2θ range was shortened, and no signal was collected at these diffraction angles (22.75° and 23.12° respectively). All of the measured centroids are close to the PDF values ($\Delta 2\theta < 0.2^{\circ}$) except for the tetragonal peak (101) located about 0.5° above its literature value in all of the materials. This shift to higher diffraction angles has been observed in previous work [52, 89, 91, 120, 236, 325] and has been hypothesized

to result from the high compressive stresses [86, 325, 333]. In an extensive study of the existence of t- ZrO_2 by Liao *et al.* [87], the authors argue that in order to stabilize t- ZrO_2 at reactor and room temperatures, a deviation of t- ZrO_2 from its normal state must exist. The deviation can consist of the presence of compressive stress, but also of alloying elements or oxygen vacancies doping, or of very fine crystallite sizes, which will commonly lead to variations in lattice parameters. Therefore, the shift to higher diffraction angles for the tetragonal reflection is inherent to the metastability of t- ZrO_2 in the monoclinic oxide layer of Zr alloys.

Investigating the (111) δ -*ZrH* centroids, a shift to higher diffraction angle is seen in all materials (0.3° to 0.17°) suggesting a systematic decrease of the hydrides crystal plane *d*-spacing (negative values in Table 4-2). This smaller *d*-spacing may reflect the presence of compressive stresses in the metal near interface as reported in previous studies [89, 91, 325]. Additionally, the tendencies of the (200) family (*m*-*ZrO*₂) are seen consistent in all materials with lower *d*-spacings for the (200) and (002) planes and a larger *d*-spacing for (020) planes. Therefore, (200) and (002) planes are under tensile stresses in the oxide layer while the (020) planes are in compression. In section 3.4, it is observed that the (200) direction is somewhat aligned with the oxide growth direction. Because $\beta = 99.53^{\circ}$ in monoclinic zirconia, compressive stresses parallel to the metal/oxide interface applied on the aligned oxide grains squeeze the (020) crystal planes while the (200) - and (002) to a lesser extent - *d*-spacing increases. As the values are average of the whole oxide layer, these crystal plane *d*-spacing differences suggest that residual stresses are present throughout the whole oxide layer in these materials.

Lastly, no clear differences could be drawn from the analysis of the averaged XRD peak centroids in terms of hydrogen pickup, fluence, elevation or time in the reactor. Therefore, macroscopic stresses are likely not responsible for the enhancement of hydrogen pickup during the additional cycle in the reactors.

Table 4-1: Peak centroids of the Zry-2 metal and oxide phases from the data collected in the low (Mat. 9 - low elevation; Mat. 11 - high elevation) and high (Mat. 12 - low elevation; Mat. 14 - high elevation) hydrogen pickup materials and from the Powder Diffraction Files. XRD beam energy was set at 8.5 keV at beamline 32-ID-E of the APS (ANL). Peak centroids in the materials were averaged over the metal and oxide regions scanned.

Phase	(hkl)	d-spacing	Intensities	Intensities 2θ [°]					
		PDF [Å]	PDF	PDF	Mat.	Mat.	Mat.	Mat.	
m - ZrO_2	(110)	3.698	14%	22.75	9 NA	22.77	NA	14 22.77	
m-ZrO ₂	(011)	3.639	10%	23.12	NA	23.17	NA	23.15	
m - ZrO_2	(111)	3.165	100%	26.65	26.64	26.65	26.63	26.64	
t-ZrO ₂	(101)	2.995	100%	28.19	28.69	28.64	28.64	28.63	
m-ZrO ₂	(111)	2.841	68%	29.75	29.77	29.78	29.73	29.75	
α-Zr	(1010)	2.798	33%	30.22	30.26	30.26	30.21	30.25	
δ-ZrH	(111)	2.761	100%	30.64	30.81	30.76	30.67	30.73	
m - ZrO_2	(200)	2.623	21%	32.29	32.21	32.22	32.18	32.20	
m - ZrO_2	(020)	2.606	11%	32.50	32.59	32.61	32.56	32.59	
α-Zr	(0002)	2.573	32%	32.93	32.91	32.88	32.88	32.91	
m-ZrO ₂	(002)	2.540	13%	33.37	33.34	33.35	33.31	33.33	
α-Zr	(1011)	2.459	100%	34.51	34.53	34.56	34.48	34.54	
δ-ZrH	(200)	2.761	47%	35.52	NA	NA	NA	NA	
m - ZrO_2	(102)	2.334	4%	36.42	36.47	36.49	36.44	36.48	
m - ZrO_2	(012)	2.285	0.1%	37.23	37.25	37.27	37.21	37.22	
m - ZrO_2	(211)	2.253	0.1%	37.78	NA	NA	NA	NA	
m - ZrO_2	(112)	2.253	12%	38.47	38.46	38.42	38.43	38.44	
m - ZrO_2	(201)	2.192	5%	38.87	38.83	38.83	38.79	38.81	
m-ZrO ₂	(121)	2.181	5%	39.08	39.11	39.11	39.07	39.09	
m - ZrO_2	(211)	2.020	7%	42.32	42.29	42.30	42.25	42.27	
m - ZrO_2	(202)	1.991	6%	42.98	42.92	42.93	42.86	42.91	

Table 4-2: Relative differences in d-spacing of the Zry-2 metal and oxide phases between the data collected in the low (Mat. 9 - low elevation; Mat. 11 - high elevation) and high (Mat. 12 - low elevation; Mat. 14 - high elevation) hydrogen pickup materials and the values from the Powder Diffraction Files. XRD beam energy was set at 8.5 keV at beamline 32-ID-E of the APS (ANL). d-spacings differences in the materials were averaged over the metal and oxide regions scanned.

Phase	(hkl)	d-spacing	Powder	$\Delta d/d$			
		PDF [Å]	Diffraction File #	Mat. 9	Mat. 11	Mat. 12	Mat. 14
m - ZrO_2	(110)	3.698	37-1484	NA	-0.001	NA	-0.001
m - ZrO_2	(011)	3.639	37-1484	NA	-0.002	NA	-0.001
m - ZrO_2	(111)	3.165	37-1484	± 0.000	± 0.000	+0.001	±0.000
t-ZrO ₂	(101)	2.995	42-1164	-0.017	-0.015	-0.015	-0.015
m - ZrO_2	(111)	2.841	37-1484	-0.001	-0.001	+0.001	± 0.000
α-Zr	(1010)	2.798	05-1665	-0.001	-0.001	± 0.000	-0.001
δ -ZrH	(111)	2.761	34-0649	-0.006	-0.004	-0.001	-0.003
m - ZrO_2	(200)	2.623	37-1484	+0.002	+0.002	+0.003	+0.003
m - ZrO_2	(020)	2.606	37-1484	-0.003	-0.003	-0.002	-0.003
α-Zr	(0002)	2.573	05-1665	+0.001	+0.002	+0.002	+0.001
m - ZrO_2	(002)	2.540	37-1484	+0.001	+0.001	+0.002	+0.001
α-Zr	(1011)	2.459	05-1665	-0.001	-0.002	+0.001	-0.001
δ -ZrH	(200)	2.761	34-0649	NA	NA	NA	NA
m - ZrO_2	(102)	2.334	37-1484	-0.001	-0.002	-0.001	-0.002
m - ZrO_2	(012)	2.285	37-1484	-0.001	-0.001	± 0.000	± 0.000
m - ZrO_2	(211)	2.253	37-1484	NA	NA	NA	NA
m - ZrO_2	(112)	2.253	37-1484	± 0.000	+0.001	+0.001	+0.001
m - ZrO_2	(201)	2.192	37-1484	+0.001	+0.001	+0.002	+0.001
m - ZrO_2	(121)	2.181	37-1484	-0.001	-0.001	± 0.000	±0.000
m - ZrO_2	(211)	2.020	37-1484	+0.001	+0.001	+0.002	+0.001
m-ZrO ₂	(202)	1.991	37-1484	+0.001	+0.001	+0.003	+0.001

4.1.2 Background signal from metal and oxide regions

In this section, the author investigates the background signal from different locations in the metal and oxide regions of the Zry-2 materials. Additionally, the reduced XRD patterns during the examination of materials 9 and 12 are discussed. In Figure 4-5, the integrated 1D patterns prior to data reduction and background removal are plotted for the three locations on material 11 described in the previous section: bulk metal (blue dashed line), near oxide (orange line), far oxide (red dotted line). The plots were normalized by the maximum count to allow for better comparison between the three locations.



Figure 4-5: Integrated XRD patterns prior to background removal from the three regions of material 11 as presented in the previous SECTION: bulk metal (blue dashed line); near oxide (orange line); far oxide (red dotted line).

It can be seen that the signal-to-noise ratio is the highest in the bulk metal, then lower in the far oxide region, and the lowest in the near oxide region. This observation - generic to all four materials (9, 11, 12, 14) - suggests a lower degree of crystallinity in the oxide layer compared to the bulk material and is coherent with the high disorder due to nucleation of the oxide grains near the metal/oxide interface. Cracks and nano-pores are present in the oxide layer of in pile Zry-2 materials (section 3.2) and may contribute to the background noise as well in the oxide layer.

In Figure 4-6, the integrated 1D pattern prior to background removal from the near oxide region of each of the four materials (9, 11, 12, 14) are displayed. The range of the diffraction angle has been reduced to [20°; 44°] (ROI) and the first intensity points at $2\theta = 20^\circ$ have been aligned for clarity. Firstly, the background signal from all materials is similar to material 14 showing a slightly higher level of noise, suggesting more disorder in material 14 which is coherent with its high fluence and hydrogen content. It can be noticed that the near oxide XRD patterns in material 9 (blue dotted line) and material 12 (orange dashed line) are almost identical while the XRD pattern in material 11 (blue line) is closer to that of material 14 (red line). An interesting feature is the absence of the (110) and (011) reflections of m-ZrO₂ at low 2 θ and a reduced (111) m-ZrO₂ (at $2\theta = 26.65^{\circ}$) in the patterns of material 9 and 12. Lastly, at $2\theta =$ 32.29°, the (200) m-ZrO₂ peak is significantly lower for materials 9 and 12 compared to that of materials 11 and 14. While examining the preferred orientation later in this chapter, it can be seen that the (200) reflections are located mostly at the low and high (horizontal) azimuthal angles in the 2D XRD patterns, locations that were partially blocked by the sample holder during examinations of material 9 and 12. Therefore, this difference in (200) intensities is not believed to represent variations in grain orientations between the samples but is rather the result of the blocking of the diffracted beam by the sample holder as described in the previous section and further detailed below. It is worth mentioning that the materials can still be investigated in terms of hydrogen pickup without any correction by comparing material 9 and 12, and materials 11 and

14 by pairs of similar experiment setup (and elevation). In order to compare the tetragonal fraction between all materials, a correction was applied to the intensity of ($\overline{1}11$) *m*-*ZrO*₂ as described in section 4.2.1.



Figure 4-6: Integrated XRD patterns prior to background fit and removal (first intensity points at $2\theta = 20^{\circ}$ have been aligned for clarity) from the near oxide region (1.5 µm from the metal/oxide interface) in all four materials.

As mentioned in the previous section and in the precedent paragraph, the XRD patterns collected in materials 9 and 12 suffered from the proximity to the sample holder edge which reduced the 2θ range of the data. This issue is illustrated in Figure 4-7 which gathers the pictures of the sample holders as aligned during examinations (top left image), the schema of the blocking of the beam by the edge of the sample holder (top right image) and the resulting diffraction

patterns for material 11-14 (green arrows and beam, bottom left pattern) and materials 9-12 (red arrows and beam, bottom right pattern). The sample holder was designed for XANES measurements of radioactive samples for which the X-ray detector is placed directly above the sample. The sample edges allowed for easier encapsulation of the radioactive materials but require that the experimenter rotate the samples in order to acquire XRD spectra with the same 2θ range for all materials, utilizing previous beamtime at the APS. Another option is to consider placing only one cross-section sample per holder, but similarly to the first option, it would use additional time in order to exchange the samples at the beamline. Lastly, a flat aluminum plate may be considered for synchrotron measurements, provided that it passes the radioactivity safety review by the APS.



Figure 4-7: Illustration of the blocked beam due to the sample holder for materials 9 and 12 (red arrows and beams) because they were closer to the top of the holder compared to materials 11 and 14 (green arrows and beams)

4.1.3 General observations

In this section, the 1D integrated XRD patterns in the Zry-2 materials as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface are presented. The integrated XRD patterns evolution across the oxide layers of the low hydrogen pickup samples (materials 9 and 11) are displayed in Figure 4-8, while Figure 4-9 gathers the integrated XRD patterns across the oxide layers of the high hydrogen pickup samples (materials 12 and 14). The flat view of these 2D plots is shown in Figure 4-10 and Figure 4-11 respectively. For each of the materials, the XRD patterns were integrated from 5 μm in the metal up until the water/oxide interface. The general observations of the XRD patterns in the low and high hydrogen pickup materials are now discussed.

First of all, as mentioned in the previous sections, the XRD patterns for material 9 ((b) in Figure 4-8 and Figure 4-10) and material 12 ((b) in Figure 4-9 and Figure 4-11) were shortened due to the proximity of the cross-sections to the sample holder during XRD examination. This issue led to the extinction of the (110) and (011) peaks, and lower ($\overline{1}11$) and (200) reflections in these materials.

Investigating the metallic signal in these patterns, we can see that the high intensity $(10\bar{1}1) \alpha$ -*Zr* reflection has significantly higher counts in materials 12 and 14 (Figure 4-9, Figure 4-11) compared to materials 9 and 11 (Figure 4-8, Figure 4-10). This observation suggests that the orientation of the metal grains at the examined locations in materials 12 and 14 allow for higher reflections when the beam hits the sample with a 14° incident angle and parallel to the metal/oxide interface. The orientations of the highly textured grains in the bulk of Zry-2 varies significantly within micrometers in the samples. Indeed, it can be seen in Figure 4-9 (and Figure 4-11) that the $(10\bar{1}1) \alpha$ -*Zr* intensity reaches a maximum of about 1100 counts at about 2 μ m into the metal of material 14, before lowering down to the level in material 9. Similarly, the $(10\bar{1}1) \alpha$ -*Zr* intensity in material 11 ((a) of Figure 4-8 and Figure 4-10), is seen much lower than

in any other material, but a prolonged scan into the metal (not shown here) revealed much higher counts around 6-7 μm from the metal/oxide interface. These observations suggest several grain orientations ahead of the metal/oxide interface. It is worth mentioning that although the grains are micrometric in the metal region, α -Zr grain size ranges from 0.5 μm to 30 μm in recrystallized Zr alloys [330]. Therefore, considering the sampling volume of about 4 μm^3 (section 2.3.3) during the XRD measurements, multiple grains with various orientations can be scanned over a range of 10 μm , resulting in discrepancies in metal peak intensities. These observations are further discussed in section 4.3.1 when investigating the orientation of the oxide grains near interface.

When considering the monoclinic crystal planes ($\overline{1}11$) and (111) at $2\theta = 26.65^{\circ}$ and $2\theta = 29.75^{\circ}$ respectively, it was already mentioned that ($\overline{1}11$) is significantly lowered in materials 9 and 12 due to the experimental setup. However, the ($\overline{1}11$) reflection was used to determine the metal/oxide interface position by considering the interface as the location where ($\overline{1}11$) intensity if half of that of the first plateau (withing the next 10 μm of oxide) as further detailed in the next section. Additionally, it can be seen that the (111) intensity is typically higher than that of the ($\overline{1}11$) reflection, even for materials 11 and 14, and is a marker of preferred orientation in the material, which is further examined in the next section as well by computing the (111)/($\overline{1}11$) ratio across the oxide layer.

One other interesting observation is the apparent higher monoclinic oxide intensities in the far oxide region ($[20 \ \mu m; 35 \ \mu m]$ in both material 11 (((a) in Figure 4-8 and Figure 4-10) and material 14 ((a) in Figure 4-9 and Figure 4-11), whereas for material 9 ((b) in Figure 4-8 and Figure 4-10) and material 12 ((b) in Figure 4-9 and Figure 4-11), the monoclinic peaks are rather constant throughout the whole oxide layer. This may reflect differences in elevation between the two sets of materials leading to different oxidizing conditions. Indeed, materials 11 and 14 were

cut from the high elevation parts of the Zry-2 water rods, where the coolant has reached saturated temperature, and some steam is present. On the other hand, materials 9 and 12 were obtained from low elevation in the water rods where the coolant temperature is lower than the saturated temperature. Considering the variations in power output during operation and the higher neutron flux at high elevation, the oxide layer microstructure in materials 11 and 14 may be more impacted by these parameters than in materials 9 and 12. The first few μm of oxide built on the high elevation materials would have better crystallinity and ordering than the layers built later during operation.

Lastly, the (101) tetragonal zirconia reflection is too low to clearly appear in any of the 2D XRD integrated plots, even close to the metal/oxide interface. The main tetragonal reflection was seen in the XRD pattern (as shown in Figures 4-2, 4-4, 4-5 and 4-6) near the metal/oxide interface, but the counts are too low to be seen in the 2D plots. This resulted in a lower tetragonal volume fraction across the whole oxide layer than previously observed in literature and is further discussed in section 4.2.2.



Figure 4-8: Integrated XRD patterns as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface at the XANES location of the second scan in the low hydrogen pickup materials: (a) Sample 11-B (high elevation, 3 cycles); (b) Sample 9-B (low elevation, 3 cycles).



Figure 4-9: Integrated XRD patterns as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface at the XANES location of the second scan in the high hydrogen pickup materials: (a) sample 14-B (high elevation, 4 cycles); (b) sample 12-A-2 (low elevation, 4 cycles).



Figure 4-10: Flat view of the integrated XRD patterns as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface at the XANES location of the second scan in the low hydrogen pickup materials: (a) sample 11-B (high elevation, 3 cycles); (b) sample 9-B (low elevation, 3 cycles).


Figure 4-11: Flat view of the integrated XRD patterns as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface at the XANES location of the second scan in the high hydrogen pickup materials: (a) sample 14-B (high elevation, 4 cycles); (b) sample 12-A-2 (low elevation, 4 cycles).

4.2 Microstructure of metal and oxide layers of low/high HPUF Zry-2 water rods

4.2.1 Phase content in the metal near interface and across the oxide layer

In this section, the author investigates in further detail the phase contents throughout the oxide layer of the Zry-2 water rods with low and high hydrogen pickup. The XRD patterns were presented in detail in the previous sections and were fitted with PEAKFIT (see section 2.4.4) using the PDFs of the identified phases: α -Zr; δ -ZrH; m-ZrO₂; t-ZrO₂ (Appendix A, with the main peaks gathered in Table 4-1). The areas (normalized to the maximum intensity) obtained from the fit of the maximum intensity XRD peak of the identified phases are presented for materials 9 (low elevation, low H pickup, 3 cycles), 11 (high elevation, low H pickup, 3 cycles), 12 (low elevation, high H pickup, 4 cycles) and 14 (high elevation, high H pickup) in Figures 4-12, 4-13, 4-14 and 4-15 respectively. Hence, for each material, the area variations of $(10\overline{11}) \alpha$ -Zr, $(111) \delta$ -ZrH, $(\overline{111}) m$ -ZrO₂ and (101) t-ZrO₂ across the oxide layers are displayed.



Figure 4-12: Normalized integrated area of the maximum intensity XRD peaks for the four phases identified in material 9 (low elevation, low HPUF, 3 cycles): (-111) m-ZrO₂ (red diamond); (101) t-ZrO₂ (orange triangle); (10-10) α -Zr (black square); (101) δ -ZrH (grey circles).



<u>Figure 4-13: Normalized integrated area of the maximum intensity XRD peaks for the four phases</u> identified in material 11 (high elevation, low HPUF, 3 cycles): (-111) m-ZrO₂ (red diamond); (101) t-ZrO₂ (orange triangle); (10-10) α -Zr (black square); (101) δ -ZrH (grey circles).



Figure 4-14: Normalized integrated area of the maximum intensity XRD peaks for the four phases identified in material 12 (low elevation, high HPUF, 4 cycles): (-111) m-ZrO₂ (red diamond); (101) t-ZrO₂ (orange triangle); (10-10) α -Zr (black square); (101) δ -ZrH (grey circles).



Figure 4-15: Normalized integrated area of the maximum intensity XRD peaks for the four phases identified in material 14 (high elevation, high HPUF, 4 cycles): (-111) m-ZrO₂ (red diamond); (101) t-ZrO₂ (orange triangle); (10-10) α -Zr (black square); (101) δ -ZrH (grey circles).

Starting with the reflections in the metal near the oxide interface, it can be seen in all materials that the $(10\overline{1}1) \alpha$ -Zr peak undergoes clear variations within 5 μ m of metal grains. These micrometric fluctuations (pseudo-periodic) in reflection intensity of the main metal peak are coherent with the microstructure of Zry-2 recrystallized materials which is mainly composed of equiaxed grains with a size range of about 1-10 μ m [23, 330]. The grains properly oriented with the incident beam provide a strong diffraction signal on the 2D XRD detector while the grains with a less favorable orientation generate a weaker diffraction signal, leading to fluctuations of the high intensity metal peak.

Similarly, (111) ZrH peak was observed in all materials across the metal region and followed micrometric variations within the 5 μm of metal scanned. However, the frequency of variations for (111) ZrH seems higher than for (1011) α -Zr, suggesting a lower grain size range for the δ -hydrides, of about 1-5 μm . Hydrides of sizes from 1 to several μm were observed in

high burn up Zry-2 cladding as well by Chollet *et al.* [325]. The presence of hydrides in all materials is coherent with the concentrations of hydrogen being well above the terminal hydrogen solubility for precipitation at room temperature in all materials, as mentioned previously. It is worth mentioning that the terminal hydrogen solubility at 300°*C* is only 60 *wt.ppm* [163] of hydrogen, therefore the zirconium hydrides were mainly formed during operation in all materials, while about 60 *wt.ppm* precipitated during the cooling period.

Surprisingly, both (1011) α -Zr and (111) δ -ZrH peaks can be seen near the oxide/water interface in material 12 (Figure 4-14). After examinations of the scan location in sample 12-A (Figure 3-14), a piece of the alloy cut during sample preparation can be seen above the oxide layer (top left corner) and was identified as the origin of the zirconium and hydride peaks near the water interface.

Focusing now on the main peaks of the oxides phases, $(\bar{1}11) \ m-ZrO_2$ reflection was used to locate the metal/oxide interface in these samples. The interface position was set where $(\bar{1}11) \ m-ZrO_2$ peak area reached half of the value of the first plateau in the oxide layer. This position corresponded to the position at which 70% of the nickel atoms were still metallic in the oxide layer of all the samples scanned during the second round of measurements (Figure 3-21). Because this correlation was seen in all materials independent of elevation, irradiation time or hydrogen content, the interface location for the samples analyzed during the first round of measurements (Figure 3-20) was set at $f_m = 0.7$ (70% metallic nickel) as described previously.

Once the $(\bar{1}11) \ m-ZrO_2$ intensity has reached the first plateau, pseudo-periodic variations follow across the oxide layers of all four materials investigated, of width ranging from 3 to $10 \ \mu m$. In an extensive study of the oxide layer of Zr alloys corroded in autoclave by Yilmazbayhan [89], the variations in monoclinic intensities were seen shorter (about $2 \ \mu m$ wide) and were associated with the transitions in oxidation kinetics. However, the variations are seen wider in the reactor corroded Zry-2 materials investigated in this study and therefore are not

believed to represent oxide transitions, as was previously observed by Shivprasad at other locations in these water rods [91]. Another source of fluctuations originates from the orientation of the examined grains, but it was mentioned in section 4-1 that the oxide grains are nanometric (20 to 50 nm in size) and therefore the micrometric fluctuations of the monoclinic main peak do not reflect orientation differences from grain to grain. Instead, the author believes that the intensity changes reflect the orientation of the metal grains that were used to build the oxide. Indeed, as mentioned by Chollet *et al.* [325] and presented in section 4.3, the orientation of oxide grains was seen corelated to that of the metal grains near interface, suggesting that the oxide particle orientation is somewhat influenced by the orientation of the metal grains. This would lead to microscopic variations of the oxide grain orientation as observed in all the samples investigated in this study. Therefore, the variations of the monoclinic reflection are considered to result from the preferred orientation of the oxide grains at a microscopic level following the orientation of the metal grains used to build the oxide layer.

Additionally, maximum intensity for the $(\bar{1}11) m - ZrO_2$ reflection is seen in the outer oxide region of materials 9, 11 and 14, as was previously seen by Shivprasad at two other locations from the Zry-2 water rods [91]. In material 12, the presence of metal on the beam path in the outer oxide region (as mentioned above) lowered the intensity of the monoclinic zirconia peak. Still, a bump can be identified in the region [$35 \mu m - 40 \mu m$] in this material (Figure 4-14). These high intensities near the water interface may reflect that the outer oxide is relatively more ordered than the rest of the oxide layer as this region corresponds to the first few μm of oxide built on the materials, where the oxidation rate is parabolic or cubic (section 1.3.3). In the oxide built closer to the metal interface, the corrosion rate may have followed faster linear kinetics, reducing long range order in the oxide.

Lastly, (101) t- ZrO_2 reflection was identified in all materials in the oxide layer close the metal interface only. This observation is coherent with past examinations of Zr alloys oxide and

is further discussed in the next section where the tetragonal fraction is plotted as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface using the Garvie-Nicholson formula (Eq. 2-7) [275].

In order to continue the analysis of the oxide layer of the Zry-2 water rods as a function of elevation, irradiation time and hydrogen pickup, it was necessary to apply a correction to the $(\bar{1}11) \ m$ -ZrO₂ peak intensity measured in materials 9 and 12, as a significant portion of the reflection intensity was blocked by the sample holder as mentioned previously. A correction factor, *K*, was introduced so that the corrected intensity of the $(\bar{1}11) \ m$ -ZrO₂ peak is given by:

$$I_{corrected} = K * I_{measured}$$

(Eq. 4-1)

The correction factor was estimated using a mask on the XRD pattern collected in the near oxide of material 14, as shown in Figure 4-16. In Figure 4-16-(a), the XRD pattern collected in material 14 is displayed, and the corresponding integrated 2θ plot is shown in Figure 4-16-(b). On the same pattern, a mask (red area) representing the shadow of the sample holder was inserted as seen in Figure 4-16-(c), and the resulting integrated 2θ plot is shown in Figure 4-16-(d). In Figure 4-17-(e) is plotted the XRD pattern at the same distance from the metal/oxide layer in material 9 (with the resulting integrated 2θ plot shown in Figure 4-17-(f)) and one can see that the mask in Figure 4-16-(c) corresponds to the sample holder shadow. The peak intensity area for the ($\overline{111}$) m- ZrO_2 reflection in both patterns of material 14 (with and without mask) was fitted with PEAKFIT and yielded the correction factor: $K \sim 2.5$. Similar values were observed at other locations in the oxide and therefore K = 2.5 was used to compute the (111)/($\overline{111}$) ratio and tetragonal fraction across the oxide layer of materials 9 and 12.



Figure 4-16: XRD images and integrated patterns in the near oxide $(4 \ \mu m)$ of: (a)-(b) sample 14-B; (c)-(d) sample 14-B with mask (red rectangle); (e)-(f) sample 9-B. The mask was added in the XRD pattern of material 14 to estimate the correction factor for comparison of the (111) and (-111) peak ratios and tetragonal fraction between all four materials.

In Figure 4-17 and Figure 4-18, the variations of the $(\bar{1}11) \ m-ZrO_2$ and $(111) \ m-ZrO_2$ peaks (respectively) across the oxide layer of each of the four Zry-2 materials are compared. As mentioned above and seen in previous work [89, 91, 120, 236], pseudo-periodic fluctuations are seen for both crystal plane XRD intensities in the four Zry-2 materials considered. The widths of these variations have been hypothesized earlier to represent the metal grains from which the oxide layer was built, as the nanometric oxide grains seem to follow the orientation of the metal grains [325] (section 4.3.1), rather than the periodic oxide transition (usually smaller than $3 \mu m$). When comparing materials in terms of hydrogen content, elevation, or irradiation time, no clear differences can be found from the analysis of the two main peaks of monoclinic zirconia.

The large area detector available at beamline 34-ID-E of the APS allowed data collection over a large azimuthal range (100°-120°). Still, the ratio of the two main peaks of the monoclinic oxide phase (111)/($\overline{1}11$) m- ZrO_2 was seen higher than for uniformly oriented oxide grains ((111)/($\overline{1}11$) = 0.68 from PDFs, Table 4-1) in all the materials considered in this study as seen in Figure 4-19 where the (111)/($\overline{1}11$) m- ZrO_2 across the different oxide layers are plotted. Because of the sample holder shadow on the XRD patterns of materials 9 and 12, the correction presented above was applied to the intensity of the ($\overline{1}11$) m- ZrO_2 peaks so that:



$$(111)/(111)_{corrected} = (111)/(2.5 * (111)_{measured})$$

Figure 4-17: (-111) m-ZrO₂ peak area (normalized) in the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials.



Figure 4-18: (111) m-ZrO₂ peak area (normalized) in the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials.



Figure 4-19: (111)/(-111) m-ZrO₂ peak area ratio in the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials.

From Figure 4-19, the ratio of the peak intensities in material 14 is seen the closest to that of randomly oriented oxide grains with values around 1.5 in the near oxide layer and lowering down to 0.85 in the outer layer. Similarly, the $(111)/(\bar{1}11)$ ratio in material 11 was around 1.5 in the near oxide but only lowering to about 1.3 after a momentary increase in the outer layer. Examining material 12 results, the ratio value near interface is seen higher than in the two high elevation materials (11 and 14) at about 2.0. Ensues a slow decrease throughout the oxide layer to reach about 1.7 in the outer layer, punctuated by a maximum of 2.5 reached 15 μm from the metal interface. Similarly, the intensity ration in material 9 is seen around 2.0 in the near oxide but increases to reach more than 3.0 about 10 μm from the metal interface, and then decreases to attain 1.4 in the outer layer. These higher values for the (111)/($\bar{1}11$) ratio observed in the Zry-2 oxide layers suggests preferred orientation of the oxide grains, as reflected in the analysis of the XRD patterns throughout this chapter. The reflection ratio is closer to the theoretical value for uniformly oriented grains in the outer layer of all materials, which suggests a lower degree of preferred orientation in the first oxide layer built on these materials.

No clear differences are seen in terms of hydrogen pickup and irradiation time, but the intensity ratio is seen higher for the low elevation materials compared to the high elevation materials. However, this difference may result from the error associated with the correction factor which was used for both of these materials (9 and 12). In the next sections, the tetragonal volume fraction is quantitatively investigated using the (101) t- ZrO_2 , (111) m- ZrO_2 , and ($\overline{1}11$) m- ZrO_2 reflections, and the monoclinic grain sizes are computed using the broadening of the (111) m- ZrO_2 peak.

4.2.2 Tetragonal fraction in Zry-2 oxide layers

The tetragonal fraction across the oxide layers was calculated using Garvie-Nicholson formula (Eq. 2-7), as done in previous work [52, 89, 120, 236, 275]. The results are plotted for all four materials as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface in Figure 4-20.

For each of the material, the tetragonal phase was observed only close to the metal/oxide interface, leading to a null tetragonal volume fraction past $5 \mu m$ of oxide, independently of fluence, elevation or hydrogen content. The reason that the tetragonal phase is absent for the rest of the oxide layer is due to the tetragonal-to-monoclinic phase transformation as the oxide grows, as observed in previous studies [52, 76, 89, 91, 334]. The phase transformation is driven by crystallite growth and by crack formation during oxide transition, which releases stresses in the matrix. As a result, tetragonal grains are no longer metastable within the monoclinic oxide grains and the phase transformation takes place.

When comparing low and high hydrogen Zry-2 materials [91], Shivprasad had observed a higher tetragonal fraction for the materials with low hydrogen pickup. This hypothesis is supported by the higher tetragonal fraction observed in material 9 (low *H* pickup, low elevation, 3 cycles), and to some extent in material 11 (low *H* pickup, high elevation, 3 cycles). However the differences are lower (< 2%) than observed by Shivprasad [91] (~10%). Similarly, the maximum tetragonal fraction is seen between 3-6% in our set of materials, much lower than the 15-30% observed at different elevation in these water rods [91]. When investigating the tetragonal phase in different *Zr* alloys corroded in autoclave, Yilmazbayhan [89] observed tetragonal fraction maxima ranging from 4 to 15% depending on the alloy composition and corrosion medium and temperature. Therefore, this lower tetragonal fraction observed at low and high elevation in the Zry-2 water rods corroded in BWR may reflect differences in oxidation environments. Additionally, differences in experimental setup and azimuthal range may

contribute to the differences between the results presented in this study and Shivprasad's work on similar materials [91].

Observing the results of material 14 which had the highest hydrogen content of all materials (1721 *wt.ppm*), the tetragonal volume fraction is almost identical to that of material 11 which was located at a similar elevation in the reactor but contained much less hydrogen (329 *wt.ppm*) and was taken out of a reactor a cycle earlier. This suggests that the tetragonal fraction is affected by the oxidation conditions as well, as observed in literature [89, 335]. Examinations of the tetragonal volume fraction in the oxide layers of the Zry-2 water rods did not reveal major differences between the low and high hydrogen pickup materials, and it is not believed to contribute to the severe increase in hydrogen pickup seen in materials 12 and 14.



Figure 4-20: Tetragonal volume fraction across the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials.

4.2.3 Grain evolution in Zry-2 oxide layers

The grain sizes of the oxide layers were investigated in the Zry-2 water rod materials using the Scherrer equation (Eq. 2-8) with the (111) monoclinic peak and the results are presented in Figure 4-21 as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface for all four inpile materials. The grain size induced broadening of the (111) m-ZrO₂ peak was calculated with (Eq. 2-9) using the measured total peak broadening and the instrumental peak broadening. From discussions with beamline scientist Wenjun Liu, the major contribution to instrumental broadening at beamline 34-ID-E would be the X-ray beam divergence since the beam is focused with KB-mirrors. The beam divergence is approximately 0.1° both horizontally and vertically and the instrumental peak broadening, B_i , was then estimated to 0.15°.

The results indicate that, at both locations examined in the two water rods, the monoclinic oxide grains start between 17-20 *nm* in diameter at the metal/oxide interface and grow as the oxide layer thickens to reach 33-38 *nm* in the outer layer. Interestingly, the maximum grain size in the outer layer is lower for the low elevation materials (9 and 12) than for the high elevation materials (11 and 14). Because the high elevation materials endured a high neutron flux throughout the different cycles in the reactor, larger grains in the outer layer of materials 11 and 14 than in materials 9 and 12 suggest that neutron irradiation accelerates oxide grain growth, as previously observed for irradiated Zry-4 by Ensor [52]. It was shown as well in Ensor's study that no direct relationship could be established between oxidation temperature and oxide grain sizes, so that the bigger grains observed in this work likely result from the high neutron flux rather than from the higher temperature at high elevation.

Additionally, the oxide grains in material 11 (high elevation, low *H* pickup, 3 cycles) grow significantly within the first $10 \,\mu m$ of oxide and then at a slower rate for the rest of the oxide layer. On the contrary, the grain growth in material 14 (high elevation, high *H* pickup, 3

cycles) is slower in the near oxide (up to $15-20 \ \mu m$) and then increases in the outer layer. As discussed in the next chapter, the author believes that the oxidation kinetics significantly increased at high elevation in the high hydrogen pickup water rod (4 cycles) and the oxide built at the location examined in material 14 during the last cycle was estimated to be about $20 \ \mu m$. The near region in material 14 would then correspond to a more recent oxide which stayed for a shorter period of time in the reactor due to the faster oxidation kinetics during the last cycle, compared to the oxide grown on material 11 which had slower oxidation kinetics. This observation is coherent with previous examinations by Shivprasad where the oxide grains in the near region of the high hydrogen pickup material at mid elevation (Mat. 13, 4 cycles) were smaller than in the near region of the low hydrogen pickup material at similar elevation (Mat. 10, 3 cycles) (Figure 5.24 in [91]).



Figure 4-21: Oxide grain size evolution across the oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials.

Lastly, the high hydrogen content may have contributed to the lower grain size observed in the near oxide of material 14. In material 12 (low elevation, high *H* pickup, 4 cycles), the oxide grain size is seen lower in the near oxide as well compared to the low hydrogen pickup materials (9 and 11). In previous work [52], a higher proportion of equiaxed oxide grains to columnar grains was observed in *Zr* alloys with high hydrogen contents than in alloys with low hydrogen contents. This higher proportion of equiaxed grains may lower the grain size observed with XRD as seen in the near oxide of material 14 and material 12. However, because the hydrogen content is higher in material 11 (329 *wt. ppm*) than in material 9 (250 *wt. ppm*), oxide grain sizes seem to be influenced primarily by the irradiation flux and/or corrosion kinetics, rather than the content of hydrogen in the material.

4.3 Examination of preferred orientation

As mentioned in section 4.1.1, the azimuthal distribution of the XRD patterns is not uniform in the metal and oxide regions of the Zry-2 water rods investigated in this study, indicating preferred orientation for the metal and oxide grains in these materials. In this section, the author examines in detail the texture of two main regions of the materials: the first region consists of the metal and oxide near interface $[-4 \mu m; 5 \mu m]$ and the second of the far oxide $[10 \mu m; 25 \mu m]$. The observations discussed below were seen in all four materials (9, 11, 12, 14) without clear differences in azimuthal distribution between the samples. Because the results were so similar in all materials, XRD patterns from material 14 only are discussed in this section but the observations apply to materials 9, 11 and 12 as well, and the XRD patterns across the oxide layers in these materials (9, 11 and 12) are available in Appendix B.

4.3.1 Texture in metal and oxide near interface

In order to investigate the texture of the metal and oxide grains in the Zry-2 water rods, the diffraction patterns and "cake" χ -2 θ -plots at two locations in the metal region near interface $(-4 \ \mu m; -1 \ \mu m)$ of material 14 are shown in Figure 4-22 and at two locations in the oxide region near interface $(2 \ \mu m; 5 \ \mu m)$ of the same material in Figure 4-23. In particular, the azimuthal distributions of the reflections corresponding to the $(10\overline{1}0)$ and $(10\overline{1}1)$ of α -Zr and to the $(\overline{1}11)$, (111), (200), (020) and (002) of m-Zr O_2 are investigated to determine the preferred orientation of the metal and oxide grains. In each of the XRD patterns, the azimuthal regions of high intensity are highlighted with color arrows.



Figure 4-22: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near metal region of material 14: (a) $-4 \mu m$; (b) $-1 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Considering the XRD pattern collected in the metal $(4 \,\mu m)$ in Figure 4-22-(a), the $(10\overline{1}0)$ intensity $(2\theta = 30.22^\circ)$, light blue arrows) is maximum at oblique angles on the pattern, corresponding to azimuthal angles near 60° and 115°, and some intensity is seen around the vertical position $\chi = 90^\circ$. Therefore, the azimuthal range for the $(10\overline{1}0)$ reflection is seen to be $[50^\circ-130^\circ]$ with maximums at 60° and 115°. On the other hand, the $(10\overline{1}1)$ intensity $(2\theta = 34.51^\circ)$, blue arrows) is present on the oblique and horizontal sides of the pattern at azimuthal above 110° and below 70°. Another interesting observation is the much lower intensity observed for the $(0002) \alpha$ -Zr reflection $(2\theta = 32.93^\circ)$ in between the other two main metal reflections. From the PDF of α -Zr (Appendix A), the (0002) intensity is 32% of the $(10\overline{1}1)$ intensity, similar to the $(10\overline{1}0)$ intensity at 33% but is almost extinct in the XRD patterns. This suggests that the (0002) planes of the oxide are mainly perpendicular to the beam direction so that none of those grains can diffract the beam onto the XRD detector.

Zr alloys are known to be highly textured in literature and the previous observations are consistent with preferred orientation. After cold processing of the Zry-2 water rods, the $(10\overline{1}0)$ direction is parallel to the rolling direction [23, 116]. The Zry-2 materials were then heat treated for improved behavior in the boiling reactor (section 1.2.2 and 2.1), which has the effect of rotating the grains by 30° along the *c*-direction, so that the $(11\overline{2}0)$ direction is then aligned with the rolling direction [23]. In our materials, the rolling direction is perpendicular to the sample surface as the materials were cut in cross-section from the water rods. As a result, the $(10\overline{1}0)$ reflections are maximized near the vertical azimuthal angle ($\chi = 90^\circ$) and extinct near the horizontal azimuthal angles ($\chi = 0^\circ$, $\chi = 180^\circ$). On the other hand, the $(10\overline{1}1)$ would be minimum at the horizontal and vertical azimuthal angles ($\chi = 0^\circ$, $\chi = 90^\circ$, $\chi = 180^\circ$) and maximum at oblique angles ($\chi = 45^\circ$, $\chi = 135^\circ$); and the (0002) crystal planes would be only present at horizontal azimuthal angles $\chi = 0^\circ$, $\chi = 180^\circ$). As described above, the XRD patterns in the materials are consistent with this preferred orientation, confirming that the $(11\overline{2}0)$ direction is aligned with the rolling direction after the additional heat treatment on the Zry-2 RX (recrystallized, or alpha annealed) materials.



Figure 4-23: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 14: (a) +2 μ m; (b) +5 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

In the metal region near interface as shown in Figure 4-22-(b), the (111) and ($\overline{1}11$) *m*-ZrO₂ reflections become apparent at preferred azimuthal angles. The (111) intensity ($2\theta = 29.75^{\circ}$, pink arrows) is maximum at the same azimuthal angles than for the ($10\overline{1}0$) α -Zr reflection [50° - 130°], suggesting a crystallographic relationship between the two phases, as observed in previous work [325]. As a result, the $(\bar{1}11)$ ($2\theta = 26.65^\circ$, red arrows) reflections are minimum at vertical angles and maximum at oblique and horizontal azimuths. These preferred azimuthal angles for (111) and ($\bar{1}11$) are seen clearly on the XRD patterns from the oxide near interface shown in Figure 4-23-(a) and Figure 4-23-(b) at 2 μm and 5 μm from the metal/oxide interface respectively. Additionally, the (200), (020), and (002) preferred azimuthal rings are highlighted in Figure 4-23-(b). It can be seen that the (200) intensity ($2\theta = 32.29^\circ$, orange dotted arrows) is maximum at horizontal angles ($\chi < 55^\circ$, $\chi > 120^\circ$) and extinct at vertical angles. On the other hand, the (020) and (002) intensities ($2\theta = 32.50^\circ$ and $2\theta = 33.37^\circ$ respectively, orange arrows) are located mostly at oblique azimuthal angles ($\chi = 60^\circ$, $\chi = 115^\circ$), and minimum at vertical and horizontal angles. Observed in all the materials, this preferred orientation is coherent with that of the (111) reflections and suggest that the (200) direction is close to the oxide growth direction for all the Zry-2 in-pile materials selected as further discussed in the next section.

4.3.2 Texture in the oxide layers

In the previous section, the texture in the metal and oxide regions near the metal/oxide interface of the Zry-2 materials was investigated. In this section, the texture in the far oxide regions $[10-25 \ \mu m]$ of the materials is presented. The diffraction patterns and "cake" χ -2 θ -plots at four locations in the deep oxide region $(10 \ \mu m; 15 \ \mu m; 20 \ \mu m; 25 \ \mu m)$ of material 14 are shown in Figure 4-24-(a), Figure 4-24-(b), Figure 4-25-(a), and Figure 4-25-(b) respectively. The azimuthal distributions of the reflections corresponding to the ($\overline{111}$), (111), (200), (020) and (002) of m-ZrO₂ are investigated to determine the preferred orientation of the oxide grains.



Figure 4-24: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the mid oxide region of material 14: (a) +10 μ m; (b) +15 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

When considering the XRD patterns at the four locations in the deep oxide, it is clear that the preferred orientation described in the previous section in the oxide near interface is maintained throughout the whole oxide layer. Therefore, the same crystallographic orientation in the oxide layer was seen for all Zry-2 materials, independent of elevation, hydrogen content and time spent in the reactor. While previous studies had shown that the oxide grain orientations affect both oxygen [144] and hydrogen [324] transport in the oxide layer, the increase of Habsorption in materials 12 and 14 cannot be linked to differences in oxide texture. This observation suggests that the enhancement of hydrogen pickup in these materials may not originate from an increase in H diffusion in the oxide layer, which is further discussed in the next chapter. Some variations along the azimuthal range [50-130 μ m] for the (111) m-ZrO₂ are seen when comparing the four locations. The authors believes that it reflects the variations along the azimuthal range for the (1010) α -Zr reflections, because of the crystallographic relationship between the two set of planes observed near the metal/oxide interface of the materials investigated in this study and in literature [325].



Figure 4-25: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the far oxide region of material 14: (a) +20 μ m; (b) +25 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

The preferred azimuthal ranges for the (200), (020) and (002) m- ZrO_2 reflections allow to further investigate the orientation of the oxide grains in relation to the metal/oxide interface. In all of the diffraction patterns collected in the oxide layer of the Zry-2 materials, the (200) reflection was minimum at vertical and oblique azimuthal range, and maximum at diffraction angles close to the horizontal azimuth. The (020) and (002) reflections are maximum near the vertical azimuthal angles, and minimum near the horizontal azimuthal angles. Considering the beam direction is parallel to the oxide/metal interface during examination, these observations suggest that the (200) direction of the monoclinic grains is close to the metal/oxide interface normal direction (oxide growth direction), as illustrated in Figure 4-26. While the (200) direction is close to the oxide growth direction, the oxide grains may be oriented differently by rotating the *a*-axis in Figure 4-26-(b). Although not represented in the schema in Figure 4-26-(b) for simplicity, the monoclinic lattice is not cubic, and the angle between the a and c axis is slightly higher at 99.53°. This allows for the (020) and (002) reflections to be maximized at azimuthal angles close to the vertical region as shown with the X-ray diffracted path represented by the colored straight and dotted lines. However, a minimum in reflection intensity is observed at the vertical azimuth ($\chi = 90^{\circ}$) for these two sets of planes suggesting that the (200) direction is about 20° away from the oxide growth direction. This preferred orientation of the monoclinic grains was observed in previous studies as well [89, 91] and seen in all materials investigated in this study. It is worth mentioning that about 1/3 of the full azimuthal range of the XRD pattern was collected during the investigation of the cross-section samples (120° azimuthal range) and hence, not all grain orientations could be investigated. However, preferred orientation of the monoclinic oxide grains has been observed for the oxide layers grown on the Zry-2 water rod materials, and the (200) direction was reported to be close to the oxide growth direction.



Figure 4-26: (a) XRD pattern in material 14 (25 μ m, far oxide) with the illustration of the X-ray diffracted beam paths for the (200) m-ZrO₂ family of planes. (b) Schema of the preferred orientation of monoclinic oxide grain with the (200) m-ZrO₂ family of planes, the M/O interface, and the oxide growth direction. It should be noted that the (200) plane is maintained parallel to the M/O interface while the (020) and (002) have many different orientations (represented by the blue arrow near axis a). Additionally, a cubic lattice is used for illustration of the (200) preferred orientation while the monoclinic lattice is close to cubic but with $\beta = 99.53^{\circ}$ and slightly different lattice parameters (section 1.3.1).

4.4 Conclusions on XRD examinations of in-reactor corroded Zry-2

In this chapter, we presented the results of the in-depth microstructure analysis across the oxide layers of BWR-corroded Zry-2 water rod materials with low and high hydrogen pickup using X-ray diffraction with synchrotron radiation. In previous work [91], the tetragonal fraction was correlated to high *H* content materials and the selection of materials in this study allowed to further study this relationship. Additionally, the microbeam XRD analysis of the phase content, the grain size, and of the texture in the oxide layer of reactor corroded Zry-2 materials provides insights into the microstructure of oxide layers built in reactor condition. While the role that microstructure may play in enhancing hydrogen pickup is further discussed in the next chapter, the main observations of the XRD analysis are summarized below:

- (1) In all four materials, α -Zr and δ -ZrH_{1.66} phases were identified in the XRD patterns from the metal region near interface, while m-ZrO₂ reflections were seen in the oxide layer, and low intensity t-ZrO₂ reflections were apparent in the oxide near interface only. No suboxide phases reflections could be detected with synchrotron microbeam XRD in the 3 and 4 cycles-irradiated Zry-2 water rod materials.
- (2) The α -*Zr* and δ -*ZrH*_{1.66} XRD pattern contained incomplete low intensity arcs and high intensity spots, coherent with the micrometric grain size of these two phases, while the oxide reflections consisted only of high intensity arc, indicating nanometric oxide grains, as previously reported in literature.
- (3) The main intensity reflection for α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ followed pseudo-periodic variations throughout the oxide layers, ranging from few μm to 10 μm and these variations were identified with the different orientations of the metal grains in the Zry-2 materials. The main peak variations of the hydride phase were seen slightly shorter suggesting smaller crystallite size 1-5 μm .

- (4) The tetragonal volume fraction observed in the near oxide layer of the Zry-2 water rods was lower than previously measured at different elevations, with maxima between 3-6%. The tetragonal fraction was lower in the high hydrogen content materials, but the difference was reduced at high elevation in the reactor. No tetragonal reflections could be seen past $5 \,\mu m$ of oxide in all four materials, indicating a tetragonal-to-monoclinic phase transformation as the oxide grows, similar to observations in literature.
- (5) Monoclinic oxide grain size was measured to be 17-20 *nm* near the metal/oxide interface, and then increased further in the oxide to reach 33-38 *nm* in the outer layer. The largest grains were observed in the oxide layer close to the water interface of the high elevation materials, suggesting irradiation-induced grain growth in the oxide layer. Additionally, small grains compose the oxide region near the metal/oxide interface of material 14 (high elevation, high HPUF, 4 cycles) when compared to material 11 (high elevation, low HPUF, 3 cycles) which may indicate faster oxidation kinetics during the additional cycle at high elevation in the reactor.
- (6) Strong texture was reported for the metal and oxide grains of the Zry-2 water rods. In the metal region, the azimuthal variations of α -Zr were consistent with the (11 $\overline{2}0$) being aligned with the rolling direction, as previously reported for alpha annealed Zr alloys. Near the interface, a crystallographic relationship between the (111) m-ZrO₂ and the (10 $\overline{1}0$) α -Zr was seen for all four materials. A preferred orientation is consistently present in the oxide layers of the different samples examined and the results indicate that for a significant fraction of the oxide grains, the (200) m-ZrO₂ direction is close to the oxide growth direction. This is coherent with previous XRD examinations of autoclave and in-reactor corroded Zr alloys.

Chapter 5

Discussions on the acceleration of H pickup at high burnup in Zry-2

In the previous chapters, the results of the XANES, XRD and SEM examinations of the Zry-2 water rods corroded in 3 and 4 cycles in BWR were presented. In this chapter, the author discusses these results in terms of hydrogen uptake and elevation in the reactor and proposes a mechanism for the enhancement of hydrogen pickup in Zry-2 materials at high burnup. Additional oxide thickness and hydrogen content data at different elevations in the two water rods were provided by Global Nuclear Fuel (GNF) and are compared to the metallic nickel measurements in the first section while the second section is dedicated to the discussions on the conditions and mechanism leading to accelerated hydrogen uptake in the Zry-2 water rod during the 4th cycle in the BWR, based on the results presented in this study and on an extensive review of available literature.

5.1 Ni valence in relation to corrosion and H pickup of high burnup BWR Zry-2 water rods

The nickel metallic fraction measurements with XANES across the oxide layers of the two Zry-2 water rods with low and hydrogen pickup fraction corroded for 3 and 4 cycles (respectively) in Limerick-1 boiling water reactor are compiled in terms of elevation in the reactor in Figure 5-1. Additionally, the fluence, hydrogen content and oxide thickness are added to the plots. While the oxide layers of Mat. 9, Mat. 11, Mat. 12 and Mat. 14 (low and high elevation) were analyzed in the present work, Mat. 10 and Mat. 14 (mid elevation) were investigated by A. Shivprasad in a previous study [99]. The hypothesis that metallic nickel remaining in the oxide layer of the Zircaloy-2 water rod is responsible for the enhancement of hydrogen ingress at high burnup is now being discussed.



Figure 5-1: Review of the metallic fraction measurements across the oxide layers of the 3 and 4 cycles water rod samples in terms of elevation in the reactor. Results for Mat. 9, Mat. 11, Mat. 13 and Mat. 14 (low/high elevation) were presented in this work while results for Mat. 10 and Mat. 13 (mid elevation, grey title boxes) were reported by A. Shivprasad [99]. Additionally, the fluence, hydrogen content, total oxide thickness are shown on each plot (data presented in Table 2-1). The oxide/water interfaces are represented by the colored lines in each plot (two scans were performed in all materials).

For all 3 materials (Mat. 9, Mat. 10, Mat. 11) selected from the low hydrogen pickup water rod (3 cycles, left plots in Figure 5-1), the nickel atoms are fully oxidized within 3-4 μm into the oxide layer. For one of the scans in material 11 (high elevation, 3 cycles), a plateau at 70% metallic nickel was observed for about 3 μm near the metal interface, but the XANES signal from these metallic nickel atoms suggested a bond with Zr atoms and therefore we

identified the metallic plateau to the presence of a metal region underneath the oxide layer (see section 3.4.2). At mid elevation (Mat. 13) and at high elevation (Mat. 14) in the high hydrogen uptake water rod (4 cycles, right plots in Figure 5-1), about 30% of metallic nickel remained in the oxide layer up to $10-12 \,\mu m$ past the metal/oxide interface. Although not shown here, Shivprasad [99] examined two other Zry-2 materials from water rods corroded for 3 and 4 cycles in Dresden-2 BWR, and the high hydrogen content material (Mat. 21, 4 cycles) contained 30-40% metallic nickel in the near oxide layer as well while in the low HPUF material (Mat. 17, 3 cycles), all nickel atoms were oxidized past 3 µm of oxide. The XANES measurements presented in this study for Mat. 9, Mat. 11 and Mat. 14 support the hypothesis that metallic nickel is responsible for the acceleration of H pickup of Zry-2 materials at high burnup in the BWR environment. However, examinations of Mat. 12 (high HPUF, low elevation, 4 cycles) revealed no metallic nickel past 3-4 μm into the oxide layer, as was measured in the low hydrogen pickup materials. The increased hydrogen pickup fraction during the additional cycle in the reactor does not result from the presence of metallic nickel in the oxide layer. Instead the author believes that the hydrogen excess was absorbed at higher elevation in the material, and then diffused down the water rod during the last cycle. This hypothesis is further supported by the additional measurements of oxide thickness and hydrogen content at multiple locations in the two GNF water rods (additional data were provided by EPRI) as detailed below.

Furthermore, nickel metallic fractions ranging from 20% to 60% were measured near the outer surface of the oxide layers. These metallic fractions in the outer layer were identified as crud deposits from the corrosion of other reactor components, as detailed in chapter 3. However, this observation was generic to most samples with the highest metallic fraction measured in the outer layer of material 11 (low hydrogen pickup, high elevation, 3 cycles). For this reason, metallic nickel atoms at the oxide/water interface are not likely to have played a role in enhancing the hydrogen uptake in the materials examined.



Figure 5-2: (a) Total oxide thickness and (b) hydrogen content as a function of elevation in the 3cycles (blue squares) and 4 cycles (red circles) water rods. Additional data on the GNF water rods were provided by EPRI. The elevations of the materials examined in this study are shown with the white boxes on the two plots, while the grey boxes refer to data from previous work [99].

The total oxide thickness and the hydrogen content in the two Zry-2 water rods corroded in Limerick-1 reactor for 3 and 4 cycles are plotted as a function of elevation in Figure 5-2. The materials investigated are labeled on the two plots, with the gray boxes indicating that metallic nickel was seen in the near oxide of the material. From the total oxide thickness data (Figure 5-2-(a)), it can be seen that the corrosion kinetics increased during the last cycle at elevations above 60 *in* from the bottom of the water rod with total oxide thicknesses up to 90 μm (102.5 *in*) after 4 cycles while the maximum total oxide thickness seen at a similar elevation in the 3 cycles water rod is 50 μm , suggesting that an additional 40 μm was built during the last cycle only at this elevation. At low elevation in the water rod (< 40 *in*, or 1.0 *m*), slow corrosion took place during the additional cycle as similar or slightly thicker (2-3 μm) oxide layers were measured in the water rod corroded for 4 cycles in comparison with the low elevation examinations of the 3-cycle water rod. Additionally, the thinnest oxide was measured at the very high elevation (155 *in*, 25 μm). The total oxide thickness and hydrogen at very high elevation in the 3-cycle water were extrapolated by the author based on the axial variations observed in previous studies [212, 336]. Additionally, when comparing the oxide thicknesses of material 21 (4 cycle, high elevation, high HPUF, 25 μm total oxide thickness) to that of material 17 (3 cycle, high elevation, low HPUF, 7 μm total oxide thickness) from water rods corroded in Dresden-2 reactor (investigated by A. Shivprasad [99]), it is clear that acceleration of corrosion kinetics occurred during the 4th cycle at high elevation in material 21 as well, which also contained partially metallic nickel atoms in the near oxide layer.

The hydrogen content data as a function of elevation in the two water rods (Figure 5-2-(b)) clearly indicate an acceleration of hydrogen uptake in the 4-cycle irradiated water rod. While the hydrogen content in the 3-cycle is found between 200 and 400 *wt.ppm* at various elevations in the reactor, the hydrogen content after 4 cycles is at least 600 *wt.ppm* (low elevation, Mat. 12) and reaches 900 to 2000 *wt.ppm* at mid and high elevations. When comparing with the total oxide thickness measurements (Figure 5-2-(a)), the hydrogen content axial variations of the 4cycle water rod follow the corrosion kinetics variations, suggesting that a significant portion of the hydrogen atoms absorbed during the additional cycle were produced during the oxidation of the bulk. The author estimated the HPUF at mid and high elevations during the 4th cycle using (Eq. 1-9) with the assumption that the oxide thickness and hydrogen content measurements of the water rod taken out after 3 cycles in the reactor correspond to the oxide thickness and hydrogen content values at the end of the 3^{rd} cycle in the water rod that was left for an additional 24-month period in the reactor. The results yielded pickup fraction above 100% at most elevations which indicate that some of the hydrogen atoms absorbed were picked up from the coolant directly, without oxidation of the bulk. This observation suggests that a strong catalytic effect for the hydrogen ingress reaction took place at the material surfaces during the last cycle. Such catalytic effects on the hydrogen absorption surface reaction have been observed in the presence of metallic *Ni* in previous studies [216, 337], as further argued in section 5.2.

Additionally, the accelerated corrosion kinetics seem to be correlated to enhanced hydrogen pickup as mentioned previously. The absence of accelerated oxidation kinetics at low elevation during the 4th cycle suggests that the hydrogen ingress is not accelerated at these elevations either. This is coherent with the full oxidation of the nickel atoms in the near oxide of material 12 (low elevation, hydrogen pickup) reported in this work. The excess of hydrogen is thought to have been absorbed at higher elevation where metallic nickel acted as a catalyst for H ingress into the alloys and diffused to lower elevation due to the concentration gradient (Fick's law) and temperature gradient (Soret effect). While the concentration gradient results from the hydrogen build up at higher elevation as more hydrogen is picked up during the 4th cycle, the temperature at low elevation is lower than at the higher elevation as the inlet temperature is about 10-15° below the saturation temperature of the BWR. As hydrogen is attracted to colder regions, the Soret effect combines with Fick diffusion to push hydrogen atoms down the water rod. The hydrogen diffusion downward is illustrated in Figure 5-2-(b) with the large arrows. Because the hydrogen pickup fraction at the highest elevation (155 in) is the largest of all materials at 108% on average over the range of the 4 cycles, or about twice the hydrogen pickup fraction measured in the rest of the water rods, it is likely that some of the excess hydrogen at 155 in originated from the high hydrogen content region right below, similar to the diffusion at low elevation. The oxidation state of nickel was not measured yet at this elevation; therefore it is not straightforward to rule out

acceleration of hydrogen ingress at this location. It is worth mentioning that this elevation corresponds to the end of the water rod near the steam separator and the radius of the water rod diameter at this location may be lower than for the rest of the water rod, resulting in increased *wt.ppm* values for the same amount of hydrogen absorbed [212].



Figure 5-3: (a) Inner and (b) outer oxide thickness as a function of elevation in the 3-cycles (blue squares) and 4 cycles (red circles) water rods. Additional data on the GNF water rods were provided by EPRI. The elevations of the materials examined in this study are shown with the white boxes on the two plots, while the grey boxes refer to data from previous work [99].

Last but not least, the inner and outer oxide thicknesses are plotted as a function of elevation for the two Zry-2 water rods corroded in Limerick-1 BWR in Figure 5-3. It can be seen that accelerated corrosion occurred in both the inner and outer part of the water rod at mid and

high elevation but is more pronounced on the outer side, and that metallic nickel was observed in both the inner (Mat. 13 examinations) and outer layer (Mat. 14 examinations) of the 4-cycles water rod. In turn, these observations indicate that the acceleration of hydrogen pickup occurred in both the inner and outer sides of the Zry-2 water rod.

5.2 The role of metallic Ni in enhancing corrosion and H pickup of Zr alloys in LWRs

In light of the results presented in this work and of an extensive review of the literature, the author presents in this section discussions on the mechanism by which metallic nickel measured in the near oxide of Zry-2 enhances hydrogen uptake of the material, and on the conditions (e.g. burnup, fluence) leading to the presence of partially metallic nickel past 2-3 μm in the oxide layer.

As mentioned before, *Ni* has been associated with increased hydrogen uptake since the early development of Zircaloys in the 1960's [22, 161] but Zircaloy-2 is still used in BWR environment because of its great resistance to nodular corrosion. While investigating in-pile corroded Zry-2 and Zry-4 materials taken out of the reactors, many examinations reported a high hydrogen pickup fraction at high burnup, especially for water rods and structural materials (such as channel box) as reviewed extensively by Garzarolli *et. al* [59] (section 1.4.5). In this review [59], the authors suspected that, due to the high nobility of nickel compared to the other alloying elements and bulk *Zr*, low oxygen pressure in the porous oxide layer close to the metal oxide interface would stabilize metallic nickel past the typical 2-3 μm of oxide. When examining the oxidation state of nickel as a function of depth in the oxide layer with microbeam synchrotron XANES, Shivprasad [99] observed the presence of metallic nickel near the metal/oxide interface (up to 10-12 μm) of two high burnup / high hydrogen pickup water rods (used in Limerick-1 and Dresden-2 BWRs for 4 cycles) while in the low hydrogen pickup materials (lower burnup, 3

cycles), nickel atoms were fully oxidized past 2-3 μm from the metal interface. In chapter 3, the nickel metallic fraction derived from the XANES analysis across the oxide layer of 4 additional Zry-2 materials at different elevation in Limerick-1 BWR confirmed the presence of metallic *Ni* in the near oxide of the high hydrogen pickup water rod but at high elevation only. The author proposed earlier in this chapter that material 12 (low elevation, high HPUF) did not suffer from enhanced *H* ingress during the additional cycle, but rather the hydrogen was picked up at higher elevation and diffused down the water rod. As a result, the author establishes that the presence of metallic nickel is dependent on the location in the reactor, and the acceleration of hydrogen pickup occurred at mid/high elevation only in the water rod.

Additionally, Kuri *et al.* recently published XANES analysis in the near oxide and in the far oxide of a high burnup/high hydrogen content Zry-2 fuel cladding rod used in BWR [220], but concluded that no metallic nickel was observed in the oxide layer. However, a pre-edge feature can be seen in the *Ni* XANES spectra collected in the near oxide, similar to the features seen in the high hydrogen uptake materials in the present work and in [91] and which was identified as the signal originating from partially metallic nickel atoms. Because metallic nickel is a strong catalyst for *H* ingress while oxidized nickel is not [59, 216, 337], the author argues that this pre-edge feature does represent metallic nickel atoms in the oxide layer. As result, metallic nickel can be seen in the near oxide of a high HPUF / high burnup BWR Zry-2 fuel rod as well.

It is worth mentioning that in [337], Wells *et. al* observed the reduction of oxidized nickel particles deposited on the surface of Zircaloy-4 coupons corroded in high hydrogenated water; and in recent DFT calculation by Than *et. al* [153] of the alloying elements defect formation energy in t- ZrO_2 , the author reported that metallic nickel bonded with an oxygen vacancy was the most stable defect at low oxygen levels, while the stable defects for *Fe* and *Cr* involved oxidized atoms at all oxygen pressures. Therefore, reduction and/or stability of metallic

nickel in the oxide layer may occur at low oxygen pressure and/or high hydrogen content in the coolant next to the interface.

In previous studies by Pettersson *et al.* [216] and Takagi *et al.* [338] investigating the enhancement of hydrogen uptake when metallic nickel is added to Zr alloys, it was reported that hydrogen atoms were catalytically picked up from the hydrogenated water or deuterium gas only if nickel was deposited on the surface of the materials and no oxide layer was present on the sample surface. These observations indicate that metallic nickel act as a catalyst for hydrogen absorption in Zr alloys when deposited on free surfaces close to the metal bulk, as suggested in previous work investigating the role of nickel in *H* pickup at high burnup [99, 217].

When comparing the oxide thickness and hydrogen pickup in the 4-cycle water rod to that of the 3-cycle water rod (Figure 5-2, section 3.2), both accelerated corrosion and hydrogen pickup are observed as a result of the additional cycle, and regions of high hydrogen content match with the regions of accelerated corrosion. Interestingly, the variations of *H* pickup and oxide thickness coincide with the neutron flux axial profile in BWR [339] where the peak flux in located about 100 *in* above the bottom of the core. This observation is coherent with examinations by Urbanic [336] of Zry-2 pressure tubes corroded in CANDU-PHW reactors for up to 3700 full power days, where the pressure tubes showed a sharp increase in the corrosion and deuterium (as heavy water is used as coolant in CANDU reactors) uptake in the region of highest neutron flux. This correlation suggests that the neutron flux plays a significant role in the acceleration of corrosion and hydrogen uptake in Zircaloy-2 at high burnup.

As reviewed extensively by Kautz in a recent paper [315], irradiation-accelerated corrosion is one of the major in-pile phenomena that autoclave corrosion studies of zirconium alloys could not reproduce [127, 134, 265, 340, 341], and may arise from different mechanisms in the nuclear reactors. As mentioned in chapter 1, amorphization and dissolution of the secondary phase particles (SPPs) due to irradiation in BWRs was reported as accelerating corrosion at high
burnup in Zry-2 materials [228, 342-344], and the authors argue that the barrier layer protectiveness deteriorates when dissolution of the SPPs occurs. This mechanism explaining the accelerated in-reactor oxidation is supported by a more recent study of Zry-4 materials corroded in a reactor test loop [345].

As mentioned in chapter 4, Chollet *et al.* [325] suggested that the diffusion of O in Zr alloys is enhanced by irradiation, which in turn increases the corrosion kinetics as the diffusion of O in the oxide layer is limiting the corrosion rate in Zr alloys (see section 1.3).

Another mechanism for irradiation-accelerated corrosion may be associated with the modification of the oxide structure near the metal interface. Under irradiation, the tetragonal-to-monoclinic transformation is more spontaneous and may lead to porosity or crack formation in the oxide layer. These nanopores and cracks can then short-circuit the oxide (also known as percolation of water in the oxide layer), allowing the water coolant to reach metal matrixes more easily [14, 346]. The percolation of water through the oxide layer all the way to the metal interface was measured recently for many reactor-corroded Zircaloy-2 materials by Prabhakaran *et al.* [347] using electrochemical impedance spectroscopy (EIS). The authors report that for over the various samples, there is a distribution of oxide layers that allow the water to communicate directly with the metal. Additionally, the formation and growth of equiaxed oxide grain under irradiation may increase porosity in the outer layer [315].

The percolation of the oxide layer, whether due to irradiation induced phase transformation, oxide grain growth or other mechanisms in the reactor, has been suggested by Arimescu [217] to explain the acceleration of corrosion and hydrogen uptake at high burnup in the reactor, arguing that the local water chemistry (modified by radiolysis) in the oxide layer may play a key role in the corrosion and *H* ingress kinetics once a thick oxide layer has been built on the materials. The "thick oxide" effect has been reported in many previous studies with a thickness threshold estimated at 10-15 μm [59, 173, 217], but is not sufficient to explain the

increase in corrosion kinetics and hydrogen uptake [31]. As seen in this study and in Shivprasad's work [91], no acceleration of hydrogen uptake is seen in the water rod taken out after 3 cycles in the reactor, but oxide layers up to 30 μm were measured at several elevations (Figure 5-3). On the other hand, metallic nickel was seen in the thin oxide layer of material 21 (16 μm , high elevation, high HPUF, Dresden-2 BWR) up to 10 μm from the metal/oxide interface [99], suggesting that the oxide thickness was around 5-6 μm when the hydrogen pickup increased during the 4th cycle. These observations indicate that a combination of specific conditions leads to the acceleration of corrosion and hydrogen uptake at high burnup in BWR.

Lastly, radiolysis has been extensively investigated in BWR and PWR, namely because of the stress corrosion cracking (SCC) effect in the structural components due to the increase in oxidizing species in the coolant under irradiation [212]. Radiolysis of the water under irradiation leads to the formation of many oxidizing and reducing species in the coolant. Due to the short lifetime of many of these species in water, only the O_2 and H_2O_2 (oxidizing) and H_2 molecules are stable in the coolant system. These oxidizing and reducing species may in turn affect the electrochemical potential near the metal surface of the materials, affecting the corrosion and hydrogen uptake. Especially, O_2 and H_2 are more volatile (H_2 even more) than H_2O_2 and are stripped away from the coolant by the steam present in BWRs. As such, a high H_2O_2 concentration is measured in the recirculating liquid water system, and this phenomenon led to the modification of BWR water chemistry to incorporate hydrogen injection in the recirculating water [348].

In an extensive review of Zry-2 hydrogen pickup data as a function of fluence and burnup in BWRs [173], Nissen *et. al.* reports a relationship between low power regimes following a high power period and the high hydrogen uptake of Zry-2 components. The authors argue that the high power period allows for a thick oxide layer to be formed (the "thick oxide" effect), and the following low power cycle strongly reduces the steam quality in the reactor, so that H_2 is not removed as efficiently by the steam phase in the coolant, increasing the probability of H absorption into the metal.

Additionally, the enhancement of hydrogen pickup occurred at a lower fluence in Dresden-2 reactor (Mat. 21, high HPUF, high elevation, fluence of $9.4 \times 10^{21} n/cm^2$ [99]) than in Limerick-1 reactor where materials 10 and 11 (mid and high elevation, 3 cycles, see *Table 2-1*) had a superior fluence and thicker oxides but the hydrogen pickup fraction did not increase in these materials. Because radiolysis effects are more pronounced in Dresden-2 than in Limerick-1 reactor [349], this observation supports the hypothesis that radiolysis plays an important role in enhancing hydrogen uptake at high burnup, but other factors such as the difference in water chemistry between the two reactors may also be at play.

Based on these discussions and on the results presented in this work, the author proposes a mechanism for the accelerated hydrogen uptake of the Zry-2 water rod during the additional cycle in Limerick-1 BWR, illustrated in Figure 5-4 and described below.



Figure 5-4: Illustration of the mechanism leading to accelerated hydrogen pickup in the near oxide layer of the Zry-2 water rod during the additional cycle in the Limerick-1 boiling water reactor. The conditions for the mechanism to occur in Zry-2 include high fluence, mid to high elevation in the BWR, accelerated corrosion kinetics and a thick, porous oxide layer.

At high fluence, cracks and interconnected nanopores close to the metal interface allow the coolant to reach the metal interface directly. At mid/high elevation in the water rod, the radiolysis events due to the intense irradiation flux increase the concentration of oxidizing and reducing species in the porous oxide layer, affecting the local water chemistry near the metal interface. At low power (fuel rod with a low linear power, water rods, structural components), the lower steam quality (and water flow in some cases) reduces the mixing of the water in the thick oxide layer, allowing for local water chemistry that may be vastly different to that of the bulk. Irradiation-induced acceleration of the corrosion kinetics induces oxygen depletion in the cracks and nanopores, leading to increase in hydrogen concentrations near the metal/oxide interface. Under the more reducing conditions, nickel atoms that are not yet oxidized in the near oxide may remain metallic at the cracks and nanopipes surfaces. Then, the remaining metallic nickel atoms act as catalyst for the hydrogen uptake surface reactions (and H_2 decomposition), leading to a sharp increase in hydrogen pickup.

The mechanism presented above does not occur at low elevation during the additional cycle because the low irradiation flux limits radiolysis effects in the porous oxide layer and oxidation kinetics are rather slow (low fluence). Therefore, the hydrogen concentration near the metal interface is not high enough to allow metallic nickel to remain in the oxide layer. At high elevation during the 3rd cycle, the oxidation kinetics are not fast enough and/or the percolation of the oxide layer is not complete which prevents the increase in hydrogen concentrations close to the metal interface. Now considering Zry-2 fuel cladding, a low linear power may be required (as hypothesized by Nissen *et. al* [173]) so that boiling due to the heat flux is not as frequent near the metal interface (lower steam quality), lowering the mixing with the coolant bulk so that the local chemistry in the porous oxide can then be modified [59]. In PWRs, this mechanism may be delayed (no observation of HPU acceleration for Zry-2 in PWR [59]) due to the additions of boric acid and lithium hydrides and to the high operation temperature reducing amorphization of the SPPs in the metal bulk [59], or because the oxide is more uniform with fewer cracks in the PWR environment.

Lastly, as detailed in section 3.4.2, detailed analysis of the nickel XANES signal suggests that the nickel atoms remaining metallic in the near oxide layer of the high HPUF materials are in solid solution or in small clusters, rather than in second phase precipitates. This observation is in agreement with recent work by Kucuk *et. al* [329], little to no segregation of nickel atoms was measured with 3D atom probe tomography (APT) in the oxide layers of both the low and high HPUF Zry-2 water rods corroded in Limerick-1 BWR, while the concentration in oxide solid solution corresponds to that of the bulk composition. In the same study, dissolution of the $Zr_2(Fe, Ni)$ at mid elevation after 4 cycles was reported from TEM analysis, but the dissolution had not yet occurred after 3 cycles at a similar elevation. As discussed above, the hydrogen pickup enhancement is most severe in the highest fluence region of the reactor as mentioned above, and therefore where the amorphization and dissolution of the SPPs is most advanced. For these reasons, metallic nickel atoms contributing to the enhancement of hydrogen uptake at high burnup are likely located in solid solution or in small clusters, rather than in precipitates in the near oxide layer.

Eventually, the role of nickel and of the corrosion environment in enhancing the hydrogen uptake of Zry-2 materials at high burnup was reviewed and a mechanism requiring the presence of high fluence and radiolysis, percolation of the oxide layer and accelerated corrosion during the additional was proposed to explain the hydrogen pickup ingress. The conditions for the onset of enhanced hydrogen pickup have been reviewed, and the presence of metallic nickel near the oxide layer of Zry-2 materials that suffered accelerated hydrogen ingress is confirmed with the present work. Therefore, the author predicts that this hydrogen pickup acceleration observed at high burnup in Zry-2 corroded in BWRs is not likely to occur in modern *Ni*-free alloys. In the next section, the main conclusions of this study and the proposed mechanism for enhanced hydrogen pickup are summarized, followed by the future work suggested by the author.

Chapter 6

Conclusions and Future Work

6.1 Conclusions

In this work, the oxide layers formed on in-reactor Zry-2 water rods were investigated with microbeam X-ray absorption near-edge spectroscopy (XANES), X-ray diffraction (XRD) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM) in an effort to understand the role of nickel in enhancing hydrogen pickup into the metal in the BWR environment at high burnup. Using microbeam synchrotron radiation, both the nickel oxidation state and the oxide layer microstructure were investigated (with XANES and XRD respectively) as a function of distance from the metal/oxide interface in the thick oxide layers of the Zry-2 materials. These quantities measured at different locations in the water rods were compared in terms of the hydrogen pickup observed at those locations. The main conclusions of this investigation are:

(1) The presence of metallic nickel in the oxide layer is correlated with enhanced hydrogen pickup. The correlation was directly verified for the material selected from the high elevation part of the water rod which showed metallic nickel and high hydrogen pickup. For the low elevation material, although the correlation was not directly verified (the hydrogen content at that location was high while the *Ni* atoms in the oxide layers were fully oxidized), it is believed that the high hydrogen content observed at that location results from the diffusion down the water rod of hydrogen atoms absorbed at higher elevation, driven by concentration and temperature axial gradients.

- (2) The metallic nickel atoms remaining in the oxide layers of the high hydrogen pickup materials are not in second phase precipitates (SPPs). Detailed analysis of the *Ni* XANES signal from the near oxide regions indicates that the metallic nickel atoms are no longer bonded to zirconium atoms, which shows that the metallic nickel which can affect hydrogen pickup consists of atoms in solid solution or in small clusters in the oxide layer, rather than in second phase precipitates. This is in agreement with recent atom probe tomography (APT) examinations of the selected Zry-2 water rods (high burnup, high hydrogen pickup) in which the nickel atoms were seen uniformly distributed in the oxide layer and only small clusters were observed.
- (3) Irradiation seems to play an important role in accelerating corrosion and in stabilizing metallic nickel in the oxide layer during the additional cycle. Increased oxidation kinetics and the presence of metallic nickel in the oxide layer were seen only at mid/high elevation in the water rods, where the irradiation flux is the most intense. This observation indicates that irradiation plays a key role in enhancing corrosion and nickel oxidation state. We argue that the oxide layer barrier deteriorates under irradiation in the reactor and loses its protectiveness at high fluence, allowing the water to reach the metal/oxide interface directly, which increases the corrosion kinetics of the Zry-2 water rods and in turn depletes the near oxide region of oxygen atoms. Additionally, radiolysis effect may change locally the concentration of oxidizing and reducing species in the coolant trapped within the thick and porous oxide layer during the additional cycle, as previously suggested, affecting corrosion kinetics and nickel oxidation state in the oxide layer (and in turn hydrogen pickup).

- (4) Many cracks were seen in the oxide layers of the Zry-2 water rods selected, with slightly more cracking observed in the high HPUF/high elevation samples. The oxide layers were rather uniform but extensive oxide thickness variations could be observed between different regions for all the materials, especially regions in the inner oxide layers of the samples prepared for this study. Examinations of the GNF water rods by EPRI confirmed circumferential variations of the oxide thickness in both the inner and outer parts of the two water rods. These variations may result from the differences in coolant flow, steam quality, irradiation flux and SPP distributions in the water rods, as well as the proximity to other structural materials in the reactor. These observations are coherent with previous examinations of Zry-2 oxide layers formed in BWRs.
- (5) No clear differences in oxide microstructure studied with microbeam XRD could be observed between the low and high hydrogen pickup materials. In general, the observations agree with what was previously seen in literature. In all the materials selected, the oxide consists mainly of monoclinic ZrO₂ grains and the highest content of the tetragonal oxide phase was measured in the near oxide layer (< 5 µm), confirming the tetragonal-to-monoclinic transformation as the oxide grows. This maximum tetragonal volume fraction was in the low range of values reported in literature (3-6 %). The monoclinic oxide grain growth was measured in all materials (from 17-20 nm near the metal interface, to 33-38 nm in the outer region). The largest grains were observed in the oxide layer close to the water interface of the high elevation materials, suggesting irradiation-induced grain growth in the oxide layers. Additionally, small grains compose the oxide region near the metal/oxide interface of material 14 (high HPUF, high elevation, 4 cycles) when compared to material 11 (low HPUF, high elevation, 3 cycles) which is coherent with the acceleration of corrosion during the last cycle in the reactor</p>

observed with oxide thickness measurements. Lastly, an orientation relationship between the (111) m- ZrO_2 and the (1010) α -Zr crystal planes is observed in all materials and a strong texture was consistently present in the oxide layers studied. For a significant fraction of oxide grains throughout the whole oxide layer, the (200) m- ZrO_2 direction is close to the oxide growth direction. This is coherent with previous XRD examinations of autoclave and in-reactor corroded Zr-alloys.

(6) Metallic nickel atoms from deposits at the oxide/water interface do not enhance hydrogen uptake. Nickel atoms in the oxide layer near the oxide/water interface - identified as deposits from the corrosion of other reactor components - are in a high percentage metallic for some of the samples examined, with the highest metallic fraction (0.75 or 75%) observed in the low HPUF/high elevation sample (Mat. 11), while little to no metallic nickel was present near the oxide/water interface of the high HPUF/high elevation material (Mat. 14). This observation indicates that the metallic nickel in the crud deposits do not seem to have played a determinant role in the enhancement of hydrogen uptake in the Zry-2 water rods examined. We argue that the distance to the metal interface is too large and the diffusion of hydrogen in the oxide too low for the metallic nickel atoms near the oxide/water interface to enhance hydrogen uptake into the bulk material.

From the presented results and based on previous work – a review of available literature – hypotheses, a mechanism is proposed to explain the acceleration of hydrogen uptake of the Zry-2 water rod during the additional cycle in the BWR and is believed to occur due to a combination of specific conditions in the reactor at high burnup. The proposed mechanism and the required conditions are summarized in Figure 6-1. The acceleration of hydrogen pickup during the

additional cycle in BWR is inherent to the presence of metallic nickel atoms in the bulk material, while *Ni* deposits near the oxide/water interface of the thick oxide layers are not believed to affect the hydrogen ingress. In turn, the author predicts that this phenomenon is not likely to occur at high burnup in modern *Ni*-free alloys.



Figure 6-1: Review of the conditions and mechanism leading to increased H pickup of Zry-2 materials during the additional cycle at high burnup in BWR.

6.2 Future work

In order to better understand the conditions leading to the enhancement of hydrogen pickup of Zircaloy-2 materials in BWR at high burnup, and verify the mechanism proposed, the following experiments and simulations are suggested:

- (1) Simulations of the diffusion of hydrogen in the water rods due to the concentration and temperature axial gradients may confirm the hypothesis that hydrogen picked up at mid/high elevation during the additional cycle diffused down the water rod. It is planned to perform Finite Element simulations of the hydrogen evolution in the water rod using MATLAB (and potentially BISON for 3-D simulations) to further investigate this hypothesis.
- (2) Simulations of the XANES signal of metallic *Ni* as a dopant in monoclinic and tetragonal zirconia (using FEFF software) in order to better understand the XANES signal arising from metallic nickel atoms remaining in the near oxide layer of the high hydrogen pickup materials.
- (3) Similarly, EXAFS measurements at the nickel edge in the oxide layers of the water rod investigated in this study would provide insight into the local environment of the partially metallic nickel atoms in the near oxide layer.
- (4) Additional measurements of oxide thickness and hydrogen pickup as a function of elevation in high HPUF Zry-2 BWR materials may confirm the relationship observed in this study between the irradiation profile and the oxidation kinetics and hydrogen pickup enhancements at high burnup which suggests that irradiation plays a key role in enhancing hydrogen uptake.
- (5) Additional electron microscopy analyses of the oxide layers of the different materials may yield interesting results in terms of grain size and shape of the monoclinic oxide

phase. A higher density of equiaxed grains compared to elongated oxide grains has been hypothesized to result from irradiation effect and increase porosity.

- (6) In order to verify that metallic nickel may remain in the oxide layer of the porous oxide due to the high local variations in local chemistry leading to high reducing conditions in some locations, autoclave-corrosion of Zircaloy-2 in high hydrogenated water may be performed followed by the measurement of the oxidation state of nickel in the newly built oxide. Samples must be corroded for long enough to ensure that a significant oxide was formed.
- (7) Calculations of the local water chemistry in the porous oxide layer may be performed assuming that the oxidizing species are either picked up in the material or trapped in the cracks in the porous oxide to estimate the concentration buildup during accelerated corrosion in the reactor.

Appendix A

Powder Diffraction Files (ICDD)

The following tables are the Powder Diffraction Files from the International Center for Diffraction Data (ICDD) used in this study, along with the corresponding diffraction angles at the beam energy used during the XRD experiments E = 8.5 keV.

$d(\text{\AA})$	h	k	i	l	Intensity	20
						$E = 8.5 \ keV$
2.79801	1	0	-1	0	33%	30.218
2.57301	0	0	0	2	32%	32.932
2.45899	1	0	-1	1	100%	34.506
1.89399	1	0	-1	2	17%	45.296
1.61601	1	1	-2	0	17%	53.655
1.46300	1	0	-1	3	18%	59.803
1.39899	2	0	-2	0	3%	62.841
1.36800	1	1	-2	2	18%	64.434
1.35000	2	0	-2	1	12%	65.399
1.28700	0	0	0	4	4%	69.038
1.16890	1	0	-1	4	3%	77.208
1.08420	2	0	-2	3	4%	84.548
1.05880	2	1	-3	0	2%	87.073
1.03600	2	1	-3	1	6%	89.493
1.00630	1	1	-2	4	3%	92.896
0.97830	2	1	-3	2	2%	96.403
0.96600	1	0	-1	5	4%	98.049
0.94740	2	0	-2	4	2%	100.674
0.93270	3	0	-3	0	3%	102.877
0.90030	2	1	-3	3	5%	108.208
0.87710	3	0	-3	2	3%	112.509
0.85770	0	0	0	6	1%	116.493
0.82920	2	0	-2	5	2%	123.175
0.82010	1	0	-1	6	2%	125.572

Table A-1: ICDD # **05-1665**, *hexagonal* α-**Z***r*, *a* = 3.232 Å, *c* = 5.147 Å

d(Å)	h	k	l	Intensity	20
					$E = 8.5 \; keV$
2.507	1	1	0	100%	33.825
1.7726	2	0	0	17%	48.591
1.4474	2	1	1	33%	60.514
1.2553	2	2	0	10%	71.041
1.1211	3	1	0	15%	81.164
1.0234	2	2	2	4%	90.901
0.9475	3	2	1	23%	100.659
0.8863	4	0	0	3%	110.748
0.8356	4	1	1	15%	121.573
0.7928	4	2	0	25%	133.831

Table A-2: ICDD # **34-0657**, *cubic* β-Zr, *a* = 3.5453 Å

Table A-3: ICDD # **26-1399**, *hexagonal* ω-**Z***r*, *a* = 5.039 Å, *c* = 3.136 Å

d(Å)	h	k	i	l	Intensity	20
						$E = 8.5 \ keV$
3.13	0	0	0	1	20%	26.949
2.53	1	1	-2	0	100%	33.509
1.961	1	1	-2	1	10%	43.667
1.792	2	0	-2	1	40%	48.031
1.566	0	0	0	2	20%	55.514
1.457	3	0	-3	0	80%	60.074
1.33	1	1	-2	2	30%	66.509
1.259	2	2	-4	0	30%	70.800
1.129	3	1	-4	1	30%	80.479
1.066	3	0	-3	2	20%	86.340
0.982	2	2	-4	2	25%	95.921
0.9533	3	2	-5	1	40%	99.822
0.9428	2	0	-2	3	5%	101.350
0.8829	2	1	-3	3	20%	111.390
0.8404	5	0	-5	1	30%	120.413
0.814	4	1	-5	2	40%	127.266
0.7983	4	2	-6	1	20%	132.012
0.7911	3	1	-4	3	10%	134.412

Table A-4: ICDD # **34-0690**, *tetragonal* γ-ZrH

$d(\text{\AA})$	h	k	l	Intensity	20
				2	$E = 8.5 \ keV$
2.72	1	1	1	100%	31.106
2.484	0	0	2	30%	34.149

Table A-5: ICDD # **08-2018**, *cubic* δ-ZrH_{1.5}

$d(\text{\AA})$	h	k	l	Intensity	20
					$E = 8.5 \ keV$
2.76	1	1	1	100%	30.644
2.4	2	0	0	30%	35.382

Table A-6: ICDD # **34-0649**, *cubic* δ-ZrH_{1.66}

d(Å)	h	k	l	Intensity	20
					$E = 8.5 \ keV$
2.76	1	1	1	100%	30.644
2.391	2	0	0	47%	35.520
1.69	2	2	0	37%	51.132
1.442	3	1	1	43%	60.765

Table A-7: ICDD # 34-0649, tetragonal &-ZrH_{1.95}

	n	l	Intensity	2θ
				$E = 8.5 \ keV$
1	1	1	100%	30.633
2	0	0	30%	34.074
	1 2	1 1 2 0	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 1 1 100% 2 0 0 30%

Table A-8: ICDD # 20-1464, tetragonal ZrH_2

	$d(\text{\AA})$	h	k	l	Intensity	20
						$E = 8.5 \ keV$
-	2.76	1	1	1	100%	30.644
	2.45	2	0	0	30%	34.637

d(Å)	h	k	l	Intensity	20
					$E = 8.5 \ keV$
5.087	0	0	1	3%	16.486
3.698	1	1	0	14%	22.749
3.639	0	1	1	10%	23.123
3.165	-1	1	1	100%	26.645
2.841	1	1	1	68%	29.750
2.623	2	0	0	21%	32.287
2.606	0	2	0	11%	32.504
2.54	0	0	2	13%	33.373
2.499	-2	0	1	2%	33.937
2.334	1	0	2	4%	36.417
2.2845	0	1	2	0.1%	37.235
2.2527	-2	1	1	0.1%	37.780
2.2138	1	1	2	12%	38.470
2.1919	2	0	1	5%	38.870
2.1805	-1	2	1	5%	39.081
2.0203	2	1	1	7%	42.323
1.991	-2	0	2	6%	42.976
1.8593	-2	1	2	2%	46.190
1.8481	2	2	0	18%	46.486
1.8187	0	2	2	22%	47.283
1.8038	-2	2	1	13%	47.697
1.783	-1	2	2	5%	48.289
1.6937	0	2	3	11%	51.012
1.6772	2	0	1	0.1%	51.551
1.6571	3	2	2	0%	52.223
1.6524	-3	1	1	9%	52.383
1.6439	0	1	1	6%	52.674
1.61	-1	3	3	7%	53.872
1.5924	-1	1	1	4%	54.516
1.5822	-2	3	2	3%	54.897
1.5459	1	2	1	8%	56.299
1.5393	-2	3	3	7%	56.562
1.5095	3	1	1	5%	57.783
1.496	-3	2	2	5%	58.354
1.4777	1	3	3	8%	59.148
1.452	3	0	0	1%	60.303
1.4486	2	3	0	2%	60.459

Table A-9: ICDD # **37-1484**, *monoclinic* **ZrO**₂, a = 5.3129 Å, b = 5.2125 Å, c = 5.1471 Å, $\beta = 99.218^{\circ}$.

1.4343	0	3	2	0.1%	61.126
1.4262	-2	3	1	2%	61.510
1.4201	0	2	3	6%	61.804
1.4165	-1	3	2	4%	61.978
1.3615	2	3	1	1%	64.779
1.3494	3	2	1	0.1%	65.432
1.3398	-3	2	2	0.1%	65.960
1.3253	-2	2	3	2%	66.776
1.3217	-4	0	1	4%	66.982
1.3113	4	0	0	1%	67.584
1.3089	-2	3	2	1%	67.725
1.3035	0	4	0	0.1%	68.043
1.3005	3	1	2	0.1%	68.222
1.2862	-3	1	3	0.1%	69.087
1.27	0	0	4	2%	70.097
1.2647	1	4	0	4%	70.434
1.2455	-1	1	4	1%	71.685
1.2321	3	3	0	0.1%	72.588
1.223	4	0	1	0.1%	73.216
1.2127	0	3	3	1%	73.940

$d(\text{\AA})$	h	k	l	Intensity	$2\theta \ (E=8.5 \ keV)$
2.995	1	0	1	100%	28.188
2.635	0	0	2	39%	32.136
2.574	1	1	0	34%	32.919
2.134	1	0	2	2%	39.968
1.841	1	1	2	34%	46.676
1.82	2	0	0	38%	47.247
1.582	1	0	3	12%	54.905
1.5553	2	1	1	13%	55.929
1.4975	2	0	2	7%	58.290
1.385	2	1	2	0.1%	63.550
1.3175	0	0	4	6%	67.223
1.287	2	2	0	8%	69.038
1.2388	1	0	4	0.1%	72.134
1.194	2	1	3	3%	75.297
1.1824	3	0	1	3%	76.167
1.1728	1	1	4	3%	76.904
1.1564	2	2	2	2%	78.201
1.1511	3	1	0	2%	78.630
1.0672	2	0	4	2%	86.219
1.0548	3	1	2	3%	87.486
1.0124	1	0	5	2%	92.173
0.9983	3	0	3	2%	93.867
0.9915	3	2	1	2%	94.711
0.9206	2	2	4	2%	104.787
0.91	4	0	0	3%	106.537
0.8847	2	1	5	1%	111.049
0.8783	0	0	6	1%	112.274
0.8753	3	2	3	1%	112.862
0.8707	4	1	1	1%	113.780
0.8668	3	1	4	1%	114.575
0.8602	4	0	2	1%	115.956
0.858	3	3	0	1%	116.428
0.8313	1	1	6	1%	122.642
0.8158	3	3	2	3%	126.758
0.8139	4	2	0	3%	127.294
0.7957	3	0	5	2%	132.860
0.791	2	0	6	3%	134.446
0.788	4	1	3	3%	135.214
0.7777	4	2	2	3%	139.367

Table A-10: ICDD # **42-1164**, *tetragonal* ZrO_2 , a = 3.64 Å, b = 5.27 Å.

$d(\text{\AA})$	h	k	l	Intensity	20
					$E = 8.5 \ keV$
2.95	0	1	1	100%	28.627
2.575	0	0	2	8%	32.906
2.544	1	1	0	12%	33.319
2.095	0	1	2	1%	40.745
1.8099	1	1	2	43%	47.527
1.7988	0	2	0	22%	47.838
1.5497	0	1	3	14%	56.149
1.5358	1	2	1	24%	56.703
1.4749	2	0	2	7%	59.272
1.2879	0	0	4	3%	68.983
1.272	2	2	0	5%	69.970
1.1744	1	2	3	11%	76.780
1.1685	0	3	1	6%	77.239
1.149	1	1	4	4%	78.802
1.1411	2	2	2	3%	79.455
1.1377	1	3	1	3%	79.740
1.0472	0	2	4	3%	88.285
1.0408	1	3	2	9%	88.971

Table A-11: ICDD # **50-1089**, *tetragonal* ZrO_2 , a = 3.8984 Å, b = 5.152 Å.

$d(\text{\AA})$	h	k	l	Intensitv	20		
				<i>.</i>	$E = 8.5 \ keV$		
2.96	1	1	1	100%	28.528		
2.6	0	0	2	18%	32.581		
2.54	2	0	0	25%	33.373		
2.12	1	1	2	6%	40.244		
1.83	2	0	2	65%	46.973		
1.81	2	2	0	35%	47.524		
1.71	2	2	1	2%	50.491		
or (300)							
1.575	1	1	3	25%	55.169		
1.547	1	3	1	45%	56.256		
1.493	2	2	2	12%	58.483		
1.377	1	3	2	2%	63.963		
			or				
(123)							
1.363	2	3	1	2%	64.699		
1.312	0	0	4	4%	67.543		
1.281	4	0	0	8%	69.408		
1.233	1	1	4	2%	72.527		
1.204	3	3	0	2%	74.565		
1.19	1	3	3	12%	75.595		
1.179				8%	76.426		
1.169				6%	77.200		
1.161				4%	77.832		

Table A-12: ICDD # **17-923**, *tetragonal* ZrO_2 , a = 5.12 Å, b = 5.25 Å.

Table A-13: ICDD # **51-1149**, *cubic* **Zr0**, *a* = 4.6258 Å.

d(Å)	h	k	l	Intensity	20
w(II)					$E = 8.5 \ keV$
2.6705	1	1	1	100%	31.698
2.3131	2	0	0	91%	36.758
1.635	2	2	0	48%	52.983
1.3945	3	1	1	35%	63.067
1.3353	2	2	2	13%	66.211
1.1565	4	0	0	9%	78.192
1.0611	3	3	1	12%	86.837
1.0342	4	2	0	18%	89.691
0.9444	4	2	2	14%	101.114

d(Å)	h	k	i	l	Intensity	20
						$E = 8.5 \ keV$
4.66	0	1	-1	2	50%	18.008
3.84	0	1	-1	5	50%	21.897
3.29	1	0	-1	7	20%	25.615
2.817	1	1	-2	0	80%	30.009
2.601	0	0	0	12	80%	32.568
2.477	1	1	-2	6	100%	34.247
2.273	2	0	-2	5	5%	37.430
2.14	0	2	-2	7	50%	39.852
2.081	0	0	0	15	5%	41.032
1.911	1	1	-2	12	80%	44.871
1.841	2	1	-3	1	10%	46.676
1.795	2	1	-3	4	10%	47.946
1.769	1	2	-3	5	10%	48.696
1.708	2	1	-3	7	10%	50.555
1.667	1	2	-3	8	5%	51.889
1.627	3	0	-3	0	80%	53.264

Table A-14: ICDD # **22-1025**, *hexagonal* Zr_3O , a = 5.563 Å, b = 31.185 Å.

d(Å)	h	k	l	Intensity	20
					$E = 8.5 \ keV$
4.13	1	0	2	70%	20.342
3.04	1	0	4	10%	27.762
2.815	1	1	0	80%	30.031
2.599	0	0	6	80%	32.594
2.475	1	1	3	100%	34.276
2.067	2	0	4	50%	41.322
1.909	1	1	6	80%	44.920
1.83	2	1	1	20%	46.973
1.793	2			10%	48.003
1.666	2	1	4	10%	51.923
1.625	3	0	0	80%	53.335
1.586	2	1	5	10%	54.754
1.522	2	0	8	10%	57.264
1.475	1	1	9	80%	59.267
1.42	2	1	7	5%	61.808
1.407	2	2	0	70%	62.443
1.378	3	0	6	80%	63.911
1.359	2	2	3	80%	64.913
1.347	3	1	1	5%	65.563
1.332	3	1	2	20%	66.396
1.299	0	0	12	70%	68.312

Table A-15: ICDD # **21-1498**, *hexagonal* Zr_3O_{1-x} , a = 5.56 Å, b = 15.59 Å.

Appendix B

XRD patterns of the oxide layers formed on Mat. 9, Mat. 11 and Mat. 12

XRD patterns of the near metal, near oxide, mid oxide and far oxide regions from materials 9 (low elevation, low HPUF), 11 (high elevation, low HPUF) and 12 (low elevation, high HPUF) for orientation analysis (section 4.3).



Material 9 (low elevation, low HPUF): near metal region

Figure B-1: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near metal region of material 9: (a) $-4 \mu m$; (b) $-1 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 9 (low elevation, low HPUF): near oxide region



Figure B-2: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 9: (a) +2 μ m; (b) +5 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 9 (low elevation, low HPUF): mid oxide region



Figure B-3: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the mid oxide region of material 9: (a) +10 μ m; (b) +15 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 9 (low elevation, low HPUF): far oxide region



Figure B-4: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the far oxide region of material 9: (a) +20 μ m; (b) +25 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 11 (high elevation, low HPUF): near metal region



Figure B-5: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near metal region of material 11: (a) $-4 \mu m$; (b) $-1 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 11 (high elevation, low HPUF): near oxide region



Figure B-6: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 11: (a) $+2 \mu m$; (b) $+5 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 11 (high elevation, low HPUF): mid oxide region



Figure B-7: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the mid oxide region of material 11: (a) +10 μ m; (b) +15 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 11 (high elevation, low HPUF): far oxide region



Figure B-8: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the far oxide region of material 11: (a) +20 μ m; (b) +25 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 12 (low elevation, high HPUF): near metal region



Figure B-9: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near metal region of material 12: (a) $-4 \mu m$; (b) $-1 \mu m$. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 12 (low elevation, high HPUF): near oxide region



Figure B-10: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 12: (a) +2 μ m; (b) +5 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 12 (low elevation, high HPUF): mid oxide region



Figure B-11: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the mid oxide region of material 12: (a) +10 μ m; (b) +15 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Material 12 (low elevation, high HPUF): far oxide region



Figure B-12: XRD pattern (image on the left, and "cake" on the right) at two locations in the near oxide region of material 12: (a) +20 μ m; (b) +25 μ m. The high intensity region for the main peaks of α -Zr and m-ZrO₂ are indicated by the colored arrows.

Bibliography

- [1] International Atomic Energy Agency. *Nuclear power reactors in the world*. Reference Data Series No. 2. Vienna (Austria), IAEA, 2022. ISBN 978-92-0-125122-0.
- [2] Lamarsh JR, Baratta AJ. *Introduction to Nuclear Engineering*. Upper Saddle River, NJ (USA), Prentice-Hall, 2001, 3rd edition. ISBN 0-201-82498-1.
- Tinoco H, Ahlinder S. *Mixing conditions in the lower plenum and core inlet of a BWR*.
 Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Nuclear Engineering. Volume 2: Fuel Cycle and High Level Waste Management; Computational Fluid Dynamics, Neutronics Methods and Coupled Codes; Student Paper Competition. Orlando, FL (USA), May 11-15, 2008. ASME. pp. 463-480. <u>https://doi.org/10.1115/ICONE16-48617</u>
- [4] Todreas N, Kazami M. *Nuclear Systems I Thermal Hydraulic Fundamentals*. New York, NY (USA), Hemisphere Publishing, 1990. 705 pages. ISBN 0-89116-935-0.
- [5] Weihermiller W, Allison G. LWR nuclear fuel bundle data for use in fuel bundle handling. Battelle Pacific Northwest Labs., Richland, WA (USA), September 1979. Report PNL-2575. <u>https://doi.org/10.2172/5856990</u>
- [6] Motta AT, Olander DR. *Light Water Reactor Materials, Volume I: Fundamentals*. La Grange Park, IL (USA), American Nuclear Society, 2017. ISBN 978-0-89448-461-2.
- [7] Nuclear Regulatory Commision. *Chapter 2.2 Fuel and control rods systems*, in *General Electric Systems Technology Manual*. NRC, 2011. ML11258A302.
- [8] Azevedo C. Selection of fuel cladding material for nuclear fission reactors. Engineering Failure Analysis, 2011. **18**(8). pp. 1943-1962. ISSN 1350-6307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engfailanal.2011.06.010
- [9] Gauntt RO, et al. Fukushima Daiichi accident study (status as of April 2012). Sandia National Laboratories (SNL), Albuquerque, NM (USA) and Livermore, CA (USA), Albuquerque, NM (USA) and Livermore, CA (USA), August 2012. Report SAND2012-6173. <u>https://doi.org/10.2172/1055601</u>
- [10] Wang H, et al. Development of U-frame bending system for studying the vibration integrity of spent nuclear fuel. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2013. 440(1-3). pp. 201-213. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2013.05.009
- [11] Olander DR, Motta AT. *Light Water Reactor Materials, Volume II: Applications*. La Grange Park, IL (USA), American Nuclear Society, 2021. ISBN 978-0-89448-467-4.
- [12] Allen T, Busby J, Meyer M, Petti D. *Materials challenges for nuclear systems*. Materials Today, 2010. **13**(12). pp. 14-23. ISSN 1369-7021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-7021(10)70220-0</u>
- [13] Motta AT, Couet A, Comstock RJ. Corrosion of zirconium alloys used for nuclear fuel cladding. Annual Review of Materials Research, 2015. 45. pp. 311-343. ISSN 1531-7331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-matsci-070214-020951</u>
- [14] Rickover HG, Geiger LD, Lustman B. *History of the development of zirconium alloys for use in nuclear reactors*. Energy Research and Development Administration Division of Naval Reactors, Denver, CO (USA), 21 March 1975. Report **TID-26740**. <u>https://doi.org/10.2172/4240391</u>
- [15] Kass S. *The development of the Zircaloys*, in *Corrosion of Zirconium Alloys*, ed.
 Anderson W. West Conshohocken, PA (USA), ASTM International, 1964. STP 47070S.
 pp. 3-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP47070S</u>
- [16] Lustman B. Zirconium technology twenty years of evolution. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry (Fourth Conference), 1979. ASTM International, STP 681. pp. 5-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/MNL12104R</u>
- [17] Lustman B, Kerze F, Jr. *The Metallurgy of Zirconium*. National Nuclear Energy Series, Division VII. NY (USA), McGraw-Hill, 1955, 1st edition. 776 pages. ISBN 0-59889-156-0, 978-05-9-889156-3.
- [18] Hirano M, et al. Insights from review and analysis of the Fukushima Dai-ichi accident: Fukushima NPP accident related. Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology, 2012.
 49(1). pp. 1-17. ISSN 0022-3131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18811248.2011.636538</u>
- [19] Cox B. Pellet-clad interaction (PCI) failures of zirconium alloy fuel cladding a review. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1990. 172(3). pp. 249-292. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(90)90282-R
- [20] Rosenbaum H, et al. Zirconium-barrier cladding attributes. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Seventh International Symposium, 1987. ASTM International, STP 939. pp. 675-698. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP28152S</u>
- [21] Miyashita T, et al. Corrosion and hydrogen pick-up behaviors of cladding and structural components in BWR high burnup 9x9 lead use assemblies. Proceedings of the LWR Fuel Performance Meeting. San Francisco, CA (USA), 30 Sept - 3 Oct, 2007. American Nuclear Society. pp. 401-408.
- [22] Yeniscavich W, Wolfe R, Lieberman R. Hydrogen absorption by nickel enriched zircaloy-2. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1959. 1(3). pp. 271-280. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(59)90023-6
- [23] Lemaignan C. 2.07-Zirconium alloys: properties and characteristics, in Comprehensive Nuclear Materials, Volume 2, ed. Konings RJM. Elsevier, 2012. pp. 217-232. ISBN 978-00-8-056033-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-056033-5.00015-X</u>
- [24] Sabol GP. ZIRLO an alloy development success. Journal of ASTM International, 2005.
 2(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/JAI12942</u>
- [25] Garner GL, Mardon JP. *Alloy M5 in action*. Nuclear Engineering International, 2002.47(578). pp. 36-37.
- [26] Garner G, Mardon J. *Alloy M5 cladding performance update*. Nuclear Engineering International, 2011. **56**(678). pp. 28-29. ISSN 0029-5507.
- [27] Jenkins B, et al. APT and TEM study of behaviour of alloying elements in neutronirradiated zirconium-based alloys. Scripta Materialia, 2022. 208, 114323. ISSN 1359-6462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scriptamat.2021.114323
- [28] ASTM International. *Standard specification for hot-rolled and cold-finished zirconium and zirconium alloy bars, rod, and wire for nuclear application.* ASTM B351/B351M-13 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/B0351_B0351M-13R18</u>
- [29] ASTM International. Standard specification for zirconium and zirconium alloy ingots for nuclear application. ASTM B350/B350M-11 2021. https://doi.org/10.1520/B0350_B0350M-11R21
- [30] ASTM International. *Standard specifications for zirconium and zirconium alloy sheet, strip, and plate for nuclear application*. ASTM B352/B352M-17, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1520/B0352_B0352M-17R21
- [31] International Atomic Energy Agency. *Waterside corrosion of zirconium alloys in nuclear power plants*. IAEA-TECDOC-996. Vienna, IAEA, 1998.
- [32] Yang J, et al. Review on chromium coated zirconium alloy accident tolerant fuel cladding. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 2022. 895, 162450. ISSN 0925-8388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2021.162450
- [33] Bachhav M, et al. *High throughput studies on irradiated high entropy alloys*. Microscopy and Microanalysis, 2022. **28**(S1). pp. 2100-2101. ISSN 1431-9276. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1431927622008121

- [34] Alat E, et al. *Neutronic and mechanical evaluation of rare earth doped and undoped nitride-based coatings for accident tolerant fuels*. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2019.
 518. pp. 419-430. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2019.02.044
- [35] Tang C, Stueber M, Seifert HJ, Steinbrueck M. Protective coatings on zirconium-based alloys as accident-tolerant fuel (ATF) claddings. Corrosion Reviews, 2017. 35(3). pp. 141-165. ISSN 2191-0316. https://doi.org/10.1515/corrrev-2017-0010
- [36] Zhong W, et al. Performance of iron-chromium-aluminum alloy surface coatings on Zircaloy 2 under high-temperature steam and normal BWR operating conditions. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2016. 470. pp. 327-338. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2015.11.037
- [37] Alat E, et al. *Ceramic coating for corrosion (c3) resistance of nuclear fuel cladding*. Surface and Coatings Technology, 2015. **281**. pp. 133-143. ISSN 0257-8972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surfcoat.2015.08.062
- [38] Kratochvílová I, et al. Nanosized polycrystalline diamond cladding for surface protection of zirconium nuclear fuel tubes. Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 2014.
 214(11). pp. 2600-2605. ISSN 0924-0136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmatprotec.2014.05.009
- [39] Idarraga-Trujillo I, et al. Assessment at CEA of coated nuclear fuel cladding for LWRs with increased margins in LOCA and beyond LOCA conditions. Proceedings of the TopFuel 2013 Meeting. Charlotte, NC (USA), Sept 15-19, 2013. American Nuclear Society, 2. pp. 860-867.
- [40] Xiao W, et al. Thermal shock resistance of TiN-, Cr-, and TiN/Cr-coated zirconium alloy. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2019. 526. pp. 151777. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2019.151777
- [41] Brachet JC, et al. Behavior under LOCA conditions of enhanced accident tolerant chromium coated zircaloy-4 claddings. Proceedings of the TopFuel 2016 Meeting: LWR Fuels with Enhanced Safety and Performance. Boise, ID (USA), Sept 11 - 15, 2016. American Nuclear Society. pp. 1173-1178.
- [42] Alat E, Wolfe D, Motta A, Hu J. Corrosion and ion irradiation behavior of ceramiccoated nuclear fuel cladding. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: 19th International Symposium, 2021. ASTM International, STP 162220190029. pp. 149-171. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP162220190029
- [43] Jun Z, et al. Effect of negative bias on TiAlSiN coating deposited on nitrided Zircaloy-4. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2018. 498. pp. 76-82. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2017.10.001</u>
- [44] Krishnan R, Asundi M. Zirconium alloys in nuclear technology. Proceedings of the Indian Academy of Sciences Section C: Engineering Sciences, 1981. 4. pp. 41-56. ISSN 0250-5983. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02843474</u>
- [45] Jaworska L, et al. Zirconium phase transformation under static high pressure and ω-Zr phase stability at high temperatures. Materials, 2019. 12(14), 2244. ISSN 1996-1944. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12142244
- [46] Zhang J, et al. Experimental constraints on the phase diagram of elemental zirconium. Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids, 2005. 66(7). pp. 1213-1219. ISSN 0022-3697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpcs.2005.03.004</u>
- [47] Ishii Y, Sykes J. *Microstructure of oxide layers formed on Zircaloy-2 in air at 450 C*. Materials at High Temperatures, 2000. **17**(1). pp. 23-28. ISSN 0960-3409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1179/mht.2000.005</u>

- [48] Xu L, et al. Production of nuclear grade zirconium: A review. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2015. 466. pp. 21-28. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2015.07.010</u>
- [49] Anderson DL. Chemical composition of the mantle. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 1983. 88(S01). pp. B41-B52. ISSN 0148-0227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/JB088iS01p00B41</u>
- [50] Li S, et al. Preparation of zirconium metal by electrolysis. Journal of The Electrochemical Society, 2021. 168(6). pp. 062508. ISSN 1945-7111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1149/1945-7111/ac0996</u>
- [51] Revil-Baudard M, et al. *Solidification of a vacuum arc-remelted zirconium ingot.* Metallurgical and Materials Transactions B, 2014. **45**. pp. 51-57. ISSN 1073-5615. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11663-013-9964-z
- [52] Ensor B. *The nature of unstable oxide growth in zirconium and zirconium alloys*. PhD Dissertation in Nuclear Engineering, Pennsylvania State University, 2016. University Park, PA (USA).
- [53] Crepin J, Bretheau T, Caldemaison D. *Plastic deformation mechanisms of β treated zirconium*. Acta Metallurgica et Materialia, 1995. **43**(10). pp. 3709-3719. ISSN 0956-7151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0956-7151(95)90154-X</u>
- [54] Mardon J-P, Charquet D, Senevat J. Optimization of PWR behavior of stress-relieved Zircaloy-4 cladding tubes by improving the manufacturing and inspection process. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Tenth International Symposium, 1994. ASTM International, STP 1245. pp. 328-348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP15197S</u>
- [55] Beie H-J, et al. *Examinations of the corrosion mechanism of zirconium alloys*. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Tenth International Symposium, 1994. ASTM International, STP 1245. pp. 615-643. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP152128</u>
- [56] Garzarolli F, Steinberg E, Weidinger HG. Microstructure and corrosion studies for optimized PWR and BWR Zircaloy cladding. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eighth International Symposium, 1989. ASTM International, STP 1023. pp. 202-212. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP18866S
- [57] Gros JP, Wadier JF. Precipitate growth kinetics in Zircaloy-4. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1990. 172(1). pp. 85-96. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(90)90012-C</u>
- [58] Robson J. Assessment of annealing parameter approximations in zirconium alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2019. **527**, 151814. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2019.151814</u>
- [59] Garzarolli F, Cox B, Rudling P. *Optimization of Zry-2 for high burnups*. Journal of ASTM International, 2010. **7**(7), JAI102955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/JAI102955</u>
- [60] Steinberg E, Weidinger H, Schaa A. Analytical approaches and experimental verification to describe the influence of cold work and heat treatment on the mechanical properties of Zircaloy cladding tubes. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Sixth International Symposium, 1984. ASTM International, STP 824. pp. 106-122. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP34465S
- [61] Charquet D. Improvement of the uniform corrosion resistance of Zircaloy-4 in the absence of irradiation. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1988. 160(2-3). pp. 186-195. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(88)90047-5</u>
- [62] Garzarolli F, Stehle H, Steinberg E. Behavior and properties of Zircaloys in power Reactor a Short review of pertinent aspects in LWR fuel. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eleventh International Symposium, 1996. ASTM International, STP 1295. pp. 12-32. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP16165S

- [63] Garzarolli F, Schumann R, Steinberg E. Corrosion optimized Zircaloy for boiling water reactor (BWR) fuel elements. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Tenth International Symposium, 1994. ASTM International, STP 1245. pp. 709-723. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP15216S
- [64] Bradley ER, Nyström A. Microstructure and properties of corrosion-resistant zirconiumtin-iron-chromium-nickel alloys. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Tenth International Symposium, 1994. ASTM International, STP 1245. pp. 483-498. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP15205S
- [65] Vander Sande JB, Bement AL. An investigation of second phase particles in Zircaloy-4 alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1974. 52(1). pp. 115-118. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(74)90032-4</u>
- [66] Rheem K-S, Park W-K. *Strain ageing in Zircaloy-4*. Nuclear Engineering and Technology, 1976. **8**(1). pp. 19-27. ISSN 1738-5733.
- [67] Kelly PM, Smith PD. Strain-ageing in zirconium-oxygen alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1973. 46(1). pp. 23-34. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(73)90118-9</u>
- [68] Chemelle P, Knorr D, Van Der Sande J, Pelloux R. Morphology and composition of second phase particles in Zircaloy-2. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1983. 113(1). pp. 58-64. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(83)90166-6</u>
- [69] Meng X, Northwood DO. Second phase particles in Zircaloy-2. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1989. 168(1-2). pp. 125-136. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(89)90573-4</u>
- [70] Villars P, Cenzual K. ZrCr2 crystal structure. Datasheet sd_0525002 from PAULING FILE Multinaries Edition in: Inorganic Solid Phases (online database). Heidelberg (Germany), SpringerMaterials, 2022. Last access 21/10/2023. Available at: https://materials.springer.com/isp/crystallographic/docs/sd_0525002
- [71] Villars P, Cenzual K. *NiZr2 (Zr2Ni tet) crystal structure*. Datasheet sd_0251548 from PAULING FILE Multinaries Edition in: Inorganic Solid Phases (online database). Heidelberg (Germany), SpringerMaterials, 2022. Last access 21/10/2023. Available at: <u>https://materials.springer.com/isp/crystallographic/docs/sd_0251548</u>
- [72] Villars P, Cenzual K. *FeZr2 (Zr2Fe ht) crystal structure*. Datasheet sd_0251546 from PAULING FILE Multinaries Edition in: Inorganic Solid Phases (online database). Heidelberg (Germany), SpringerMaterials, 2022. Last access 21/10/2023. Available at: https://materials.springer.com/isp/crystallographic/docs/sd_0251546
- [73] Villars P, Cenzual K. *Fe2Zr (ZrFe2) crystal structure*. Datasheet sd_0457466 from PAULING FILE Multinaries Edition in: Inorganic Solid Phases (online database). Heidelberg (Germany), SpringerMaterials, 2022. Last access 21/10/2023. Available at: https://materials.springer.com/isp/crystallographic/docs/sd_0457466
- [74] Annand KJ, MacLaren I, Gass M. Utilising DualEELS to probe the nanoscale mechanisms of the corrosion of Zircaloy-4 in 350 C pressurised water. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2015. 465. pp. 390-399. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2015.06.022
- [75] Dong Y, Motta AT, Marquis EA. Atom probe tomography study of alloying element distributions in Zr alloys and their oxides. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2013. 442(1-3). pp. 270-281. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2013.08.055</u>
- [76] Ni N, et al. How the crystallography and nanoscale chemistry of the metal/oxide interface develops during the aqueous oxidation of zirconium cladding alloys. Acta Materialia, 2012. 60(20). pp. 7132-7149. ISSN 1359-6454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actamat.2012.09.021

- [77] Chen L, et al. Discussion on the presence condition of suboxide ZrO beneath the oxide in zirconium alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2022. 571. pp. 154011. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2022.154011
- [78] Peng Q, et al. Corrosion behavior of model zirconium alloys in deaerated supercritical water at 500°C. Corrosion The Journal of Science of Engineering, 2007. 63(6). pp. 577-590. <u>https://doi.org/10.5006/1.3278408</u>
- [79] Abriata JP, Garces J, Versaci R. *The O-Zr (oxygen-zirconium) system*. Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams, 1986. 7(2). pp. 116-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02881546</u>
- [80] Durandurdu M. Novel high-pressure phase of ZrO2: An ab initio prediction. Journal of Solid State Chemistry, 2015. 230. pp. 233-236. ISSN 0022-4596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssc.2015.07.010
- [81] Jaffe JE, Bachorz RA, Gutowski M. *Low-temperature polymorphs of Zr O 2 and Hf O 2: A density-functional theory study.* Physical Review B, 2005. **72**(14), 144107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.72.144107</u>
- [82] Stoll U, Slavinskaya N. Corrosion behavior of zirconium alloys in the aqueous environment. Phenomenological aspects. Overview. Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology, 2023. 60(5). pp. 573-602. ISSN 0022-3131. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223131.2022.2127954
- [83] Guillou R, et al. In-situ time-resolved study of structural evolutions in a zirconium alloy during high temperature oxidation and cooling. Materials Characterization, 2019. 158, 109971. ISSN 1044-5803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchar.2019.109971
- [84] Han Y, Zhu J. Surface science studies on the zirconia-based model catalysts. Topics in Catalysis, 2013. 56. pp. 1525-1541. ISSN 1572-9028. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11244-013-0156-5</u>
- [85] Hann RE, Suitch PR, Pentecost JL. Monoclinic crystal structures of ZrO2 and HfO2 refined from X-ray powder diffraction data. Journal of the American Ceramic Society, 1985. 68(10). pp. C-285-C-286. ISSN 0002-7820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1151-2916.1985.tb11534.x</u>
- [86] Garvie RC. Stabilization of the tetragonal structure in zirconia microcrystals. Journal of Physical Chemistry, 1978. 82(2). pp. 218-224. ISSN 0022-3654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/j100491a016</u>
- [87] Liao J, et al. Research on the existence and stability of interfacial tetragonal zirconia formed on zirconium alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2020. 528, 151846. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2019.151846</u>
- [88] Lamperti A, et al. *Stabilization of tetragonal/cubic phase in Fe doped zirconia grown by atomic layer deposition*. Thin Solid Films, 2013. **533**. pp. 83-87. ISSN 0040-6090. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsf.2012.11.127
- [89] Yilmazbayhan A. *Microstructural basis of uniform corrosion in Zr alloys*. PhD Dissertation in Nuclear Engineering, Pennsylvania State University, 2004. University Park, PA (USA).
- [90] Ensor B, et al. Microbeam synchrotron radiation diffraction and fluorescence of oxide layers formed on zirconium alloys at different corrosion temperatures. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2019. 526, 151779. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2019.151779
- [91] Shivprasad A. *The role of nickel in hydrogen pick-up during in-reactor corrosion of zirconium alloys*. PhD Dissertation in Nuclear Engineering, Pennsylvania State University, 2017. University Park, PA (USA).
- [92] Anada H, Takeda K. *Microstructure of oxides on Zircaloy-4, 1.0 Nb Zircaloy-4, and Zircaloy-2 formed in 10.3 MPa steam at 673 K.* Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry:

Eleventh International Symposium, 1996. ASTM International, **STP 1295**. pp. 35-54. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP16166S

- [93] Garner A, Frankel P, Partezana J, Preuss M. The effect of substrate texture and oxidation temperature on oxide texture development in zirconium alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2017. 484. pp. 347-356. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2016.10.037
- [94] Li P, Chen I-W, Penner-Hahn JE. Effect of dopants on zirconia stabilization an X-ray absorption study: I, trivalent dopants. Journal of the American Ceramic Society, 1994.
 77(1). pp. 118-128. ISSN 0002-7820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1151-2916.1994.tb06964.x</u>
- [95] Shukla S, Seal S. Mechanisms of room temperature metastable tetragonal phase stabilisation in zirconia. International Materials Reviews, 2005. 50(1). pp. 45-64. ISSN 0950-6608. <u>https://doi.org/10.1179/174328005X14267</u>
- [96] Fabris S, Paxton AT, Finnis MW. A stabilization mechanism of zirconia based on oxygen vacancies only. Acta Materialia, 2002. 50(20). pp. 5171-5178. ISSN 1359-6454. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-6454(02)00385-3
- [97] McCafferty E. Introduction to Corrosion Science. New York, NY (USA), Springer, 2010, 1st edition. pp. 302. ISBN 978-1-4419-0454-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-0455-</u>3
- [98] Hasegawa M. Chapter 3.3 Ellingham diagram, in Treatise on Process Metallurgy Volume I: Process Fundamentals, ed. Seetharaman S. Elsevier, 2014. pp. 507-516. ISBN 978-0-0809-6986-2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-096986-2.00032-1</u>
- [99] Shivprasad AP, et al. Microbeam X-ray absorption near-edge spectroscopy of alloying elements in the oxide layers of irradiated Zircaloy-2. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eighteenth International Symposium, Hilton Head, SC (USA), 2018. ASTM International, STP 1597. pp. 524-554. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP159720160076
- [100] Couet A, Motta AT, de Gabory B, Cai Z. Microbeam X-ray absorption near-edge spectroscopy study of the oxidation of Fe and Nb in zirconium alloy oxide layers. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2014. 452(1–3). pp. 614-627. ISSN 0022-3115. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2014.05.047
- [101] Pecheur D, et al. Precipitate evolution in the Zircaloy-4 oxide layer. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1992. 189(3). pp. 318-332. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(92)90385-X</u>
- [102] Couet A, Motta AT, Ambard A. The coupled current charge compensation model for zirconium alloy fuel cladding oxidation: I.Parabolic oxidation of zirconium alloys. Corrosion Science, 2015. 100. pp. 73-84. ISSN 0010-938X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2015.07.003
- [103] Grandjean A, Serruys Y. Metal and oxygen mobilities during Zircaloy-4 oxidation at high temperature. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1999. 273(1). pp. 111-115. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3115(99)00036-7
- [104] Ma X, et al. Oxidation kinetics and oxygen diffusion in low-tin Zircaloy-4 up to 1523 K. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2008. 377(2). pp. 359-369. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2008.03.012
- [105] Fromhold AT. Parabolic oxidation of metals in homogeneous electric-fields. Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids, 1972. 33(1). pp. 95-120. ISSN 0022-3697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3697(72)80058-1</u>
- [106] Couet A, Motta AT, Ambard A. *Oxide electronic conductivity and hydrogen pickup fraction in Zr alloys*. Transactions of the American Nuclear Society, 2014. **110**. pp. 845-848.

- [107] Couet A, Motta AT, Comstock RJ. Hydrogen pickup measurements in zirconium alloys: relation to oxidation kinetics. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2014. 451(1-3). pp. 1-13. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2014.03.001</u>
- [108] Grosse M, Steinbrueck M, Lehmann E, Vontobel P. Kinetics of hydrogen absorption and release in zirconium alloys during steam oxidation. Oxidation of Metals, 2008. 70. pp. 149-162. ISSN 1573-4889. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11085-008-9113-2</u>
- [109] Motta AT, Chen L-Q. *Hydride formation in zirconium alloys*. Journal of Metals, 2012.
 64. pp. 1403-1408. ISSN 1047-4838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11837-012-0479-x</u>
- [110] Desquines J, et al. The issue of stress state during mechanical tests to assess cladding performance during a reactivity-initiated accident (RIA). Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2011. 412(2). pp. 250-267. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2011.03.015
- [111] Couet A, Motta AT, Ambard A, Livigni D. In-situ electrochemical impedance spectroscopy measurements of zirconium alloy oxide conductivity: Relationship to hydrogen pickup. Corrosion Science, 2017. 119. pp. 1-13. ISSN 0010-938X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2016.12.008
- [112] Lemaignan C, Motta AT. *Chapter 7 Zirconium alloys in nuclear applications*, in *Materials Science and Technology, A Comprehensive Treatment*, eds. Cahn RW, Haasen P, and Kramer EJ. Weinheim (Germany), VCH, 1994.
- [113] Wagner C. Beitrag zur theorie des anlaufvorganges. II [On the theory of scaling reactions. II]. Zeitschrift für Physikalische Chemie, 1936. 32B(1). pp. 447-462. ISSN 2196-7156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/zpch-1936-3239</u>
- [114] Wagner C. Beitrag zur theorie des anlaufvorganges [On the theory of scaling reactions]. Zeitschrift für Physikalische Chemie, 1933. 21B(1). pp. 25-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/zpch-1933-2105</u>
- [115] Fromhold AT. Theory of Metal Oxidation, Volume 2: Space Charge. Amsterdam (Netherlands), North-Holland Publishing Co., 1980. ISBN 978-0-4448-5381-3. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbpc.19810850422
- [116] Motta AT, et al. Characterization of oxide layers formed during corrosion in supercritical water. Proceedings of the 17th International Corrosion Congress. Las Vegas, NV (USA), Oct 6-10, 2008. 5. pp. 3146-3157.
- [117] Bedworth R, Pilling N. *The oxidation of metals at high temperatures*. Journal of the Institute of Metals, 1923. **29**(1). pp. 529-582.
- [118] Gosmain L, Valot C, Ciosmak D, Sicardy O. Study of stress effects in the oxidation of Zircaloy-4. Solid State Ionics, 2001. 141. pp. 633-640. ISSN 0167-2738. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2738(01)00790-1</u>
- [119] Xu C, Gao W. Pilling-Bedworth ratio for oxidation of alloys. Materials Research Innovations, 2000. 3(4). pp. 231-235. ISSN 1432-8917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s100190050008</u>
- [120] Motta A, et al. *Microstructural characterization of oxides formed on model Zr alloys using synchrotron radiation*. Journal of ASTM International, 2008. 5(3), JAI101257. pp. 1-20. ISSN 1546-962X. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/JAI101257</u>
- [121] Ensor B, et al. Investigation of breakaway corrosion observed during oxide growth in pure and low alloying element content Zr exposed in water at 360° C. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2022. 558, 153358. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2021.153358
- [122] Kim Y-S, Jeong Y-H, Jang J-N. Stress measurements during thin film zirconium oxide growth. Journal of nuclear materials, 2011. 412(2). pp. 217-220. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2011.03.001

- [123] Cox B. Processes occurring during the breakdown of oxide films on zirconium alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1969. 29(1). pp. 50-66. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(69)90126-3</u>
- [124] Hu J, et al. Understanding corrosion and hydrogen pickup of zirconium fuel cladding alloys: the role of oxide microstructure, porosity, suboxides, and second-phase particles. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eighteenth International Symposium, 2018. ASTM International, STP 1597. pp. 93-126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP159720160071</u>
- [125] Yilmazbayhan A, et al. Structure of zirconium alloy oxides formed in pure water studied with synchrotron radiation and optical microscopy: relation to corrosion rate. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2004. 324(1). pp. 6-22. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2003.08.038
- Sakamoto K, et al. *Change of chemical states of niobium in the oxide layer of zirconium-niobium alloys with oxide growth*. Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology, 2015.
 52(10). pp. 1259-1264. ISSN 0022-3131. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223131.2015.1058196
- [127] Motta AT, et al. *Hydrogen in zirconium alloys: A review*. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2019. **518**. pp. 440-460. ISSN 00223115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2019.02.042</u>
- [128] Romero J, et al. Evolution of hydrogen pickup fraction with oxidation rate on zirconium alloys. Proceedings of the Top Fuel Reactor Fuel Perfomance Conference. Zurich (Switzerland), Sept 13-17, 2015. pp. 476-482.
- [129] Gomes Da Silva MJ. *Influence of oxide microstructure on corrosion behavior of zirconium-based model alloys*. PhD Dissertation in Nuclear Engineering, Pennsylvania State University, 2007. University Park, PA (USA).
- [130] Cox B. Some thoughts on the mechanisms of in-reactor corrosion of zirconium alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2005. 336(2-3). pp. 331-368. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2004.09.029</u>
- [131] Couet A. *Hydrogen pickup mechanism of zirconium alloys*. PhD Dissertation in Nuclear Engineering, Pennsylvania State University, 2014. University Park, PA (USA).
- [132] Hillner E, Franklin D, Smee J. Long-term corrosion of Zircaloy before and after irradiation. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2000. 278(2-3). pp. 334-345. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3115(99)00230-5</u>
- [133] Hillner E. Corrosion of zirconium base alloys An overview. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Third International Conference, Quebec City, 1977. ASTM International, STP 633. pp. 211-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP35573S</u>
- [134] Allen TR, Konings RJM, Motta AT, Editor-in-Chief: Rudy JMK. 5.03 Corrosion of Zirconium Alloys, in Comprehensive Nuclear Materials, ed. Konings RJM. Elsevier, 2012. pp. 49-68. ISBN 978-0-08-056033-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-056033-5.00063-X</u>
- [135] Ensor B, et al. Characterization of long-term, in-reactor Zircaloy-4 corrosion coupons and the impact of flux, fluence, and temperature on oxide growth, stress development, phase formation, and grain size. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Nineteenth International Symposium, 2021. ASTM Intenational, STP 1622. pp. 588-619. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP162220190038
- [136] Wadman B, et al. *Microstructural influence on uniform corrosion of Zircaloy nuclear fuel claddings*. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1993. 200(2). pp. 207-217. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(93)90331-R</u>
- [137] Yagnik S, Garde A. Chapter 7 Zirconium alloys for LWR fuel cladding and core internals, in Structural Alloys for Nuclear Energy Applications, eds. Odette GR and

Zinkle SJ. Boston, Elsevier, 2019. pp. 247-291. ISBN 978-0-12-397046-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-397046-6.00007-1

- [138] Rudling P, Pettersson H, Andersson T, Thorvaldsson T. Corrosion performance of Zircaloy-2 and Zircaloy-4 PWR fuel cladding. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eighth International Symposium, 1989. ASTM International, STP 1023. pp. 213-226. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP18867S
- [139] Rudling P, Machiels AJ. Corrosion performance ranking of Zircaloy-2 for BWR applications. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eighth International Symposium, 1989. ASTM International, STP 1023. pp. 315-333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP18872S</u>
- [140] Valizadeh S, et al. Effects of secondary phase particle dissolution on the in-reactor performance of BWR cladding. Journal of ASTM International, 2011. 8(2). pp. 729-753. ISSN 1546-962X. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP152920120029</u>
- [141] Sundell G, Thuvander M, Andrén H-O. *Tin clustering and precipitation in the oxide during autoclave corrosion of Zircaloy-2*. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2015. **456**. pp. 409-414. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2014.10.003
- [142] Hulme H, et al. An X-ray absorption near-edge structure (XANES) study of the Sn L3 edge in zirconium alloy oxide films formed during autoclave corrosion. Corrosion Science, 2016. 105. pp. 202-208. ISSN 0010-938X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2016.01.018
- [143] Pêcheur D, Filippov VP, Bateev AB, Ivanov JJ. Mossbauer investigations of the chemical states of tin and iron atoms in zirconium alloy oxide film. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Thirteenth International Symposium, 2002. ASTM International, STP 1423. pp. 135-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP11387S</u>
- [144] Yilmazbayhan A, Breval E, Motta A, Comstock R. *Transmission electron microscopy examination of oxide layers formed in Zr alloys*. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2006.
 349(3). pp. 265-281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2005.10.012</u>
- [145] Ensor B, et al. XANES analysis of iron in Zircaloy-4 oxides formed at different temperatures studied with microbeam synchrotron radiation. Proceedings of the Top Fuel Reactor Fuel Perfomance Conference. Zurich (Switzerland), Sept 13-17, 2015. pp. 456-467.
- [146] Sakamoto K, Une K, Aomi M, Hashizume K. Depth profile of chemical states of alloying elements in oxide layer of Zr-based alloys. Progress in Nuclear Energy, 2012. 57. pp. 101-105. ISSN 0149-1970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnucene.2011.12.012
- [147] Li C, et al. Transmission electron microscopy investigation of Zr2(Fe,Ni) particles incorporated in the oxide film formed on a Zirconium alloy. Thin Solid Films, 2004.
 461(2). pp. 272-276. ISSN 0040-6090. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsf.2004.01.057</u>
- [148] Sayers J, Lozano-Perez S, Ortner SR. The progress of SPP oxidation in zircaloy-4 and its relation to corrosion and hydrogen pickup. Corrosion Science, 2019. 158, 108072. ISSN 0010-938X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2019.06.027
- [149] Cox B, Sheikh H. Redistribution of the alloying elements during Zircaloy-2 oxidation. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1997. 249(1). pp. 17-32. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3115(97)00191-8</u>
- [150] Hatano Y, Sugisaki M. Oxidation behavior of iron and nickel in Zr2 (Fe, Ni) precipitates in Zircaloy-2. Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology, 1996. 33(11). pp. 829-833. ISSN 0022-3131. <u>https://doi.org/10.3327/jnst.33.829</u>
- [151] Kuri G, et al. Chemical state and atomic scale environment of nickel in the corrosion layer of irradiated Zircaloy-2 at a burn-up around 45 MWd/kg. Corrosion Science, 2018.
 143. pp. 200-211. ISSN 0010-938X. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2018.08.032</u>

- [152] Proff C, Abolhassani S, Lemaignan C. Oxidation behaviour of zirconium alloys and their precipitates – A mechanistic study. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2013. 432(1–3). pp. 222-238. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2012.06.026</u>
- [153] Than Y, Grimes R, Bell B, Wenman M. Understanding the role of Fe, Cr and Ni in Zircaloy-2 with special focus on the role of Ni on hydrogen pickup. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2020. 530, 151956. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2019.151956
- [154] Anada H, et al. *Chemical state analysis of Sn and Fe in ZrO2 by Mossbauer* spectroscopy. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Thirteenth International Symposium, 2002. ASTM International, STP 1423. pp. 154-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP11388S</u>
- [155] Babyak W, Bourgeois W, Salvaggio G. Effect of hydride morphology on the tensile properties of Zircaloy-2, in Corrosion of Zirconium Alloys, ed. Anderson W. West Conshohocken, PA (USA), ASTM International, 1964. pp. 76-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP47074S</u>
- [156] Vitanza C. A review and interpretation of RIA experiments. Nuclear Engineering and Technology, 2007. 39(5). pp. 591-602. ISSN 1738-5733. <u>https://doi.org/10.5516/NET.2007.39.5.591</u>
- [157] Blat M, Legras L, Noel D, Amanrich H. Contribution to a better understanding of the detrimental role of hydrogen on the corrosion rate of Zircaloy-4 cladding materials. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Twelfth International Symposium, 2000. ASTM International, STP 1354. pp. 563-591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP143178</u>
- [158] Ells CE. Hydride precipitates in zirconium alloys A review. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1968. 28(2). pp. 129-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(68)90021-4</u>
- [159] Kearns JJ. Terminal solubility and partitioning of hydrogen in the alpha phase of zirconium, Zircaloy-2 and Zircaloy-4. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1967. 22(3). pp. 292-303. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(67)90047-5</u>
- [160] Cox B, Roy C. The use of tritium as a tracer in studies of hydrogen uptake by zirconium alloys. Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd., Chalk River Nuclear Laboratories, Deep River, Ontario (Canada), 1965. Report AECL-2519.
- [161] Hillner E. Hydrogen absorption in Zircaloy during aqueous corrosion, effect of environment. AEC Research and Development, Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory, Pittsburgh, PA (USA), 1964. Report WAPD-TM-411.
- [162] Ensor B, et al. *The role of hydrogen in zirconium alloy corrosion*. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2017. **496**. pp. 301-312. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2017.08.046</u>
- [163] Une K, Ishimoto S. Dissolution and precipitation behavior of hydrides in Zircaloy-2 and high Fe Zircaloy. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2003. 322(1). pp. 66-72. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3115(03)00320-9</u>
- [164] McMinn A, Darby EC, Schofield JS. *The terminal solid solubility of hydrogen in zirconium alloys*. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Twelfth International Symposium, 2000. ASTM International, STP 1354. pp. 173-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP14300S</u>
- [165] Zhang Y, et al. Homogeneous hydride formation path in α-Zr: Molecular dynamics simulations with the charge-optimized many-body potential. Acta Materialia, 2016. 111. pp. 357-365. ISSN 1359-6454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actamat.2016.03.079
- [166] Zuzek E, Abriata JP, San-Martin A, Manchester FD. *The H-Zr (hydrogen-zirconium)* system. Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams, 1990. **11**(4). pp. 385-395. ISSN 0197-0216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02843318</u>

- [167] Daum RS, Chu YS, Motta AT. Identification and quantification of hydride phases in Zircaloy-4 cladding using synchrotron radiation diffraction. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2009. **392** (3). pp. 453-463. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2009.04.004</u>
- [168] Puls MP. The Effect of Hydrogen and Hydrides on the Integrity of Zirconium Alloy Components: Delayed Hydride Cracking. London (UK), Springer, 2012. 452 pages. ISBN 978-1-4471-5977-3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-4195-2</u>
- [169] Courty O, Motta AT, Hales JD. Modeling and simulation of hydrogen behavior in Zircaloy-4 fuel cladding. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2014. 452(1-3). pp. 311-320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2014.05.013
- [170] Kammenzind BF, et al. The long-range migration of hydrogen through Zircaloy in response to tensile and compressive stress gradients. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Twelfth International Symposium, 2000. ASTM International, STP 1354. pp. 196-233. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP14301S
- [171] Ells CE, Simpson CJ. *Hydrogen in Metals*. Proceedings of the International Conference on the Effects of Hydrogen on Materials Properties and Selection and Structural Design. Champion, Pa (USA), Sept 23-27, 1974. American Society for Metals. pp. 345-360.
- [172] Eastman E. *Theory of the Soret effect*. Journal of American Chemical Society, 1928.
 50(2). pp. 283-291. ISSN 0002-7863. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01389a007</u>
- [173] Nissen K, et al. Hydrogen uptake of BWR fuel rods: power history effects at long irradiation times. Proceedings of the Water Reactor Fuel Performance Meeting. Sendai (Japan), Sept 14-17, 2014. 100102.
- [174] Daum RS, Bates DW, Koss DA, Motta AT. *The influence of a hydrided layer on the fracture of Zircaloy-4 cladding tubes*. International Conference on Hydrogen Effects on Material Behaviour and Corrosion Deformation Interactions, 2003. TMS. pp. 249-258. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-48760-1_119
- [175] Garde AM, Smith GP, Pirek RC. Effects of hydride precipitate localization and neutron fluence on the ductility of irradiated Zircaloy-4. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eleventh International Symposium, 1996. ASTM International, STP 1295. pp. 407-430. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP16183S
- [176] Daum RS, et al. On the embrittlement of Zircaloy-4 under RIA-relevant conditions. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Thirteenth International Symposium, 2002. ASTM International, STP 1423. pp. 702-718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP11412S</u>
- [177] Jublot M, et al. Influence of hydride precipitation on the corrosion kinetics of zircaloy-4: Effect of the nanostructure and grain boundary properties of the zirconium oxide layer on oxygen diffusion flux. Proceedings of the Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eighteenth International Symposium. 2018. ASTM International, STP 1597. pp. 350-384. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP159720160073
- [178] Berry WE, Vaughan DA, White EL. Hydrogen pickup during aqueous corrosion of zirconium alloys. Corrosion, 1961. 17(3). pp. 109-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.5006/0010-9312-17.3.81</u>
- [179] Kass S. Hydrogen pickup in various zirconium alloys during corrosion exposure in hightemperature water and steam. Journal of The Electrochemical Society, 1960. 107(7). pp. 594-597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2427781</u>
- [180] Couet A, Motta AT, Comstock RJ, Paul RL. Cold neutron prompt gamma activation analysis, a non-destructive technique for hydrogen level assessment in zirconium alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2012. 425(1–3). pp. 211-217. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2011.06.044
- [181] Park D, et al. *TEM/STEM study of Zircaloy-2 with protective FeAl (Cr) layers under simulated BWR environment and high-temperature steam exposure.* Journal of Nuclear

Materials, 2018. **502**. pp. 95-105. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2018.01.055

- [182] Geelhood K, Beyer C. Hydrogen pickup models for Zircaloy-2, Zircaloy-4, M5[™], and ZIRLO[™]. Proceedings of the Water Reactor Fuel Performance Meeting. Chengdu (China), Sept 11-14, 2011. **T2-011**.
- [183] Harada M, Wakamatsu R. The effect of hydrogen on the transition behavior of the corrosion rate of zirconium alloys. Journal of ASTM International, 2008. 5(3), JAI10117. ISSN 1546-962X. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/JAI101117</u>
- [184] Cox B. Hydrogen absorption by Zircaloy-2 and some other alloys during corrosion in steam. Journal of The Electrochemical Society, 1962. 109(1). pp. 6-12. ISSN 1945-7111. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2425334
- [185] Ensor B. The effect of varying nickel concentration on the hydrogen pickup fraction and corrosion resistance in Zircaloy-4. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2023. 574, 154149. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2022.154149</u>
- [186] Murai T, Isobe K, Takizawa Y, Mae Y. Fundamental study on the corrosion mechanism of Zr-0.2Fe, Zr-0.2Cr and Zr-0.1Fe-0.2Cr Alloys. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Twelfth International Symposium, 2000. ASTM International, STP 1354. pp. 623-640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP14320S</u>
- [187] Broy Y, Garzarolli F, Seibold A, Van Swam LF. Influence of transition elements Fe, Cr, and V on long-time corrosion in PWRs. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Twelfth International Symposium, 2000. ASTM International, STP 1354. pp. 609-622. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP14319S
- [188] Elmoselhi MB, Warr BD, McIntyre S. A study of the hydrogen uptake mechanism in zirconium alloys. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Tenth International Symposium, 1994. ASTM International, STP 1245. pp. 62-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP15184S</u>
- [189] Hu J, et al. Hydrogen pickup during oxidation in aqueous environments: The role of nano-pores and nano-pipes in zirconium oxide films. Acta Materialia, 2019. 180. pp. 105-115. ISSN 1359-6454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actamat.2019.09.005
- [190] Hu J, et al. A multi-technique study of "barrier layer" nano-porosity in Zr oxides during corrosion and hydrogen pickup using (S) TEM, TKD, APT and NanoSIMS. Corrosion Science, 2019. 158, 108109. ISSN 0010-938X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2019.108109
- [191] Ni N, et al. Porosity in oxides on zirconium fuel cladding alloys, and its importance in controlling oxidation rates. Scripta Materialia, 2010. 62(8). pp. 564-567. ISSN 1359-6462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scriptamat.2009.12.043</u>
- [192] Cox B. A mechanism for the hydrogen uptake process in zirconium alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1999. 264(3). pp. 283-294. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3115(98)00492-9</u>
- [193] Tupin M, et al. Hydrogen diffusion process in the oxides formed on zirconium alloys during corrosion in pressurized water reactor conditions. Corrosion Science, 2017. 116. pp. 1-13. ISSN 0010-938X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2016.10.027
- [194] Isobe K, et al. Observation of spatial distribution of tritium in zirconium alloy with microautoradiography. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1999. 271-272. pp. 326-329. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3115(98)00694-1</u>
- [195] Sundell G, et al. Direct observation of hydrogen and deuterium in oxide grain boundaries in corroded Zirconium alloys. Corrosion Science, 2015. 90. pp. 1-4. ISSN 0010-938X. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2014.10.016</u>
- [196] Hatano Y, Sugisaki M, Kitano K, Hayashi M. *Role of intermetallic precipitates in hydrogen transport through oxide films on Zircaloy.* Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry:

Twelfth International Symposium, 2000. ASTM International, **STP 1354**. pp. 901-917. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP14333S

- [197] Isobe K, Hatano Y, Sugisaki M. Observation of the spatial distribution of hydrogen in Zircaloy-2 oxidized in H₂O steam at 723 K by a technique of tritium microautoradiography. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1997. 248. pp. 315-318. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3115(97)00129-3</u>
- [198] Li K, et al. 3D-characterization of deuterium distributions in zirconium oxide scale using high-resolution SIMS. Applied Surface Science, 2019. 464. pp. 311-320. ISSN 0169-4332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2018.09.101</u>
- [199] Gong W, Trtik P, Valance S, Bertsch J. Hydrogen diffusion under stress in Zircaloy: High-resolution neutron radiography and finite element modeling. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2018. 508. pp. 459-464. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2018.05.079
- [200] Wang X, Zheng M-J, Szlufarska I, Morgan D. Continuum model for hydrogen pickup in zirconium alloys of LWR fuel cladding. Journal of Applied Physics, 2017. 121, 135101. ISSN 0021-8979. <u>https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4979472</u>
- [201] Glazoff MV, Tokuhiro A, Rashkeev SN, Sabharwall P. Oxidation and hydrogen uptake in zirconium, Zircaloy-2 and Zircaloy-4: Computational thermodynamics and ab initio calculations. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2014. 444(1-3). pp. 65-75. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2013.09.038
- [202] Ramasubramanian N. Lithium and boron effects in the corrosion mechanism of zirconium alloys under coolant chemistry conditions. Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 7, 1996. 1. pp. 91-93.
- [203] Hu W, et al. Sensitivity of 58 Co and 60 Co for activated corrosion products source terms in pressurized water reactor. Nuclear Power Engineering, 2017. 38(6). pp. 47-50. ISSN 0258-0926.
- [204] Zinkle SJ, Was G. Materials challenges in nuclear energy. Acta Materialia, 2013. 61(3). pp. 735-758. ISSN 1359-6454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actamat.2012.11.004</u>
- [205] Xue C, et al. Crud deposition behavior on zirconium alloy fuel cladding in hightemperature pressurized water environments. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2022. 568, 153899. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2022.153899</u>
- [206] Kim K-S, et al. *Effect of zinc addition on fuel crud deposition in simulated PWR primary coolant conditions*. Annals of Nuclear Energy, 2020. **146**, 107643. ISSN 0306-4549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anucene.2020.107643
- [207] Zhang L, et al. Effects of zinc injection on stress corrosion cracking of cold worked austenitic stainless steel in high-temperature water environments. Scripta Materialia, 2017. 140. pp. 50-54. ISSN 1359-6462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scriptamat.2017.05.032</u>
- [208] Lin CC. A review of corrosion product transport and radiation field buildup in boiling water reactors. Progress in Nuclear Energy, 2009. 51(2). pp. 207-224. ISSN 0149-1970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnucene.2008.05.005
- [209] Holdsworth S, et al. Investigations of the dual benefits of zinc injection on cobalt-60 uptake and oxide film formation under boiling water reactor conditions. Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Environmental Degradation of Materials in Nuclear Power Systems–Water Reactors. 2019. The Minerals, Metals and Materials Series. pp. 1673-1683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04639-2_112</u>
- [210] Kim Y-J, et al. *Effect of water chemistry variations on corrosion of Zr-alloys for BWR applications*. Nuclear Plant Chemistry Conference, International Conference on Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, Paris (France), Sept 23-27 2012. **131-P1-57**.

- [211] Kim Y-J, Andresen PL, Hettiarachchi S. Use of noble metal nanopartice for SCC mitigation in BWRs. 15th International Conference on Environmental Degradation of Materials in Nuclear Power Systems-Water Reactors, 2012. TMS. pp. 1993-2001. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-48760-1_119
- [212] Shimada S, et al. *Effect of hydrogen water chemistry on Zircaloy-2 fuel cladding and structure material performance*. Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology, 2006.
 43(9). pp. 1021-1030. ISSN 0022-3131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18811248.2006.9711191</u>
- [213] K. Baur, Garzarolli F, Ruhmann H, Sell H-J. *Electrochemical examinations in 350°C water with respect to the mechanism of corrosion-hydrogen pickup*. Proceedings of the Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Twelfth International Symposium. 2000. ASTM International, STP 1354. pp. 836-852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP14330S</u>
- [214] Burr PA, et al. Hydrogen accommodation in Zr second phase particles: Implications for H pick-up and hydriding of Zircaloy-2 and Zircaloy-4. Corrosion Science, 2013. 69. pp. 1-4. ISSN 0010-938X. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2012.11.036</u>
- [215] Jones C, et al. Evidence of hydrogen trapping at second phase particles in zirconium alloys. Scientific Reports, 2021. 11. pp. 4370. ISSN 2045-2322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83859-w</u>
- [216] Pettersson H, et al. Investigation of increased hydriding of guide tubes in Ringhals 2 during cycle startup. Proceedings of the LWR Fuel Performance Meeting. San Francisco, CA (USA), 30 Sept - 3 Oct, 2007. American Nuclear Society. pp. 392-400.
- [217] Arimescu VI. Review of hydrogen uptake mechanisms in Zircaloy-2 the role of Ni and environmental conditions. Symposium International Fontevraud 9 Contribution of Materials Investigations and Operating Experience to Light Water NPPs' Safety, Performance and Reliability, Avignon (France), Sept 17-20 2018.
- [218] Kuus G, Martens W. Nickel as a catalyst for the reaction of Hydrogen with Zirconium. Journal of the Less Common Metals, 1980. 75(1). pp. 111-118. ISSN 0022-5088. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-5088(80)90375-6
- [219] Ramasubramanian N, Yeddanapalli L. Kinetics of hydrogen chemisorption on nickelmangnesia catalysts. The Journal of Physical Chemistry, 1962. 66(7). pp. 1222-1225. ISSN 0022-3654.
- [220] Kuri G, et al. Insights into the interfacial speciation of Ni in the corrosion layer of high burnup Zircaloy-2 cladding: A combined XRD, XAS, and LFDFT study. Corrosion Science, 2023. 215, 111024. ISSN 0010-938X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.corsci.2023.111024
- [221] Munch CJ, Hoffmann PB, Blavius D. Ursachenanalyse zur erhohten biegung von brennelementkasten [Reasons for abnormal fuel channel bowing]. KTG Fachtag Brennelemente und Kernbauteile, Karlsruhe (Germany), Oct 28-29 2008.
- [222] Mahmood ST, et al. Channel bow in boiling water reactors Hot cell examination results and correlation to measured bow. Proceedings of the LWR Fuel Performance Meeting. San Francisco, CA (USA), 30 Sept - 3 Oct, 2007. American Nuclear Society. pp. 124-133.
- [223] Ohira K, et al. *Recent experience and development of BWR fuel at NFI*. Proceedings of the Water Reactor Fuel Performance Meeting. Kyoto (Japan), Oct 2-6, 2005. **1035**.
- [224] Garzarolli F, Ruhmann H, Van Swam L. Alternative Zr alloys with irradiation resistant precipitates for high burnup BWR application. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Thirteenth International Symposium, ASTM International, 2002. STP 1423. pp. 119-131. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP11386S

- [225] Etoh Y, et al. Development of new zirconium alloys for a BWR. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eleventh International Symposium, 1996. ASTM International, STP 1295. pp. 825-849. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP16203S</u>
- [226] Kammenzind B, Gruber J, Bajaj R, Smee J. Neutron irradiation effects on the corrosion of Zircaloy-4 in a pressurized water reactor environment. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eighteenth International Symposium, 2018. ASTM International, STP 1597. pp. 448-490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP159720160085</u>
- [227] Tägtstrom P, et al. Effects of hydrogen pickup and second-phase particle dissolution on the in-reactor corrosion performance of BWR claddings. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Thirteenth International Symposium, 2002. ASTM International, STP 1423. pp. 96-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP113855</u>
- [228] Huang PY, Mahmood ST, Adamson RB. Effects of thermomechanical processing on inreactor corrosion and post-irradiation mechanical properties of Zircaloy-2. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eleventh International Symposium, 1996. ASTM International, STP 1295. pp. 726-755. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP16199S
- [229] Etoh Y, Shimada S. Neutron irradiation effects on intermetallic precipitates in Zircaloy as a function of fluence. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1993. 200(1). pp. 59-69. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(93)90009-N</u>
- [230] Griffiths M, Gilbert R, Carpenter G. Phase instability, decomposition and redistribution of intermetallic precipitates in Zircaloy-2 and-4 during neutron irradiation. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1987. 150(1). pp. 53-66. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(87)90093-6</u>
- Yang W, Tucker R, Cheng B, Adamson R. Precipitates in Zircaloy: identification and the effects of irradiation and thermal treatment. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1986.
 138(2-3). pp. 185-195. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3115(86)90005-X
- [232] Kakiuchi K, et al. Irradiated behavior at high burnup for HiFi alloy. Journal of Nuclear Science and Technology, 2006. 43(9). pp. 1031-1036. ISSN 0022-3131. https://doi.org/10.1080/18811248.2006.9711192
- [233] Sundell G, et al. *Redistribution of alloying elements in Zircaloy-2 after in-reactor exposure*. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2014. **454**(1-3). pp. 178-185. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2014.07.072
- [234] Fricioni R, Essig L. Inert gas fusion, in Materials Characterization, ed. Whan RE. ASM International, 1986. 10. pp. 226-232. ISBN 978-1-62708-178-8. https://doi.org/10.31399/asm.hb.v10.a0001747
- [235] Frepoli C, et al. 10 CFR 50.46 c rulemaking: A novel approach in restating the LOCA problem for PWRs. Nuclear Technology, 2016. 196(2). pp. 187-197. ISSN 0029-5450. https://doi.org/10.13182/NT16-66
- [236] Spengler D. Evolution of the oxide microstructure and oxide induced residual strains during waterside corrosion of zirconium alloys. Master of Science in Nuclear Engineering, Pennsylvania State University, 2012. University Park, PA (USA).
- [237] Fujisaki K, et al. Three-dimensional microscopic elemental analysis using an automated high-precision serial sectioning system. Microscopy and Microanalysis, 2011. 17(2). pp. 246-251. ISSN 1435-8115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S143192761009450X</u>
- [238] Megusar J. Low temperature fast-neutron and gamma irradiation of Kapton® polyimide films. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 1997. 245(2-3). pp. 185-190. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3115(97)00012-3</u>
- [239] Antimonov M, et al. *Large-area Kapton X-ray windows*. Proceedings of the SPIE 9588 Optical Engineering + Applications Conference: Advances in X-Ray/EUV Optics and

Components X. San Diego, CA (USA), Aug 9-13, 2015. SPIE, **95880F**. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2193680

- [240] Newville M. *Fundamentals of XAFS*. Reviews in Mineralogy and Geochemistry, 2014.
 78(1). pp. 33-74. ISSN 1529-6466. <u>https://doi.org/10.2138/rmg.2014.78.2</u>
- [241] Knoll GF. *Radiation Detection and Measurement*. John Wiley & Sons, 2000, 3rd edition. ISBN 0-471-07338-5.
- [242] Bunker G. Introduction to XAFS: a practical guide to X-ray absorption fine structure spectroscopy. Cambridge University Press, 2010. ISBN 9780511809194. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511809194
- [243] Alp E, Mini S, Ramanathan M. *X-ray absorption spectroscopy: EXAFS and XANES A versatile tool to study the atomic and electronic structure of materials*. Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, IL (USA), 1990. Report **ANL/APS/TM--7**.
- [244] Frahm R, Haensel R, Rabe P. EXAFS studies of the local order in amorphous and crystalline nickel-zirconium alloys. II. Structure of the amorphous alloys. Journal of Physics F: Metal Physics, 1984. 14(6). pp. 1333. ISSN 0305-4608. https://doi.org/10.1088/0305-4608/14/6/005
- [245] Frahm R, Haensel R, Rabe P. EXAFS studies of the local order in amorphous and crystalline nickel-zirconium alloys. I. Principles and evaluation of the crystalline alloys. Journal of Physics F: Metal Physics, 1984. 14(4). pp. 1029. ISSN 0305-4608. https://doi.org/10.1088/0305-4608/14/4/024
- [246] Newville M. XFAS spectrum of iron(II,III) oxide (dataset "Fe3O4_rt_01.xdi" collected at beamline APS 13-BM-D). Measured 03/16/2002. Uploaded 05/07/2020. Argonne National Laboratoy, Argonne, IL (USA). X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (XAFS) Data Library, International X-ray Absorption Society. Last access 10/23/2023. Available at: https://xaslib.xrayabsorption.org/spectrum/106/
- [247] Newville M. XFAS spectrum of iron(II) oxide (dataset "FeO_rt_01.xdi" collected at beamline APS 20-BM-B). Measured 08/10/2001. Uploaded 05/07/2020. Argonne National Laboratoy, Argonne, IL (USA). X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (XAFS) Data Library, International X-ray Absorption Society. Last access 10/23/2023. Available at: https://xaslib.xrayabsorption.org/spectrum/108/
- [248] Newville M. XFAS spectrum of iron(III) oxide (dataset "Fe2O3_rt_01.xdi" collected at beamline APS 20-BM-B). Measured 08/10/2001. Uploaded 05/07/2020. Argonne National Laboratoy, Argonne, IL (USA). X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (XAFS) Data Library, International X-ray Absorption Society. Last access 10/23/2023. Available at: https://xaslib.xrayabsorption.org/spectrum/104/
- [249] Newville M. XFAS spectrum of iron (dataset "Fe_Foil_rt_2016Foils_13IDE_01" collected at beamline APS 13-ID-E). Measured 07/05/2016. Uploaded 05/07/2020. Argonne National Laboratoy, Argonne, IL (USA). X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (XAFS) Data Library, International X-ray Absorption Society. Last access 10/23/2023. Available at: https://xaslib.xrayabsorption.org/spectrum/110/
- [250] Jaklevic J, et al. Fluorescence detection of exafs: Sensitivity enhancement for dilute species and thin films. Solid State Communications, 1977. 23(9). pp. 679-682. ISSN 0038-1098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1098(77)90548-8</u>
- [251] Reddy A, Mehta A. Characterization & correction of self-absorption distortion in XANES. Columbia Undergraduate Science Journal, 2020. 14. pp. 9-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.7916/bd5g-ee05</u>
- [252] Mountjoy G, Anderson R, Newport RJ, Smith ME. *The effect of zirconia content on the structure of zirconia-silica xerogels as determined by x-ray and neutron diffraction and*

Zr K-edge EXAFS and XANES. Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 2000. **12**(15), 3505. ISSN 0953-8984. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-8984/12/15/301</u>

- [253] Henke BL, Gullikson EM, Davis JC. X-ray interactions: photoabsorption, scattering, transmission, and reflection at E= 50-30,000 eV, Z= 1-92. Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables, 1993. 54(2). pp. 181-342. ISSN 0092-640X. https://doi.org/10.1006/adnd.1993.1013
- [254] Henderson GS, De Groot FM, Moulton BJ. X-ray absorption near-edge structure (XANES) spectroscopy. Reviews in Mineralogy and Geochemistry, 2014. 78(1). pp. 75-138. ISSN 1529-6466. <u>https://doi.org/10.2138/rmg.2014.78.3</u>
- [255] Ravel B, Newville M. ATHENA, ARTEMIS, HEPHAESTUS: data analysis for X-ray absorption spectroscopy using IFEFFIT. Journal of Synchrotron Radiation, 2005. 12. pp. 537-541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1107/S0909049505012719</u>
- [256] Haskel D. FLUO: Correcting XANES for self-absorption in fluorescence measurements. Computer program and documentation [online]. Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, IL (USA), 1999. Last access 10/24/2023. Available at: https://www3.aps.anl.gov/~haskel/fluo.html
- [257] Marinca T, et al. Synthesis, structural and magnetic characterization of nanocrystalline nickel ferrite—NiFe2O4 obtained by reactive milling. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 2011. 509(30). pp. 7931-7936. ISSN 0925-8388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2011.05.040
- [258] Newville M. IFEFFIT: interactive XAFS analysis and FEFF fitting. Journal of Synchrotron Radiation, 2001. 8. pp. 322-324. ISSN 0909-0495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1107/S0909049500016964</u>
- [259] Kuri G, Degueldre C, Bertsch J, Abolhassani S. *Micro-focussed XAFS spectroscopy to study Ni-bearing precipitates in the metal of corroded Zircaloy-2*. Applied Physics A, 2010. 98. pp. 625-633. ISSN 0947-8396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00339-009-5456-z</u>
- [260] Ravel B. ATHENA: XAS data processing documentation [online]. The Creative Commons, 2009. Last access 07/09/2023. Available at: https://bruceravel.github.io/demeter/documents/Athena/index.html
- [261] Newville M. XFAS spectrum of nickel peroxide (dataset "Ni2O3_rt_01.xdi" collected at beamline SSRL 4-1). Measured 01/17/1997. Uploaded 05/07/2020. Argonne National Laboratoy, Argonne, IL (USA). X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (XFAS) Data Library, International X-ray Absorption Society. Last access 10/23/2023. Available at: https://xaslib.xrayabsorption.org/spectrum/138/
- [262] Zimicz MG, Prado FD, Lamas DG, Larrondo SA. In-situ XANES and XPD studies of NiO/Ce0. 9Zr0. 102 IT-SOFCs anode nanomaterial as catalyst in the CPOM reaction. Applied Catalysis A: General, 2017. 542. pp. 296-305. ISSN 0926-860X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2017.05.040
- [263] Schilling PJ, Tittsworth RC. Extraction of phase fractions and compositions for bcc/fcc two-phase binary alloys from XANES data. Journal of Synchrotron Radiation, 1999. 6(3). pp. 497-499. ISSN 0909-0495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1107/S0909049599001387</u>
- [264] Waseda Y, Matsubara E, Shinoda K. X-ray Diffraction Crystallography: Introduction, Examples and Solved Problems. Heidelberg (Germany), Springer, 2011. 310 pages. ISBN 978-3-642-16634-1. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-16635-8
- [265] De Gabory B, Motta AT, Wang K. Transmission electron microscopy characterization of Zircaloy-4 and ZIRLO[™] oxide layers. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2015. 456. pp. 272-280. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2014.09.073</u>
- [266] Polatidis E, et al. *Residual stresses and tetragonal phase fraction characterisation of corrosion tested Zircaloy-4 using energy dispersive synchrotron X-ray diffraction.*

Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2013. **432**(1-3). pp. 102-112. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2012.07.025

- [267] Ni N. *Study of oxidation mechanisms of zirconium alloys by electron microscopy*. PhD Dissertation in Materials, University of Oxford, 2011. Oxford (UK).
- [268] Platt a, et al. Finite element analysis of the tetragonal to monoclinic phase transformation during oxidation of zirconium alloys. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2014. 454(1-3). pp. 290-297. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2014.08.020</u>
- [269] Bragg WH, Bragg WL. *X-Rays and Crystal Structure*. London (UK), G. Bell and Sons, Ltd., 1915. 228 pages.
- [270] Wikipedia contributors. *Bragg's law*. Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. Last revision 09/05/2023. Last access 24/10/2023. Available at: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Bragg%27s_law&oldid=1174029762
- [271] Gates-Rector S, Blanton T. *The Powder Diffraction File: a quality materials characterization database*. Powder Diffraction, 2019. **34**(4). pp. 352-360. ISSN 0885-7156. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0885715619000812
- [272] Hasegawa K. *Introduction to single crystal X-ray analysis. I. What is X-ray crystallography?* The Rigaku Journal, 2012. **28**(1). pp. 14-18.
- [273] Prescher C, Prakapenka VB. DIOPTAS: a program for reduction of two-dimensional Xray diffraction data and data exploration. High Pressure Research, 2015. 35(3). pp. 223-230. ISSN 0895-7959. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08957959.2015.1059835</u>
- [274] Birkbeck College. Peak shape functions Pearson VII. Advanced Certificate in Powder Diffraction on the Web, Course Material. School of Crystallography, Birkbeck College, University of London, London (UK), 1997-2004. Last access 10/24/2023. Available at: http://pd.chem.ucl.ac.uk/pdnn/peaks/pvii.htm
- [275] Garvie RC, Nicholson PS. *Phase analysis in zirconia systems*. Journal of the American Ceramic Society, 1972. 55(6). pp. 303-305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1151-2916.1972.tb11290.x</u>
- [276] Scherrer P. Bestimmung der grosse und inneren struktur von kolloidteilchen mittels rontgenstrahlen. Nachrichten von der Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Mathematisch-Physikalische Klasse, 1918. pp. 98-100.
- [277] Miranda M, Sasaki J. The limit of application of the Scherrer equation. Acta Crystallographica, 2018. A74. pp. 54-65. ISSN 2053-2733. https://doi.org/10.1107/S2053273317014929
- [278] Monshi A, Foroughi MR, Monshi MR. Modified Scherrer equation to estimate more accurately nano-crystallite size using XRD. World Journal of Nano Science and Engineering, 2012. 2(3). pp. 154-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/wjnse.2012.23020</u>
- [279] XAFS spectrum of Nickel(II) oxide. Measured 06/20/2022. MDR: NIMS Materials Data Repository, National Institute for Materials Science. Last access 11/25/2023. Available at: <u>https://mdr.nims.go.jp/concern/datasets/x346d7325</u>
- [280] XAFS spectrum of Nickel-iron oxide (Nickel ferrite). Measured 07/23/2021. MDR: NIMS Materials Data Repository, National Institute for Materials Science. Last access 11/25/2023. Available at: <u>https://mdr.nims.go.jp/concern/datasets/41687m13x</u>
- [281] Newville M. XFAS spectrum of nickel (dataset "Ni_metal_rt_01_xdi" collected at beamline APS 13-ID-C,D). Measured 06/26/2001. Uploaded 05/07/2020. X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (XFAS) Data Library, International X-ray Absorption Society. Available at: <u>https://xaslib.xrayabsorption.org/spectrum/147/</u>
- [282] Stoupin S, et al. Pt and Ru X-ray absorption spectroscopy of PtRu anode catalysts in operating direct methanol fuel cells. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 2006. 110(20). pp. 9932-9938. ISSN 1520-6106. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp057047x

- [283] Grunes L. Study of the K edges of 3d transition metals in pure and oxide form by X-rayabsorption spectroscopy. Physical Review B, 1983. 27(4). pp. 2111-2131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.27.2111</u>
- [284] Ankudinov A, Rehr J, Low JJ, Bare SR. Sensitivity of Pt X-ray absorption near edge structure to the morphology of small Pt clusters. The Journal of Chemical Physics, 2002.
 116(5). pp. 1911-1919. ISSN 0021-9606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1432688</u>
- [285] Espinosa A, et al. On the discrimination between magnetite and maghemite by XANES measurements in fluorescence mode. Measurement Science and Technology, 2012. 23, 015602. ISSN 0957-0233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/0957-0233/23/1/015602</u>
- [286] Goulon J, Goulon-Ginet C, Cortès R, Dubois J. On experimental attenuation factors of the amplitude of the EXAFS oscillations in absorption, reflectivity and luminescence measurements. Journal de Physique, 1982. 43(3). pp. 539-548. ISSN 0302-0738. https://doi.org/10.1051/jphys:01982004303053900
- [287] Zschech E, et al. A study of the self-absorption effect in the fluorescence yield of NiO at the oxygen K-edge. Solid State Communications, 1992. 82(1). pp. 1-5. ISSN 0038-1098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1098(92)90395-P</u>
- [288] Meirer F, et al. Parameter study of self-absorption effects in Total Reflection X-ray Fluorescence-X-ray Absorption Near Edge Structure analysis of arsenic. Spectrochimica Acta Part B: Atomic Spectroscopy, 2008. 63(12). pp. 1496-1502. ISSN 0584-8547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sab.2008.05.004
- [289] Müller J, Jepsen O, Wilkins J. X-ray absorption spectra: K-edges of 3d transition metals, L-edges of 3d and 4d metals, and M-edges of palladium. Solid State Communications, 1982. 42(5). pp. 365-368. ISSN 0038-1098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1098(82)90154-5</u>
- [290] Laporte O, Meggers WF. Some rules of spectral structure. Josa, 1925. 11(5). pp. 459-463. <u>https://doi.org/10.1364/JOSA.11.000459</u>
- [291] De Groot F, Vankó G, Glatzel P. *The 1s x-ray absorption pre-edge structures in transition metal oxides*. Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 2009. 21(10), 104207. ISSN 0953-8984. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-8984/21/10/104207</u>
- [292] Yamamoto T. Assignment of pre-edge peaks in K-edge x-ray absorption spectra of 3d transition metal compounds: electric dipole or quadrupole? X-Ray Spectrometry, 2008.
 37(6). pp. 572-584. ISSN 0049-8246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/xrs.1103</u>
- [293] Arcon I, Mirtic B, Kodre A. Determination of valence states of chromium in calcium chromates by using X-ray absorption near-edge structure (XANES) spectroscopy. Journal of the American Ceramic Society, 1998. 81(1). pp. 222-224. ISSN 0002-7820. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1151-2916.1998.tb02319.x
- [294] Knapp G, Veal B, Pan H, Klippert T. XANES study of 3d oxides: Dependence on crystal structure. Solid State Communications, 1982. 44(9). pp. 1343-1345. ISSN 0038-1098. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1098(82)90889-4
- [295] Tsutsumi K, Aita O, Ichikawa K. X-ray Ti K spectra and band structures of oxides of titanium. Physical Review B, 1977. 15(10). pp. 4638-4643. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.15.4638</u>
- [296] Arčon I, Kodre A. Material characterisation by x-ray absorption spectroscopy (EXAFS, XANES). Proceedings of the 36th International Conference on Microelectronics, Devices, and Materials (MIDEM). Postojna (Slovenia), Oct 20-28, 2000. pp. 191-196.
- [297] Tarachand SV, et al. Size-Induced Structural Phase Transition at ~ 6.0 nm from Mixed fcc-hcp to Purely fcc Structure in Monodispersed Nickel Nanoparticles. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 2016. 120(49). pp. 28354-28362. ISSN 1932-7447. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.6b10745

- [298] Villars P, Cenzual K. *Ni fcc (Ni) crystal structure*. Datasheet sd_1719824 from PAULING FILE Multinaries Edition in: Inorganic Solid Phases (online database). Heidelberg (Germany), SpringerMaterials, 2022. Last access 21/10/2023. Available at: <u>https://materials.springer.com/isp/crystallographic/docs/sd_1719824</u>
- [299] Ravel B. A practical introduction to multiple scattering theory. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 2005. 401(1-2). pp. 118-126. ISSN 0925-8388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2005.04.021
- [300] Gorsse SB, Villesuzanne A. *Study of the Influence of the Chemical Bond on the Glass Forming Ability of Amorphous Alloys by X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy (XANES)*. Institut de Chimie de la Matière Condensée de Bordeaux Pessac, 2009.
- [301] Kuzmin A, Chaboy J. EXAFS and XANES analysis of oxides at the nanoscale. IUCrJ, 2014. 1(6). pp. 571-589. ISSN 2052-2525. <u>https://doi.org/10.1107/S2052252514021101</u>
- [302] Villars P, Cenzual K. *NiO crystal structure*. Datasheet sd_0309143 from PAULING FILE Multinaries Edition in: Inorganic Solid Phases (online database). Heidelberg (Germany), SpringerMaterials, 2022. Last access 21/10/2023. Available at: https://materials.springer.com/isp/crystallographic/docs/sd_0309143
- [303] Villars P, Cenzual K. NiFe2O4 (Fe2NiO4 rt)crystal structure. Datasheet sd_0309027 from PAULING FILE Multinaries Edition in: Inorganic Solid Phases (online database). Heidelberg (Germany), SpringerMaterials, 2022. Last access 21/10/2023. Available at: https://materials.springer.com/isp/crystallographic/docs/sd_0309027
- [304] Jain A, et al. The Materials Project: A materials genome approach to accelerating materials innovation. APL Materials, 2013. 1(1), 011002. Data for Ni2O3, last accessed 11/25/2023 at: <u>https://legacy.materialsproject.org/materials/mvc-894/</u>.
- [305] Wu Z, et al. Symmetry dependence of X-ray absorption near-edge structure at the metal K edge of 3d transition metal compounds. Applied Physics Letters, 2001. 79(12). pp. 1918-1920. ISSN 0003-6951. <u>https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1405149</u>
- [306] Meneses CT, Flores WH, Sasaki JM. Direct observation of the formation of nanoparticles by in situ time-resolved X-ray absorption spectroscopy. Chemistry of Materials, 2007. 19(5). pp. 1024-1027. ISSN 0897-4756. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm0621996
- [307] Natoli C, Misemer D, Doniach S, Kutzler F. *First-principles calculation of x-ray absorption-edge structure in molecular clusters*. Physical Review A, 1980. **22**(3). pp. 1104-1108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.22.1104</u>
- [308] Anspoks A, Kuzmin A, Kalinko A, Timoshenko J. Probing NiO nanocrystals by EXAFS spectroscopy. Solid State Communications, 2010. 150(45-46). pp. 2270-2274. ISSN 0038-1098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssc.2010.09.027</u>
- [309] Pandya K, Hoffman R, McBreen J, O'Grady W. In situ X-ray absorption spectroscopic studies of nickel oxide electrodes. Journal of The Electrochemical Society, 1990. 137(2). pp. 383-388. ISSN 1945-7111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2086450</u>
- [310] Nietubyć R, et al. XAFS studies of the short-range order in Ni nanoparticles embedded in carbonacoues matrix. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 2009. 484(1-2). pp. 896-901.
 ISSN 0925-8388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2009.05.081</u>
- [311] D'Angelo P, et al. Detection of second hydration shells in ionic solutions by XANES: computed spectra for Ni2+ in water based on molecular dynamics. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2006. **128**(6). pp. 1853-1858. ISSN 0002-7863. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0562503
- [312] XAFS spectrum of Nickel. Measured 07/24/2021. MDR: NIMS Materials Data Repository, National Institute for Materials Science. Last access 11/25/2023. Available at: <u>https://mdr.nims.go.jp/concern/datasets/8p58pg709</u>

- [313] XAFS spectrum of Nickel peroxide. Measured 07/24/2021. MDR: NIMS Materials Data Repository, National Institute for Materials Science. Last access 11/25/2023. Available at: <u>https://mdr.nims.go.jp/concern/datasets/qb98mj11c</u>
- [314] Collins TJ. ImageJ for microscopy. Biotechniques, 2007. 43(1). pp. S25-S30. ISSN 0736-6205. <u>https://doi.org/10.2144/000112517</u>
- [315] Kautz E, et al. Investigating Zirconium Alloy Corrosion with Advanced Experimental Techniques: A Review. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2023. 585, 154586. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2023.154586</u>
- [316] Baris A, et al. *Chemical and microstructural characterization of a 9 cycle Zircaloy-2 cladding using EPMA and FIB tomography.* Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2018. **504**. pp. 144-160. ISSN 0022-3115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2018.01.065</u>
- [317] Motta AT, Olander DR. Theory of electron-irradiation-induced amorphization. Acta Metallurgica et Materialia, 1990. 38(11). pp. 2175-2185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0956-7151(90)90085-U</u>
- [318] Villars P, Cenzual K. *Zr crystal structure*. Datasheet sd_0250198 from PAULING FILE Multinaries Edition in: Inorganic Solid Phases (online database). Heidelberg (Germany), SpringerMaterials, 2022. Last access 21/10/2023. Available at: <u>https://materials.springer.com/isp/crystallographic/docs/sd_0250198</u>
- [319] Baek SH, Shim H-S, Kim JG, Hur DH. Effects of heat flux on fuel crud deposition and sub-cooled nucleate boiling in simulated PWR primary water at 13 MPa. Annals of Nuclear Energy, 2019. 133. pp. 178-185. ISSN 0306-4549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anucene.2019.05.022</u>
- [320] Berry AJ, et al. XANES calibrations for the oxidation state of iron in a silicate glass. American Mineralogist, 2003. 88(7). pp. 967-977. ISSN 1945-3027. <u>https://doi.org/10.2138/am-2003-0704</u>
- [321] Wilke M, et al. Oxidation state and coordination of Fe in minerals: An Fe K-XANES spectroscopic study. American Mineralogist, 2001. 86(5-6). pp. 714-730. ISSN 1945-3027. <u>https://doi.org/10.2138/am-2001-5-612</u>
- [322] Xia K, et al. XANES studies of oxidation states of sulfur in aquatic and soil humic substances. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 1998. 62(5). pp. 1240-1246. ISSN 0361-5995. <u>https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1998.03615995006200050014x</u>
- [323] Mansour A, Melendres C. Analysis of X-ray absorption spectra of some nickel oxycompounds using theoretical standards. The Journal of Physical Chemistry A, 1998.
 102(1). pp. 65-81. ISSN 1089-5639. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jp9619853</u>
- [324] Glavicic MG. Development and application of techniques for the microstructural characterization of hydrogen permeability in zirconium oxides. PhD Dissertation in Mining and Metallurgical Engineering, McGill University, 1998. Montreal (Canada).
- [325] Chollet M, et al. Synchrotron X-ray diffraction investigations on strains in the oxide layer of an irradiated Zircaloy fuel cladding. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2017. 488. pp. 181-190. ISSN 0022-3115.
- [326] Wei J, et al. The effect of Sn on autoclave corrosion performance and corrosion mechanisms in Zr–Sn–Nb alloys. Acta Materialia, 2013. 61(11). pp. 4200-4214. ISSN 1359-6454.
- [327] Sawabe T, et al. *Residual stress distribution in oxide films formed on Zircaloy-2*. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2015. **466**. pp. 658-665. ISSN 0022-3115.
- [328] Abolhassani S, Bart G, Jakob A. Examination of the chemical composition of irradiated zirconium based fuel claddings at the metal/oxide interface by TEM. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2010. 399(1). pp. 1-12. ISSN 0022-3115.

- [329] Kucuk A, et al. Advanced Microscopy and 3D Atom Probe on Irradiated BWR Structural Materials to Elucidate Hydrogen Pickup Mechanism. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: 20th International Symposium, 2023. ASTM International, STP 164520220050. pp. 831-860. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP164520220050</u>
- [330] Agency IAE. *Grain size determination in zirconium alloys*. IAEA-TECDOC-794. Vienna, IAEA, 1995.
- [331] Steuwer A, et al. *Evidence of stress-induced hydrogen ordering in zirconium hydrides*. Acta Materialia, 2009. **57**(1). pp. 145-152. ISSN 1359-6454.
- [332] Garzarolli F, Gros J, Seidel H, Tricot R. Oxide growth mechanism on zirconium alloys. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Ninth International Symposium, 1991. ASTM International, STP 1132. pp. 395-415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/STP25519S</u>
- [333] Idarraga I, et al. Potentialities of Raman imaging for the analysis of oxide scales formed on Zircaloy-4 and M5[®] in air at high temperature. Oxidation of Metals, 2013. **79**(3-4). pp. 289-302. ISSN 0030-770X.
- [334] Kim H-G, et al. Analysis of oxidation behavior of the β-Nb phase formed in Zr–1.5 Nb alloy by using the HVEM. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 2009. 481(1-2). pp. 867-871. ISSN 0925-8388.
- [335] Preuss M, et al. *Studies regarding corrosion mechanisms in zirconium alloys*. Journal of ASTM International, 2011. **9**(9), JAI103246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/JAI103246</u>
- [336] Urbanic V, Cox B. Long-term corrosion and deuteriding behaviour of Zircaloy-2 under irradiation. Canadian Metallurgical Quarterly, 1985. 24(3). pp. 189-196. ISSN 0008-4433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1179/cmq.1985.24.3.189</u>
- [337] Wells D, et al. Out-of-reactor test of corrosion and hydrogen pickup in fuel cladding materials in contact with nickel metal. Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry: Eighteenth International Symposium, 2018. ASTM International, STP 1597. pp. 281-311. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP159720160038
- [338] Takagi I, et al. *Effects of the solid-solid interface on the thermal behavior of deuterium in zircaloy cladding tubes.* Journal of nuclear materials, 1997. **248**. pp. 306-310. ISSN 0022-3115.
- [339] Asgari M, Williams ML, Kam FB. Determination of the neutron and gamma flux distribution in the pressure vessel and cavity of a boiling water reactor. US Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), Washington, DC (United States). 1990. Report NUREG/CR-5449.
- [340] De Gabory B, Dong Y, Motta AT, Marquis EA. EELS and atom probe tomography study of the evolution of the metal/oxide interface during zirconium alloy oxidation. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2015. 462. pp. 304-309. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2015.03.043
- [341] Motta AT. *Waterside Corrosion in Zirconium Alloys*. Journal of Metals, 2011. **63**(8). pp. 59-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11837-011-0140-0</u>
- [342] Limbäck M, Dahlbäck M, Jourdain P, Taegstroem P. *Westinghouse optimised BWR cladding and channel materials*. TopFuel-2001, Stockholm (Sweden), 2001.
- [343] Tägtström P, et al. *The effect of secondary phase particle distribution on the in-reactor performance of BWR claddings*. Enlarged HPG meeting on high burn-up fuel performance, safety, reliability and degradation of in-core materials and water chemistry effects and man-machine systems research, Leon (Norway), 1999.
- [344] Sihver L, Hallstadius L. Zero-failure fuel. International Topical Meeting: TopFuel 1999. Proceedings of the SFEN/ENS conference., Avignon (France), 13-15 Sept. 1999. pp. 396-406.

- [345] Krejčí J, et al. Development and testing of multicomponent fuel cladding with enhanced accidental performance. Nuclear Engineering and Technology, 2020. 52(3). pp. 597-609. ISSN 1738-5733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.net.2019.08.015</u>
- [346] Sayers J, Lozano-Perez S, Nicholls RJ, Ortner S. A high-resolution characterization of the oxide-metal interface in Zircaloy-4 and its relation to the oxidation and hydrogen pickup mechanisms. Journal of Nuclear Materials, 2019. 525. pp. 72-82. ISSN 0022-3115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnucmat.2019.07.008
- [347] Prabhakaran R, et al. *Improved understanding of Zircaloy hydrogen pickup mechanisms in BWRs. NSUF Report.* Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL), Richland, WA (United States), 2022.
- [348] Rudling P, et al. *Performance evaluation of new advanced Zr alloys for BWRs and PWRs/VVERs Vol I.* Advanced Nuclear Technology International, Tollered (Sweden), 2017.
- [349] Macdonald DD, Engelhardt GR. A critical review of radiolysis issues in water-cooled fission and fusion reactors: Part II, Prediction of corrosion damage in operating reactors. Corrosion and Materials Degradation, 2022. 3(4). pp. 694-758. https://doi.org/10.3390/cmd3040038

Curriculum Vitae

Pierre	BOUH	HADD	ANE
--------	------	------	-----

	Skills Summary		
•	Multidisciplinary background in both nuclear and materials engineering knowledge on zirconium alloys.	, with distinctive	
•	Experimental techniques: synchrotron X-ray absorption spectroscopy synchrotron X-ray diffraction, electron microscopy, metallograph preparation; familiar with focused ion beam and atom probe tomography	(fine structure), y, and sample	
•	Programming techniques: MATLAB, C/C++ (GEANT4), HTML, EXCE	L (macro)	
	Education		
The P	ennsylvania State University, State College, Pennsylvania, USA	2017-2024	
	PhD in Nuclear Engineering, Mai 2024		
Dissertation title: "Examinations of BWR-corroded Zircaloy-2 water rods with XANES			
	and XRD to investigate the role of nickel in enhancing hydrogen pickup	at high burnup"	
École	Centrale de Lyon, Écully, France	2015-2018	
	Diplôme d'Ingénieur (M.S. in Engineering)		
Classe	os Pránaratoiras I veáa Stanislas, Paris, France	2013 2015	
MPSI MP* (B S in Mathematics and Physics)			
	Research Experience		
Gradu	ate Research Assistant. The Pennsylvania State University, USA	2018-2024	
0/ 444	Nuclear Materials Group	2010 2021	
	Advisor: Dr. Arthur T. MOTTA		
	Investigating the role of nickel in enhancing hydrogen pickup at	high burnup in	
	BWR Zry-2 materials with synchrotron radiation (XANES, XRD)).	
Under	graduate Internship, CEA (Atomic Energy Commission), France	Summer 2017	
	Department of Particle Physics (DPhP)		
	Advisor: Dr. Matthieu VIVIER		
	Modeling of neutron background and shielding for experiments of	on coherent	
	elastic neutrino-nucleus scattering with GEANT4.		
Under	graduate Research, INL (Nanotechnology Institute of Lyon), France	Fall 2016	
	Light Engineering and Conversion Group		
	Advisors: Dr. Hai Son Nguyen, Dr. Sébastien Cueff		
	Modeling and characterization of photonic crystals for use in sen	niconductors.	